
 

 

 

Consent Agenda 



291-22   45-291 

June 21, 2022 

MET IN REGULAR SESSION 

The Board of Supervisors met in regular session at 10:00 A.M.  All members present.  Chairman 

Wichman presiding.        

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

1.  CONSENT AGENDA 

 
After discussion was held by the Board, a motion was made by Schultz, and second by Shea, to approve: 

 

A. June 14, 2022, Minutes as read. 

B. Amend June 9, 2022, Minutes as read. 

C. Renewal of Iowa Retail Permit Application for Cigarette/Tobacco/Nicotine/Vapor for Desoto 

Bend Mini Mart, Missouri Valley. 

D. Renewal of Iowa Retail Permit Application for Cigarette/Tobacco/Nicotine/Vapor for Taylor 

Oil Company, Inc., Council Bluffs. 

E. Renewal of Class E Liquor License (LE, granting privileges of Class B Wine Permit / Class C 

Beer Permit (Carryout Beer) / Class E Liquor License (LE) / Sunday Sales for Casey’s 

Marketing Company d/b/a Casey’s General Store #3205, Council Bluffs. 

F. County Treasurer – Employment of Sarah Ebke as Clerk II. 

G. Communications – Employment of Ryan Thomas as a Communications Technologist. 

 

UNANIMOUS VOTE.  Motion Carried. 

 

2.   SCHEDULED SESSIONS 

 
Motion by Schultz, second by Shea, to approve and authorize Chairman to sign Law Enforcement 

Services Contracts between Pottawattamie County and the following: City of Carson, City of Crescent, 

City of Hancock, City of Macedonia, City of McClelland, City of Minden, City of Neola, City of 

Oakland, City of Treynor, City of Underwood, and City of Walnut. 

UNANIMOUS VOTE.  Motion Carried. 

 

Chairman Wichman stepped down as Chair.  Chairman Pro-Tem Shea presumed the Chair. After discussion 

was held by the Board, a motion was made by Wichman, second by Grobe, to have Jail staff will work 40 

hours per week to get paid for 40 hours and that hours will be 8 AM to 4:30 PM effective July 1, 2022. 

AYES:  Shea, Belt, Wichman, Grobe NAYS:  Schultz Motion Carried.  

 

Chairman Wichman resumed as Chair.  

 
Motion by Shea, second by Belt, to approve and authorize Board to sign Planning and Zoning 

Resolution NO. 2022-08 entitled: Final Plat of Schmidt’s Creek Phase 1 and 2, a subdivision 

situated in Hazell Dell Township. 

 
PLANNING AND ZONING 

RESOLUTION NO. 2022-08 

 
WHEREAS, this Board had approved the preliminary plat of Schmidt’s Creek Phase 1 and 2, residential 

subdivisions situated in Hazel Dell Township, by approval of Planning and Zoning Resolution No. 2022-

03, dated February 14, 2022; and 

 
WHEREAS the final plat and supporting documents required by Chapter 9.10 of the Pottawattamie 

County, Iowa, Code and Chapter 354, Code of Iowa, has been filed with this Board for its study and 

consideration under Case #SUB-2021-04; and 

 
WHEREAS, this Board has examined the final plats and have found they are in substantial compliance 

with the approved preliminary plats; and  

 

WHEREAS, after careful study, and due consideration this Board has determined that the final plat and 

supporting documents conform to the requirements of Chapter 9.10 of the Pottawattamie County, Iowa, 

Code and Chapter 354, Code of Iowa, and it has deemed it to be in the best interest of Pottawattamie County, 

Iowa, to approve the final plats. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY, IOWA: That the final plat of Schmidt’s Creek Phase 1 and 2, 



292-22   45-292 

residential subdivisions in Pottawattamie County, Iowa, be, and the same is hereby approved as the final 

plats of said subdivisions. 

 

And that the Chairman of the Board of Supervisors is hereby authorized to enter such approval upon said 

final plats. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED June 21, 2022. 

 
            R O L L    C A L L   V O T E  

 AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT 

          
Tim Wichman, Chairman 

 
          
Scott Belt 

 
          
Lynn Grobe 

 
          
Justin Schultz 

 
          
Brian Shea 

 

 

Attest: ___________________________________ 

  Melvyn Houser, County Auditor 

  Pottawattamie County, Iowa 

 

RECORD: After Passage 

Roll Call Vote:  AYES:  Wichman, Belt, Grobe, Schultz, Shea.  Motion Carried. 

 

  Motion by Shea, second by Grobe, to approve and authorize Board to sign certificate of completion 

form 64003 to certify completion on the trail project and the segments from L34 to Weston 

including two bridge crossing over Mosquito Creek along Railroad Highway. 

UNANIMOUS VOTE.  Motion Carried. 

 

3.      OTHER 
 

Motion by Schultz, second by Belt, for approval of rate change for Federal Standard Mileage Rate for 

remainder of 2022, at 62.5¢ per mile. 
UNANIMOUS VOTE.  Motion Carried. 

 

Motion made by Schultz, second by Shea, to approve application for permit to display fireworks filed by 

Robert Caputo, on July 4th and if it rains to be postponed and rescheduled for the following weekend, at 

22881 Three Bridge Road.  

UNANIMOUS VOTE.  Motion Carried. 

 

Jana Lemrick/ Director, Human Resources appeared before the board to discuss the Department Head 

Contracts. Discussion only. No action taken. 

 

4.     RECEIVED/FILED 

 
A. Salary Action(s): 

1) SWI Juvenile Detention Center – Employment of Kenneth VanDorn as a full time Youth Corrections 

Worker. 

2) SWI Juvenile Detention Center – Employment of Jaydan Dooley as a part time Youth Corrections 

Worker. 

3) Community Services – Payroll status change for Shelly Hovey. 

4) Communications – Payroll status change for Kristen Ewer. 

B. Reports: 

1) Recorder Fee Book for May 2022. 
 

5.     PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 
No comments.



293-22   45-293 

6.     ADJOURN 

 
Motion by Shea, second by Belt, to adjourn meeting. 

UNANIMOUS VOTE.  Motion Carried. 

 

THE BOARD ADJOURNED SUBJECT TO CALL AT 12:04 P.M. 

 

_______________________________________________  

Tim Wichman, Chairman  

 

 

ATTEST: ________________________________________  

   Becky Lenihan, Finance & Tax Officer  

 

APPROVED: June 28, 2022  

PUBLISH: X 
 



 

 

Scheduled 

Sessions 



 

Jeff Theulen/Chief Deputy, 
Sheriff Office 

 
 

Discussion and/or approval to approve Change Order 
Number 003 in the amount of $23,228.99 for Sheriff 

Office Expansion. 

 

 









������������	
��
�����������������

�����������������

 !"#$%&'%()%*+

,-./01

2.314���������5��6�7��889:�;�������

<=>30?1

@AB01

����
�

�C�C��

D.16�7E�7��FG��7::

HI��J��GE

����K���L7:�6��77���6G��7����

������������	
�����	�

���������4���
����

@0MN?OPBO./1 ;���H���Q����K�G�����

�7�:�����R�7���7SG7:�7�

T7���7�EU7�:7������887����7�8�UU�R����:E7L�8�L�����:�����E��L���������Q7���7�8�UU�R����L����7:�

;�������Q����8�G���������7V�:�����U�LQ7����7���:����7��WX�����
�

H7:L��E���� Y��7���U 6GWL�����L� FG��7� ���L7I�W�� �SG�E�7��

�UG�W������6GW Z����[	�Z����[	�

�U7L���L�U���6GW Z4�4[��Z4�4[��

Z�����[	�6GW����U�

Z

[4���:G���L7 �[
4\Z�����[	�

Z�

[��J5�]̂ � �[��\Z�����[	�

_̀abbcdefD.BAg1

�8�X�G����7���X�SG7:����:��EU7�:7�L����L���7��������������[

H��7�

;EE���7��WX�6GW����7��WX�6L����T�7Lh��7Q

H[�[�;�H��6���5��6i�j5i��6�5�[

���7�
��8�


sburgess
Text Box
Reviewed: 05.26.2022Stephen H. BurgessDLR Group



�������������	
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

��������
���

������� !

�"�#$%������
"&�'�(�)	�*+���

,������-.$��$.�-/��$-.��$

0�1�

234�!���56�78�

�����#�9�:�;����
�$/��<�#</==.(�>�������

�$���?����&���@'�-�==�"==���

A�B5C!D��E�47�!

F�G8�7H47�!I

JKLMN25OPF2P

QRST5U5VVW4X5U4Y5Z�[7G4�Y5M25TQV\Q

JO5M�]

Ĵ G4�E��5O����5M̂ EB��

JO5F�4�

Ĵ G4�E��5C!D��E�47�!

:�_$- �(�����0

����-��< �(+�1�*�

�(��1�+��̀4�a54X7G5JX�!b�5O����I55

L88�H4��5F�4�L88�H4��5�c

6a��G�5G7b!5�!�5��4̂�!5�G5G��!5�G5H�GG7Ba�]



�
�

�
�

�
�����������������������	��� � � � �
������������
�����������������������������
������������������������������
�������������������� �!"#���
���������������������$�%�����&���'���(�
������������� $�)�*	#	�+,-../0/../12345-6478392::;<4=::2>3�?�
�
�����������%����
�����������)������@������������������������@��������A����������������B������
�����������C����)��������������������@����D���$�
�����������#$���E#?�
�������FG�����������@���D�����@���������
�����
�
�����������)����������$�C������������� H�IJ
 %�����@����D���$�
�����������#$���K�D��(������������A�����
������������$�%�����C�L��
�
���������������)��������)����$�MN!N�		�
�����������E�����O�����%�L�K������
�������?�
�
�
������������)������������@�K����������K�P�����������������������������������
�����������������D�K������(�K���@�������D�����Q�����P�����K������������������B������

����C���(�K����
�

�
�
�
�
������������R�@@�S����� ���������
�
�
�������������







������������	
��
�����������������

�����������������

 !"#$%&'%()%*+

,-./01

2.314���������5��6�7��889:�;�������

<=>30?1

@AB01

����



�C��C��

D.16�7E�7��FG��7::

HI��J��GE

����K���L7:�6��77���6G��7����

������������	
�����	�

���������4���
����

@0MN?OPBO./1 Q�������������
�
���RR7��6���7��7�

�7�:�����S�7���7TG7:�7�

U7���7�ER7�:7������887����7�8�RR�S����:E7L�8�L�����:�����E��L���������V7���7�8�RR�S����L����7:�

;���5�:�����E�����7�6U����FR�LV�G��K�W��L�����E�����7�������:��RR�6��7C6�RR�5����7R��������S����S:����Q�������������
�


H7:L��E���� X��7���R 6GWL�����L� FG��7� ���L7I�W�� �TG�E�7��

U����S�Q�7���7�����6GW Y	�
Z��Y	�
Z��

Y	�
Z��6GW����R�

Y
Z�	��:G���L7 �Z
4[Y	�
Z��

Y�
Z��J5�\]� �Z��[Y	�
Z��

_̂̀ab̀aD.BAc1

�8�d�G����7���d�TG7:����:��ER7�:7�L����L���7��������������Z

H��7�

;EE���7��Wd�6GW����7��Wd�6L����U�7Le��7V

HZ�Z�;�H��6���5��6Q�f5Q��6�5�Z

���7�
��8�


sburgess
Text Box
Reviewed: 05.26.2022Stephen H. BurgessDLR Group



������������	
��
�����������������

�����������������

 !"#$%&'%()%*+

,-./01

2.314���������5��6�7��889:�;�������

<=>30?1

@AB01

5����C


�D
�D��

E.16�7F�7��GH��7::

IJ��K��HF

����L���M7:�6��77���6H��7����

������������	
�����	�

���������4���
����

@0NO?PQBP./1 ;��������R�IH�F�L77:

�7�:�����S�7���7TH7:�7�

U7���7�FR7�:7������887����7�8�RR�S����:F7M�8�M�����:�����F��M���������V7���7�8�RR�S����M����7:�

;��������R��H�FDR���8�RR�877:�8������7���R:���HR7���88����
����C

;:����7���������M�7��7���R����7�7�S�:���:M���H��M������S����:M�R7���H:7��F7���������877:�8������7���R:�FR�M7�����7���W�����:C
X�7�R���8�RR�����M����7�877:�8�����7:7����7���R:C

I7:M��F���� Y��7���R 6HZM�����M� GH��7� ���M7J�Z�� �TH�F�7��

�����S��V�6HZ [

���
C��[

���
C��

[

���
C��6HZ����R�

[�
C����:H���M7 �C
4\[

���
C��

[���C�K5�]̂ � �C��\[

���
C��

_̀ àbcdedfE.BAg1

�8�W�H����7���W�TH7:����:��FR7�:7�M����M���7��������������C

I��7�

;FF���7��ZW�6HZ����7��ZW�6M����U�7Mh��7V

IC�C�;�I��6���5��6X�i5X��6�5�C

���7�
��8�


sburgess
Text Box
Reviewed:  April 20, 2022                   Stephen H. Burgess



�

����������	�
��

�
�� �������������������������������������� !���"

��#�� $%���&�'(�)*����+,(�-.--�,/-,�0�

1�� 2���������3���4

�567���� 89/�0����:����'�:;8�-

<=>??@A
A
BCDAEAFGAHIG?AJ>KALMMF?F>NLOAMIPQAJRRGAJ>KA?SRAMFK?AL?A?SRAOLNMJFOOTAUVWXETEYA?SL?AZLGAOFG?RMALGAJRRGA[OLNMJFOOAMIPQAJRRG\A>NA
BCDA]AZLGA?SRAJFKG?AFN̂>F=RA_AKR=RF̂RMAJK>PA?SRAOLNMJFOOTAA_APFG?L̀RNOaA?S>IbS?A?SL?AZLGAJ>KAR̂RKa?SFNbAZRASLIORMTAAcSRaA
GRN?ALAGR=>NMAFN̂>F=RAOL?RKALNMA?SL?AU]]@EV]TXEAZLGAHIG?A?SRAMIPQAJRRGAJK>PA]EdeTAcSRA?KI=̀FNbA>JA?SL?APL?RKFLOAZLGA
=>̂RKRMAINMRKABCDA]TAA_fPAN>?AR̂RNA?KaFNbA?>APL̀RALNaAP>NRaA>NAF?@AHIG?AZLN?A?SRA=>G?A=>̂RKRMTAAg>QRA?SL?ASROQGTAAhR?A
PRÀN>ZTA
A
cSLǸGTA
A

ijkklmnopl
l
qjkorsjtlursvwnknluxkkosyl
zi{|pko}jkrwl
u~������������l

A
��Ag���A�C����A
CIKA�RZACJJF=RALNMA<S>QAh>=L?F>NA
X��VA�LG?A�LNLZLA�KTA
B>IN=FOA�OIJJG@A_�AV]V�]A
A
A

�����A<=>??A�FR=�>KR̀A�<�FR=�>KR̀�MKLNMRKG>NT=>P�AA
�����AcSIKGMLa@A�QKFOA]X@AE�EEAX ]VA¡�A
¢��A�L??A�RFGA�PL??�NL?F>NLO=>N=KR?R=I??FNbT=>P�A
�£¤¥�¦��AD� A¡>??AB>IN?aABCDAEA
A
�L??@A
A
cKaFNbA?>AKR̂FRZA?SFGALNMA_ALPAN>?AGIKRAZSL?AZLGASLIORMA>NA?SRAeKMTAABLNAa>IAbR?APRAG>PRALMMF?F>NLOAFNJ>A>NA?SFG§AÄ>FNbA
?SK>IbSAQKR̂F>IGABCfGA_A?S>IbS?A?SFGAZ>IOMASL̂RA©RRNA=>̂RKRM§AAA
A



���������	���
��
������������
���

����������
��������������	�������������������������������

��� �����!��"#�$"�%��"������&�!��"#�$"'%�'�'�
���������!���#�$$�%��"��

�%(�)*���(�++,��+)-��*.-�.�/+/.0++)�1�.-(�
234567879:;<=4>999999:?75=;@=A7B9C7D3@=8=3499999923679C6=@@=4>999999E67;F=4>9;4B9G7D3H=4>999999I;@@9:;<=4>99999J6745K=4>9

LGMLM:NO9:PEQRJJSC9JM9 TME9UNQS9 LGMLN:NO9CNJS9

CG9N4B76V349  -++��-��W/�)XX� YZY[Z[[9
:JGSSJ9NCGS::9 TME9NCGS::9 L\MUS9UPUESG9

9 � 9
2RJ]̂:JNJS999_RL92MCS9 2MUJN2J9UNQS9 Ǹa9UPQESG9

9 9 9
I79K767bc9VdbD=89;9?63?3V;@9e36f99C7D39;V9B7V56=b7B9b7@3<g9
�
��� ��
�	����h�
YgiCdD?9e77V9e369@3;BV9K;d@7B9Y[ZjZ[Y�

���������	��k�l���"����"�

�
JK=V9?63?3V;@9=V9b;V7B9349534Bd58=4>9;@@9<36F9Bd6=4>9436D;@9<36F=4>9K3d6V9d4@7VV9V?75=e=5;@@c9V8;87B9=498K79?63?3V;@g9I36F967md=67B9bc95dV83D769839b79
B3479;e8769K3d6V9369<77F74BV9369K3@=B;cV9<=@@9b79b=@@7B9V7?;6;87@c9e369;BB=8=34;@95K;6>7Vg9N@@97n5;H;8=34V̂9b36=4>V̂9V;<=4>9;4B9b67;F=4>9;679B3479=49
@35;8=34V9;4B9B7?8KV9;V9@;=B93d89;4B9V?75=e=7B9;4B9Vd?76H=V7B9bc98K79M<476̂923486;583693698K7=69G7?67V748;8=H7Vg9IS9NGS9UMJ9GS:LMU:REOS9̀MG9
CNQNoS9JM9NU]9LRLS:̂92MUCPRJ:92NEOS:̂9̀N2RORJRS:̂9:JGP2JPGS:̂9MG9SpPRLQSUJ9OM2NJSC9ES\RUC9J\S9:PG̀N2S9MG9
INOO9MG9:ONEg9I79;679438967V?34V=b@79e369B7@;cV9Bd79839<7;8K7693695=65dDV8;457V9b7c34B93d69534863@g9N4c9;@876;8=34V9369B7H=;8=349e63D9;b3H79
V?75=e=5;8=34V9=4H3@H=4>97n86;953V89<=@@9b797n75d87B934@c9bc9<6=8874936B76Vg9:;=B9;BB=8=34;@9<36F9<=@@9b753D79;497n86;95K;4>7936B769;b3H798K797V8=D;87g9
N@@9;>677D748V95348=4>7489d?349V86=F79;55=B748V9369B7@;cV9b7c34B93d69534863@g92dV83D76̂9M<476923486;583698395;66c9e=67̂98364;B3̂9;4B938K7694757VV;6c9
=4Vd6;457g9Md69<36F76V9;679ed@@c953H767B9bc9I36F76V923D?74V;8=349R4Vd6;457g9

 �-q-r�*�st�������������
������������
���

�������������0+W-�)u/v��)1��+0�/�wwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwww�
%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%�
�../q+��./�-X� �-q-r�*�
JK79;b3H79?6=57V̂9V?75=e=5;8=34V9;4B9534B=8=34V9;679V;8=Ve;5836c9;4B9K767bc9;557?87Bg9
]3d9;679;d8K36=A7B9839B398K79<36F9;V9V?75=e=7Bg9N@@9?;cD748V9<=@@9b794789jx9B;cV9d?34g9
23D?@78=349d4@7VV97n?@=5=8@c9V8;87B9;V9?;6893e98K79?63?3V;@9;b3H79999999999999999999999999Jc?7B9369L6=487B9U;D7yyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyy9
9
C;8793e9N557?8;45799999999999999yyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyy9999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999:=>4;8d67yyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyy9







Omaha, NE  68134
7735 Irvington Road

Ph : (402) 572-7350

Change Request

Phone:
Job: 9573  Pott Co Sheriff's Addition

Number:
Date:

CR-014
5/27/22

To: Stephen Burgess
DLR Group
6457 Frances Street, Suite 200
Omaha, NE  68106-2280
Ph: 402-393-4100  

Description: Add Power at L-1's

Reason: Owner Requested

Source: RFI # 08

We are pleased to offer the following specifications and pricing to make the following changes:

Add (8) Dedicated GFCI Circuits for L-1 sinks in Restrooms 106 and 107.

Description Material Subcontract Burden PriceLabor Equipment

Electrical - Sub $6,582.00$6,582.00

$6,582.00Subtotal:

$12.64Insurance 0.19%$6,582.00

$329.10GCOH&P 5.00%$6,582.00

$6,923.74Total:

If you have any questions, please contact me at 402-572-7350.

Date:
Approved by:Submitted by: Scott Wieczorek

D.R. ANDERSON CONSTRUCTORS CO.

Page 1 of 1



 

 

 

 

 

            April 27, 2022     

            D R Anderson Constructors Co.  

            7735 Irvington Rd. 

            Omaha, NE 68122 

            Attention: Scott Wieczorek 

            RE: RFI-08 (Pottawattamie Co. Sheriff’s Office.) 

 

           Sir, 

           Please find enclosed our proposal for the above mentioned project.  

           This Proposal includes the following: 

           1: Add (8) Dedicated GFCI Circuits for sinks in Restrooms 106 and 107. 

     

 

           Please Note: This proposal EXCLUDES the following: 

           1: Any work not listed above. 

           2: Sales Tax. 

 

           Adder Proposal Price: $6,582.00 

           (Six Thousand Five Hundred Eighty Two Dollars.) 

 

 

            Please call if you have any questions concerning this proposal. 

            As always thank you for allowing ABC to quote your electrical projects. 

    Thank you, 

 

 

 

 

 

            Jeff Mohr, Estimator 

 

 

             







Becky Lenihan/Tax and Finance Officer, 
Auditor’s Office. 

 

 

Discussion and/or decision to approve and 
authorize the Board to sign Transfer 
Resolutions: 
Resolution No. 46-2022 – Transfer from Rural Services to 

Secondary Roads Fund. 



RESOLUTION NO.  46-2022  
 
RESOLUTION for Transfer from Rural Services Fund to 
Secondary Roads Fund 
 
WHEREAS, it is desired to transfer money from Rural Services Fund to 
Secondary Roads Fund; and 
 
WHEREAS, said transfer is in accordance with Section 331.432, Code of 
Iowa; and  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Pottawattamie County 
Board of Supervisors as follows:   
 
SECTION 1: The sum of $1,303,750 is ordered to be transferred from Rural 

Services Fund to Secondary Roads Fund, and 
 
SECTION 2: The Auditor is directed to correct his/her book accordingly 

and to notify the Treasurer of this operating transfer. 
 

         Dated this 28th Day of June, 2022. 

         R O L L    C A L L   V O T E  
 

                  AYE        NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT 
 
______________________________      
Tim Wichman, Chairman 
 
______________________________      
Scott Belt 
 
______________________________      
Lynn Grobe 

 

 

______________________________      
Justin Schultz 
 
______________________________      
Brian Shea 
 
 
ATTEST: _________________________________________________ 
      Melvyn Houser, County Auditor 

 



 

 

 

Other Business 



 

Jana Lemrick/Director, Human 
Resources and Mark 
Shoemaker/Director, 

Conservation 
 
 

Discussion and/or decision to approve the job 
description for the Mechanical Operations and 

Maintenance Technician position. 

 

 



Pottawattamie County, Iowa 
Class Description 

 

  
Baker Tilly’s SAFE® System  May 2020 1 | P a g e  

Title: Mechanical Operations and Maintenance Technician FLSA Status: Non-Exempt 
Department:  Conservation Job Code:   
Bargaining Unit/Grade:  Non-Union, 514                                           Updated:  6/15/2022 
   

 

General Definition of Work 
Perform a variety of routine maintenance, service, and repair duties to assist in the upkeep of County 
equipment and properties. Tasks will consist of general maintenance of buildings including carpentry, 
minor plumbing, and mechanical and minor electric repairs and maintenance. General maintenance on 
outside equipment including ski-lifts, outdoor power equipment, small engines, and operation stations for 
lifts. Directly reports to the Site Manager and Mechanical Operations & Maintenance Manager. 

 
Essential Functions 
To perform this job successfully, an individual must be able to perform each essential function 
satisfactorily. The requirements listed below are representative of the knowledge, skill, and/or ability 
required. Reasonable accommodations may be made to enable an individual with disabilities to perform 
the essential functions. 

Perform routine maintenance on buildings including but not limited to siding replacement, window 
replacement, inside wall changes including framing, electrical, plumbing, and finish work. 
 
Perform routine maintenance and repair on machinery and equipment, change filter, grease and 
oil as needed. Examine belts, shafts, bearings, and equipment to wear. 
 
Perform minor repairs on electrical fixtures and equipment such as switches, receptacle, fans, + 
lights. 
 
Perform minor plumbing repairs and install water pipes, faucets, toilets, sewer drains, and vents, 
maintain septic system. 
 
Conducts carpentry work, repairs and replace building frames, insulation, drywall, roofing, and 
painting and concrete work as needed. 
 
Operate a vehicle safely and in compliance with traffic laws and regulations, in the performance 
of job duties. Operate pickups and trailers, skid steer, high lifts and other heavy machinery, and 
equipment as needed. 
 
Perform snow removal as needed. 
 
Perform duties in high lift up to 60 ft. in the air, or on maintenance lift chairs. 
 
Conduct routine inspections (lights, tires, fluid levels, safety device, etc.) on assigned vehicles to 
assure proper operation, inform supervisor of needed parts or repairs. 
 
Work in other departments when needed and perform other duties as assigned. 
 
 
 
 
 



Pottawattamie County, Iowa 
Class Description 

 

  
Baker Tilly’s SAFE® System  May 2020 2 | P a g e  

 
Minimum Qualifications 
Must be eighteen (18) years old at the time of hire. High School Diploma or GED required. 
2-5 years’ experience in various aspects of manual labor, power-tool use, equipment construction, 
plumbing, operations of heavy equipment, or equivalent combination of education and experience 
required. 

Must be able and willing to work flexible schedule to include early mornings, overnights, holidays, and 
weekends required. 

 
Special Qualifications 
Must be reliable and punctual and have own transportation. 
 
Be able to work in a cold environment for extended periods of time. 
 
Solid mechanical and electrical aptitude. 
 
Skills to be able to assist in troubleshooting and repair any ski hill machinery. 
 
Previous experience working at a ski area with chair lifts, snowmaking machines, snowmobiles, and 
snowcats will be highly preferred. 
 
Work as part of a team and can foster a positive, fun, and safe work environment. 
 
Flexibility to work during evenings, weekends, and holidays 
 

 
Knowledge, Skill, and Abilities 
General knowledge of tools and techniques, equipment, and machinery used in the trade. 

General knowledge of the safe operation of tools and equipment. 

Ability to prioritize and manage multiple, and concurrent projects. 

Ability to pay close attention to detail and to effectively organize time and anticipate, plan, and 
successfully respond to changing circumstances. 

Ability to establish and maintain effective working relationships with co-workers, supervisors, other 
departments, and the public. 

 
Working Conditions 
The physical demands and work environment characteristics described here are representative of those 
that must be met by an employee to successfully perform the essential functions of this job. Reasonable 
accommodations may be made to enable individuals with disabilities to perform the essential functions. 
 
Attendance at work is an essential function of this position.  Work is performed mainly outdoors and 
requires a considerable amount of physical activity.  
 
An incumbent must have the ability to frequently lift, push, pull and/or carry equipment, supplies and other 
materials weighing up to 50 lbs. and to occasionally lift, push, pull and/or carry equipment, supplies and 
other materials weighing up to 100 lbs with a two-man lift. Work regularly requires speaking or hearing, 
using hands to grasp, handle, or feel. Reaching with hands and arms. Frequently requires standing, 



Pottawattamie County, Iowa 
Class Description 

 

  
Baker Tilly’s SAFE® System  May 2020 3 | P a g e  

walking, climbing, or balancing, stooping, kneeling, crouching, or crawling, pushing, or pulling, 
occasionally requires sitting, or repetitive motions. Work has standard vision requirements. Vocal 
communication is required for expression or exchanging ideas by means of spoken word and conveying 
detailed or important instructions to others accurately, loudly, or quickly; hearing is required to perceive 
information at normal spoken word levels and to receive detailed information through oral communication. 
Operating motor vehicles or equipment and observing general surroundings and activities. Work 
frequently requires working near moving mechanical parts, exposure to outdoor weather conditions and 
exposure to the risk of electric shock and occasionally requires wet humid conditions, working in high 
places, exposure to toxic or caustic chemicals, expose to extreme cold, expose to extreme heat, 
exposure to vibration, and blood borne pathogens. May be required to wear specialized PPE, including 
fall arrest harnesses. 

 
 



 

Jason Slack/Director, Building & Grounds 
and Jana Lemrick/Director, Human 

Resources and Steve Winchell/Captain, Jail 
 

 

Discussion and/or decision regarding pay for 
Jail Maintenance Superintendent position. 



 

Jana Lemrick/Director, Human 
Resources  

 
 

Discussion and/or decision to approve and authorize 
Board to sign corrected Memorandum of Understanding 

Between Pottawattamie County and the American 
Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees 

(AFSCME), Local 2364-911 Agreement for the employees 
of the Pottawattamie County Communications Center, 

effective July 1, 2022, through June 30, 2023.  

 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
BETWEEN 

POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY 
AND THE 

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY AND 
MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES (AFSCME), 

LOCAL 2364-911 
 

Pottawattamie County and the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees 
(AFSCME) (hereinafter the "Bargaining Unit') are parties to a Collective-Bargaining Agreement 
and have agreed to certain terms and conditions for Employees of the Pottawattamie County 
Communications Center covered under the contract. 

 
It is agreed between the parties that this memorandum of understanding will be effective July 
1st, 2022 - June 30th. 2023. 

 
Uniforms 
Each full-time, non-introductory, Employee shall be provided five (5) uniform shirts by the 
Employer after successful completion of the training program. The Employer shall thereafter 
replace up to five (5) uniform shirts each fiscal year. 

 
Longevity 
Employees with more than five (5) years continuous service shall be eligible for longevity 
pay pursuant to the following schedule: 

 

 
Employees who are eligible for longevity shall receive longevity and longevity increases at 
the beginning of the pay period in which the Employee's anniversary date occurs. 

 
Working Out of Classification 
The bargaining unit Employees qualified to act in a supervisory capacity shall receive additional 
compensation for each hour worked in such capacity as follows: 

 
Two Dollars ($2.00) per hour 

 
The Director shall establish an eligibility list based upon the Employees ability to perform the 
Supervisor, Assistant Supervisor and Communication Training Officer duties; and the following 
minimum standards: 

 
No Employee shall be required to perform the duties of the Supervisor, Assistant 
Supervisor or Communication Training Officer until training has been completed. 

 

 
 
 

$l.05/hr 



Callback Pay 
An Employee who is called back to work by the Employer shall be paid a minimum of two (2) 
hours pay at one and one-half (1 ½) his regular pay or shall receive compensatory time unless 
such call back is one (1) hour or less prior to the Employee's regular shift. Also, the minimum 
does not apply when an Employee is ordered to work beyond the Employee's regular shift. This 
shall include call back time for court appearance, which shall also include telephonic and video 
hearings, provided that the Employee is testifying because of circumstances arising out of his or 
her assigned work duties and further provided that the Employee has been ordered to testify by 
a Supervisor or is subpoenaed. Call back time shall also include being called in to work for 
training, having to be present for Internal Affairs investigations or as directed by the Director of 
Operations, Assistant Director of Operations or a Shift Supervisor. 

 
Perfect Attendance Leave 
After completion of the Introductory Period, an Employee shall be eligible to earn twelve (12) 
hours off with pay at the regular rate for each calendar quarter in which perfect attendance is 
achieved. This leave must be used within twelve (12) months of being earned. Perfect Attendance 
leave must be taken in twelve (12) hour increments. 

 
Employees are not eligible for Perfect Attendance Leave if the following occurs: 

 
I.  Employee utilizes personal or family sick leave. 
2. If the Employee utilizes any other paid leave for the purpose of sick leave or FMLA 

leave. 
3. If attendance points are assessed for a tardy. 
4. If the Employee is in an unpaid status, to include unpaid suspensions. 

 
Holidays, vacation, compensatory time off, casual day, Perfect Attendance day, on the job injury, 
funeral in the immediate family or jury duty shall not count against perfect attendance. 

 
Requests for earned leave shall be made in accordance with the Vacation Article of the 
agreement. 

 
Temporary/Part-time Employees shall not be eligible for perfect attendance compensation. 

 
Shift Differential 
A shift differential of ninety cents ($.90) per hour will be paid to bargaining unit Employees 
whose regularly schedule shift occurs between 1800-0600. To be eligible the Employee must 
work at least three (3) hours of the applicable shift for at least (50%) of the available hours 
during the month. Shift differential shall not be paid for work performed as overtime. 

 
Hours of Work 
It is understood and agreed to by both parties that the hours of work will be reviewed after 
one year to determine feasibility by both parties. 



 
 
 
 

This article is intended to set forth the normal work week and work schedule, but shall not 
be construed as a guarantee of hours of work per day or week or days of, work per week. 

 
Section 1. The minimal work schedule for Employees working a continuous shift shall 

commence on July 1st, 2022 and thereafter shall continue using the following schedule, to 
wit: 

 
• Two (2) consecutive twelve (12) hour workdays, followed by two (2) consecutive 

days off, followed by one (I) twelve (12) hour day and one (1) six (6) hour day, 
followed by three (3) consecutive days off, followed by two (2) twelve (12) hour days 
on and one (1) day off and ending with one (1) six (6) hour day on and three (3) 
twelve (12) hour days on. 

• A repetition of the schedule above. 
• The first shift shall be from 0600-1800, while the second shift will be from 1800-0600. 
•  Scheduled six (6) hour days shall be divided into the front and back half of the 

respective shift. The front half will be scheduled on days leading up to the three (3) 
consecutive days off. The back half will be scheduled leading up to the three (3) 
twelve (12) hour days on. 

• No Employee shall be required or ordered to work beyond sixteen (16) hours in any 
shift. 

• The above schedule creates a forty-two (42) hour work week. As a result, every seven 
(7) day week commencing on Saturday and ending on Friday, each Employee shall 
be required to take two (2) hours of earned time off (ETO). 

o The time off shall be in increments of at least thirty (30) minutes, up to and 
including two (2) hours. The ETO shall be utilized before any paid leave is 
granted with the exception of holiday leave and Perfect Attendance leave. 

o If for any reason the Employee is unable to take the full two (2) hours off 
during a seven (7) day work week, the Employee shall be compensated in 
accordance with Article 8, Overtime Compensation. 

• Employees shall report to their duty assignments and shall remain there until the 
end of their shifts or until relieved by his/her shift supervisor or acting supervisor. 

• Employees unable to report for duty shall notify the Employer as soon as possible. 
• Employees shall receive, when possible, a thirty (30) minute lunch period 

and two (2), fifteen (15) minute breaks. The thirty (30) minute lunch period 
shall be a paid lunch period for continuous shift Employees. When staffing 
permits, Employees may combine the paid lunch break and the two (2) fifteen 
(15) minute breaks. 

• In the event the Center only has minimum staffing, the Employees may take 
their break in the break room as time permits. Minimum staffing 
requirements are determined by the Director. It is understood that the nature 
of a telecommunicator's work may at times require that no lunch or 
shortened break periods be taken.  



 
Section 2. Day-Light Savings Time: 

• Employees that are affected by Daylight Savings Time shall be paid for actual hours worked. 
Those Employees so affected by the one (1) hour addition to their regular shift shall work 
an additional one (1) hour and will be paid at time and one-half (1½) for that additional 
hour. 

o When daylight savings time begins in the spring and the clocks are set one (1) hour 
ahead, those Employees working a shift so affected by the one (1) hour reduction 
in their regular work shift shall have a choice of: 

o End their shift and use one (1) hour of their vacation or compensatory time; or 
work stay over onto day shift and work one (1) hour. 

o If an Employee takes the shift off, the Employee will be required to utilize twelve 
(12) hours of vacation or compensatory time in order to meet the forty (40) hour 
work week. 

 
Section 3. All Employees working on the communication floor, regardless of classification 
will be placed in an on-call status, in rotation as outlined below 

a. On-call status will incur based on a waterfall rotation in order of seniority. 

b. Frequency of on-call status will be dependent on the number of people assigned to the 
Employee's shift. 

c. Employees can trade their on-call weeks or give them away if another Employee is 
willing to accept being on-call in their place. The On-Call Trade or Acceptance 
Agreement f orm is the responsibility of the Employees to fill out. 

d. Prior to the Employee being called in. overtime will be offered to all Employees 
based on seniority, utilizing a call out list. If no one voluntarily takes the overtime 
the on-call person will be notified of the overtime. 

 
e. On-call response time is one (1) hour from the time of notification. 

 
f. Employees placed in an on-call status will be compensated a flat rate of $5.00 per hour 

regardless of if the Employee is called in to work or not. If an Employee in on-call 
status is required to respond to the communication center for work, they are paid 
either the flat rate fee or overtime pay, whichever of the two is greater. 

 
Section 4. In the event there are extenuating circumstances and increased staffing is 
required an Employee can be forced from each shift preceding or following the hours the 
overtime is required, for a maximum four (4) hours. Employees will be notified of these 
circumstances in a timely manner.  

 
____________________________________   ___________________________________________ 
 
Pottawattamie County Board of    AFSCME/IA Council 61 
Supervisors Chairman



 
Approve and authorize Chairman to sign 

Employment Agreements with: 
 

 Chief Information Officer David Bayer, 
HR Director Jana Lemrick, Buildings and 

Grounds Director Jason Slack, Budget 
and Finance Director Mitch Kay, Planning 
and Development Director Matt Wyant, 
Community Services Director Suzanne 

Watson, Engineer John Rasmussen, 
Conservation Director Mark Shoemaker, 

Veteran Affairs Director Margarita Dooley 
and GIS Coordinator Jamie Petersen. 



 
 

Discussion and/or decision to 
approve application for Permit to 
Display Fireworks filed by Conor 

Gillaspie, for display on July 4th, at 
101 Maple Dr, Treynor. 

 
 
 
 
 















 

 

 

Received/Filed 









Total Market 
Value:

$552,500.00 

$120,000.00
$72,000.00
$60,500.00

$200,000.00
$100,000.00

Appraisal of Commerical Properties in Pottawattamie County
Completed By:  Mitchell & Associaties, INC.

May 2022

HANCOCK
LEWIS
WALNUT

358 Elm St. Avoca, IA
15021 490th St. Griswold, IA 
217 N. Main St., Hancock, IA
15484 State Orchard Rd. Co.Bluffs,IA
705 Oak St., Walnut, IA

FACILITY ADDRESS VALUE
AVOCA
CALADONIA



© Copyright 2022, Mitchell & Associates, Inc. 

AN 
APPRAISAL 

 
 
 

OF 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 

358 ELM STREET 
AVOCA, IOWA 

 
 
 

AS OF 
 
 

May 16, 2022 
 
 
 

PREPARED FOR 
 
 

Ms. Kristina Treantos 
Via email 

Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov 
 
 
 

PREPARED BY 
 
 

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 
Certified General Appraiser 

 
 
 

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
14611 West Center Road 
Omaha, Nebraska 68144



 

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
ROBERT F. MITCHELL, SR., 1893-1983 

ROBERT F. MITCHELL, JR., SRPA 1927-2020 

R. GREGG MITCHELL, SRA 

D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA KEVIN P. HERMSEN, MAI 

W. BRUCE WILKIE DAVID C. WELLSANDT, MAI 

BETH ANDERSEN MELISSA L. RUTHERFORD 

RICHARD C. WITTMANN MARK SCHAECHER 

REBECCA BELLOWS ALEX FINKLE 

JAMES ANDERSEN  

 

S:\Reports\2022/00220814\Report.doc 

Real Estate  Appraisers  & Consultants 
 

 
14611 West Center  Road ■ Omaha, Nebraska 68144 ■  PH. 402-330-4500 ■ FAX 402-330-7207 

May 31, 2022 
 

Ms. Kristina Treantos RE: File #00220814 - Appraisal 
Via email Commercial Property 
Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov  358 Elm St. 
  Avoca, Iowa 
 

Dear Ms. Treantos: 
 

In response to your request and for the purpose of estimating the Market Value of the above referenced 
property for asset management purposes, I have personally visited the property, and then conducted an 
analysis of the matters pertinent to its current market value.  My findings are included in the following 
report of 66 pages, plus the supporting Addenda. 
 

This report is intended to be in conformity with the prevailing Standards and Ethics of the Uniform 
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) of the Appraisal Foundation and the Appraisal 
Institute.  It is independently prepared so is not based on a requested minimum value, specific valuation 
nor the approval of a loan. It is also in conformity with the laws and Minimum Standards of the State of 
Iowa where I am licensed. 
 

Your attention is directed toward the sections titled Limiting Conditions and Assumptions, 
Definitions, and Appraiser’s Certification, which address contingencies of the appraisal. Additional 
contingencies may be interspersed throughout the report where appropriate; therefore, this report 
should be considered in its entirety. Your attention is also directed to the special consideration noted 
on page 11 regarding the COVID-19 outbreak. The effective date for this appraisal is in a time 
where the community is experiencing a serious reaction to the outbreak including many closures or 
cancellations including school districts, state and federal declarations of emergency. Public health 
officials are calling for social distancing and limited exposure to others. There is currently 
insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the general market or to 
specific properties in regards to any effects on value or marketing times. 
 

Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the 
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is” Market Value of the subject 
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was: 
 

ONE HUNDRED TWENTY THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($120,000) 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 
General Certified Appraiser - IA CG0143 NE CG9201429;                                                    

 
  



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 Page 
 

Identification of Property, Summary of Salient Facts and Scope of Work 4 
 
Scope of Work 7 
 

Appraiser’s Certification 10 
 

Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 11 
 

Definitions 13 
 

Valuation and the Appraisal Process 14 
 

DESCRIPTIONS 
 

Market Area Description and Analysis 15 
 

Site Description and Analysis 20 
 

Description and Analysis of Improvements 24 
 

ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS 
 

Highest and Best Use 29 
 

Cost Approach 33 
 

Direct Sales Comparison Approach 34 
 

Income Capitalization Approach 49 
 

Reconciliation and Final Estimate of Value 66 
 
 

ADDENDA 
 

Qualifications of Appraiser 

USPAP Standards 

Flood Plain Map 

Zoning Map and Regulations 

Engagement Letter 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 4 
Avoca, Iowa 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY 
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS 

 
 

LOCATION: 358 Elm Street, Avoca, Iowa 51521. This is about 2 blocks south of 
West High Street and one block west of Ellsworth Street, in Avoca 
Iowa, which is in the eastern portion of Pottawattamie County, Iowa. 

 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Lots 1, 2, 3 in Block 19 Original town of Avoca, Pottawattamie County, 

Iowa 
 
OWNER OF RECORD: Pottawattamie County 
 Council Bluffs, Iowa 
 
CLIENT/INTENDED USE: The report was ordered by Ms. Kristina Treantos with Pottawattamie 

County, who advised this appraisal would be used in asset management 
purposes.  There are no other intended uses or users of this report. 

 
APPRAISAL PURPOSE: Purpose of this appraisal is to provide a supported estimate of the ‘as is’ 

fee simple market value of the subject property, as of the date of the site 
visit. 

 
INSPECTION DATE: On May 16, 2022, I personally visited subject in the company of Shawn 

Bluml with Pottawattamie County.  Most photos used in this report 
were taken at the time of this inspection. 

 
EFFECTIVE DATE: This appraisal has an effective date of May 16, 2022, the date of the 

property visit. 
 
SUBJECT DESCRIPTION: The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance 

building. This building contains one drive-in bay an open office and a 
restroom it was built in 1985. The building is of pre-engineered steel 
construction with metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There 
is one overhead door for vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. The 
building has 1,920 square feet and is located upon a corner site with 
20,550 SF which is totally fenced.  

 
ZONING: Subject is zoned HC (Highway Corridor District) under Avoca 

jurisdiction. This district is intended to be applied to sites fronting on 
major highways for uses and services normally associated with the 
traveling public. Highway Commercial areas should be designed so 
that all or most of the needs of the traveling public can be 
accommodated at one stop. Other uses include sales, services, and 
retail which serve the needs of markets ranging from several 
neighborhoods to the overall region. The district is further 
characterized by a need for adequate off-street parking. (see zoning 
regulations in Addenda). 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 5 
Avoca, Iowa 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY 
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED) 

 
 

FLOOD PLAIN STATUS: Subject does appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per 
CoreLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0327F, dated April 16, 
2013 (map in report). 

 
TITLE HISTORY: Per county records, subject does not appear to have sold in the past five 

years. 
 
TAX ASSESSMENT: Real estate taxes for Pottawattamie County are combined in one billing 

for all governmental subdivisions. The County Assessor is responsible 
for estimating ‘actual value’ to which tax rates are applied. Subject 
(Parcel #7739 16 133 005) is assessed as follows:  

  
 
TAX RATE: The 2020 tax rate was $35.930920 per $1,000 of assessed value, which 

appears normal for commercial properties in this area. The 2021 tax rate 
has not been set, as of the effective date of this report. 

 
REAL ESTATE TAXES: Per Pottawattamie County Treasurer’s Office, shows net real estate 

taxes of $0 as it is owned by a government entity. Generally these taxes 
have delinquent dates of September 1, 2020 for the first half and March 
1, 2021 for the second half. Subject is appraised as if all historic tax 
obligations (including additional interest or penalties) are paid current. 

 
PERSONAL PROPERTY: No furniture, fixtures, business or equipment values are included in this 

report. 
 
HIGHEST & BEST USE: As concluded herein, highest and best use of subject is ‘as is’ with a 

maintenance shed. 
 
EXPOSURE TIME: As described herein, exposure time is estimated time a property interest 

being appraised would have been offered on the market prior to a 
hypothetical consummation of sale at market value on effective date of 
appraisal. Based on a retrospective opinion of past events, assuming a 
competitive, open market, I estimated that would have been within 12-
months, reflecting current market conditions. 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 6 
Avoca, Iowa 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY 
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED) 

 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL Existing improvement is a maintenance shed It is unknown if  
CONDITIONS: hazardous components/materials (urea formaldehyde foam insulation, 

asbestos, etc.) were used in construction/renovation or if the site has 
contaminants. No evidence of underground fuel storage tanks or 
contamination was observed. As a result, environmental conditions are 
presumed non-adverse. However, it may be prudent to obtain a current 
certified survey and environmental assessment of the property. This 
appraisal makes no allowance for environmental remediation or 
abatement requirements. Your attention is directed to Limiting 
Conditions and Assumptions at the conclusion of this report. 

 
 
SUMMARY OF INDICATED VALUES FROM THIS REPORT 
 

Market Value via the Cost Approach  Not Applicable 

Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach   $125,000 

Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple)  $110,000 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 7 
Avoca, Iowa 

SCOPE OF WORK 
 
 

Scope of work refers to research and analysis in this assignment and includes the extent to which the 
property is identified, type and extent of data researched, and type and extent of analysis applied. 
 
Extent of Property Identification:  The property was identified by its addresses of 358 Elm Street, 
Avoca, Iowa.  Per Pottawattamie County records, this address corresponds to County Parcel number 
and legal descriptions summarized in the Salient Facts section of this report. 
 
Type and Extent of Data Researched: I personally visited the property, building measurements were 
taken from county assessors web site and verified on site, which provided the information for the 
property descriptions.  Site size was obtained from the assessor’s website also. Other data was collected 
from County public records, conversations with local property owners and brokers, information 
published in real estate industry publications and Mitchell & Associates appraisal files. I was not 
provided with a current soils testing report or survey; therefore, I did not consider the impact on 
property value of any possible restrictions or soil issues that might be revealed by these reports. The 
COVID-19 virus is having significant impacts to how people live around the world. The impacts are 
fairly recent in the area, but there have been many closures. Public health officials are calling for 
social distancing and limited exposure to others. 

As we progress through 2022, fewer cases are reported but some cautionary measures are still 
promoted. Such news has increased the level of fear and anxiety among the community. Single-
family sales have been brisk due to the shrinking inventories and rising prices. Commercial 
businesses may experience reduced sales due to recent closing of bars and restaurants except for 
drive-thru service, and avoiding places where 10+ people gather. Other businesses are opting for 
employees to work remotely.  

There is currently insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the 
general market or to specific properties (e.g. places of reported exposures) in regards to any effects 
on value or marketing times. 
 
Type and Extent of Analysis Applied:  A highest and best use analysis of the property was developed 
utilizing inferred or trend methodology, appropriate of the property in light of its site size and building 
size as well as the location in a mature area.  Due to the age of the structure, estimating depreciation 
would be so subjective as to render the cost approach unreliable; therefore, it was omitted from this 
appraisal. I researched and found recent sales of buildings supporting the use of the Direct Sales 
Comparison Approach.  The Income Capitalization Approach was not developed due to a lack of 
market information.   
 
Conclusion:  The conclusions and analyses were reconciled into the final estimate of value.  Based on 
my training, experience (see credentials in the Addenda intended to satisfy the Competency Rule of 
USPAP) and judgment, I concluded that this appraisal in a summary format including the Direct Sales 
Comparison and income approach is appropriate to support a credible estimate of the Fee Simple value 
and consistent with the Standards of the 2020-2021 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal 
Practice (USPAP). 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 8 
Avoca, Iowa 

EXTERIOR PHOTOS 

 

Front (East side) 

 

North side 

 

West side 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 9 
Avoca, Iowa 

 

South side 

 

Sand storage 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 10 
Avoca, Iowa 

APPRAISER'S CERTIFICATION 
 
 

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief: 
 
The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct. 

The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions and 
limiting conditions and are my personal, impartial, and unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and 
conclusions. 

I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and no 
personal interest with respect to the parties involved. 

I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties involved 
with this assignment. 

My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined 
results. 

My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or 
reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the 
amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent 
event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal. 

I have not performed a previous appraisal of the subject property and have not done an appraisal 
review involving the subject, or an appraisal consulting assignment involving the subject, within the 
past three years. 

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared 
in conformity with the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of 
Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute and the Uniform Standards of Appraisal 
Practice. 

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared 
in conformity with the requirements of the Uniform Standards of Appraisal Practice 

The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review by its 
duly authorized representatives. 

I have made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report.   

No one provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person signing this certification.  
If there are exceptions, the name of each individual providing significant real property appraisal 
assistance is stated in the scope of the report.1 

As of the date of this report, I, D. Rick Whitesides, have completed the requirements of the 
continuing education program of the Appraisal Institute. 
 
APPRAISER: 

 
  
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA - NE CG920142 
 IA CG01439 
 

 
1  Source for Items #1-#9, Standards Rule 2-3, Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practices, 2001 Edition 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 11 
Avoca, Iowa 

ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS 
 
 
This appraisal has been based on the following limiting conditions: 
 
For purposes of this appraisal, any marketing program for the sale of the property would assume cash or its 
equivalent. 

No detailed soil studies covering the subject property were available for this appraisal.  It is therefore assumed that 
soil conditions are adequate to support standard construction consistent with highest and best use. 

The date of value to which the conclusions and opinions expressed in this report apply, is set forth in the letter of 
transmittal.  Further, the dollar amount of any value opinion rendered in this report is based upon the purchasing 
power of the American dollar existing on that date. 

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for economic or physical factors which may affect the opinions in this 
report which occur after the date of the letter transmitting the report or which cause unpredictable changes.  Events 
such as (but not limited to) natural disasters, wars and economic calamities are examples of such factors. 

The appraiser reserves the right to make such adjustments to the analysis, opinions and conclusions set forth in this 
report as may be required by consideration of additional data or more reliable data that may become available. 

No opinion as to title is rendered.  Data relating to ownership and legal description was obtained from county 
records and is considered reliable.  Title is assumed to be marketable and free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, 
easements and restrictions except those specifically discussed in the report.  The property is appraised assuming it 
to be under responsible ownership and competent management and available for its highest and best use. 
If no title policy was made available to the appraiser, they assume no responsibility for such items of record not 
disclosed by their customary investigation.   

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for hidden or non-apparent conditions of the property, subsoil, or 
structures that render it more or less valuable.  No responsibility is assumed for arranging for engineering studies 
that may be required to discover them. 

The property is appraised assuming it to be in full compliance with all applicable federal, state and local 
environmental regulations and laws, unless otherwise stated. 

The property is appraised assuming that all applicable zoning and use regulations and restrictions have been 
complied with, unless otherwise stated. 

The property is appraised assuming that all required licenses, certificates of occupancy, consents or other 
legislative or administrative authority from any local, state or national government or private entity or organization 
have been or can be obtained or renewed for any use on which the value estimate contained in this report is based, 
unless otherwise stated. 

No engineering survey has been made by the appraiser.  Except as specifically stated, data relative to size and area 
was taken from sources considered reliable and no encroachment of real property improvements is considered to 
exist. 

No opinion is expressed as to the value of subsurface oil, gas or mineral rights whether the property is subject to 
surface entry for the exploration or removal of such materials except as is expressly stated. 
Maps, plats, and exhibits included in this report are for illustration only as an aid in visualizing matters discussed 
within the report.  They should not be considered as surveys or relied upon for any other purpose, nor should they 
be removed from, reproduced, or used apart from the report. 

No opinion is intended to be expressed for matters, which require legal expertise or specialized investigation, or 
knowledge beyond that customarily employed by real estate appraisers. 

Possession of this report, or copy of it, does not carry with it the right of publication.  It may not be used for any 
purposes by any person other than the party to whom it is addressed without the written consent of the appraiser, 
and in any event only with the proper written qualification and only in its entirety. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 12 
Avoca, Iowa 

ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
Testimony or attendance in court or at any other hearing is not required by reason of rendering this appraisal, 
unless such arrangements are made in a reasonable time in advance. 

The appraiser has personally inspected the subject property and find no obvious evidence of structural deficiencies, 
except as stated in this report; however, no responsibility for hidden defects or conformity to specific governmental 
requirements, such as fire, building and safety, earthquake or occupancy codes can be assumed without provision 
of specific professional or government inspections. 

No consideration has been given in this appraisal as to the value of the property located on the premises considered 
by the appraiser to be personal property, nor has he given consideration to the cost of moving or relocating such 
personal property; only the real property has been considered.   

Information obtained for use in this appraisal is believed to be true and correct to the best of my abilities; however, 
no responsibility is assumed for errors or omissions, or for information not disclosed which might otherwise affect 
the valuation estimate. 

Disclosure of the contents of this appraisal report is governed by the Bylaws and Regulations of the Appraisal 
Institute. 

Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report (especially any conclusions as to value, the identity of the 
appraiser or firm with which he is connected, or any reference to the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers 
or to the MAI or SRA designations) shall be disseminated to the public through advertising media, public relations 
media, news media, sales media or any other public means of communication without prior written consent and 
approval of the appraiser. 

Comments concerning the location, market area, trends, construction quality and costs of the property appraised 
herein represent the opinion of the appraiser formed after examination and study of the subject property. 
This appraisal represents the independent opinion of the appraiser free from any commitments and free from any 
present or expected future interest in the property, with the sole compensation for the employment being a fair 
professional fee. 

The Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) became effective January 26, 1992.  I have not made a specific 
compliance survey and analysis of this property to determine whether or not it is in conformity with the various 
detailed requirements of the ADA.  It is possible that a compliance survey of the property, together with a detailed 
analysis of the requirements of the ADA, could reveal that the property is not in compliance with one or more of 
the requirements of the Act.  If so, this fact could have a negative effect upon the value of the property.  Since I 
have no direct evidence relating to this issue, I did not consider possible non-compliance with the requirements of 
ADA in estimating the value of the property. 

Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of hazardous material, which may or may not be present on the 
property, was not observed by the appraiser.  The appraiser has no knowledge of the existence of such materials on 
or in the property.  The appraiser, however, is not qualified to detect such substances.  The presence of substances 
such as asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation or other potentially hazardous materials may affect the value 
of the property.  The value estimate is predicated on the assumption that there is no such material on or in the 
property that would cause a loss of value.  No responsibility is assumed for any such conditions, or for any 
expertise or engineering knowledge required to discover them.  The client is urged to retain an expert in this field, 
if desired. 

If this appraisal report was transmitted as an “electronic record” containing my “electronic signature,” as those 
terms are defined in applicable federal and/or state laws (excluding audio and video recordings), or a facsimile 
transmission of this appraisal report containing a copy or representation of my signature, the appraisal report shall 
be as effective, enforceable and valid as if a paper version of this appraisal report were delivered containing my 
original hand written signature. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 13 
Avoca, Iowa 

DEFINITIONS: 
 
 

FEE SIMPLE ESTATE:1 Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate, 
subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers 
of taxation, eminent domain, police power and escheat. 

 
LEASED FEE ESTATE:2 An ownership interest held by a landlord with the right of use and 

occupancy conveyed by lease to others.  The rights of lessor (the 
leased fee owner) and leased fee are specified by contract terms 
contained within the lease. 

 
MARKET VALUE: 2 The most probable price which a property should bring in a 

competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair 
sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably, 
and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus.  Implicit in 
this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date3 
and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions 
whereby: 

 

 (1) Buyer and seller are typically motivated; 
 

 (2) Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what 
they consider their own best interests; 

 

 (3) A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; 
 

 (4) Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of 
financial arrangements comparable thereto; and, 

 

 (5) The price represents the normal consideration for the property 
sold unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions 
granted by anyone associated with the sale. 

 
1  The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 4th Edition, Appraisal Institute, Chicago 
2  Excerpted from Vol. 55 No. 165, Federal Register Section 34.44 Appraisal Standards 
3  See discussion regarding exposure time and marketability within the Highest and Best Use analysis of this report 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 14 
Avoca, Iowa 

VALUATION AND THE APPRAISAL PROCESS 
 
 

An appraisal is an estimate, an opinion of value.  Its accuracy depends on the basic competence and 
integrity of the appraiser and on the soundness and skill by which he or she processed the data.  Its 
worth is influenced by the availability of pertinent data.  The professional appraiser seeks current facts 
and seeks to be practical.  Most importantly, the appraiser’s opinion must be without bias.  As with 
other types of “markets,” the real property appraiser does not make the market; rather, he or she 
interprets the market.  
 
Generally, the appraiser uses three approaches to value: 1) Cost Approach; 2) Direct Sales Comparison 
Approach; and, 3) Income Approach.  Each of these approaches is discussed separately below.  They 
are all comparative approaches in that the basic data comes from direct comparisons in the market, 
indirect comparisons in the market, and/or the appraiser’s judgment, which is based on market 
experience. 
 
In the Cost Approach, the cost to reproduce the property at the date of the appraisal, less an appropriate 
allowance for depreciation (physical deterioration, functional obsolescence, and economic 
obsolescence), is made by market comparisons of cost and depreciation.  The Cost Approach tends to 
set the upper limit of value since no property can be worth more than it would cost to build another 
property of equal utility assuming no reasonable delays. In land appraisals this approach is not 
applicable as land cannot be replaced but is considered a non-depreciating asset. 
 
In the Direct Sales Comparison Approach, the subject property is compared to sales of similar 
properties.  The sales are analyzed to determine similarities and differences, which affect value when 
observed in the market.  These similarities and differences then serve as points of comparison between 
the market data and the subject property.  When necessary, adjustments are made to the comparables to 
account for these differences.  The resulting adjusted value per unit is then used to estimate the value via 
this approach. 
 
In the Income Capitalization Approach, the future operation of the property is estimated from past 
historical data relating to the subject and/or from comparable market data.  Gross rental schedules, 
vacancy and collection losses, fixed expenses, operating expenses and reserves are projected and used to 
estimate net income.  This net income is converted to a value estimate using the capitalization process.  
The capitalization rate (comprised of a return on and a return of the investment) is based on 
demonstrated rates found in the market. (In land appraisals, recapture is not a part of the capitalization 
rate as land is considered a non-depreciating asset.) The method and technique of capitalization is 
determined by the nature of the property in the market.  
 
All approaches were considered for this report, however, the availability, adequacy and pertinence of 
data may limit the approaches actually used, as discussed in the Reconciliation of this report. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 15 
Avoca, Iowa 

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS 
 
 

Market areas influence value of specific properties in many ways. These influences are best 
understood considering their social, economic, governmental and environmental characteristics.  It 
has been said that “social, economic, governmental and environmental forces also influence property 
value near the subject property which, in turn, directly affects the value of the subject property 
itself.”1  Therefore, we will examine each characteristic considering the subject’s market area. 
 
Market Area: Subject is in Avoca Iowa, near the center of Pottawattamie County, northeast of the 
Omaha/Council Bluffs metro (CBSA). This area is described as follows: 
 
Social Characteristics 
 

Demographics:  The 2021 population2 within one, 3 and 5 miles of Avoca was reported as 
1,417, 1,756 and 2,105 respectively; which is about 4% higher than 2010. Households in 2021 
were up 0.4% from 2010. Average family size was 2.26 persons. 
 
Education: The market area is served by the AHST Public School District (Avoca, Hancock 
Shelby Tennant and Walnut communities). The level of education achieved for persons ages 25 
or older within the area is shown as follows. 

 
 
Employment:  Employment by industry within the city is shown as follows. 

 
 
 

 
1 Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, 2008 
2  www.stdbonline.com  

http://www.stdbonline.com/


 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 16 
Avoca, Iowa 

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Social Characteristics (Continued)  
 

It was shown that 808 persons are in the workforces in Avoca. Largest employers in this community 
are Wings America, Casey’s General Stores, F6 Hospitality, Avoca Specialty Care, Dollar General, 
Estes Express Lines, Cobblestone Inn & Suites and Chapman Metering; unemployment rate was 
2.2%: 
 
Housing: The market area 642 housing units within one mile and has roughly 74.5% of occupants 
owning their home and 25.5% of homes being renter occupied. 
 
Roadway Linkage:  City of Avoca is accessed via Highway 59 which links to Interstate Highway 
80 just north of this community.   
 
Recreation: 
 
Avoca has a 9 hole public golf course, aquatic center and a museum.  
 
Retail Centers:  Shopping is available in town and also available in nearby communities.  

 

Utilities:  Water is provided by City of Avoca, MidAmerican Energy provides gas and electricity to 
the community.  
 
 
Governmental Characteristics 
 

Administration:  Avoca has a mayor and city council form of government. 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 17 
Avoca, Iowa 

Market Area Aerial 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 18 
Avoca, Iowa 

Immediate Market Area Aerial 
 

 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 19 
Avoca, Iowa 

MARKET AREA VIEWS 

 

View north along Elm Street, 
subject at left 

 

View south along Elm Street, 
subject at right 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 20 
Avoca, Iowa 

SITE DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS 
 
 

Subject property is located on the west side of Elm Street which is just south of the business district in 
Avoca which is in the east portion of Pottawattamie County. The property is surrounded by commercial 
or industrial properties. Following is a summary of subject characteristics: 
 

Size:  Subject parcel has frontage along Elm Street with site area listed as 20,550 square feet or 0.47 
acres. These dimensions were taken from public records, as no survey was provided.  
 
Topography:  Subject site appears to have level terrain near the grade level of abutting roads. This site 
appears to have adequate surface water drainage.  
 
Soils:  Subject is presumed free of hazardous materials and the load bearing capacities adequate for 
improvements.  Obvious environmental problems were not observed.  See Limiting Conditions as relate 
to effects on value if environmental contamination is found on property. 
 
Utilities:  Subject has electricity, natural gas, water and a sewer.   
 
Easements/Encroachments/Restrictions:  No adverse easements or encroachments were noted on the 
plats and none are known. 
 
Flood Plain/Drainage:  Subject does appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per 
CoreLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0327F, dated April 16, 2013 (map in report). 
 
Zoning:  Subject is zoned HC (Highway Corridor District) under Avoca jurisdiction. This district is 
intended to be applied to sites fronting on major highways for uses and services normally associated 
with the traveling public. Highway Commercial areas should be designed so that all or most of the 
needs of the traveling public can be accommodated at one stop. Other uses include sales, services, 
and retail which serve the needs of markets ranging from several neighborhoods to the overall 
region. The district is further characterized by a need for adequate off-street parking. (see zoning 
regulations in Addenda). 
 
Visibility:  Subject has frontage along Elm Street which is a 2 lane street handling north/south bound 
traffic and carries moderate amounts of traffic. The views to and from the subject are not dramatically 
obscured by abutting properties or terrain. Based on these factors the subject is considered to have 
average visibility characteristics.   
 
Access:  Subject parcel  has a corner location in an area of commercial land uses. Highway 59 connects 
this area to Interstate 80. Based on this, subject is considered to have average access characteristics.  
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 21 
Avoca, Iowa 

Subject Parcel Aerial 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 22 
Avoca, Iowa 

Subject Plat Map 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 23 
Avoca, Iowa 

Subject Flood Map 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 24 
Avoca, Iowa 

DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS 
 
 

The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance building. This building contains 
one drive-in bay an open office and a restroom it was built in 1985. The building is of pre-engineered 
steel construction with metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There is one overhead door for 
vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. The building has 1,920 square feet and is located upon a corner site 
with 20,550 SF which is totally fenced. Based on my observations and public records the general 
building components and their condition were summarized as follows: 
 
 

STRUCTURAL FEATURES: 
 

Footings & Foundation:  Footings were not observed; foundation appears to be poured concrete.   
 
Superstructure:  Building is of pre-engineered steel construction with metal panels on the exterior 
elevations and a pitched roof. 
 
Floors:  Is poured concrete, specific thickness and load-bearing capacity is unknown.   
 
Roof:  Roof is a pitched design and was covered with metal panels.  It is drained by a gutter and 
downspout system.  
 
Walls:  Exterior walls are metal panels.   
 
Windows & Doors:  Entry into the building is a direct entry through 2 metal pedestrian doors in an 
aluminum frame. The windows in the building were aluminum sliders. There were 2 overhead drive-in 
doors of insulated metal construction, which were about 14’ x 14’ and electrically operated.  
 
 
MECHANICAL FEATURES: 
 

Electrical Systems:  Electric service was 110/220 volt service; protected by circuit breakers.  
 
Lighting:  The building had fluorescent fixtures.  
 
Heating & Air Conditioning:  There was a gas fired tube heater  
 
Fire Protection System:  None observed 
 
Security System:  None observed 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 25 
Avoca, Iowa 

DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
 

INTERIOR: 
 

Restrooms:  There was a restroom equipped with a residential stool, sink.  No specific investigation of 
whether or not these facilities meet requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act was conducted 
(see disclaimer in Assumptions at the conclusion of this report).   
 
Interior Finish:  The open office portion of the building has no real finish  
 
Site Improvements:  There was concrete drive from the street to the building then that changes to 
crushed rock, the balance of the site has turf grass. This site has a chain link fence surrounding it. There 
is an area used for sand storage with and a wood retaining wall. 
 
 
CONDITION/DEPRECIATION: 
 

Subject was reported to have been constructed in 1985. Therefore, it has a chronological age of 37 
years.  The subject was considered in average/fair condition. Therefore, it is estimated to have effective 
age of 25 years.  Per Marshall Valuation, buildings similar to subject would have an economic life of 40 
years.  Based on these factors, subject is estimated to have non-curable depreciation of 50% (20-year 
effective age ÷ 40-year economic life). 
 
Functional Obsolescence:  The subject’s layout and floor plan is typical for this type of structure in this 
area.  
 
External Obsolescence:  No external obsolescence was observed (in market area description), as there 
appears adequate demand for these type properties. 

 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 26 
Avoca, Iowa 

Building Sketch 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 27 
Avoca, Iowa 

INTERIOR PHOTOS 

 

South bay 

 

Restroom 

 

Open office area 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 28 
Avoca, Iowa 

 

Rear portion of south bay 

 

North bay 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 29 
Avoca, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE 
 
 

Definition:  The reasonably probable and legal use of vacant land or improved property, which is 
physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and results in the highest value. 
 
Highest and best use of a specific property is not determined through subjective analysis by the 
appraiser; rather, shaped by the competitive forces in the market where property is located. Therefore, 
the analysis and interpretation of highest and best use is an economic study of market forces focused on 
the subject. The benefit of real estate development produces for a community or amenity contribution 
provided by a planned project (i.e., public space in a park-like area) is not considered in the appraiser’s 
analysis of highest and best use.  Also implied is that the determination of highest and best use results 
from the appraiser’s judgment and analytical skills, i.e., that the use determined from analysis represents 
an interpretation or opinion not a fact to be found.  In appraisal practice, the concept of highest and best 
use represents the premises upon which value is based.  In the context of most probable selling price 
(market value) another appropriate term to reflect highest and best use would be most probable use.  In 
the context of investment value, an alternate term would be most profitable use. 
 
In order for a particular use or a piece of real property to be the highest and best use of that real 
property, several requirements must be met: 
 

1. The use must be legally permissible or reasonably possible. 
2. The use must be physically possible on the site. 
3. The use must be economically and financially feasible under projected market conditions existing. 
4. The use must be the most profitable of the legally permissible, physically possible, and economically 

feasible alternatives. 
 
In estimating its market value, real property is appraised in terms of its highest and best use.  Highest 
and best use analysis is analogous to a feasibility study, in that it is progressive.  Legally permissible or 
physically possible uses are first considered.  After analyzing one, the other is fully considered. 
 
Regarding possible uses, there are five basic categories, which are: 
 

 1. Residential, 
 2. Commercial, 
 3. Industrial, 
 4. Agricultural, and 
 5. Special or public use. 
 
After permissible and possible are concluded, economically feasible uses are next identified; that is, 
those that would pay competitive return on investment in improvements as well as land.  Of these, the 
“maximally productive” or most profitable is highest and best use also referred to as the “ideal” use.1 
 
In estimating highest and best use of property, the site is first analyzed as though vacant, unimproved 
and available for development to its most profitable, likely, legal use.  When improvements are present, 
it is necessary to estimate the highest and best use of the site as improved.  In both cases, the property is 
analyzed from the viewpoint of possible, permissible and feasible uses. 
 

 
1  Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 30 
Avoca, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED) 
 
 

SITE ‘AS IF’ VACANT 
 

Referring to highest and best use ‘as if’ vacant, first test is physical adaptability of land. Potential uses 
include are generally commercial in nature. Agricultural uses are not physically possible due to site size 
in relation to large acreage needs of modern farm operations. The 20,550 SF site appears entirely usable 
and could accommodate most uses, obviously limited by its size. No adverse physical or economic 
conditions were observed. 
 
Second test is legal permissibility of use. Site is zoned HC (Highway Commercial District).  Legal uses 
are slightly limiting, as the zoning is designed intended to accommodate commercial related activities 
uses. (see zoning regulations in Addenda).  
 
Third test is the financial feasibility, calling for a use generating highest return on and of investment.  
The site is located along Elm Street, a lightly traveled street.  Office and retail users would not find the 
site attractive due to the minimal traffic and surrounding commercial/industrial properties. Civic users 
are often not-for-profit entities that operate on limited budgets.  As a result, civic users would likely not 
be willing to pay as much as a commercial or industrial user for a site with the subject characteristics. 
 
Based on site size, zoning, economic and physical characteristics, it is my judgment that the highest and 
best use, as if vacant, would be for industrial use within the scope of the present zoning. 
 
 
“AS IMPROVED” 
 

The four tests of highest and best use, (legal permissibility, physical possibility, financial feasibility 
and maximum productivity) can be applied to the property “as improved” to determine the use that 
will maximize the subject property’s value.  The use maximizing the highest value is the highest and 
best use of the property “as improved.”  
 
The four basic courses of action that can be applied to a property are: 
 

• To demolish improvements and redevelop the site for a new use; or 
• To modify improvements (e.g. renovate, modernize, or convert), or 
• To cure items of deferred maintenance and retain the improvements; or 
• To maintain the improvements “as is”  

 
I analyzed the four courses of action for the subject mixed-use building, in keeping with the four 
main tests of highest and best use, with my analysis described in the following paragraphs: 
 
Demolish & Redevelop:  The existing improvements contribute to site value (concluded in large part 
by competing properties), and it would not be financially feasible to demolish them in order to 
redevelop the land for some alternate use.  Therefore, this option is eliminated on grounds of financial 
feasibility.   
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 31 
Avoca, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED) 
 
 

“AS IMPROVED” (CONTINUED) 
 

Modify Improvements:  I was unable to identify modifications or conversions of existing 
improvements that would increase property value by an amount greater than anticipated cost of 
modifications or conversions.  Therefore, the option to modify improvements is eliminated on grounds 
it would not maximize property value. 
 
Cure Deferred Maintenance or Maintain Improvements:  Subject is considered in average 
condition, with some minor deferred maintenance observed.  The cost to cure this deficiency is not 
considered to increase the value beyond the costs of those improvements. Therefore, the option to 
cure deferred maintenance is ruled out.   
 
The only remaining course of action meeting tests of legal permissibility, physical possibility, 
financial feasibility, and maximum productivity is to continue current use of the subject as a light 
industrial or maintenance building. 
 
 
EXPOSURE TIME 
 

In order to sell property, it must be exposed to the open market.  The following discussion is 
provided to illustrate current market conditions and estimate exposure time needed to market subject. 
 
Exposure time may be defined as estimated length of time a property interest being appraised would 
have been offered on the open market prior to a hypothetical consummation of sale at market value 
on effective date of the appraisal; a retrospective estimate based on analysis of past events assuming 
a competitive, open market. 
 
The concept of reasonable exposure time encompasses not only adequate, sufficient, reasonable 
time, but also adequate, sufficient, reasonable effort and considers type property being appraised, 
supply/ demand conditions, as of effective date of appraisal and analysis of historical sales 
information (sold after exposure and completion of negotiations between buyer/seller).  Therefore, 
reasonable exposure time is a function of price and use, not an isolated estimate of time. Reasonable 
exposure is always presumed to precede effective date of appraisal and differs for various types of 
real estate under various market conditions. Therefore, my estimate of 12-18 months exposure time 
is based on subject’s determined highest and best use in a highly competitive retail market 
evidencing some demand (albeit limited) for the type of space offered, its highly desirable location, 
but also factoring the slowdown in the real estate market over the past couple years caused by 
recessionary conditions. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 32 
Avoca, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED) 
 
 

MARKETING TIME 
 

Marketing time for the purpose of this report, is defined as an estimated amount of time it might 
take to sell a property interest in real estate at estimated market value during the period immediately 
after the effective date of the appraisal.” 
 
As with reasonable exposure time, estimated marketing time is not intended as a prediction of a date 
of sale or a one-line statement.  The concept of marketing time encompasses other market conditions 
that may affect marketing, e.g., identification of typical buyers/sellers for type of real estate 
involved, typical equity investment levels, and/or financing terms. Therefore, reasonable marketing 
time is a function of price, use, and anticipated market conditions such as changes in cost/availability 
of funds, not an isolated estimate of time. Marketing time occurs after effective date of market value 
estimate and considers such brokerage functions as advertising, arranging financing and marketing 
property to specific investors. Estimates of both reasonable exposure and marketing times are not 
predictions, rather only judgments made by an appraiser. 
 
Properties similar to the subject would appeal primarily to owners due to the single tenant design of 
the subject. A market search done as part of this appraisal provided limited data and, as a result, 
accurately estimating exact time needed to market the property was subjective, but area brokers 
reported recent marketing times for most reasonably priced commercial properties in metro as 
ranging from 1-24 months. The real estate market slowed in late 2007 due to recessionary 
conditions, and this slowdown was magnified by the destabilization of the financial markets in 
October 2008. Loans are still available for qualified borrowers, but typically at lower loan-to-value 
ratios, mitigating lender risk. Present rates (as of effective date of this report) range from 4.5% to 6% 
with terms of 3-30 years and amortizations of 15-30 years. Therefore, I concluded if subject were 
listed for sale in the current market at/near appraised value, reasonable marketing time is anticipated 
within 12 months, assuming the offering is placed with a competent broker active in the area and 
experienced with this property type. Real estate brokerage commissions in the area for this property 
type typically are near 4%-7% of gross sale price. Market also reacts more quickly to properties with 
attractive price/ value ratios, tending to neglect those perceived as unrealistically priced. Skill of 
those marketing property can also influence exposure time needed to consummate a sale, as well as 
the overall economic environment in which property exists. Therefore, the abovementioned 
marketing time is considered reasonably well supported, but is not guaranteed. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 33 
Avoca, Iowa 

COST APPROACH 
 
 

The purpose of the Cost Approach is to estimate a Market Value for the subject property based upon the 
cost to construct a new property that enjoys the same utility as the subject property.  This approach is 
based upon the principle of substitution, as it is assumed that a knowledgeable purchaser would not pay 
more for a property than the cost to build a new one.  The improvements are literally constructed “on 
paper” and then any accrued depreciation is subtracted from this value.  This depreciated value estimate 
is then added to the Market Value off the subject site in its highest and best use to arrive at an estimate 
of value for the property as a whole.  More specifically, the steps of the Cost Approach are as follows: 
 

 1. Estimate the value of the site in its highest and best use as if vacant. 
 
 2. Estimate the replacement cost new of all of the improvements. 
 
 3. Estimate accrued depreciation from all sources. 
 
 4. Deduct accrued depreciation from the cost new. 
 
 5. Add the estimated value of the site to arrive at a value for the entire property by the Cost 

Approach. 
 
Due to the older age of the original building, the reliability of this approach is diminished, so it 
was not developed in this report. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 34 
Avoca, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH 
 
 

The Direct Sales Comparison Approach (also known as the Market Data Approach) is the process in 
which a market value estimate is derived by analyzing the market for similar properties and comparing 
these properties to the subject property.  This approach is premised upon the principle of substitution 
which suggests that a prudent person will not pay more to purchase a property than it will cost him or 
her to purchase an equally desirable substitute property.  Another basic premise of the Direct Sales 
Comparison Approach is that the market value of a property is directly related to the prices of 
comparable, competitive properties.1 
 
The comparative analysis performed in this approach focuses on similarities and differences among 
properties and transactions observed in the market which affect value.  These similarities and 
differences then serve as points of comparison between the market data and the subject property.  
Typically, the major points of comparison are: 
 

• Property Rights Conveyed 
• Financing Terms 
• Condition of Sale 
• Time 
• Physical Characteristics 
• Economic Characteristics 

 
A sale of a property that is an exact duplicate of the subject property would be an important and ideal 
indication of value.  In reality, no two properties are exactly alike.  As a result, an adjustment process is 
used when analyzing the major points of comparison. 
 
The known sales with the greatest degree of comparability used in this analysis are adjusted for the 
difference between the comparable and the subject property.  Adjustments are always made FROM the 
comparable TO the subject property.  For example, if the comparable property sold two years ago and 
market analysis suggests that prices have increased 5%, then the sale price of the comparable would be 
increased by 5% to give the indication of value for the subject.  Conversely, if the comparable property 
was in a superior location as compared to the subject and this difference was estimated at 5%, a 
negative adjustment of 5% would be applied to the sale price of the comparable to give the indication of 
value for the subject.  The adjustments for different physical and economic characteristics are handled 
in the same manner.  Adjustments may be by percentages or by dollar amounts or both. 
 
No sales of similar properties were found in Avoca, Walnut, Griswold or Hancock; therefore, I utilized 
sales from Council Bluffs. Following are descriptions of known industrial, commercial or mixed use 
properties which sold in recent years in the Council Bluffs metropolitan area.  After the sales, I have 
shown location maps, adjustment grids, explanation and my final conclusions of the subject property 
market value from this approach.  

 
1  Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 35 
Avoca, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 36 
Avoca, Iowa 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 37 
Avoca, Iowa 

Comparable #3 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4258 

Address 1005 South 17th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1-2 and the west 20' of Lot 3 
including the north 1/2 of the vacated 
adjacent alley, Block 11, Fleming & 
Davis 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 416 SF 

Eave Height 14.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 1998/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 10,880 SF 

Usable Site Size 10,880 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features Fenced, Mezzanine 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date July 17, 2019 

Contract Price $192,500 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$80.21 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$80.21 

Adjusted Price $192,500 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$80.21 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$80.21 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor All Pro Towing, LLC 

Grantee Perfect Diamond Lawns, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-09108 

Source Broker 
 

The property previously sold February 2017, for $160,000. The 2019 sale represents appreciation near 8% per year. 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 38 
Avoca, Iowa 

Comparable #4 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4269 

Address 919 South 15th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 15 and 16, Block 8, Fleming & 
Davis Subdivision and part of the 
vacated alley 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,592 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,592 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 348 SF 

Eave Height 12.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 2006/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF 

Usable Site Size 8,160 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features Fenced, Mezzanine 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date October 05, 2018 

Contract Price $160,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.73 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.73 

Adjusted Price $160,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.73 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.73 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor Fouts Investments, LLC 

Grantee L & T Properties, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-13139 

Source Public Records, Broker 
 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 39 
Avoca, Iowa 

Comparable #5 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4326 

Address 712 South 15th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description South 1/2 of Lost 5 and 6, Block 32, 
Everetts Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,000 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 444 SF 

Eave Height 16.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 2006/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF 

Usable Site Size 8,160 SF 

Zoning I-1 

Features Fenced 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date February 11, 2020 

Contract Price $170,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$85.00 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$85.00 

Adjusted Price $170,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$85.00 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$85.00 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor ZaCar Corp 

Grantee T & G Carper, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2020/01996 

Source Public Records, CoStar 
 

This sale represents appreciation of 1.15% per year from previous sale in 2014. 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 40 
Avoca, Iowa 

Comparable #6 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4328 

Address 1516 Avenue C 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1, 2, and part of Lot 3, Block 3, 
Beers Subdivision 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 316 SF 

Eave Height 12.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 1981/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 14,705 SF 

Usable Site Size 14,705 SF 

Zoning C-2 

Features Fenced 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date January 03, 2019 

Contract Price $210,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$87.50 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$87.50 

Adjusted Price $210,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$87.50 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$87.50 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor Cooks Towing & Repair, Inc 

Grantee DHI, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-00195 

Source Public Records 
 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 41 
Avoca, Iowa 

Comparable #7 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4329 

Address 1324 9th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 6-7, Part of Lot 8, Block 26, 
Riddles Subdivision 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 3,520 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 3,520 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 720 SF 

Eave Height 10.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 1988/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 12,194 SF 

Usable Site Size 12,194 SF 

Zoning I-1 

Features Fenced 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date September 13, 2018 

Contract Price $215,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.08 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.08 

Adjusted Price $215,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.08 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.08 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor L & T Properties, LLC 

Grantee Michael John Kilnoski 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-12027 

Source Public Records 
 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 42 
Avoca, Iowa 

Comparable #8 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4811 

Address 2414 9th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Part of Lots 3-5, Block 1 and part of 
Lot 9, Block 17, Ninth Avenue 
Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 5,400 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 5,400 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 1,196 SF 

Eave Height 12.00' 

Construction Good Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2010/ 

Condition Good 
 

Gross Site Size 13,890 SF 

Usable Site Size 13,890 SF 

Zoning I-1 

Features 
 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date September 23, 2020 

Contract Price $390,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$72.22 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$72.22 

Adjusted Price $390,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$72.22 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$72.22 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor Jo Ter Ran Investments, LLC 

Grantee Ht 9th Ave, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2020-13944 

Source Public Records, Broker 
 

Broker noted there was a lot of interest in the property. Sale represents annual appreciation near 5.90% from its 2011 
sale. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 43 
Avoca, Iowa 

County showed this as a multi-parcel sale so it was not investigated further.  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 44 
Avoca, Iowa 

Sales Map 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 45 
Avoca, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Comparable Sales Grid 
 

SUBJECT SALE #1: SALE #2: SALE #3: SALE #4:

PROPERTY 821 So 27th Street 717 Veterans Mem Hy 1005 So 17th Street 919 So 15th Street

358 Elm Street Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa

Avoca, Iowa ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED

SALE PRICE       N/A $225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

SALE PRICE/SF N/A $72.58 $130.21 $80.21 $61.73

GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA

MARKET ADJUSTMENTS

   PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0%

$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

   FINANCING N/A Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0%

$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

   CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0%

$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

   DATE OF SALE May-22 Nov-21 2% May-21 3% Jul-19 7% Oct-18 11%

(Inspection) $229,500 $463,500 $205,975 $177,600

PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)

   BUILDING SIZE/SF   1,920 3,100 0% 3,456 0% 2,400 0% 2,592 0%

   LOCATION/SITE Avoca Co Bluffs -20% Co Bluffs -20% Co Bluffs -20% Co Bluffs -20%

   QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls S Avg/Cls C -5% Avg/Cls S 0% Avg/Cls S 0% Avg/Cls S 0%

   INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 5% 0% 3% 0% 17% -5% 13% -3%

   AGE/CONDITION 37/Average 49/Avg 6% 40/AvFr 2% 21/Avg -4% 12/Avg -13%

   SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 10.70:1 3.51:1 3% 42.85:1 -16% 4.5:1 3% 3.14:1 4%

   AMENITIES Fenced None 4% None 4% Fenced 0% Fenced 0%

NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -12% -30% -26% -32%

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $201,960 $324,450 $152,422 $120,768

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $65.15 $93.88 $63.51 $46.59

TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -10% -27% -19% -21%

TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 37% 29% 36% 47%  
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 46 
Avoca, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Comparable Sales Grid 
 

SUBJECT SALE #5: SALE #6: SALE #7: SALE 8:

PROPERTY 712 So 15t Street 1516 Avenue C 1324 9th Avenue 2414 9th Avenue

358 Elm Street Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa

Avoca, Iowa ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED

SALE PRICE       N/A $170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

SALE PRICE/SF N/A $85.00 $87.50 $61.08 $72.22

GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA

MARKET ADJUSTMENTS

   PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0%

$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

   FINANCING N/A Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0%

$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

   CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0%

$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

   DATE OF SALE May-22 Feb-20 6% Jan-19 9% Sep-18 11% Sep-20 5%

(Inspection) $180,200 $228,900 $238,650 $409,500

PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)

   BUILDING SIZE/SF   1,920 2,000 0% 2,400 0% 3,520 0% 5,400 0%

   LOCATION/SITE Avoca Co Bluffs -20% Co Bluffs -20% Co Bluffs -20% Co Bluffs -20%

   QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls S Avg/Cls D 0% Avg/Cls S 0% Avg/Cls C -5% Gd/Cls S 0%

   INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 22% -8% 13% -3% 20% -7% 22% -8%

   AGE/CONDITION 37/Average 14/Avg -13% 38/Avg 0% 30/Avg -3% 10/Gd -14%

   SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 10.70:1 4.08:1 3% 6.13:1 3% 3.46:1 4% 2.57:1 4%

   AMENITIES Fenced Fenced 0% Fenced 0% Fenced 0% None 4%

NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -38% -20% -31% -34%

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $111,724 $183,120 $164,669 $270,270

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $55.86 $76.30 $46.78 $50.05

TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -32% -11% -20% -29%

TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 47% 32% 46% 51%  
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 47 
Avoca, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

ADJUSTMENT RATIONALE 
 

The preceding represents the only known sales of industrial properties considered of similar condition, 
design, use, and/or location in Pottawattamie County or competing areas of the metro.  All these 
properties were considered to be similar to the subject, but did require some adjusting to make them 
equal to subject.  Sale prices were reduced to the common denominator of price per square foot of 
GBA, as this is a normal unit of measurement in market buying and selling decisions. 
 
Market Condition Adjustments 
 

Adjustments were not required for property rights conveyed, financing, or condition of sale, as all were 
considered normal for the market.   
 
All the sales were considered for adjustment due to date of sale.  I observed a general increase in 
property values in the metro area over the past few years, typically ranging from 3% to 4% annually 
until late 2007 when recessionary conditions began. The market slowdown was magnified following 
destabilization of the financial markets in October 2008, demonstrated by the lack of known sales 
occurring since that time. The market has been improving since 2010 and therefore, I applied an annual 
appreciation to these sales of 3% after that time.  
 
Physical Condition Adjustments 
 

The sales are typically adjusted for the relative improvement size difference with the subject building, 
due to dissimilar sizes and economies of scale.  Adjustments were not considered necessary as all were 
similar in size to subject.   
 
Adjustments were considered for overall construction quality.  Adjustments were derived from Marshall 
Valuation Service estimated costs to bring properties equal to the subject and from the market reaction 
to these differences. 
 
Adjustments for age of improvements were given as typically buyers are concerned about remaining 
economic life of property.  A rounded 1/2% per year of difference with subject age was derived as an 
appropriate adjustment and applied accordingly.  Additional adjustments for condition were applied 
separately, based on cost estimates to bring properties equal and accounts for the effective age of the 
improvements. 
 
Adjustments for amenities were also considered as properties with additional features, such as fencing 
generally yield higher sale prices. Subject has a fenced outdoor storage area sales #3 through #7 had 
fencing, so those sales were not adjusted the remining sales had no amenities so positive adjustments 
were applied to all the sales.    
 
Adjustments for location were considered as all of these properties were located in areas with more 
desirability than the subject so large negative adjustments were applied. Adjustments were based upon 
the cost of living for housing in those areas. 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 48 
Avoca, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

RECONCILIATION 
 

Before adjusting, the sale prices ranged from $61.08/SF in Sale #7 to $130.21/SF in Sale #2.  After the 
aforementioned adjustments were applied, the indicated values ranged from $46.59/SF in Sale #4 to 
$93.88/SF in Sale #2. Net percentage adjustments ranged from -32% to -10% while gross adjustments 
ranged from 29% to 51%.   
 
Generally, sales with the smallest amount of adjustment are the best indicators of value.  Sales #6 and 
#2 required the least adjusting, indicating values of $76.30 & $93.88/SF. Sale #6 is supported by 2 other 
sale indicating values of $65.15/SF and $63.51/SF, while sale #2 is not supported. Remaining sales 
indicated values of $46.59/SF to $55.86/SF; majority of the sales 7 out of 8 indicated values from 
$46.59 to $76.30/SF. Therefore, a value estimate for the subject within that range would have the 
broadest support.  
 
The market search revealed no similar properties on the market currently: 
 

Therefore, based on the foregoing data and analysis, I estimated ‘as is’ market value of the subject at 
$65.00/SF, as of the effective date of this report with the total value developed as follows: 
 

 Indicated Value x Gross Bldg Size = Total Rounded to 
 $65.00/SF x 1,920 SF = $124,800    $125,000 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 49 
Avoca, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH 

 
 

From an investor’s perspective, the earning power of a real estate investment is the critical element 
affecting its value.  The fundamental investment premise is the higher the earnings the higher the value.  
Investment in an income-producing property represents the exchange of present dollars for the right to 
receive future dollars.  In the Income Capitalization Approach to value, the appraiser analyzes a 
property’s capacity to generate benefits and converts these benefits into an indication of present value.1 
 
The basic steps involved in this approach are: 
 

1. Estimate potential gross income; 

2. Estimate and deduct a vacancy and collection loss allowance; 

3. Estimate and deduct expenses; 

4. Estimate duration and pattern of income stream; 

5. Select an applicable capitalization method and technique; 

6. Develop the appropriate rate; 

7. Complete the computations necessary to derive an economic value. 
 
The primary reason for making gross income estimates is to identify probable net income benefits that 
may be derived from ownership interest of the income-producing property.  In accepted appraisal 
practice, the usual basis for a gross income projection is economic rent.  Economic (market) rent is 
defined as being the rental income that a property would most probably command in the open market; it 
is indicated by current rents paid and asked for comparable space as of the date of the appraisal. 
 
Income Analysis 
 

Subject property is presently owner occupied therefore, no rental information on the property is known.  
 
Comparable properties found are summarized on the following pages. Operating expenses were 
estimated from actual historic operating statements from expenses for commercial properties I have 
observed in the metro area combined with national investor surveys. 

 
1  The Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 50 
Avoca, Iowa 

Comparable #1 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1012 

Address 1310 South 17th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1-8, Block 21 Fleming & Davis 
 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 2,200 SF 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 2003/ 

Condition Average 

Height 18.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 60,984 SF 

Usable Site Size 60,984 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 14,000 SF 

Lease Date February 28, 2018 

Lease Term February 28, 2018 - January 31, 2023 

Starting Base Rent $5.20/SF 

Rent Description Fixed for lease. 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba MP Nexlevel 

Source Broker 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 51 
Avoca, Iowa 

Comparable #2 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1398 

Address 15 South 20th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Commercial :: Vehicle-Related - 
Service 

Legal Description 
 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 9,120 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 1979/ 

Condition Fair 

Height N/A 
 

Gross Site Size 40,692 SF 

Usable Site Size 40,692 SF 

Zoning C-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 9,120 SF 

Lease Date August 01, 2018 

Lease Term September 01, 2018 - August 31, 
2023 

Starting Base Rent $5.75/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba Jake's Towing and Transport 

Source CoStar 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 52 
Avoca, Iowa 

Comparable #3 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1013 

Address 3319 Nebraska Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description 
 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 41,760 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 1969/ 

Condition Average 

Height 13.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 100,188 SF 

Usable Site Size 100,188 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 7,020 SF 

Lease Date October 11, 2018 

Lease Term October 11, 2018 - October 10, 2021 

Starting Base Rent $4.35/SF 

Rent Description Fixed for term. 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba McDowell Roofing 

Source Broker 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 53 
Avoca, Iowa 

Comparable #4 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1014 

Address 2110 23rd Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 8-12, Block 11, Railroad 
Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 5,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Average Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2003/ 

Condition Average 

Height N/A 
 

Gross Site Size 25,245 SF 

Usable Site Size 25,245 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 2,700 SF 

Lease Date October 19, 2018 

Lease Term November 19, 2018 - 

Starting Base Rent $7.11/SF 

Rent Description 7.78/SF in Year 2 
8.22/SF in Year 3 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Gross 
 

Lessee  
dba Syndicate Diesel 

Source Broker 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

One month of free rent 

 

Garage space with mezzanine office. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 54 
Avoca, Iowa 

Comparable #5 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1242 

Address 1305 Lew Ross Road 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 5 & 6, Block 2, First Foundation 
Sub., Council Bluffs, Pottawattamie 
County, IA 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 17,840 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 6,244 SF 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 1996/ 

Condition Good 

Height 14.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 87,555 SF 

Usable Site Size 87,555 SF 

Zoning 
 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 8,000 SF 

Lease Date April 22, 2019 

Lease Term May 01, 2019 - April 30, 2022 

Starting Base Rent $6.95/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba New Covenant Electronics 

Source CoStar Confirmation 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 55 
Avoca, Iowa 

Comparable #6 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1369 

Address 1220 35th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision 
Phase II 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Good Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2005/ 

Condition Good 

Height 18.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 43,995 SF 

Usable Site Size 43,995 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 3,700 SF 

Lease Date June 30, 2019 

Lease Term August 29, 2019 - 

Starting Base Rent $6.00/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba Safariworks Decor 

Source CoStar 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 56 
Avoca, Iowa 

Comparable #7 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1368 

Address 1220 35th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision 
Phase II 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Good Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2005/ 

Condition Good 

Height 18.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 43,995 SF 

Usable Site Size 43,995 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 7,000 SF 

Lease Date December 01, 2019 

Lease Term December 01, 2019 - 

Starting Base Rent $5.25/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba Caeser's Entertainment 

Source CoStar 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 57 
Avoca, Iowa 

Comparable #8 

 
Photograph from Pottawattamie County Assessor 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1588 

Address 1309 Avenue J 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market 13th & Avenue J 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1-3, Block 8, Potter-Cobbs First 
Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 4,160 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 784 SF 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 1986/ 

Condition Average 

Height 12.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 15,730 SF 

Usable Site Size 15,730 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 4,160 SF 

Lease Date October 31, 2021 

Lease Term November 02, 2021 - 

Starting Base Rent $8.25/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee Brown Heavy Equipment 

Source CoStar; Marketing Brochure 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 

Net expenses were $1.44/SF for taxes and insurance, and tenant to provide maintenance at own expense. 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 58 
Avoca, Iowa 

Comparable Rentals Map 
 
 



County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 59 
Avoca, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

MARKET LEASE RATE ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSION  
 

No comparables of similar properties was found in Avoca, except one building with about 24,000 SF is 
offered for lease at $4.00/SF. Council Bluffs did have some comparables which reported rental rates of 
$4.35/SF to $10.50/SF, on triple net and gross terms. These comparables are considered to be similar to 
subject but in superior locations and would be fairly competitive with it in the current market. As the 
subject was in average condition and it has fenced outdoor storage, lean to and fueling area; it is my 
opinion the market rent for the subject would be reasonable at $6.00/SF on triple net terms. 
 
Miscellaneous Income: Some properties similar to subject in this area receive additional income from 
garage rentals, vending machines, forfeited deposits, etc. Subject does not appear to have any other 
potential sources of income.  
 
Vacancy and Collection Losses 
 

A vacancy and collection loss must be deducted from potential gross income to arrive at property 
effective gross income (EGI). A current 2022 survey conducted by Costar.com reports average 
vacancy of 48.85% for industrial properties in Council Bluffs but no estimate of vacancy in 
Griswold.  
 
The subject space is a single tenant design, so it would be either 100% occupied or 100% vacant at 
any one time. Based upon the subject properties location in an area with primarily agricultural 
properties nearby, it is my opinion a 10% vacancy rate would be reasonable for the property. 
 
Actual rent, vacancy and EGI were then summarized as follows: 
 

Potential Commercial Rental Income  1,920 SF x $6.00/SF $11,520 
Less:  10% Vacancy and Collection Loss  - $1,152 
Effective Gross Income       $10,368 
 
Operating Expenses 
 

Operating expenses that are the property owner’s responsibility are deducted from projection of EGI to 
arrive at property’s NOI. Such operating expenses include real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance, 
utilities and property management fees.  To estimate appropriate allowance for operating expenses, I 
considered actual known data from market expenses of other properties observed. No information for 
the subject was provided. Estimates of operating expenses were then summarized as follows: 
 
Real Estate Taxes:  Property taxes for the subject were not posted so my estimate is based upon the 
assessed for the subject ($56,700) and the current tax rate ($35.930920) which equates to $2,037.  These 
appear reasonable based upon the sales comparison approach and other properties observed. So 
stabilized taxes will be estimated at $2,100 annually with the owner paying these during vacant periods 
only. 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 60 
Avoca, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Operating Expenses (Continued) 
  

Insurance:  Property and hazard insurance for commercial buildings have been observed near $0.10/SF 
to $0.85/SF of gross building area for sprinklered buildings, and $0.15/SF to $0.55/SF for non-
sprinklered buildings, and have been rising in recent years.  Actual insurance costs for the subject were 
not disclosed. So, for purposes of this analysis, an estimate of $1.00/SF is considered reasonable 
(including flood coverage) or a total cost of a rounded $2,000 annually.   
 
Management:  Typical third party management fees for properties similar to the subject property range 
4% to 7% of EGI.  The actual management expenses for the subject are unknown.  Management duties 
generally include supervision of property maintenance, bookkeeping, and management overhead.  No 
unusual aspects of the management function are foreseen in conjunction with the subject property, so I 
estimate an expense of 3% of base rent as reasonable for the subject property.   
 
Administrative & Professional Fees: A general administrative expense was considered appropriate to 
reflect typical owner accounting and legal fees. This expense category would include a small amount 
for owner’s office overhead and typically ranges from 0.5% to 1.5% of EGI. The actual expenses are 
unknown as no operating statements were furnished. General administrative expense was estimated at 
0.50% of base rent in this analysis. 
 
Utilities:  As no operating statements were provided my estimate of $1.00/SF is based on observations 
of other commercial properties, with the owner paying during vacant periods only.  
 
Repairs & Maintenance:  This expense category reflects items such as repairs to mechanical systems, 
roof, painting and items of general upkeep such as pest control, cleaning, snow and trash removal.  
Actual costs were not provided; typical repair & maintenance expenses observed for other commercial 
properties have ranged from $0.50/SF to over $3.00/SF, depending in large part on a property’s age and 
building size. As a result, with the building in average condition with minimal deferred maintenance, I 
estimate an expense of $1.00/SF for the subject, rounded to $2,000 annually.   
 
Reserves for Replacement:  Although not typically incurred as an annual cash outlay, a reserve for 
replacement expense is appropriate to reflect future replacement of short-lived items such as carpeting, 
mechanical systems (including water heaters and HVAC units), kitchen appliances, exterior paving, 
roofing, etc. RealtyRates.com investor survey for 1st Q 2022 indicated reserve requirements for 
industrial properties reported as $0.26 to $0.85 with an average of $0.56/SF.  By comparison, the PWC 
Investors Survey reports replacement reserves for national warehouse properties range from $0.05/SF to 
$0.35/SF, averaging $0.14/SF in the 1st Q 2022.  In my opinion, an appropriate replacement reserve for 
the subject property is a rounded $0.20/SF.   
 
Miscellaneous:  A miscellaneous expense is typically included to account for such items as tenant-
related social expenses, holiday decorations, security services, etc.  Therefore, an expense of $100 per 
year was considered appropriate. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 61 
Avoca, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

PROFORMA OPERATING STATEMENT (FEE SIMPLE) 
 
 

 

Rental Income SQ FT Rent/SF Annual Income

Estimated Market Rent 1,920 $6.00 $11,520

Total Potential Gross Income $11,520

Vacancy & Collection Allowance: 10.0% $1,152

Effective Rental Income $10,368

Other Income $0

Total Effective Gross Income: $10,368

Operating Expenses: Amount

Management Fee 3.0% $311 $31

General & Administrative 0.5% $52 $52

Real Estate Taxes 20.25% $2,100 $210

Insurance 19.29% $2,000 $200

Utilities 0.00% $0 $0

Repairs & Maintenance 19.29% $2,000 $200

Reserves for Replacement 3.70% $384 $384

Miscellaneous 0.96% $100 $100

Total Expenses 11.35% $1,177

Net Operating Income $9,191  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 62 
Avoca, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE 
 

Several methods of developing a capitalization rate can be used.  The best of which is the Market 
Extraction Method, where the incomes of comparable properties that have recently sold are known.  
Sale transactions used in this report did not reveal cap rates however, other properties observed 
which would be considered competitive with subject indicated cap rates of 7.60% to 9.00%. 
 
A national survey was examined for further support of overall capitalization rate.  The PWC Real 
Estate Investor Survey for the 1st Qtr 2022 reports national capitalization rates for secondary 
industrial properties in a range of 5.25% to 9.00% with average of 7.13%. Capitalization rates in the 
local market area have typically been higher than national rates.  Capitalization rates are typically 
higher for older and smaller properties. 
 
In order to estimate current capitalization rates, a second method is used called the Band of 
Investment, Analysis, which is a yield capitalization procedure used in estimating an overall 
capitalization rate to be applied to the net operating income of a property.  The band of investment 
formula addresses the yield requirements of both the lender’s interest and the investor’s interest 
considering current lending and investment rates. When the components used in the band of 
investment formula are market-derived, the value indication obtained is reflective of market value.  
RealtyRates.Com released their 1st Q 2022 Investor Survey reporting interest rates for industrial 
properties ranging from 2.86% to 7.41%, averaging 4.80%. The average spread from 10-Year 
Treasury notes was 3.24%. Loan-to-value ratios ranged from 50% to 80% (average 70%), average 
amortization period was 25 years with average term of 11.46 years and average debt coverage ratio 
of 1.46. Per PwC Investors Survey for 1st Q 2022, institutional grade discount or yield rates for national 
warehouse properties ranged from 7.00% to 10.00%, averaging 8.50%.   
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 63 
Avoca, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE 
 

Based on the preceding, the following components are then used in the band of investment analysis. 
 

Mortgage Components: 
 

 Loan/Value Ratio:   70% 
 Loan Rate:    5.0% selected 
 Amortization Period:   25 years with balloon payment due at end of 10th Year 
 Mortgage Constant (Rm):   .0709 
  
Equity Components: 
 

 Equity Ratio:    30% 
 Equity yield rate (Ye):   9.5% 
  

 

The calculation of the overall capitalization rate by the band of investment technique is as follows: 
 

Band of Investment Technique 
 

 Loan Ratio x Mortgage Constant = Weighted Average 
 

 .70 x .0709 = 0.049 
 

 Equity Ratio x Equity Yield Rate 
 

 .30 x .095 = (+) 0.0285 
 

Total Weighted Average   0.0775 
 

Indicated Overall Capitalization Rate   7.75% 
 
This mechanical or calculated overall rate typically is below the market extracted rates as lending 
terms are still considered favorable for qualified applicants; so, it was given only secondary rounding 
weight in my overall or “going-in” capitalization rate selection for the subject property.   
 
Therefore, based on subject characteristics with and the current demand for this property type in the 
local market, I selected a rounded 8.50% as the capitalization rate currently appropriate for the 
subject property in this market.  To arrive at a value estimate for the subject property, the estimated 
annual net operating income must be divided by the overall capitalization rate.  Therefore, I estimate 
the market value of the subject property, as of the effective date of this report, as follows. 
 

Fee Simple 

Net Operating Income Capitalization Rate Indicated Value Rounded

$9,191 ÷ 8.50% = $108,130 $110,000  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 64 
Avoca, Iowa 

RECONCILIATION AND FINAL ESTIMATE OF VALUE 

 
 

Reconciliation is the process of coordinating and integrating related factors to form a conclusion 
regarding the appraised property’s Market Value. Each appraisal approach was considered as to 
adequacy, accuracy and overall reliability.  The following estimates were based on subject’s highest and 
best use in this report and primarily on available market data furnished by the property owner and 
others.  
 
Market Value via the Cost Approach  Not Applicable 

Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach   $125,000 

Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple)  $110,000 
 
The Cost Approach typically uses replacement cost method of determining new cost of building 
improvements, typically representing the highest value.  Depreciation is calculated for deferred 
maintenance and normal wear and tear.  The shortcoming of this method normally results from the 
calculations for depreciation, as age and obsolescence are difficult to precisely measure in the market 
place.  The subject building is older, resulting in accrued depreciation which becomes subjective 
reducing the reliability of this approach below acceptable levels.  Therefore, it was not developed in this 
report. 
 
The Direct Sales Comparison Approach compares sales of similar properties.  Adjustments were made 
for variations from the subject property based on available market data.  After adjustments, a reasonable 
range of indicated values was evident and I selected the value from the range most representative of the 
appraised building.  This approach is generally the best method of reflecting market attitudes toward 
property, particularly when owner-occupied buildings are involved and there is an active market with 
numerous sales.  However, this approach is less persuasive when the property is purchased as an 
investment.  As the subject property is a single-tenant building it would likely appeal to an owner but if 
leased it could appeal to an investor therefore most weight was given to this approach in the final value 
estimate for the subject.   
 
The Income Capitalization Approach was considered and could be used in this report.  Since an 
adequate amount of rent, expense and cap rate data was available for the subject property, this approach 
was considered reliable so was given some weight in the final value estimate for the subject also.   
 
Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the 
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is” Market Value of the subject 
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was: 
 

ONE HUNDRED TWENTY THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($120,000) 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 
General Certified Appraiser - IA CG01439 
                                                NE CG920142 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 65 
Avoca, Iowa 

 
 
 
 
 

ADDENDA 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 66 
Avoca, Iowa 

APPRAISER’S QUALIFICATIONS 
 

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 

 
PROFESSIONAL: 
 
MAI Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1991 
SRA Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1977 
General Certified Appraiser, State of Nebraska (CG 920142) 1992 
General Certified Appraiser, State of Iowa (CG 01439) 1992 
Licensed Real Estate Salesman in the State of Nebraska 1972 
Vice President/Appraiser Mitchell & Associates 1990-Present 
Property Underwriter/Assistant Vice President,  
   Occidental Nebraska Federal Savings Bank 1973-90 
 
 
MEMBER: 
 
Appraisal Institute: Former President Nebraska Chapter and currently active in this chapter and 
former Chapter Services Chairman for Region II and have served on the National Chapter Services 
Committee 
Nebraska Real Estate Association 
Omaha Area Board of Realtors Former Executive Committee, Commercial Investment Council 
Tangier Shrine, Scottish Rite and Mercer Lodge 
Past Membership: Society of Real Estate Appraisers, Eastern Nebraska, Chapter #111  
 
EDUCATION: 
 
University of Nebraska Lincoln 
University of Nebraska Omaha 
 
Continuing education through attendance at various appraisal seminars sponsored by the Appraisal 
Institute and other industry organizations; courses listed on a separate page. 
 
EXPERIENCE: 
 
Areas of appraisal experience include multi-family residential; commercial; industrial; vacant land; 
special purpose properties; and single family residential.  Appraisals have been completed for 
mortgage loans, condemnation, litigation, and asset management purposes. 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 67 
Avoca, Iowa 

RECENT APPRAISAL EDUCATION 
D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA 

  

    CLASS 
DATE COURSE SPONSOR HOURS 
2017 Honing In…Updates, Market Perspectives & Prof. Development AI 4 
2016 Local Market Snapshot AI 4 
2016 Understanding the Basics of Excel & Linear Regression AI 4 
2016 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2016 USPAP Update AI 7 
2015 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2014 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2014 The Discounted Cash Flow Model AI 7 
2014 USPAP Update AI 7 
2013 Property Acquisition & Need for Site Assessment Randall School of RE 3 
2013 Environmental Issues in Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
2013  Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2013 Online Supervising Appraisal Trainees AI 4 
2012 USPAP Moore Group 7 
2012 Effective Appraisal Writing AI 7 
2011 Ethical Decision Making in Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
2011 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2011 Commercial Appraisal Engagement & Review AI 7 
2011 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff 3 
2010 USPAP AI 7 
2010 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff 3 
2010 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2010 Appraisal Curriculum Overview AI 15 
2009 Online Business Practices & Ethics AI 4 
2009 Report Writing Workshop The Moore Group 7 
2009 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2008 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2008 USPAP AI 7 
2007 Standard 3 Review Training Session NE Appraiser Bd 4 
2007 Understanding & Testing DCF Valuation Models AI 4 
2007 Analyzing Distressed Real Estate AI 4 
2007 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 6 
2006 Uniform Standards of Professional Practice Moore Group 7 
2006 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
2005 Market Analysis & the Site to do Business AI 7 
2005 Radon & Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
2004 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice AI 7 
2004 Loss Prevention for Real Estate Appraisers AI 4 
2004 Rates and Ratios AI 7 
2003 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
2003 Client Pressure Seminar NE Appraiser Bd. 3 
2003 Appraisal Consulting AI 7 
2002 Mark to Market AI 3 
2002 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8.5 
2001 Appraisers & Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act AI 3 
2001 Regression Analysis in Appraisal Practice AI 7 
2001 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
  CLASS 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 68 
Avoca, Iowa 

DATE COURSE SPONSOR HOURS 
2000 Commercial Appraisal Problem Solving Mid-West Appraisers 7 
2000 Appraisal of Non-Conforming Uses AI 7 

2000 Standards of Professional Practice AI 15 

2000 Ed Tour (Tomorrows Information Today) NE. Appraiser Board 3 
2000 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
1999 Internet Search Strategies AI 7 
1999 Appraisal of Local Retail Properties AI 7 
1999 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
1998 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 6 
1997 Affordable Housing AI 7 
1997 Analyzing Operating Expenses AI 7 
1997 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 6 
1996 Highest & Best Use AI 7 
1996 Standards of Professional Practice AI 26 
1995 Advanced Income Capitalization AI 36 
1995 Emerging Technologies in Appraising AI 5 
1995 Experience Review Training AI 4 
1995 Apartment Update AI 1 
1994 FHA Guidelines AI 7 
1994 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed. 3 
1993 Appraising Apartments AI 7 
1993 Agency Relationships in Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
1993 Mock Trial Seminar AI 7 
1993 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
1993 FIRREA:  Overview & Application AI 7 
1992 ADA Seminar AI 5 
1992 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 5 
1991 Standards of Professional Practice AIREA 7 
1990 Small Residential Form SREA 7 

 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 69 
Avoca, Iowa 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 70 
Avoca, Iowa 

USPAP MINIMUM STANDARDS 
 
 

For the convenience of the reader or any reviewer of this report, we have included a copy of the fourteen 
points of the Minimum Appraisal Standards.  Appraisals must: 
 

1.    Conform to USPAP, except that the Departure Provision, which allows below minimum work, will not 
apply; 

2.    Include a disclosure of any steps taken in order to comply with the Competency Provision of USPAP; 

3.    Be based on the market value or other values as defined in the attached DEFINITIONS; 

4.    [i] Be written and presented in a narrative format; 
[ii] Be sufficiently descriptive to enable the reader to ascertain the market value and the  
 rationale for the estimate; 
[iii] Provide detail and depth reflective of the complexity of the property appraised; 

5.    Analyze and report in reasonable detail any prior sales of the property within the last three years; 

6.    Analyze and report current revenues, expense, and vacancies on income producing properties rather 
than estimated or projected figures not supported by current market conditions; 

7.    Use a reasonable marketing period for the property; 

8.    Analyze current market conditions and trends that will affect the income, absorption, or value of the 
property; 

9.    Report both the “as is” (using appropriate deductions and discounts for holding and marketing costs, 
and entrepreneurial profit) and the stabilized market values for developmental property; report both the 
value-in-use and liquidation value for owner-occupied property; 

10.    Include in the USPAP required certification an additional statement that:  “The appraisal assignment 
was not based on a requested minimum valuation, a specific valuation, or the approval of a “loan”; 

11.    Contain sufficient supporting documentation to allow the reader to ascertain the appraiser’s logic, 
reasoning, judgment, and analysis; 

12.    Include a legal description of the subject property (in addition to the description required by USPAP); 

13.    Identify and value separately any non-real estate items; 

14.    Use and reconcile the income, direct sales, and cost approaches to value, and explain the omission of 
any approach not used; 

If any information necessary to complete the appraisal is unavailable, this fact must be disclosed. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 71 
Avoca, Iowa 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 72 
Avoca, Iowa 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 73 
Avoca, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 74 
Avoca, Iowa 

 



© Copyright 2022, Mitchell & Associates, Inc. 

AN 
APPRAISAL 

 
 
 

OF 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 

15021 490th STREET 
GRISWOLD, IOWA 

 
 
 

AS OF 
 
 

May 16, 2022 
 
 
 

PREPARED FOR 
 
 

Ms. Kristina Treantos 
Via email 

Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov 
 
 
 

PREPARED BY 
 
 

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 
Certified General Appraiser 

 
 
 

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
14611 West Center Road 
Omaha, Nebraska 68144



 

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
ROBERT F. MITCHELL, SR., 1893-1983 

ROBERT F. MITCHELL, JR., SRPA 1927-2020 

R. GREGG MITCHELL, SRA 

D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA KEVIN P. HERMSEN, MAI 

W. BRUCE WILKIE DAVID C. WELLSANDT, MAI 

BETH ANDERSEN MELISSA L. RUTHERFORD 

RICHARD C. WITTMANN MARK SCHAECHER 

REBECCA BELLOWS ALEX FINKLE 

JAMES ANDERSEN  

 

S:\Reports\2022/00220815\Report.doc 

Real Estate  Appraisers  & Consultants  
 

 
14611 West Center  Road ■ Omaha, Nebraska 68144 ■  PH. 402-330-4500 ■ FAX 402-330-7207 

May ***, 2022 
 

Ms. Kristina Treantos RE: File #00220815 - Appraisal 
Via email Commercial Property 
Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov  15021 490th St. 
  Griswold, Iowa 
 

Dear Ms. Treantos: 
 

In response to your request and for the purpose of estimating the Market Value of the above referenced 
property for asset management purposes, I have personally visited the property, and then conducted an 
analysis of the matters pertinent to its current market value.  My findings are included in the following 
report of 66 pages, plus the supporting Addenda. 
 

This report is intended to be in conformity with the prevailing Standards and Ethics of the Uniform 
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) of the Appraisal Foundation and the Appraisal 
Institute.  It is independently prepared so is not based on a requested minimum value, specific valuation 
nor the approval of a loan. It is also in conformity with the laws and Minimum Standards of the State of 
Iowa where I am licensed. 
 

Your attention is directed toward the sections titled Limiting Conditions and Assumptions, 
Definitions, and Appraiser’s Certification, which address contingencies of the appraisal. Additional 
contingencies may be interspersed throughout the report where appropriate; therefore, this report 
should be considered in its entirety. Your attention is also directed to the special consideration noted 
on page 11 regarding the COVID-19 outbreak. The effective date for this appraisal is in a time 
where the community is experiencing a serious reaction to the outbreak including many closures or 
cancellations including school districts, state and federal declarations of emergency. Public health 
officials are calling for social distancing and limited exposure to others. There is currently 
insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the general market or to 
specific properties in regards to any effects on value or marketing times. 
 

Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the 
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is” Market Value of the subject 
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was: 
 

SEVENTYTWO THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($72,000)  
Respectfully submitted, 

 
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 
General Certified Appraiser - IA CG0143 NE CG9201429;                                                    

 
 
  



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 Page 
 

Identification of Property, Summary of Salient Facts and Scope of Work 4 
 
Scope of Work 7 
 

Appraiser’s Certification 9 
 

Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 10 
 

Definitions 13 
 

Valuation and the Appraisal Process 14 
 

DESCRIPTIONS 
 

Market Area Description and Analysis 15 
 

Site Description and Analysis 22 
 

Description and Analysis of Improvements 27 
 

ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS 
 

Highest and Best Use 32 
 

Cost Approach 36 
 

Direct Sales Comparison Approach 37 
 

Income Capitalization Approach 51 
 

Reconciliation and Final Estimate of Value 66 
 
 

ADDENDA 
 

Qualifications of Appraiser 

USPAP Standards 

Flood Plain Map 

Zoning Map and Regulations 

Engagement Letter 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 4 
Griswold, Iowa 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY 
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS 

 
 

LOCATION: 15021 490th Street, Griswold, Iowa 51535. This is at the intersection of 
Highway 92 and 490th Street, in the eastern portion of Pottawattamie 
County, Iowa. 

 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Lengthy, a parcel of land in 5-74-38 Pottawattamie County, Iowa 
 
OWNER OF RECORD: Pottawattamie County 
 Council Bluffs, Iowa 
 
CLIENT/INTENDED USE: The report was ordered by Ms. Kristina Treantos with Pottawattamie 

County, who advised this appraisal would be used in asset management 
purposes.  There are no other intended uses or users of this report. 

 
APPRAISAL PURPOSE: Purpose of this appraisal is to provide a supported estimate of the ‘as is’ 

fee simple market value of the subject property, as of the date of the site 
visit. 

 
INSPECTION DATE: On May 16, 2022, I personally visited subject in the company of Shawn 

Bluml with Pottawattamie County.  Most photos used in this report 
were taken at the time of this inspection. 

 
EFFECTIVE DATE: This appraisal has an effective date of May 16, 2022, the date of the 

property visit. 
 
SUBJECT DESCRIPTION: The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance 

building. This building contains one drive-in bay a small office and a 
restroom. The building is of pre-engineered steel construction with 
metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There is one overhead 
door for vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. There is also a lean-to for 
sand storage and an area for outdoor storage. The building has 2,106 
square feet and is located upon a corner site with 16,117 SF which is 
totally fenced.  

 
ZONING: Subject is zoned A-2 (Agricultural Production District) under 

Pottawattamie Counties jurisdiction. The Class A-2 District is intended 
to preserve the land best suited for agricultural production by 
protecting prime agricultural lands in farmable tracts from the 
encroachment of scattered residential, commercial and industrial 
development; to promote efficiency and economy in the delivery of 
public services by restricting non-farm development in 
unincorporated areas of the County, which are without existing or 
planned services, and to encourage development in areas where 
services are provided or can efficiently be provided.  (see zoning 
regulations in Addenda). 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 5 
Griswold, Iowa 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY 
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED) 

 
 

FLOOD PLAIN STATUS: Subject does not appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per 
CoreLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0700F, dated April 16, 
2013 (map in report). 

 
TITLE HISTORY: Per county records, subject does not appear to have sold in the past five 

years. 
 
TAX ASSESSMENT: Real estate taxes for Pottawattamie County are combined in one billing 

for all governmental subdivisions. The County Assessor is responsible 
for estimating ‘actual value’ to which tax rates are applied. Subject 
(Parcel 7438-05-300-03) is assessed as follows:  

  
 
TAX RATE: The 2020 tax rate was $26.851870 per $1,000 of assessed value, which 

appears normal for commercial properties in this area. The 2021 tax rate 
has not been set, as of the effective date of this report. 

 
REAL ESTATE TAXES: Per Pottawattamie County Treasurer’s Office, shows net real estate 

taxes of $0 as it is owned by a government entity. Generally these taxes 
have delinquent dates of September 1, 2020 for the first half and March 
1, 2021 for the second half. Subject is appraised as if all historic tax 
obligations (including additional interest or penalties) are paid current. 

 
PERSONAL PROPERTY: No furniture, fixtures, business or equipment values are included in this 

report. 
 
HIGHEST & BEST USE: As concluded herein, highest and best use of subject is ‘as is’ with a 

maintenance shed. 
 
EXPOSURE TIME: As described herein, exposure time is estimated time a property interest 

being appraised would have been offered on the market prior to a 
hypothetical consummation of sale at market value on effective date of 
appraisal. Based on a retrospective opinion of past events, assuming a 
competitive, open market, I estimated that would have been within 12-
months, reflecting current market conditions. 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 6 
Griswold, Iowa 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY 
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED) 

 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL Existing improvement is a maintenance shed It is unknown if  
CONDITIONS: hazardous components/materials (urea formaldehyde foam insulation, 

asbestos, etc.) were used in construction/renovation or if the site has 
contaminants. No evidence of underground fuel storage tanks or 
contamination was observed. As a result, environmental conditions are 
presumed non-adverse. However, subject is near agricultural laud uses 
where variety of chemicals are routinely used. it may be prudent to 
obtain a current certified survey and environmental assessment of the 
property. This appraisal makes no allowance for environmental 
remediation or abatement requirements. Your attention is directed to 
Limiting Conditions and Assumptions at the conclusion of this report. 

 
 
SUMMARY OF INDICATED VALUES FROM THIS REPORT 
 

Market Value via the Cost Approach  Not Applicable 

Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach   $74,000 

Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple)  $70,000 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 7 
Griswold, Iowa 

SCOPE OF WORK 
 
 

Scope of work refers to research and analysis in this assignment and includes the extent to which the 
property is identified, type and extent of data researched, and type and extent of analysis applied. 
 
Extent of Property Identification:  The property was identified by its addresses of 15021 490th Street, 
Griswold, Iowa.  Per Pottawattamie County records, this address corresponds to County Parcel number 
and legal descriptions summarized in the Salient Facts section of this report. 
 
Type and Extent of Data Researched: I personally visited the property, building measurements were 
taken from county assessors web site and verified on site, which provided the information for the 
property descriptions.  Site size was obtained from the assessor’s website also. Other data was collected 
from County public records, conversations with local property owners and brokers, information 
published in real estate industry publications and Mitchell & Associates appraisal files. I was not 
provided with a current soils testing report or survey; therefore, I did not consider the impact on 
property value of any possible restrictions or soil issues that might be revealed by these reports. The 
COVID-19 virus is having significant impacts to how people live around the world. The impacts are 
fairly recent in the Omaha area, but there have been many closures. Public health officials are calling 
for social distancing and limited exposure to others. 

As we progress through 2022, fewer cases are reported but some cautionary measures are still 
promoted. Such news has increased the level of fear and anxiety among the community. Single-
family sales have been brisk due to the shrinking inventories and rising prices. Commercial 
businesses may experience reduced sales due to recent closing of bars and restaurants except for 
drive-thru service, and avoiding places where 10+ people gather. Other businesses are opting for 
employees to work remotely.  

There is currently insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the 
general market or to specific properties (e.g. places of reported exposures) in regards to any effects 
on value or marketing times. 
 
Type and Extent of Analysis Applied:  A highest and best use analysis of the property was developed 
utilizing inferred or trend methodology, appropriate of the property in light of its site size and building 
size as well as the location in a mature area.  Due to the age of the structure, estimating depreciation 
would be so subjective as to render the cost approach unreliable; therefore, it was omitted from this 
appraisal. I researched and found recent sales of buildings supporting the use of the Direct Sales 
Comparison Approach.  The Income Capitalization Approach was not developed due to a lack of 
market information.   
 
Conclusion:  The conclusions and analyses were reconciled into the final estimate of value.  Based on 
my training, experience (see credentials in the Addenda intended to satisfy the Competency Rule of 
USPAP) and judgment, I concluded that this appraisal in a summary format including the Direct Sales 
Comparison and income approach is appropriate to support a credible estimate of the Fee Simple value 
and consistent with the Standards of the 2020-2021 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal 
Practice (USPAP). 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 8 
Griswold, Iowa 

EXTERIOR PHOTOS 

 

West & south sides 

 

South & east sides 

 

North side 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 9 
Griswold, Iowa 

 

Propane tank & east side 

 

Fuel tank & diesel pump 

 

Lean to & outdoor storage area 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 10 
Griswold, Iowa 

 

Lean-to shed 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 11 
Griswold, Iowa 

APPRAISER'S CERTIFICATION 
 
 

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief: 
 
The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct. 

The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions and 
limiting conditions and are my personal, impartial, and unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and 
conclusions. 

I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and no 
personal interest with respect to the parties involved. 

I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties involved 
with this assignment. 

My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined 
results. 

My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or 
reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the 
amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent 
event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal. 

I have not performed a previous appraisal of the subject property and have not done an appraisal 
review involving the subject, or an appraisal consulting assignment involving the subject, within the 
past three years. 

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared 
in conformity with the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of 
Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute and the Uniform Standards of Appraisal 
Practice. 

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared 
in conformity with the requirements of the Uniform Standards of Appraisal Practice 

The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review by its 
duly authorized representatives. 

I have made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report.   

No one provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person signing this certification.  
If there are exceptions, the name of each individual providing significant real property appraisal 
assistance is stated in the scope of the report.1 

As of the date of this report, I, D. Rick Whitesides, have completed the requirements of the 
continuing education program of the Appraisal Institute. 
 
APPRAISER: 

 
  
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA - NE CG920142 
 IA CG01439 
 

 
1  Source for Items #1-#9, Standards Rule 2-3, Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practices, 2001 Edition 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 12 
Griswold, Iowa 

ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS 
 
 
This appraisal has been based on the following limiting conditions: 
 
For purposes of this appraisal, any marketing program for the sale of the property would assume cash or its 
equivalent. 

No detailed soil studies covering the subject property were available for this appraisal.  It is therefore assumed that 
soil conditions are adequate to support standard construction consistent with highest and best use. 

The date of value to which the conclusions and opinions expressed in this report apply, is set forth in the letter of 
transmittal.  Further, the dollar amount of any value opinion rendered in this report is based upon the purchasing 
power of the American dollar existing on that date. 

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for economic or physical factors which may affect the opinions in this 
report which occur after the date of the letter transmitting the report or which cause unpredictable changes.  Events 
such as (but not limited to) natural disasters, wars and economic calamities are examples of such factors. 

The appraiser reserves the right to make such adjustments to the analysis, opinions and conclusions set forth in this 
report as may be required by consideration of additional data or more reliable data that may become available. 

No opinion as to title is rendered.  Data relating to ownership and legal description was obtained from county 
records and is considered reliable.  Title is assumed to be marketable and free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, 
easements and restrictions except those specifically discussed in the report.  The property is appraised assuming it 
to be under responsible ownership and competent management and available for its highest and best use. 
If no title policy was made available to the appraiser, they assume no responsibility for such items of record not 
disclosed by their customary investigation.   

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for hidden or non-apparent conditions of the property, subsoil, or 
structures that render it more or less valuable.  No responsibility is assumed for arranging for engineering studies 
that may be required to discover them. 

The property is appraised assuming it to be in full compliance with all applicable federal, state and local 
environmental regulations and laws, unless otherwise stated. 

The property is appraised assuming that all applicable zoning and use regulations and restrictions have been 
complied with, unless otherwise stated. 

The property is appraised assuming that all required licenses, certificates of occupancy, consents or other 
legislative or administrative authority from any local, state or national government or private entity or organization 
have been or can be obtained or renewed for any use on which the value estimate contained in this report is based, 
unless otherwise stated. 

No engineering survey has been made by the appraiser.  Except as specifically stated, data relative to size and area 
was taken from sources considered reliable and no encroachment of real property improvements is considered to 
exist. 

No opinion is expressed as to the value of subsurface oil, gas or mineral rights whether the property is subject to 
surface entry for the exploration or removal of such materials except as is expressly stated. 
Maps, plats, and exhibits included in this report are for illustration only as an aid in visualizing matters discussed 
within the report.  They should not be considered as surveys or relied upon for any other purpose, nor should they 
be removed from, reproduced, or used apart from the report. 

No opinion is intended to be expressed for matters, which require legal expertise or specialized investigation, or 
knowledge beyond that customarily employed by real estate appraisers. 

Possession of this report, or copy of it, does not carry with it the right of publication.  It may not be used for any 
purposes by any person other than the party to whom it is addressed without the written consent of the appraiser, 
and in any event only with the proper written qualification and only in its entirety. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 13 
Griswold, Iowa 

ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
Testimony or attendance in court or at any other hearing is not required by reason of rendering this appraisal, 
unless such arrangements are made in a reasonable time in advance. 

The appraiser has personally inspected the subject property and find no obvious evidence of structural deficiencies, 
except as stated in this report; however, no responsibility for hidden defects or conformity to specific governmental 
requirements, such as fire, building and safety, earthquake or occupancy codes can be assumed without provision 
of specific professional or government inspections. 

No consideration has been given in this appraisal as to the value of the property located on the premises considered 
by the appraiser to be personal property, nor has he given consideration to the cost of moving or relocating such 
personal property; only the real property has been considered.   

Information obtained for use in this appraisal is believed to be true and correct to the best of my abilities; however, 
no responsibility is assumed for errors or omissions, or for information not disclosed which might otherwise affect 
the valuation estimate. 

Disclosure of the contents of this appraisal report is governed by the Bylaws and Regulations of the Appraisal 
Institute. 

Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report (especially any conclusions as to value, the identity of the 
appraiser or firm with which he is connected, or any reference to the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers 
or to the MAI or SRA designations) shall be disseminated to the public through advertising media, public relations 
media, news media, sales media or any other public means of communication without prior written consent and 
approval of the appraiser. 

Comments concerning the location, market area, trends, construction quality and costs of the property appraised 
herein represent the opinion of the appraiser formed after examination and study of the subject property. 
This appraisal represents the independent opinion of the appraiser free from any commitments and free from any 
present or expected future interest in the property, with the sole compensation for the employment being a fair 
professional fee. 

The Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) became effective January 26, 1992.  I have not made a specific 
compliance survey and analysis of this property to determine whether or not it is in conformity with the various 
detailed requirements of the ADA.  It is possible that a compliance survey of the property, together with a detailed 
analysis of the requirements of the ADA, could reveal that the property is not in compliance with one or more of 
the requirements of the Act.  If so, this fact could have a negative effect upon the value of the property.  Since I 
have no direct evidence relating to this issue, I did not consider possible non-compliance with the requirements of 
ADA in estimating the value of the property. 

Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of hazardous material, which may or may not be present on the 
property, was not observed by the appraiser.  The appraiser has no knowledge of the existence of such materials on 
or in the property.  The appraiser, however, is not qualified to detect such substances.  The presence of substances 
such as asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation or other potentially hazardous materials may affect the value 
of the property.  The value estimate is predicated on the assumption that there is no such material on or in the 
property that would cause a loss of value.  No responsibility is assumed for any such conditions, or for any 
expertise or engineering knowledge required to discover them.  The client is urged to retain an expert in this field, 
if desired. 

If this appraisal report was transmitted as an “electronic record” containing my “electronic signature,” as those 
terms are defined in applicable federal and/or state laws (excluding audio and video recordings), or a facsimile 
transmission of this appraisal report containing a copy or representation of my signature, the appraisal report shall 
be as effective, enforceable and valid as if a paper version of this appraisal report were delivered containing my 
original hand written signature. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 14 
Griswold, Iowa 

DEFINITIONS: 
 
 

FEE SIMPLE ESTATE:1 Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate, 
subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers 
of taxation, eminent domain, police power and escheat. 

 
LEASED FEE ESTATE:2 An ownership interest held by a landlord with the right of use and 

occupancy conveyed by lease to others.  The rights of lessor (the 
leased fee owner) and leased fee are specified by contract terms 
contained within the lease. 

 
MARKET VALUE: 2 The most probable price which a property should bring in a 

competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair 
sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably, 
and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus.  Implicit in 
this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date3 
and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions 
whereby: 

 

 (1) Buyer and seller are typically motivated; 
 

 (2) Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what 
they consider their own best interests; 

 

 (3) A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; 
 

 (4) Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of 
financial arrangements comparable thereto; and, 

 

 (5) The price represents the normal consideration for the property 
sold unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions 
granted by anyone associated with the sale. 

 
1  The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 4th Edition, Appraisal Institute, Chicago 
2  Excerpted from Vol. 55 No. 165, Federal Register Section 34.44 Appraisal Standards 
3  See discussion regarding exposure time and marketability within the Highest and Best Use analysis of this report 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 15 
Griswold, Iowa 

VALUATION AND THE APPRAISAL PROCESS 
 
 

An appraisal is an estimate, an opinion of value.  Its accuracy depends on the basic competence and 
integrity of the appraiser and on the soundness and skill by which he or she processed the data.  Its 
worth is influenced by the availability of pertinent data.  The professional appraiser seeks current facts 
and seeks to be practical.  Most importantly, the appraiser’s opinion must be without bias.  As with 
other types of “markets,” the real property appraiser does not make the market; rather, he or she 
interprets the market.  
 
Generally, the appraiser uses three approaches to value: 1) Cost Approach; 2) Direct Sales Comparison 
Approach; and, 3) Income Approach.  Each of these approaches is discussed separately below.  They 
are all comparative approaches in that the basic data comes from direct comparisons in the market, 
indirect comparisons in the market, and/or the appraiser’s judgment, which is based on market 
experience. 
 
In the Cost Approach, the cost to reproduce the property at the date of the appraisal, less an appropriate 
allowance for depreciation (physical deterioration, functional obsolescence, and economic 
obsolescence), is made by market comparisons of cost and depreciation.  The Cost Approach tends to 
set the upper limit of value since no property can be worth more than it would cost to build another 
property of equal utility assuming no reasonable delays. In land appraisals this approach is not 
applicable as land cannot be replaced but is considered a non-depreciating asset. 
 
In the Direct Sales Comparison Approach, the subject property is compared to sales of similar 
properties.  The sales are analyzed to determine similarities and differences, which affect value when 
observed in the market.  These similarities and differences then serve as points of comparison between 
the market data and the subject property.  When necessary, adjustments are made to the comparables to 
account for these differences.  The resulting adjusted value per unit is then used to estimate the value via 
this approach. 
 
In the Income Capitalization Approach, the future operation of the property is estimated from past 
historical data relating to the subject and/or from comparable market data.  Gross rental schedules, 
vacancy and collection losses, fixed expenses, operating expenses and reserves are projected and used to 
estimate net income.  This net income is converted to a value estimate using the capitalization process.  
The capitalization rate (comprised of a return on and a return of the investment) is based on 
demonstrated rates found in the market. (In land appraisals, recapture is not a part of the capitalization 
rate as land is considered a non-depreciating asset.) The method and technique of capitalization is 
determined by the nature of the property in the market.  
 
All approaches were considered for this report, however, the availability, adequacy and pertinence of 
data may limit the approaches actually used, as discussed in the Reconciliation of this report. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 16 
Griswold, Iowa 

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS 
 
 

Market areas influence value of specific properties in many ways. These influences are best 
understood considering their social, economic, governmental and environmental characteristics.  It 
has been said that “social, economic, governmental and environmental forces also influence property 
value near the subject property which, in turn, directly affects the value of the subject property 
itself.”1  Therefore, we will examine each characteristic considering the subject’s market area. 
 
Market Area: Subject is in a rural area of Pottawattamie County east of Council Bluffs, on the west 
edge of Iowa adjacent to the east bank of the Missouri River and part of the greater Omaha-Council 
Bluffs Core Based Statistical Area (CBSA). This area is described as follows: 
 
Social Characteristics 
 

Demographics:  The 2021 population2 within one, 3 and 5 miles of Griswold was reported as 
1,084, 1,295 and 1,640 respectively; which is about 3% higher than 2010. Households in 2021 
were up 4% from 2010. Average family size was 2.76 persons. 
 
Education: The market area is served by the Griswold Community Public School District. The 
level of education achieved for persons ages 25 or older within the area is shown as follows. 

 
 
Employment:  Employment by industry within the city is shown as follows. 

 
 
 

 
1 Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, 2008 
2  www.stdbonline.com  

http://www.stdbonline.com/


 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 17 
Griswold, Iowa 

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Social Characteristics (Continued)  
 

It was shown that 659 persons are in the workforces in Griswold. Largest employers in this 
community are Professional Services at 32, Pumpkin Patch at 17; unemployment rate was 8.8%: 
 
Housing: The market area 517 housing units within one mile and has roughly 77.3% of occupants 
owning their home and 22.7% of homes being renter occupied. 
 
Roadway Linkage:  City of Griswold is accessed via Highway 92 which links this community to 
Council Bluffs and Omaha metro.   
 
Recreation: 
 
Conklin Fish Farm is location 2 miles south of Griswold and covers 8 acres. It has a lake stocked 
with a variety of fish, there are 60 campsites, walking trails, a shelter house, picnic tables, outdoor 
restrooms, playground, sand volleyball and fire pits.   
 
Retail Centers:  Shopping is available in town and also available in nearby communities.  

 

Utilities:  Water is provided by City of Griswold, MidAmerican Energy and its rural electric 
cooperative provide electric power to the region at rates below the national average.  
 
Governmental Characteristics 
 

Administration:  Griswold has a mayor and city council form of government. 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 18 
Griswold, Iowa 

Market Area Aerial 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 19 
Griswold, Iowa 

Immediate Market Area Aerial 
 

 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 20 
Griswold, Iowa 

MARKET AREA VIEWS 

 

View north along 490th Street, 
subject at right 

 

View south along 490th Street, 
Highway 92 in foreground 

 

View east along Highway 92, 
subject at left 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 21 
Griswold, Iowa 

 

View east along Highway 92, 
490th Street in foreground 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 22 
Griswold, Iowa 

SITE DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS 
 
 

Subject property is located on the northeast corner of Highway 92 and 490th Street which is in the east 
portion of Pottawattamie County. The property is surrounded by agricultural properties. Following is a 
summary of subject characteristics: 
 

Size:  Subject parcel has frontage along both abutting roads with site area listed as 16,117 square feet or 
0.37 acres. These dimensions were taken from public records, as no survey was provided.  
 
Topography:  Subject site appears to have sloping terrain falling from the west to the east near the 
grade level of abutting roads. This site appears to have adequate surface water drainage.  
 
Soils:  Subject is presumed free of hazardous materials and the load bearing capacities adequate for 
improvements.  Obvious environmental problems were not observed.  See Limiting Conditions as relate 
to effects on value if environmental contamination is found on property. 
 
Utilities:  Subject has electricity, well water and a septic system.   
 
Easements/Encroachments/Restrictions:  No adverse easements or encroachments were noted on the 
plats and none are known. 
 
Flood Plain/Drainage:  Subject does not appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per 
CoreLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0700F, dated April 16, 2013 (map in report). 
 
Zoning:  Subject is zoned A-2 (Agricultural Production District) under Pottawattamie Counties 
jurisdiction. The Class A-2 District is intended to preserve the land best suited for agricultural 
production by protecting prime agricultural lands in farmable tracts from the encroachment of scattered 
residential, commercial and industrial development; to promote efficiency and economy in the delivery 
of public services by restricting non-farm development in unincorporated areas of the County, which are 
without existing or planned services, and to encourage development in areas where services are 
provided or can efficiently be provided.  (see zoning regulations in Addenda). 
 
Visibility:  Subject has frontage along two roads, Highway 92 is a 2 lane street handling east/west 
bound traffic and carries moderate amounts of traffic; 490th Street is a county road carrying minimal 
traffic. The views to and from the subject are not dramatically obscured by abutting properties or 
terrain. Based on these factors the subject is considered to have fair visibility characteristics.   
 
Access:  Subject parcel  has a corner location in an area of agricultural land uses. Highway 92 abutting 
on the south connects this area with several communities to the east and west. Based on this, subject is 
considered to have fair access characteristics.  
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 23 
Griswold, Iowa 

Subject Parcel Aerial 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 24 
Griswold, Iowa 

Subject Plat Map 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 25 
Griswold, Iowa 

Subject Flood Map 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 26 
Griswold, Iowa 

DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS 
 
 

The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance building. This building contains 
one drive-in bay a small office and a restroom. The building is of pre-engineered steel construction with 
metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There is one overhead door for vehicle entry and a 
pedestrian door. There is also a lean-to for sand storage and an area for outdoor storage. The building 
has 2,106 square feet and is located upon a corner site with 16,117 SF which is totally fenced. Based on 
my observations and public records the general building components and their condition were 
summarized as follows: 
 
 

STRUCTURAL FEATURES: 
 

Footings & Foundation:  Footings were not observed; foundation appears to be poured concrete.   
 
Superstructure:  Building is of pre-engineered steel construction with metal panels on the exterior 
elevations and a pitched roof. 
 
Floors:  Is poured concrete, specific thickness and load-bearing capacity is unknown.   
 
Roof:  Roof is a pitched design and was covered with metal panels.  It is drained by a gutter and 
downspout system.  
 
Walls:  Exterior walls are metal panels.   
 
Windows & Doors:  Entry into the building is a direct entry through 2 metal pedestrian doors in an 
aluminum frame. There were no windows in the building. There was one overhead drive-in door of 
insulated metal construction, which were about 14’ x 14’ and electrically operated.  
 
 
MECHANICAL FEATURES: 
 

Electrical Systems:  Electric service was 110/220 volt service with a 100 amp main breaker; protected 
by circuit breakers.  
 
Lighting:  The building had fluorescent fixtures.  
 
Heating & Air Conditioning:  There was a propane fired tube heater  
 
Fire Protection System:  None observed 
 
Security System:  None observed 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 27 
Griswold, Iowa 

DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
 

INTERIOR: 
 

Restrooms:  There was a restroom equipped with a residential stool, sink.  No specific investigation of 
whether or not these facilities meet requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act was conducted 
(see disclaimer in Assumptions at the conclusion of this report).   
 
Interior Finish:  The office portion of the building has no real finish  
 
Site Improvements:  The parking/drive areas and outdoor storage are covered with crushed rock, the 
balance of the site has turf grass. This site has a chain link fence surrounding it. There is a lean-to shed 
used for sand storage and a wood retaining wall for the outdoor storage area. East of the building is a 
diesel fuel pump with a storage tank. 
 
 
CONDITION/DEPRECIATION: 
 

Subject was reported to have been constructed in 1970. Therefore,  it has a chronological age of 52 
years.  The subject was considered in average condition. Therefore, it is estimated to have effective age 
of 30 years.  Per Marshall Valuation, buildings similar to subject would have an economic life of 40 
years.  Based on these factors, subject is estimated to have non-curable depreciation of 50% (20-year 
effective age ÷ 40-year economic life). 
 
Functional Obsolescence:  The subject’s layout and floor plan is typical for this type of structure in this 
area.  
 
External Obsolescence:  No external obsolescence was observed (in market area description), as there 
appears adequate demand for these type properties. 

 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 28 
Griswold, Iowa 

Building Sketch 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 29 
Griswold, Iowa 

INTERIOR PHOTOS 

 

Open Shop/storage area 

 

Restroom 

 

Office 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 30 
Griswold, Iowa 

 

Open Shop/storage area 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 31 
Griswold, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE 
 
 

Definition:  The reasonably probable and legal use of vacant land or improved property, which is 
physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and results in the highest value. 
 
Highest and best use of a specific property is not determined through subjective analysis by the 
appraiser; rather, shaped by the competitive forces in the market where property is located. Therefore, 
the analysis and interpretation of highest and best use is an economic study of market forces focused on 
the subject. The benefit of real estate development produces for a community or amenity contribution 
provided by a planned project (i.e., public space in a park-like area) is not considered in the appraiser’s 
analysis of highest and best use.  Also implied is that the determination of highest and best use results 
from the appraiser’s judgment and analytical skills, i.e., that the use determined from analysis represents 
an interpretation or opinion not a fact to be found.  In appraisal practice, the concept of highest and best 
use represents the premises upon which value is based.  In the context of most probable selling price 
(market value) another appropriate term to reflect highest and best use would be most probable use.  In 
the context of investment value, an alternate term would be most profitable use. 
 
In order for a particular use or a piece of real property to be the highest and best use of that real 
property, several requirements must be met: 
 

1. The use must be legally permissible or reasonably possible. 
2. The use must be physically possible on the site. 
3. The use must be economically and financially feasible under projected market conditions existing. 
4. The use must be the most profitable of the legally permissible, physically possible, and economically 

feasible alternatives. 
 
In estimating its market value, real property is appraised in terms of its highest and best use.  Highest 
and best use analysis is analogous to a feasibility study, in that it is progressive.  Legally permissible or 
physically possible uses are first considered.  After analyzing one, the other is fully considered. 
 
Regarding possible uses, there are five basic categories, which are: 
 

 1. Residential, 
 2. Commercial, 
 3. Industrial, 
 4. Agricultural, and 
 5. Special or public use. 
 
After permissible and possible are concluded, economically feasible uses are next identified; that is, 
those that would pay competitive return on investment in improvements as well as land.  Of these, the 
“maximally productive” or most profitable is highest and best use also referred to as the “ideal” use.1 
 
In estimating highest and best use of property, the site is first analyzed as though vacant, unimproved 
and available for development to its most profitable, likely, legal use.  When improvements are present, 
it is necessary to estimate the highest and best use of the site as improved.  In both cases, the property is 
analyzed from the viewpoint of possible, permissible and feasible uses. 
 

 
1  Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 32 
Griswold, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED) 
 
 

SITE ‘AS IF’ VACANT 
 

Referring to highest and best use ‘as if’ vacant, first test is physical adaptability of land. Potential uses 
include are generally commercial in nature. Agricultural uses are not physically possible due to site size 
in relation to large acreage needs of modern farm operations. The 16,117 SF site appears entirely usable 
and could accommodate most uses, obviously limited by its size. No adverse physical or economic 
conditions were observed. 
 
Second test is legal permissibility of use. Site is zoned A-2 (Agricultural Production District).  Legal 
uses are slightly limiting, as the zoning is designed intended to accommodate agricultural related 
activities uses. (see zoning regulations in Addenda).  
 
Third test is the financial feasibility, calling for a use generating highest return on and of investment.  
The site is located along Highway 92 and 490th Street, a lightly traveled street.  Office and retail users 
would not find the site attractive due to the minimal traffic and surrounding agricultural properties. 
Civic users are often not-for-profit entities that operate on limited budgets.  As a result, civic users 
would likely not be willing to pay as much as a commercial or industrial user for a site with the subject 
characteristics. 
 
Based on site size, zoning, economic and physical characteristics, it is my judgment that the highest and 
best use, as if vacant, would be for industrial use within the scope of the present zoning. 
 
 
“AS IMPROVED” 
 

The four tests of highest and best use, (legal permissibility, physical possibility, financial feasibility 
and maximum productivity) can be applied to the property “as improved” to determine the use that 
will maximize the subject property’s value.  The use maximizing the highest value is the highest and 
best use of the property “as improved.”  
 
The four basic courses of action that can be applied to a property are: 
 

• To demolish improvements and redevelop the site for a new use; or 
• To modify improvements (e.g. renovate, modernize, or convert), or 
• To cure items of deferred maintenance and retain the improvements; or 
• To maintain the improvements “as is”  

 
I analyzed the four courses of action for the subject mixed-use building, in keeping with the four 
main tests of highest and best use, with my analysis described in the following paragraphs: 
 
Demolish & Redevelop:  The existing improvements contribute to site value (concluded in large part 
by competing properties), and it would not be financially feasible to demolish them in order to 
redevelop the land for some alternate use.  Therefore, this option is eliminated on grounds of financial 
feasibility.   
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 33 
Griswold, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED) 
 
 

“AS IMPROVED” (CONTINUED) 
 

Modify Improvements:  I was unable to identify modifications or conversions of existing 
improvements that would increase property value by an amount greater than anticipated cost of 
modifications or conversions.  Therefore, the option to modify improvements is eliminated on grounds 
it would not maximize property value. 
 
Cure Deferred Maintenance or Maintain Improvements:  Subject is considered in average 
condition, with some minor deferred maintenance observed.  The cost to cure this deficiency is not 
considered to increase the value beyond the costs of those improvements. Therefore, the option to 
cure deferred maintenance is ruled out.   
 
The only remaining course of action meeting tests of legal permissibility, physical possibility, 
financial feasibility, and maximum productivity is to continue current use of the subject as a 
maintenance building. 
 
 
EXPOSURE TIME 
 

In order to sell property, it must be exposed to the open market.  The following discussion is 
provided to illustrate current market conditions and estimate exposure time needed to market subject. 
 
Exposure time may be defined as estimated length of time a property interest being appraised would 
have been offered on the open market prior to a hypothetical consummation of sale at market value 
on effective date of the appraisal; a retrospective estimate based on analysis of past events assuming 
a competitive, open market. 
 
The concept of reasonable exposure time encompasses not only adequate, sufficient, reasonable 
time, but also adequate, sufficient, reasonable effort and considers type property being appraised, 
supply/ demand conditions, as of effective date of appraisal and analysis of historical sales 
information (sold after exposure and completion of negotiations between buyer/seller).  Therefore, 
reasonable exposure time is a function of price and use, not an isolated estimate of time. Reasonable 
exposure is always presumed to precede effective date of appraisal and differs for various types of 
real estate under various market conditions. Therefore, my estimate of 12-18 months exposure time 
is based on subject’s determined highest and best use in a highly competitive retail market 
evidencing some demand (albeit limited) for the type of space offered, its highly desirable location, 
but also factoring the slowdown in the real estate market over the past couple years caused by 
recessionary conditions. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 34 
Griswold, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED) 
 
 

MARKETING TIME 
 

Marketing time for the purpose of this report, is defined as an estimated amount of time it might 
take to sell a property interest in real estate at estimated market value during the period immediately 
after the effective date of the appraisal.” 
 
As with reasonable exposure time, estimated marketing time is not intended as a prediction of a date 
of sale or a one-line statement.  The concept of marketing time encompasses other market conditions 
that may affect marketing, e.g., identification of typical buyers/sellers for type of real estate 
involved, typical equity investment levels, and/or financing terms. Therefore, reasonable marketing 
time is a function of price, use, and anticipated market conditions such as changes in cost/availability 
of funds, not an isolated estimate of time. Marketing time occurs after effective date of market value 
estimate and considers such brokerage functions as advertising, arranging financing and marketing 
property to specific investors. Estimates of both reasonable exposure and marketing times are not 
predictions, rather only judgments made by an appraiser. 
 
Properties similar to the subject would appeal primarily to owners due to the single tenant design of 
the subject. A market search done as part of this appraisal provided limited data and, as a result, 
accurately estimating exact time needed to market the property was subjective, but area brokers 
reported recent marketing times for most reasonably priced commercial properties in metro as 
ranging from 1-24 months. The real estate market slowed in late 2007 due to recessionary 
conditions, and this slowdown was magnified by the destabilization of the financial markets in 
October 2008. Loans are still available for qualified borrowers, but typically at lower loan-to-value 
ratios, mitigating lender risk. Present rates (as of effective date of this report) range from 4.5% to 6% 
with terms of 3-30 years and amortizations of 15-30 years. Therefore, I concluded if subject were 
listed for sale in the current market at/near appraised value, reasonable marketing time is anticipated 
within 12 months, assuming the offering is placed with a competent broker active in the area and 
experienced with this property type. Real estate brokerage commissions in the area for this property 
type typically are near 4%-7% of gross sale price. Market also reacts more quickly to properties with 
attractive price/ value ratios, tending to neglect those perceived as unrealistically priced. Skill of 
those marketing property can also influence exposure time needed to consummate a sale, as well as 
the overall economic environment in which property exists. Therefore, the abovementioned 
marketing time is considered reasonably well supported, but is not guaranteed. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 35 
Griswold, Iowa 

COST APPROACH 
 
 

The purpose of the Cost Approach is to estimate a Market Value for the subject property based upon the 
cost to construct a new property that enjoys the same utility as the subject property.  This approach is 
based upon the principle of substitution, as it is assumed that a knowledgeable purchaser would not pay 
more for a property than the cost to build a new one.  The improvements are literally constructed “on 
paper” and then any accrued depreciation is subtracted from this value.  This depreciated value estimate 
is then added to the Market Value off the subject site in its highest and best use to arrive at an estimate 
of value for the property as a whole.  More specifically, the steps of the Cost Approach are as follows: 
 

 1. Estimate the value of the site in its highest and best use as if vacant. 
 
 2. Estimate the replacement cost new of all of the improvements. 
 
 3. Estimate accrued depreciation from all sources. 
 
 4. Deduct accrued depreciation from the cost new. 
 
 5. Add the estimated value of the site to arrive at a value for the entire property by the Cost 

Approach. 
 
Due to the older age of the original building, the reliability of this approach is diminished, so it 
was not developed in this report. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 36 
Griswold, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH 
 
 

The Direct Sales Comparison Approach (also known as the Market Data Approach) is the process in 
which a market value estimate is derived by analyzing the market for similar properties and comparing 
these properties to the subject property.  This approach is premised upon the principle of substitution 
which suggests that a prudent person will not pay more to purchase a property than it will cost him or 
her to purchase an equally desirable substitute property.  Another basic premise of the Direct Sales 
Comparison Approach is that the market value of a property is directly related to the prices of 
comparable, competitive properties.1 
 
The comparative analysis performed in this approach focuses on similarities and differences among 
properties and transactions observed in the market which affect value.  These similarities and 
differences then serve as points of comparison between the market data and the subject property.  
Typically, the major points of comparison are: 
 

• Property Rights Conveyed 
• Financing Terms 
• Condition of Sale 
• Time 
• Physical Characteristics 
• Economic Characteristics 

 
A sale of a property that is an exact duplicate of the subject property would be an important and ideal 
indication of value.  In reality, no two properties are exactly alike.  As a result, an adjustment process is 
used when analyzing the major points of comparison. 
 
The known sales with the greatest degree of comparability used in this analysis are adjusted for the 
difference between the comparable and the subject property.  Adjustments are always made FROM the 
comparable TO the subject property.  For example, if the comparable property sold two years ago and 
market analysis suggests that prices have increased 5%, then the sale price of the comparable would be 
increased by 5% to give the indication of value for the subject.  Conversely, if the comparable property 
was in a superior location as compared to the subject and this difference was estimated at 5%, a 
negative adjustment of 5% would be applied to the sale price of the comparable to give the indication of 
value for the subject.  The adjustments for different physical and economic characteristics are handled 
in the same manner.  Adjustments may be by percentages or by dollar amounts or both. 
 
No sales of similar properties were found in Avoca, Walnut, Griswold or Hancock; therefore, I utilized 
sales from Council Bluffs. Following are descriptions of known industrial, commercial or mixed use 
properties which sold in recent years in the Council Bluffs metropolitan area.  After the sales, I have 
shown location maps, adjustment grids, explanation and my final conclusions of the subject property 
market value from this approach.  

 
1  Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 37 
Griswold, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 38 
Griswold, Iowa 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 39 
Griswold, Iowa 

Comparable #3 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4258 

Address 1005 South 17th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1-2 and the west 20' of Lot 3 
including the north 1/2 of the vacated 
adjacent alley, Block 11, Fleming & 
Davis 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 416 SF 

Eave Height 14.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 1998/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 10,880 SF 

Usable Site Size 10,880 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features Fenced, Mezzanine 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date July 17, 2019 

Contract Price $192,500 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$80.21 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$80.21 

Adjusted Price $192,500 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$80.21 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$80.21 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor All Pro Towing, LLC 

Grantee Perfect Diamond Lawns, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-09108 

Source Broker 
 

The property previously sold February 2017, for $160,000. The 2019 sale represents appreciation near 8% per year. 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 40 
Griswold, Iowa 

Comparable #4 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4269 

Address 919 South 15th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 15 and 16, Block 8, Fleming & 
Davis Subdivision and part of the 
vacated alley 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,592 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,592 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 348 SF 

Eave Height 12.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 2006/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF 

Usable Site Size 8,160 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features Fenced, Mezzanine 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date October 05, 2018 

Contract Price $160,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.73 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.73 

Adjusted Price $160,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.73 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.73 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor Fouts Investments, LLC 

Grantee L & T Properties, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-13139 

Source Public Records, Broker 
 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 41 
Griswold, Iowa 

Comparable #5 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4326 

Address 712 South 15th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description South 1/2 of Lost 5 and 6, Block 32, 
Everetts Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,000 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 444 SF 

Eave Height 16.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 2006/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF 

Usable Site Size 8,160 SF 

Zoning I-1 

Features Fenced 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date February 11, 2020 

Contract Price $170,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$85.00 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$85.00 

Adjusted Price $170,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$85.00 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$85.00 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor ZaCar Corp 

Grantee T & G Carper, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2020/01996 

Source Public Records, CoStar 
 

This sale represents appreciation of 1.15% per year from previous sale in 2014. 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 42 
Griswold, Iowa 

Comparable #6 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4328 

Address 1516 Avenue C 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1, 2, and part of Lot 3, Block 3, 
Beers Subdivision 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 316 SF 

Eave Height 12.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 1981/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 14,705 SF 

Usable Site Size 14,705 SF 

Zoning C-2 

Features Fenced 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date January 03, 2019 

Contract Price $210,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$87.50 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$87.50 

Adjusted Price $210,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$87.50 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$87.50 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor Cooks Towing & Repair, Inc 

Grantee DHI, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-00195 

Source Public Records 
 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 43 
Griswold, Iowa 

Comparable #7 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4329 

Address 1324 9th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 6-7, Part of Lot 8, Block 26, 
Riddles Subdivision 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 3,520 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 3,520 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 720 SF 

Eave Height 10.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 1988/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 12,194 SF 

Usable Site Size 12,194 SF 

Zoning I-1 

Features Fenced 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date September 13, 2018 

Contract Price $215,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.08 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.08 

Adjusted Price $215,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.08 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.08 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor L & T Properties, LLC 

Grantee Michael John Kilnoski 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-12027 

Source Public Records 
 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 44 
Griswold, Iowa 

Comparable #8 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4811 

Address 2414 9th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Part of Lots 3-5, Block 1 and part of 
Lot 9, Block 17, Ninth Avenue 
Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 5,400 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 5,400 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 1,196 SF 

Eave Height 12.00' 

Construction Good Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2010/ 

Condition Good 
 

Gross Site Size 13,890 SF 

Usable Site Size 13,890 SF 

Zoning I-1 

Features 
 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date September 23, 2020 

Contract Price $390,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$72.22 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$72.22 

Adjusted Price $390,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$72.22 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$72.22 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor Jo Ter Ran Investments, LLC 

Grantee Ht 9th Ave, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2020-13944 

Source Public Records, Broker 
 

Broker noted there was a lot of interest in the property. Sale represents annual appreciation near 5.90% from its 2011 
sale. 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 45 
Griswold, Iowa 

Sales Map 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 46 
Griswold, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Comparable Sales Grid 
 

SUBJECT SALE #1: SALE #2: SALE #3: SALE #4:

PROPERTY 821 So 27th Street 717 Veterans Mem Hy 1005 So 17th Street 919 So 15th Street

15021 490th Street Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa

Griswold, Iowa ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED

SALE PRICE       N/A $225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

SALE PRICE/SF N/A $72.58 $130.21 $80.21 $61.73

GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA

MARKET ADJUSTMENTS

   PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0%

$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

   FINANCING N/A Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0%

$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

   CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0%

$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

   DATE OF SALE May-22 Nov-21 2% May-21 3% Jul-19 7% Oct-18 11%

(Inspection) $229,500 $463,500 $205,975 $177,600

PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)

   BUILDING SIZE/SF   2,106 3,100 0% 3,456 0% 2,400 0% 2,592 0%

   LOCATION/SITE Griswold Co Bluffs -40% Co Bluffs -40% Co Bluffs -40% Co Bluffs -40%

   QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls S Avg/Cls C -5% Avg/Cls S 0% Avg/Cls S 0% Avg/Cls S 0%

   INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 5% 0% 3% 0% 17% -5% 13% -3%

   AGE/CONDITION 52/Average 49/Avg -1% 40/AvFr -5% 21/Avg -15% 12/Avg -20%

   SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 7.65:1 3.51:1 2% 42.85:1 -18% 4.5:1 1% 3.14:1 2%

   AMENITIES Leanto, Fuel, Fenced None 9% None 9% Fenced 4% Fenced 4%

NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -35% -54% -55% -57%

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $149,175 $213,210 $92,689 $76,368

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $48.12 $61.69 $38.62 $29.46

TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -33% -51% -48% -46%

TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 57% 57% 71% 78%  
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 47 
Griswold, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Comparable Sales Grid 
 

SUBJECT SALE #5: SALE #6: SALE #7: SALE 8:

PROPERTY 712 So 15t Street 1516 Avenue C 1324 9th Avenue 2414 9th Avenue

15021 490th Street Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa

Griswold, Iowa ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED

SALE PRICE       N/A $170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

SALE PRICE/SF N/A $85.00 $87.50 $61.08 $72.22

GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA

MARKET ADJUSTMENTS

   PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0%

$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

   FINANCING N/A Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0%

$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

   CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0%

$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

   DATE OF SALE May-22 Feb-20 6% Jan-19 9% Sep-18 11% Sep-20 5%

(Inspection) $180,200 $228,900 $238,650 $409,500

PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)

   BUILDING SIZE/SF   2,106 2,000 0% 2,400 0% 3,520 0% 5,400 0%

   LOCATION/SITE Griswold Co Bluffs -40% Co Bluffs -40% Co Bluffs -40% Co Bluffs -40%

   QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls S Avg/Cls D 0% Avg/Cls S 0% Avg/Cls C -5% Gd/Cls S 0%

   INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 22% -8% 13% -3% 20% -7% 22% -8%

   AGE/CONDITION 52/Average 14/Avg -19% 38/Avg -7% 30/Avg -11% 10/Gd -25%

   SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 7.65:1 4.08:1 1% 6.13:1 1% 3.46:1 2% 2.57:1 2%

   AMENITIES Leanto, Fuel, Fenced Fenced 4% Fenced 4% Fenced 4% None 9%

NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -62% -45% -57% -62%

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $68,476 $125,895 $102,620 $155,610

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $34.24 $52.46 $29.15 $28.82

TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -56% -36% -46% -57%

TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 77% 63% 78% 87%  
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 48 
Griswold, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

ADJUSTMENT RATIONALE 
 

The preceding represents the only known sales of industrial properties considered of similar condition, 
design, use, and/or location in Pottawattamie County or competing areas of the metro.  All these 
properties were considered to be similar to the subject, but did require some adjusting to make them 
equal to subject.  Sale prices were reduced to the common denominator of price per square foot of 
GBA, as this is a normal unit of measurement in market buying and selling decisions. 
 
Market Condition Adjustments 
 

Adjustments were not required for property rights conveyed, financing, or condition of sale, as all were 
considered normal for the market.   
 
All the sales were considered for adjustment due to date of sale.  I observed a general increase in 
property values in the metro area over the past few years, typically ranging from 3% to 4% annually 
until late 2007 when recessionary conditions began. The market slowdown was magnified following 
destabilization of the financial markets in October 2008, demonstrated by the lack of known sales 
occurring since that time. The market has been improving since 2010 and therefore, I applied an annual 
appreciation to these sales of 3% after that time.  
 
Physical Condition Adjustments 
 

The sales are typically adjusted for the relative improvement size difference with the subject building, 
due to dissimilar sizes and economies of scale.  Adjustments were not considered necessary as all were 
similar in size to subject.   
 
Adjustments were considered for overall construction quality.  Adjustments were derived from Marshall 
Valuation Service estimated costs to bring properties equal to the subject and from the market reaction 
to these differences. 
 
Adjustments for age of improvements were given as typically buyers are concerned about remaining 
economic life of property.  A rounded 1/2% per year of difference with subject age was derived as an 
appropriate adjustment and applied accordingly.  Additional adjustments for condition were applied 
separately, based on cost estimates to bring properties equal and accounts for the effective age of the 
improvements. 
 
Adjustments for amenities were also considered as properties with additional features, such as fencing 
generally yield higher sale prices. Subject has a lean-to, fenced outdoor storage area and fuel tank & 
pump; sales #3 through #7 had fencing, so those sales received different adjustments than the remining 
sales which had no amenities so positive adjustments were applied to all the sales.    
 
Adjustments for location were considered as all of these properties were located in areas with more 
desirability than the subject so large negative adjustments were applied.  
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 49 
Griswold, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

RECONCILIATION 
 

Before adjusting, the sale prices ranged from $61.08/SF in Sale #7 to $130.21/SF in Sale #2.  After the 
aforementioned adjustments were applied, the indicated values ranged from $29.15/SF in Sale #7 to 
$61.69/SF in Sale #2. Net percentage adjustments ranged from -33% to -57% while gross adjustments 
ranged from 57% to 87%.   
 
Generally, sales with the smallest amount of adjustment are the best indicators of value.  Sales #1 and 
#2 required the least adjusting, indicating values of $48.12 & $61.69/SF. Sale #1 is supported by one 
other sale indicating a value of $52.46/SF, while sale #2 is not supported. Remaining sales indicated 
values of $29.15/SF to $61.69/SF; majority of the sales 7 out of 8 indicated values from $29.15 to 
$52.46/SF. Therefore, a value estimate for the subject within that range would have the broadest 
support.  
 
The market search revealed no similar properties on the market currently: 
 

Therefore, based on the foregoing data and analysis, I estimated ‘as is’ market value of the subject at 
$35.00/SF, as of the effective date of this report with the total value developed as follows: 
 

 Indicated Value x Gross Bldg Size = Total Rounded to 
 $35.00/SF x 2,106 SF = $73,710    $74,000 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 50 
Griswold, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH 

 
 

From an investor’s perspective, the earning power of a real estate investment is the critical element 
affecting its value.  The fundamental investment premise is the higher the earnings the higher the value.  
Investment in an income-producing property represents the exchange of present dollars for the right to 
receive future dollars.  In the Income Capitalization Approach to value, the appraiser analyzes a 
property’s capacity to generate benefits and converts these benefits into an indication of present value.1 
 
The basic steps involved in this approach are: 
 

1. Estimate potential gross income; 

2. Estimate and deduct a vacancy and collection loss allowance; 

3. Estimate and deduct expenses; 

4. Estimate duration and pattern of income stream; 

5. Select an applicable capitalization method and technique; 

6. Develop the appropriate rate; 

7. Complete the computations necessary to derive an economic value. 
 
The primary reason for making gross income estimates is to identify probable net income benefits that 
may be derived from ownership interest of the income-producing property.  In accepted appraisal 
practice, the usual basis for a gross income projection is economic rent.  Economic (market) rent is 
defined as being the rental income that a property would most probably command in the open market; it 
is indicated by current rents paid and asked for comparable space as of the date of the appraisal. 
 
Income Analysis 
 

Subject property is presently owner occupied therefore, no rental information on the property is known.  
 
Comparable properties found are summarized on the following pages. Operating expenses were 
estimated from actual historic operating statements from expenses for commercial properties I have 
observed in the metro area combined with national investor surveys. 

 
1  The Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 51 
Griswold, Iowa 

Comparable #1 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1012 

Address 1310 South 17th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1-8, Block 21 Fleming & Davis 
 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 2,200 SF 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 2003/ 

Condition Average 

Height 18.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 60,984 SF 

Usable Site Size 60,984 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 14,000 SF 

Lease Date February 28, 2018 

Lease Term February 28, 2018 - January 31, 2023 

Starting Base Rent $5.20/SF 

Rent Description Fixed for lease. 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba MP Nexlevel 

Source Broker 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 52 
Griswold, Iowa 

Comparable #2 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1398 

Address 15 South 20th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Commercial :: Vehicle-Related - 
Service 

Legal Description 
 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 9,120 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 1979/ 

Condition Fair 

Height N/A 
 

Gross Site Size 40,692 SF 

Usable Site Size 40,692 SF 

Zoning C-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 9,120 SF 

Lease Date August 01, 2018 

Lease Term September 01, 2018 - August 31, 
2023 

Starting Base Rent $5.75/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba Jake's Towing and Transport 

Source CoStar 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 53 
Griswold, Iowa 

Comparable #3 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1013 

Address 3319 Nebraska Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description 
 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 41,760 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 1969/ 

Condition Average 

Height 13.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 100,188 SF 

Usable Site Size 100,188 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 7,020 SF 

Lease Date October 11, 2018 

Lease Term October 11, 2018 - October 10, 2021 

Starting Base Rent $4.35/SF 

Rent Description Fixed for term. 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba McDowell Roofing 

Source Broker 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 54 
Griswold, Iowa 

Comparable #4 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1014 

Address 2110 23rd Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 8-12, Block 11, Railroad 
Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 5,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Average Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2003/ 

Condition Average 

Height N/A 
 

Gross Site Size 25,245 SF 

Usable Site Size 25,245 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 2,700 SF 

Lease Date October 19, 2018 

Lease Term November 19, 2018 - 

Starting Base Rent $7.11/SF 

Rent Description 7.78/SF in Year 2 
8.22/SF in Year 3 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Gross 
 

Lessee  
dba Syndicate Diesel 

Source Broker 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

One month of free rent 

 

Garage space with mezzanine office. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 55 
Griswold, Iowa 

Comparable #5 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1242 

Address 1305 Lew Ross Road 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 5 & 6, Block 2, First Foundation 
Sub., Council Bluffs, Pottawattamie 
County, IA 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 17,840 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 6,244 SF 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 1996/ 

Condition Good 

Height 14.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 87,555 SF 

Usable Site Size 87,555 SF 

Zoning 
 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 8,000 SF 

Lease Date April 22, 2019 

Lease Term May 01, 2019 - April 30, 2022 

Starting Base Rent $6.95/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba New Covenant Electronics 

Source CoStar Confirmation 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 56 
Griswold, Iowa 

Comparable #6 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1369 

Address 1220 35th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision 
Phase II 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Good Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2005/ 

Condition Good 

Height 18.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 43,995 SF 

Usable Site Size 43,995 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 3,700 SF 

Lease Date June 30, 2019 

Lease Term August 29, 2019 - 

Starting Base Rent $6.00/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba Safariworks Decor 

Source CoStar 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 57 
Griswold, Iowa 

Comparable #7 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1368 

Address 1220 35th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision 
Phase II 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Good Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2005/ 

Condition Good 

Height 18.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 43,995 SF 

Usable Site Size 43,995 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 7,000 SF 

Lease Date December 01, 2019 

Lease Term December 01, 2019 - 

Starting Base Rent $5.25/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba Caeser's Entertainment 

Source CoStar 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 58 
Griswold, Iowa 

Comparable #8 

 
Photograph from Pottawattamie County Assessor 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1588 

Address 1309 Avenue J 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market 13th & Avenue J 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1-3, Block 8, Potter-Cobbs First 
Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 4,160 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 784 SF 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 1986/ 

Condition Average 

Height 12.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 15,730 SF 

Usable Site Size 15,730 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 4,160 SF 

Lease Date October 31, 2021 

Lease Term November 02, 2021 - 

Starting Base Rent $8.25/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee Brown Heavy Equipment 

Source CoStar; Marketing Brochure 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 

Net expenses were $1.44/SF for taxes and insurance, and tenant to provide maintenance at own expense. 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 59 
Griswold, Iowa 

Comparable Rentals Map 
 

 



County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 60 
Griswold, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

MARKET LEASE RATE ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSION  
 

No comparables of similar properties was found in Griswold. Council Bluffs did have some 
comparables which reported rental rates of $4.35/SF to $10.50/SF, on triple net and gross terms. These 
comparables are considered to be similar to subject but in superior locations and would be fairly 
competitive with it in the current market. As the subject was in average condition and it has fenced 
outdoor storage, lean to and fueling area; it is my opinion the market rent for the subject would be 
reasonable at $4.00/SF on triple net terms. 
 
Miscellaneous Income: Some properties similar to subject in this area receive additional income from 
garage rentals, vending machines, forfeited deposits, etc. Subject does not appear to have any other 
potential sources of income.  
 
Vacancy and Collection Losses 
 

A vacancy and collection loss must be deducted from potential gross income to arrive at property 
effective gross income (EGI). A current 2022 survey conducted by Costar.com reports average 
vacancy of 48.85% for industrial properties in Council Bluffs but no estimate of vacancy in 
Griswold.  
 
The subject space is a single tenant design, so it would be either 100% occupied or 100% vacant at 
any one time. Based upon the subject properties location in an area with primarily agricultural 
properties nearby, it is my opinion a 10% vacancy rate would be reasonable for the property. 
 
Actual rent, vacancy and EGI were then summarized as follows: 
 

Potential Commercial Rental Income  2,106 SF x $4.00/SF $8,424 
Less:  10% Vacancy and Collection Loss  - $842 
Effective Gross Income       $7,582 
 
Operating Expenses 
 

Operating expenses that are the property owner’s responsibility are deducted from projection of EGI to 
arrive at property’s NOI. Such operating expenses include real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance, 
utilities and property management fees.  To estimate appropriate allowance for operating expenses, I 
considered actual known data from market expenses of other properties observed. No information for 
the subject was provided. Estimates of operating expenses were then summarized as follows: 
 
Real Estate Taxes:  Property taxes for the subject were not posted so my estimate is based upon the 
assessed for the subject ($75,300) and the current tax rate ($26,851870) which equates to $2,021.  These 
appear reasonable based upon the sales comparison approach and other properties observed. So 
stabilized taxes will be estimated at $2,000 annually with the owner paying these during vacant periods 
only. 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 61 
Griswold, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Operating Expenses (Continued) 
  

Insurance:  Property and hazard insurance for commercial buildings have been observed near $0.10/SF 
to $0.85/SF of gross building area for sprinklered buildings, and $0.15/SF to $0.55/SF for non-
sprinklered buildings, and have been rising in recent years.  Actual insurance costs for the subject were 
not disclosed. So, for purposes of this analysis, an estimate of $0.40/SF is considered reasonable or a 
total cost of a rounded $840 annually.   
 
Management:  Typical third party management fees for properties similar to the subject property range 
4% to 7% of EGI.  The actual management expenses for the subject are unknown.  Management duties 
generally include supervision of property maintenance, bookkeeping, and management overhead.  No 
unusual aspects of the management function are foreseen in conjunction with the subject property, so I 
estimate an expense of 3% of base rent as reasonable for the subject property.   
 
Administrative & Professional Fees: A general administrative expense was considered appropriate to 
reflect typical owner accounting and legal fees. This expense category would include a small amount 
for owner’s office overhead and typically ranges from 0.5% to 1.5% of EGI. The actual expenses are 
unknown as no operating statements were furnished. General administrative expense was estimated at 
0.50% of base rent in this analysis. 
 
Utilities:  As no operating statements were provided my estimate of $1.00/SF is based on observations 
of other commercial properties, with the owner paying during vacant periods only.  
 
Repairs & Maintenance:  This expense category reflects items such as repairs to mechanical systems, 
roof, painting and items of general upkeep such as pest control, cleaning, snow and trash removal.  
Actual costs were not provided; typical repair & maintenance expenses observed for other commercial 
properties have ranged from $0.50/SF to over $3.00/SF, depending in large part on a property’s age and 
building size. As a result, with the building in average condition with minimal deferred maintenance, I 
estimate an expense of $1.00/SF for the subject, rounded to $2,100 annually.   
 
Reserves for Replacement:  Although not typically incurred as an annual cash outlay, a reserve for 
replacement expense is appropriate to reflect future replacement of short-lived items such as carpeting, 
mechanical systems (including water heaters and HVAC units), kitchen appliances, exterior paving, 
roofing, etc. RealtyRates.com investor survey for 1st Q 2022 indicated reserve requirements for 
industrial properties reported as $0.26 to $0.85 with an average of $0.56/SF.  By comparison, the PWC 
Investors Survey reports replacement reserves for national warehouse properties range from $0.05/SF to 
$0.35/SF, averaging $0.14/SF in the 1st Q 2022.  In my opinion, an appropriate replacement reserve for 
the subject property is a rounded $0.20/SF.   
 
Miscellaneous:  A miscellaneous expense is typically included to account for such items as tenant-
related social expenses, holiday decorations, security services, etc.  Therefore, an expense of $100 per 
year was considered appropriate. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 62 
Griswold, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

PROFORMA OPERATING STATEMENT (FEE SIMPLE) 
 
 

 

Rental Income SQ FT Rent/SF Annual Income

Estimated Market Rent 2,106 $4.00 $8,424

Total Potential Gross Income $8,424

Vacancy & Collection Allowance: 10.0% $842

Effective Rental Income $7,582

Other Income $0

Total Effective Gross Income: $7,582

Operating Expenses: Amount

Management Fee 3.0% $227 $23

General & Administrative 0.5% $38 $38

Real Estate Taxes 26.38% $2,000 $200

Insurance 11.08% $840 $84

Utilities 0.00% $0 $0

Repairs & Maintenance 27.70% $2,100 $210

Reserves for Replacement 5.56% $421 $421

Miscellaneous 1.32% $100 $100

Total Expenses 14.19% $1,076

Net Operating Income $6,506  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 63 
Griswold, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE 
 

Several methods of developing a capitalization rate can be used.  The best of which is the Market 
Extraction Method, where the incomes of comparable properties that have recently sold are known.  
Sale transactions used in this report did not reveal cap rates however, other properties observed 
which would be considered competitive with subject indicated cap rates of 7.60% to 9.00%. 
 
A national survey was examined for further support of overall capitalization rate.  The PWC Real 
Estate Investor Survey for the 1st Qtr 2022 reports national capitalization rates for secondary 
industrial properties in a range of 5.25% to 9.00% with average of 7.13%. Capitalization rates in the 
local market area have typically been higher than national rates.  Capitalization rates are typically 
higher for older and smaller properties. 
 
In order to estimate current capitalization rates, a second method is used called the Band of 
Investment, Analysis, which is a yield capitalization procedure used in estimating an overall 
capitalization rate to be applied to the net operating income of a property.  The band of investment 
formula addresses the yield requirements of both the lender’s interest and the investor’s interest 
considering current lending and investment rates. When the components used in the band of 
investment formula are market-derived, the value indication obtained is reflective of market value.  
RealtyRates.Com released their 1st Q 2022 Investor Survey reporting interest rates for industrial 
properties ranging from 2.86% to 7.41%, averaging 4.80%. The average spread from 10-Year 
Treasury notes was 3.24%. Loan-to-value ratios ranged from 50% to 80% (average 70%), average 
amortization period was 25 years with average term of 11.46 years and average debt coverage ratio 
of 1.46. Per PwC Investors Survey for 1st Q 2022, institutional grade discount or yield rates for national 
warehouse properties ranged from 7.00% to 10.00%, averaging 8.50%.   
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 64 
Griswold, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE 
 

Based on the preceding, the following components are then used in the band of investment analysis. 
 

Mortgage Components: 
 

 Loan/Value Ratio:   70% 
 Loan Rate:    5.0% selected 
 Amortization Period:   25 years with balloon payment due at end of 10th Year 
 Mortgage Constant (Rm):   .0709 
  
Equity Components: 
 

 Equity Ratio:    30% 
 Equity yield rate (Ye):   9.5% 
  

 

The calculation of the overall capitalization rate by the band of investment technique is as follows: 
 

Band of Investment Technique 
 

 Loan Ratio x Mortgage Constant = Weighted Average 
 

 .70 x .0709 = 0.049 
 

 Equity Ratio x Equity Yield Rate 
 

 .30 x .095 = (+) 0.0285 
 

Total Weighted Average   0.0775 
 

Indicated Overall Capitalization Rate   7.75% 
 
This mechanical or calculated overall rate typically is below the market extracted rates as lending 
terms are still considered favorable for qualified applicants; so, it was given only secondary rounding 
weight in my overall or “going-in” capitalization rate selection for the subject property.   
 
Therefore, based on subject characteristics with and the current demand for this property type in the 
local market, I selected a rounded 9.00% as the capitalization rate currently appropriate for the 
subject property in this market.  To arrive at a value estimate for the subject property, the estimated 
annual net operating income must be divided by the overall capitalization rate.  Therefore, I estimate 
the market value of the subject property, as of the effective date of this report, as follows. 
 

Fee Simple 

Net Operating Income Capitalization Rate Indicated Value Rounded

$6,506 ÷ 9.00% = $72,286 $70,000  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 65 
Griswold, Iowa 

RECONCILIATION AND FINAL ESTIMATE OF VALUE 

 
 

Reconciliation is the process of coordinating and integrating related factors to form a conclusion 
regarding the appraised property’s Market Value. Each appraisal approach was considered as to 
adequacy, accuracy and overall reliability.  The following estimates were based on subject’s highest and 
best use in this report and primarily on available market data furnished by the property owner and 
others.  
 
Market Value via the Cost Approach  Not Applicable 

Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach   $74,000 

Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple)  $70,000 
 
The Cost Approach typically uses replacement cost method of determining new cost of building 
improvements, typically representing the highest value.  Depreciation is calculated for deferred 
maintenance and normal wear and tear.  The shortcoming of this method normally results from the 
calculations for depreciation, as age and obsolescence are difficult to precisely measure in the market 
place.  The subject building is older, resulting in accrued depreciation which becomes subjective 
reducing the reliability of this approach below acceptable levels.  Therefore, it was not developed in this 
report. 
 
The Direct Sales Comparison Approach compares sales of similar properties.  Adjustments were made 
for variations from the subject property based on available market data.  After adjustments, a reasonable 
range of indicated values was evident and I selected the value from the range most representative of the 
appraised building.  This approach is generally the best method of reflecting market attitudes toward 
property, particularly when owner-occupied buildings are involved and there is an active market with 
numerous sales.  However, this approach is less persuasive when the property is purchased as an 
investment.  As the subject property is a single-tenant building it would likely appeal to an owner but if 
leased it could appeal to an investor therefore equal weight was given in the final value estimate for the 
subject.   
 
The Income Capitalization Approach was considered and could be used in this report.  Since an 
adequate amount of rent, expense and cap rate data was available for the subject property, this approach 
was considered reliable so was given significant weight in the final value estimate for the subject also.   
 
Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the 
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is” Market Value of the subject 
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was: 
 

SEVENTYTWO THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($72,000) 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 
General Certified Appraiser - IA CG01439 
                                                NE CG920142 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 66 
Griswold, Iowa 

 
 
 
 
 

ADDENDA 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15021 490th Street © Copyright 2022 Page 67 
Griswold, Iowa 

APPRAISER’S QUALIFICATIONS 
 

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 

 
PROFESSIONAL: 
 
MAI Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1991 
SRA Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1977 
General Certified Appraiser, State of Nebraska (CG 920142) 1992 
General Certified Appraiser, State of Iowa (CG 01439) 1992 
Licensed Real Estate Salesman in the State of Nebraska 1972 
Vice President/Appraiser Mitchell & Associates 1990-Present 
Property Underwriter/Assistant Vice President,  
   Occidental Nebraska Federal Savings Bank 1973-90 
 
 
MEMBER: 
 
Appraisal Institute: Former President Nebraska Chapter and currently active in this chapter and 
former Chapter Services Chairman for Region II and have served on the National Chapter Services 
Committee 
Nebraska Real Estate Association 
Omaha Area Board of Realtors Former Executive Committee, Commercial Investment Council 
Tangier Shrine, Scottish Rite and Mercer Lodge 
Past Membership: Society of Real Estate Appraisers, Eastern Nebraska, Chapter #111  
 
EDUCATION: 
 
University of Nebraska Lincoln 
University of Nebraska Omaha 
 
Continuing education through attendance at various appraisal seminars sponsored by the Appraisal 
Institute and other industry organizations; courses listed on a separate page. 
 
EXPERIENCE: 
 
Areas of appraisal experience include multi-family residential; commercial; industrial; vacant land; 
special purpose properties; and single family residential.  Appraisals have been completed for 
mortgage loans, condemnation, litigation, and asset management purposes. 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 68 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

RECENT APPRAISAL EDUCATION 
D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA 

  

    CLASS 
DATE COURSE SPONSOR HOURS 
2017 Honing In…Updates, Market Perspectives & Prof. Development AI 4 
2016 Local Market Snapshot AI 4 
2016 Understanding the Basics of Excel & Linear Regression AI 4 
2016 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2016 USPAP Update AI 7 
2015 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2014 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2014 The Discounted Cash Flow Model AI 7 
2014 USPAP Update AI 7 
2013 Property Acquisition & Need for Site Assessment Randall School of RE 3 
2013 Environmental Issues in Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
2013  Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2013 Online Supervising Appraisal Trainees AI 4 
2012 USPAP Moore Group 7 
2012 Effective Appraisal Writing AI 7 
2011 Ethical Decision Making in Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
2011 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2011 Commercial Appraisal Engagement & Review AI 7 
2011 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff 3 
2010 USPAP AI 7 
2010 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff 3 
2010 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2010 Appraisal Curriculum Overview AI 15 
2009 Online Business Practices & Ethics AI 4 
2009 Report Writing Workshop The Moore Group 7 
2009 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2008 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2008 USPAP AI 7 
2007 Standard 3 Review Training Session NE Appraiser Bd 4 
2007 Understanding & Testing DCF Valuation Models AI 4 
2007 Analyzing Distressed Real Estate AI 4 
2007 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 6 
2006 Uniform Standards of Professional Practice Moore Group 7 
2006 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
2005 Market Analysis & the Site to do Business AI 7 
2005 Radon & Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
2004 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice AI 7 
2004 Loss Prevention for Real Estate Appraisers AI 4 
2004 Rates and Ratios AI 7 
2003 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
2003 Client Pressure Seminar NE Appraiser Bd. 3 
2003 Appraisal Consulting AI 7 
2002 Mark to Market AI 3 
2002 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8.5 
2001 Appraisers & Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act AI 3 
2001 Regression Analysis in Appraisal Practice AI 7 
2001 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
  CLASS 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 69 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

DATE COURSE SPONSOR HOURS 
2000 Commercial Appraisal Problem Solving Mid-West Appraisers 7 
2000 Appraisal of Non-Conforming Uses AI 7 

2000 Standards of Professional Practice AI 15 

2000 Ed Tour (Tomorrows Information Today) NE. Appraiser Board 3 
2000 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
1999 Internet Search Strategies AI 7 
1999 Appraisal of Local Retail Properties AI 7 
1999 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
1998 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 6 
1997 Affordable Housing AI 7 
1997 Analyzing Operating Expenses AI 7 
1997 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 6 
1996 Highest & Best Use AI 7 
1996 Standards of Professional Practice AI 26 
1995 Advanced Income Capitalization AI 36 
1995 Emerging Technologies in Appraising AI 5 
1995 Experience Review Training AI 4 
1995 Apartment Update AI 1 
1994 FHA Guidelines AI 7 
1994 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed. 3 
1993 Appraising Apartments AI 7 
1993 Agency Relationships in Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
1993 Mock Trial Seminar AI 7 
1993 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
1993 FIRREA:  Overview & Application AI 7 
1992 ADA Seminar AI 5 
1992 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 5 
1991 Standards of Professional Practice AIREA 7 
1990 Small Residential Form SREA 7 

 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 70 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 71 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

USPAP MINIMUM STANDARDS 
 
 

For the convenience of the reader or any reviewer of this report, we have included a copy of the fourteen 
points of the Minimum Appraisal Standards.  Appraisals must: 
 

1.    Conform to USPAP, except that the Departure Provision, which allows below minimum work, will not 
apply; 

2.    Include a disclosure of any steps taken in order to comply with the Competency Provision of USPAP; 

3.    Be based on the market value or other values as defined in the attached DEFINITIONS; 

4.    [i] Be written and presented in a narrative format; 
[ii] Be sufficiently descriptive to enable the reader to ascertain the market value and the  
 rationale for the estimate; 
[iii] Provide detail and depth reflective of the complexity of the property appraised; 

5.    Analyze and report in reasonable detail any prior sales of the property within the last three years; 

6.    Analyze and report current revenues, expense, and vacancies on income producing properties rather 
than estimated or projected figures not supported by current market conditions; 

7.    Use a reasonable marketing period for the property; 

8.    Analyze current market conditions and trends that will affect the income, absorption, or value of the 
property; 

9.    Report both the “as is” (using appropriate deductions and discounts for holding and marketing costs, 
and entrepreneurial profit) and the stabilized market values for developmental property; report both the 
value-in-use and liquidation value for owner-occupied property; 

10.    Include in the USPAP required certification an additional statement that:  “The appraisal assignment 
was not based on a requested minimum valuation, a specific valuation, or the approval of a “loan”; 

11.    Contain sufficient supporting documentation to allow the reader to ascertain the appraiser’s logic, 
reasoning, judgment, and analysis; 

12.    Include a legal description of the subject property (in addition to the description required by USPAP); 

13.    Identify and value separately any non-real estate items; 

14.    Use and reconcile the income, direct sales, and cost approaches to value, and explain the omission of 
any approach not used; 

If any information necessary to complete the appraisal is unavailable, this fact must be disclosed. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 72 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 73 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 74 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 75 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 76 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 77 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

 



© Copyright 2022, Mitchell & Associates, Inc. 

AN 
APPRAISAL 

 
 
 

OF 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 

217 NORTH MAIN STREET 
HANCOCK, IOWA 

 
 
 

AS OF 
 
 

May 16, 2022 
 
 
 

PREPARED FOR 
 
 

Ms. Kristina Treantos 
Via email 

Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov 
 
 
 

PREPARED BY 
 
 

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 
Certified General Appraiser 

 
 
 

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
14611 West Center Road 
Omaha, Nebraska 68144



 

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
ROBERT F. MITCHELL, SR., 1893-1983 

ROBERT F. MITCHELL, JR., SRPA 1927-2020 

R. GREGG MITCHELL, SRA 

D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA KEVIN P. HERMSEN, MAI 

W. BRUCE WILKIE DAVID C. WELLSANDT, MAI 

BETH ANDERSEN MELISSA L. RUTHERFORD 

RICHARD C. WITTMANN MARK SCHAECHER 

REBECCA BELLOWS ALEX FINKLE 

JAMES ANDERSEN  

 

S:\Reports\2022/00220814\Report.doc 

Real Estate  Appraisers  & Consultants 
 

 
14611 West Center  Road ■ Omaha, Nebraska 68144 ■  PH. 402-330-4500 ■ FAX 402-330-7207 

May 31, 2022 
 

Ms. Kristina Treantos RE: File #00220817 - Appraisal 
Via email Commercial Property 
Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov  217 N. Main St. 
  Hancock, Iowa 
 

Dear Ms. Treantos: 
 

In response to your request and for the purpose of estimating the Market Value of the above referenced 
property for asset management purposes, I have personally visited the property, and then conducted an 
analysis of the matters pertinent to its current market value.  My findings are included in the following 
report of *** pages, plus the supporting Addenda. 
 

This report is intended to be in conformity with the prevailing Standards and Ethics of the Uniform 
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) of the Appraisal Foundation and the Appraisal 
Institute.  It is independently prepared so is not based on a requested minimum value, specific valuation 
nor the approval of a loan. It is also in conformity with the laws and Minimum Standards of the State of 
Iowa where I am licensed. 
 

Your attention is directed toward the sections titled Limiting Conditions and Assumptions, 
Definitions, and Appraiser’s Certification, which address contingencies of the appraisal. Additional 
contingencies may be interspersed throughout the report where appropriate; therefore, this report 
should be considered in its entirety. Your attention is also directed to the special consideration noted 
on page 11 regarding the COVID-19 outbreak. The effective date for this appraisal is in a time 
where the community is experiencing a serious reaction to the outbreak including many closures or 
cancellations including school districts, state and federal declarations of emergency. Public health 
officials are calling for social distancing and limited exposure to others. There is currently 
insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the general market or to 
specific properties in regards to any effects on value or marketing times. 
 

Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the 
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is” Market Value of the subject 
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was: 
 

SIXTY THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS 
($60,500) 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 
General Certified Appraiser - IA CG0143 NE CG9201429;                                                    

 
  



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 Page 
 

Identification of Property, Summary of Salient Facts and Scope of Work 4 
 
Scope of Work 7 
 

Appraiser’s Certification 10 
 

Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 11 
 

Definitions 13 
 

Valuation and the Appraisal Process 14 
 

DESCRIPTIONS 
 

Market Area Description and Analysis 15 
 

Site Description and Analysis 20 
 

Description and Analysis of Improvements 24 
 

ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS 
 

Highest and Best Use 29 
 

Cost Approach 33 
 

Direct Sales Comparison Approach 34 
 

Income Capitalization Approach 49 
 

Reconciliation and Final Estimate of Value 66 
 
 

ADDENDA 
 

Qualifications of Appraiser 

USPAP Standards 

Flood Plain Map 

Engagement Letter 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 4 
Hancock, Iowa 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY 
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS 

 
 

LOCATION: 217 North Main Street, Hancock, Iowa 51536. This is on the north of 
East Delta and east of North Main Streets, in Hancock Iowa, which is in 
the eastern portion of Pottawattamie County, Iowa. 

 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Lots 7 through 9, and Lot 6, except the east 12’ in Block 2, Original 

town of Hancock, Pottawattamie County, Iowa 
 
OWNER OF RECORD: Pottawattamie County 
 Council Bluffs, Iowa 
 
CLIENT/INTENDED USE: The report was ordered by Ms. Kristina Treantos with Pottawattamie 

County, who advised this appraisal would be used in asset management 
purposes.  There are no other intended uses or users of this report. 

 
APPRAISAL PURPOSE: Purpose of this appraisal is to provide a supported estimate of the ‘as is’ 

fee simple market value of the subject property, as of the date of the site 
visit. 

 
INSPECTION DATE: On May 16, 2022, I personally visited subject in the company of Shawn 

Bluml with Pottawattamie County.  Most photos used in this report 
were taken at the time of this inspection. 

 
EFFECTIVE DATE: This appraisal has an effective date of May 16, 2022, the date of the 

property visit. 
 
SUBJECT DESCRIPTION: The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance 

building. This building contains one drive-in bay an open office and a 
restroom it was built in 1998. The building is of pre-engineered steel 
construction with metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There 
is one overhead door for vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. The 
building has 1,728 square feet and is located upon an interior site with 
9,416 SF.  

 
ZONING: I was advised by city official that there are no zoning laws in Hancock.  
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 5 
Hancock, Iowa 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY 
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED) 

 
 

FLOOD PLAIN STATUS: Subject does not appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per 
CoreLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0338F, dated April 16, 
2013 (map in report). 

 
TITLE HISTORY: Per county records, subject does not appear to have sold in the past five 

years. 
 
TAX ASSESSMENT: Real estate taxes for Pottawattamie County are combined in one billing 

for all governmental subdivisions. The County Assessor is responsible 
for estimating ‘actual value’ to which tax rates are applied. Subject 
(Parcel #763908357003) is assessed as follows:  

  
 
TAX RATE: The 2020 tax rate was $31.876110 per $1,000 of assessed value, which 

appears normal for commercial properties in this area. The 2021 tax rate 
has not been set, as of the effective date of this report. 

 
REAL ESTATE TAXES: Per Pottawattamie County Treasurer’s Office, shows net real estate 

taxes of $0 as it is owned by a government entity. Generally these taxes 
have delinquent dates of September 1, 2020 for the first half and March 
1, 2021 for the second half. Subject is appraised as if all historic tax 
obligations (including additional interest or penalties) are paid current. 

 
PERSONAL PROPERTY: No furniture, fixtures, business or equipment values are included in this 

report. 
 
HIGHEST & BEST USE: As concluded herein, highest and best use of subject is ‘as is’ with a 

maintenance shed. 
 
EXPOSURE TIME: As described herein, exposure time is estimated time a property interest 

being appraised would have been offered on the market prior to a 
hypothetical consummation of sale at market value on effective date of 
appraisal. Based on a retrospective opinion of past events, assuming a 
competitive, open market, I estimated that would have been within 12-
months, reflecting current market conditions. 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 6 
Hancock, Iowa 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY 
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED) 

 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL Existing improvement is a maintenance shed It is unknown if  
CONDITIONS: hazardous components/materials (urea formaldehyde foam insulation, 

asbestos, etc.) were used in construction/renovation or if the site has 
contaminants. No evidence of underground fuel storage tanks or 
contamination was observed. As a result, environmental conditions are 
presumed non-adverse. However, it may be prudent to obtain a current 
certified survey and environmental assessment of the property. This 
appraisal makes no allowance for environmental remediation or 
abatement requirements. Your attention is directed to Limiting 
Conditions and Assumptions at the conclusion of this report. 

 
 
SUMMARY OF INDICATED VALUES FROM THIS REPORT 
 

Market Value via the Cost Approach  Not Applicable 

Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach   $60,500 

Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple)  $60,000 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 7 
Hancock, Iowa 

SCOPE OF WORK 
 
 

Scope of work refers to research and analysis in this assignment and includes the extent to which the 
property is identified, type and extent of data researched, and type and extent of analysis applied. 
 
Extent of Property Identification:  The property was identified by its addresses of 217 North Main 
Street, Hancock, Iowa.  Per Pottawattamie County records, this address corresponds to County Parcel 
number and legal descriptions summarized in the Salient Facts section of this report. 
 
Type and Extent of Data Researched: I personally visited the property, building measurements were 
taken from county assessors web site and verified on site, which provided the information for the 
property descriptions.  Site size was obtained from the assessor’s website also. Other data was collected 
from County public records, conversations with local property owners and brokers, information 
published in real estate industry publications and Mitchell & Associates appraisal files. I was not 
provided with a current soils testing report or survey; therefore, I did not consider the impact on 
property value of any possible restrictions or soil issues that might be revealed by these reports. The 
COVID-19 virus is having significant impacts to how people live around the world. The impacts are 
fairly recent in the area, but there have been many closures. Public health officials are calling for 
social distancing and limited exposure to others. 

As we progress through 2022, fewer cases are reported but some cautionary measures are still 
promoted. Such news has increased the level of fear and anxiety among the community. Single-
family sales have been brisk due to the shrinking inventories and rising prices. Commercial 
businesses may experience reduced sales due to recent closing of bars and restaurants except for 
drive-thru service, and avoiding places where 10+ people gather. Other businesses are opting for 
employees to work remotely.  

There is currently insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the 
general market or to specific properties (e.g. places of reported exposures) in regards to any effects 
on value or marketing times. 
 
Type and Extent of Analysis Applied:  A highest and best use analysis of the property was developed 
utilizing inferred or trend methodology, appropriate of the property in light of its site size and building 
size as well as the location in a mature area.  Due to the age of the structure, estimating depreciation 
would be so subjective as to render the cost approach unreliable; therefore, it was omitted from this 
appraisal. I researched and found recent sales of buildings supporting the use of the Direct Sales 
Comparison Approach.  The Income Capitalization Approach was not developed due to a lack of 
market information.   
 
Conclusion:  The conclusions and analyses were reconciled into the final estimate of value.  Based on 
my training, experience (see credentials in the Addenda intended to satisfy the Competency Rule of 
USPAP) and judgment, I concluded that this appraisal in a summary format including the Direct Sales 
Comparison and income approach is appropriate to support a credible estimate of the Fee Simple value 
and consistent with the Standards of the 2020-2021 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal 
Practice (USPAP). 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 8 
Hancock, Iowa 

EXTERIOR PHOTOS 

 

West & south sides 

 

East side 

 

North side 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 9 
Hancock, Iowa 

APPRAISER'S CERTIFICATION 
 
 

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief: 
 
The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct. 

The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions and 
limiting conditions and are my personal, impartial, and unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and 
conclusions. 

I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and no 
personal interest with respect to the parties involved. 

I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties involved 
with this assignment. 

My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined 
results. 

My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or 
reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the 
amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent 
event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal. 

I have not performed a previous appraisal of the subject property and have not done an appraisal 
review involving the subject, or an appraisal consulting assignment involving the subject, within the 
past three years. 

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared 
in conformity with the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of 
Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute and the Uniform Standards of Appraisal 
Practice. 

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared 
in conformity with the requirements of the Uniform Standards of Appraisal Practice 

The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review by its 
duly authorized representatives. 

I have made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report.   

No one provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person signing this certification.  
If there are exceptions, the name of each individual providing significant real property appraisal 
assistance is stated in the scope of the report.1 

As of the date of this report, I, D. Rick Whitesides, have completed the requirements of the 
continuing education program of the Appraisal Institute. 
 
APPRAISER: 

 
  
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA - NE CG920142 
 IA CG01439 
 

 
1  Source for Items #1-#9, Standards Rule 2-3, Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practices, 2001 Edition 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 10 
Hancock, Iowa 

ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS 
 
 
This appraisal has been based on the following limiting conditions: 
 
For purposes of this appraisal, any marketing program for the sale of the property would assume cash or its 
equivalent. 

No detailed soil studies covering the subject property were available for this appraisal.  It is therefore assumed that 
soil conditions are adequate to support standard construction consistent with highest and best use. 

The date of value to which the conclusions and opinions expressed in this report apply, is set forth in the letter of 
transmittal.  Further, the dollar amount of any value opinion rendered in this report is based upon the purchasing 
power of the American dollar existing on that date. 

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for economic or physical factors which may affect the opinions in this 
report which occur after the date of the letter transmitting the report or which cause unpredictable changes.  Events 
such as (but not limited to) natural disasters, wars and economic calamities are examples of such factors. 

The appraiser reserves the right to make such adjustments to the analysis, opinions and conclusions set forth in this 
report as may be required by consideration of additional data or more reliable data that may become available. 

No opinion as to title is rendered.  Data relating to ownership and legal description was obtained from county 
records and is considered reliable.  Title is assumed to be marketable and free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, 
easements and restrictions except those specifically discussed in the report.  The property is appraised assuming it 
to be under responsible ownership and competent management and available for its highest and best use. 
If no title policy was made available to the appraiser, they assume no responsibility for such items of record not 
disclosed by their customary investigation.   

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for hidden or non-apparent conditions of the property, subsoil, or 
structures that render it more or less valuable.  No responsibility is assumed for arranging for engineering studies 
that may be required to discover them. 

The property is appraised assuming it to be in full compliance with all applicable federal, state and local 
environmental regulations and laws, unless otherwise stated. 

The property is appraised assuming that all applicable zoning and use regulations and restrictions have been 
complied with, unless otherwise stated. 

The property is appraised assuming that all required licenses, certificates of occupancy, consents or other 
legislative or administrative authority from any local, state or national government or private entity or organization 
have been or can be obtained or renewed for any use on which the value estimate contained in this report is based, 
unless otherwise stated. 

No engineering survey has been made by the appraiser.  Except as specifically stated, data relative to size and area 
was taken from sources considered reliable and no encroachment of real property improvements is considered to 
exist. 

No opinion is expressed as to the value of subsurface oil, gas or mineral rights whether the property is subject to 
surface entry for the exploration or removal of such materials except as is expressly stated. 
Maps, plats, and exhibits included in this report are for illustration only as an aid in visualizing matters discussed 
within the report.  They should not be considered as surveys or relied upon for any other purpose, nor should they 
be removed from, reproduced, or used apart from the report. 

No opinion is intended to be expressed for matters, which require legal expertise or specialized investigation, or 
knowledge beyond that customarily employed by real estate appraisers. 

Possession of this report, or copy of it, does not carry with it the right of publication.  It may not be used for any 
purposes by any person other than the party to whom it is addressed without the written consent of the appraiser, 
and in any event only with the proper written qualification and only in its entirety. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 11 
Hancock, Iowa 

ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
Testimony or attendance in court or at any other hearing is not required by reason of rendering this appraisal, 
unless such arrangements are made in a reasonable time in advance. 

The appraiser has personally inspected the subject property and find no obvious evidence of structural deficiencies, 
except as stated in this report; however, no responsibility for hidden defects or conformity to specific governmental 
requirements, such as fire, building and safety, earthquake or occupancy codes can be assumed without provision 
of specific professional or government inspections. 

No consideration has been given in this appraisal as to the value of the property located on the premises considered 
by the appraiser to be personal property, nor has he given consideration to the cost of moving or relocating such 
personal property; only the real property has been considered.   

Information obtained for use in this appraisal is believed to be true and correct to the best of my abilities; however, 
no responsibility is assumed for errors or omissions, or for information not disclosed which might otherwise affect 
the valuation estimate. 

Disclosure of the contents of this appraisal report is governed by the Bylaws and Regulations of the Appraisal 
Institute. 

Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report (especially any conclusions as to value, the identity of the 
appraiser or firm with which he is connected, or any reference to the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers 
or to the MAI or SRA designations) shall be disseminated to the public through advertising media, public relations 
media, news media, sales media or any other public means of communication without prior written consent and 
approval of the appraiser. 

Comments concerning the location, market area, trends, construction quality and costs of the property appraised 
herein represent the opinion of the appraiser formed after examination and study of the subject property. 
This appraisal represents the independent opinion of the appraiser free from any commitments and free from any 
present or expected future interest in the property, with the sole compensation for the employment being a fair 
professional fee. 

The Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) became effective January 26, 1992.  I have not made a specific 
compliance survey and analysis of this property to determine whether or not it is in conformity with the various 
detailed requirements of the ADA.  It is possible that a compliance survey of the property, together with a detailed 
analysis of the requirements of the ADA, could reveal that the property is not in compliance with one or more of 
the requirements of the Act.  If so, this fact could have a negative effect upon the value of the property.  Since I 
have no direct evidence relating to this issue, I did not consider possible non-compliance with the requirements of 
ADA in estimating the value of the property. 

Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of hazardous material, which may or may not be present on the 
property, was not observed by the appraiser.  The appraiser has no knowledge of the existence of such materials on 
or in the property.  The appraiser, however, is not qualified to detect such substances.  The presence of substances 
such as asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation or other potentially hazardous materials may affect the value 
of the property.  The value estimate is predicated on the assumption that there is no such material on or in the 
property that would cause a loss of value.  No responsibility is assumed for any such conditions, or for any 
expertise or engineering knowledge required to discover them.  The client is urged to retain an expert in this field, 
if desired. 

If this appraisal report was transmitted as an “electronic record” containing my “electronic signature,” as those 
terms are defined in applicable federal and/or state laws (excluding audio and video recordings), or a facsimile 
transmission of this appraisal report containing a copy or representation of my signature, the appraisal report shall 
be as effective, enforceable and valid as if a paper version of this appraisal report were delivered containing my 
original hand written signature. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 12 
Hancock, Iowa 

DEFINITIONS: 
 
 

FEE SIMPLE ESTATE:1 Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate, 
subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers 
of taxation, eminent domain, police power and escheat. 

 
LEASED FEE ESTATE:2 An ownership interest held by a landlord with the right of use and 

occupancy conveyed by lease to others.  The rights of lessor (the 
leased fee owner) and leased fee are specified by contract terms 
contained within the lease. 

 
MARKET VALUE: 2 The most probable price which a property should bring in a 

competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair 
sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably, 
and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus.  Implicit in 
this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date3 
and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions 
whereby: 

 

 (1) Buyer and seller are typically motivated; 
 

 (2) Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what 
they consider their own best interests; 

 

 (3) A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; 
 

 (4) Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of 
financial arrangements comparable thereto; and, 

 

 (5) The price represents the normal consideration for the property 
sold unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions 
granted by anyone associated with the sale. 

 
1  The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 4th Edition, Appraisal Institute, Chicago 
2  Excerpted from Vol. 55 No. 165, Federal Register Section 34.44 Appraisal Standards 
3  See discussion regarding exposure time and marketability within the Highest and Best Use analysis of this report 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 13 
Hancock, Iowa 

VALUATION AND THE APPRAISAL PROCESS 
 
 

An appraisal is an estimate, an opinion of value.  Its accuracy depends on the basic competence and 
integrity of the appraiser and on the soundness and skill by which he or she processed the data.  Its 
worth is influenced by the availability of pertinent data.  The professional appraiser seeks current facts 
and seeks to be practical.  Most importantly, the appraiser’s opinion must be without bias.  As with 
other types of “markets,” the real property appraiser does not make the market; rather, he or she 
interprets the market.  
 
Generally, the appraiser uses three approaches to value: 1) Cost Approach; 2) Direct Sales Comparison 
Approach; and, 3) Income Approach.  Each of these approaches is discussed separately below.  They 
are all comparative approaches in that the basic data comes from direct comparisons in the market, 
indirect comparisons in the market, and/or the appraiser’s judgment, which is based on market 
experience. 
 
In the Cost Approach, the cost to reproduce the property at the date of the appraisal, less an appropriate 
allowance for depreciation (physical deterioration, functional obsolescence, and economic 
obsolescence), is made by market comparisons of cost and depreciation.  The Cost Approach tends to 
set the upper limit of value since no property can be worth more than it would cost to build another 
property of equal utility assuming no reasonable delays. In land appraisals this approach is not 
applicable as land cannot be replaced but is considered a non-depreciating asset. 
 
In the Direct Sales Comparison Approach, the subject property is compared to sales of similar 
properties.  The sales are analyzed to determine similarities and differences, which affect value when 
observed in the market.  These similarities and differences then serve as points of comparison between 
the market data and the subject property.  When necessary, adjustments are made to the comparables to 
account for these differences.  The resulting adjusted value per unit is then used to estimate the value via 
this approach. 
 
In the Income Capitalization Approach, the future operation of the property is estimated from past 
historical data relating to the subject and/or from comparable market data.  Gross rental schedules, 
vacancy and collection losses, fixed expenses, operating expenses and reserves are projected and used to 
estimate net income.  This net income is converted to a value estimate using the capitalization process.  
The capitalization rate (comprised of a return on and a return of the investment) is based on 
demonstrated rates found in the market. (In land appraisals, recapture is not a part of the capitalization 
rate as land is considered a non-depreciating asset.) The method and technique of capitalization is 
determined by the nature of the property in the market.  
 
All approaches were considered for this report, however, the availability, adequacy and pertinence of 
data may limit the approaches actually used, as discussed in the Reconciliation of this report. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 14 
Hancock, Iowa 

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS 
 
 

Market areas influence value of specific properties in many ways. These influences are best 
understood considering their social, economic, governmental and environmental characteristics.  It 
has been said that “social, economic, governmental and environmental forces also influence property 
value near the subject property which, in turn, directly affects the value of the subject property 
itself.”1  Therefore, we will examine each characteristic considering the subject’s market area. 
 
Market Area: Subject is in Hancock Iowa, which is about 40 miles east of the Council Bluffs/Omaha 
metropolitan area (CBSA). This area is described as follows: 
 
Social Characteristics 
 

Demographics:  The 2021 population2 within one, 3 and 5 miles of Hancock was reported as 
188, 324 and 638 respectively; which is about 8% lower than 2010. Households in 2021 were 
down 8% from 2010. Average family size was 2.59 persons. 
 
Education: The market area is served by the AHST Public School District (Avoca, Hancock 
Shelby Tennant and Walnut communities). The level of education achieved for persons ages 25 
or older within the area is shown as follows. 

 
 
Employment:  Employment by industry within the city is shown as follows. 

 
 
 

 
1 Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, 2008 
2  www.stdbonline.com  

http://www.stdbonline.com/


 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 15 
Hancock, Iowa 

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Social Characteristics (Continued)  
 

It was shown that 107 persons are in the workforces in Hancock. Unemployment rate was 2.8%: 
 
Housing: The market area 99 housing units within one mile and has roughly 80.4% of occupants 
owning their home and 19.6% of homes being renter occupied. 
 
Roadway Linkage:  City of Hancock is accessed via Highway 59 which links to Avoca about 7 
miles to the north and Council Bluffs/Omaha metro about 40 miles to the southwest.   
 
Recreation: 
 
Botna Bend Park is a favorite for campers who enjoy a small-town atmosphere. This 119-acre park is 
located on the West Nishnabotna Water Trail. Canoe trips are available down this meandering river. 
The park is equipped with a modern shower house and features 57 electrical sites and tent camping 
spots. The new kids Nature PlayScape and playground, archery range, hiking trails, and picnic 
shelters provide recreational opportunities to visitors of all ages. The enclosed pastures at the park 
offer the area’s only bison and elk herds on display throughout the year. Avoca about 7 miles to the 
north, has a 9 hole public golf course, aquatic center and a museum.  
 
Retail Centers:  Shopping is very limited in town but available in nearby communities.  

 

Utilities:  Water and sewer are provided by City of Hancock, MidAmerican Energy provides gas and 
electricity to the community.  
 
 
Governmental Characteristics 
 

Administration:  Hancock has a mayor and city council form of government. 
 

https://www.wattawayia.com/trails/west_nishnabotna_river/


 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 16 
Hancock, Iowa 

Market Area Aerial 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 17 
Hancock, Iowa 

Immediate Market Area Aerial 
 

 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 18 
Hancock, Iowa 

MARKET AREA VIEWS 

 

View south along Main Street, 
subject at left 

 

View north along Main Street, 
subject at right 

 

View east along alley, subject at 
left 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 19 
Hancock, Iowa 

SITE DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS 
 
 

Subject property is located on the east side of Main Street which is just north of E Delta Street in 
Hancock which is in the east portion of Pottawattamie County. The property is surrounded by 
commercial, residential or industrial properties. Following is a summary of subject characteristics: 
 

Size:  Subject parcel has frontage along Main Street with site area listed as 9,416 square feet or 0.216 
acres. These dimensions were taken from public records, as no survey was provided.  
 
Topography:  Subject site appears to have level terrain near the grade level of abutting road. This site 
appears to have adequate surface water drainage.  
 
Soils:  Subject is presumed free of hazardous materials and the load bearing capacities adequate for 
improvements.  Obvious environmental problems were not observed, however I was advised by town 
official that there used to be underground fuel storage tanks on the site.  See Limiting Conditions as 
relate to effects on value if environmental contamination is found on property. 
 
Utilities:  Subject has electricity, natural gas, water and sewer.   
 
Easements/Encroachments/Restrictions:  No adverse easements or encroachments were noted on the 
plats and none are known. 
 
Flood Plain/Drainage:  Subject does not appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per 
CoreLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0338F, dated April 16, 2013 (map in report). 
 
Zoning:  A city official stated that there were no zoning codes for Hancock 
 
Visibility:  Subject has frontage along Main Street which is a 2-lane street handling north/south bound 
traffic and carries very light traffic. The views to and from the subject are not dramatically obscured by 
abutting properties or terrain. Based on these factors the subject is considered to have fair visibility 
characteristics.   
 
Access:  Subject parcel has an interior location in an area of mixed land uses. Highway 59 about 2 
blocks to the south via Main Street connects this area to Interstate 80. Based on this, subject is 
considered to have fair access characteristics.  
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 20 
Hancock, Iowa 

Subject Parcel Aerial 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 21 
Hancock, Iowa 

Subject Plat Map 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 22 
Hancock, Iowa 

Subject Flood Map 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 23 
Hancock, Iowa 

DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS 
 
 

The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance building. This building contains 
one drive-in bay an open office and a restroom it was built in 1998. The building is of pre-engineered 
steel construction with metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There is one overhead door for 
vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. The building has 1,728 square feet and is located upon an interior 
site with 9,416 SF. Based on my observations and public records the general building components and 
their condition were summarized as follows: 
 
 

STRUCTURAL FEATURES: 
 

Footings & Foundation:  Footings were not observed; foundation appears to be poured concrete.   
 
Superstructure:  Building is of pre-engineered steel construction with metal panels on the exterior 
elevations and a pitched roof. 
 
Floors:  Is poured concrete, specific thickness and load-bearing capacity is unknown.   
 
Roof:  Roof is a pitched design and was covered with metal panels.  It is drained by a gutter and 
downspout system.  
 
Walls:  Exterior walls are metal panels.   
 
Windows & Doors:  Entry into the building is a direct entry through a metal pedestrian door in an 
aluminum frame. There are no windows in the building. There were 2 overhead drive-in doors of 
insulated metal construction, which were about 12’ x 12’ and electrically operated.  
 
 
MECHANICAL FEATURES: 
 

Electrical Systems:  Electric service was 110/220 volt service; protected by circuit breakers.  
 
Lighting:  The building had fluorescent fixtures.  
 
Heating & Air Conditioning:  There was a gas fired tube heater  
 
Fire Protection System:  None observed 
 
Security System:  None observed 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 24 
Hancock, Iowa 

DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
 

INTERIOR: 
 

Restrooms:  There was a restroom equipped with a residential stool, sink.  No specific investigation of 
whether or not these facilities meet requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act was conducted 
(see disclaimer in Assumptions at the conclusion of this report).   
 
Interior Finish:  The open office portion of the building has no real finish  
 
Site Improvements:  There was concrete drive in front of the building then that changes to crushed 
rock, the balance of the site has turf grass.  
 
 
CONDITION/DEPRECIATION: 
 

Subject was reported to have been constructed in 1998. Therefore, it has a chronological age of 24 
years.  The subject was considered in fair condition. Therefore, it is estimated to have effective age of 
20 years.  Per Marshall Valuation, buildings similar to subject would have an economic life of 40 years.  
Based on these factors, subject is estimated to have non-curable depreciation of 50% (20-year effective 
age ÷ 40-year economic life). 
 
Functional Obsolescence:  The subject’s layout and floor plan is typical for this type of structure in this 
area.  
 
External Obsolescence:  No external obsolescence was observed (in market area description), as there 
appears adequate demand for these type properties. 

 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 25 
Hancock, Iowa 

Building Sketch 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 26 
Hancock, Iowa 

INTERIOR PHOTOS 

 

Looking toward rear 

 

Restroom 

 

North side (note rusted panels 
near the floor) 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 27 
Hancock, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE 
 
 

Definition:  The reasonably probable and legal use of vacant land or improved property, which is 
physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and results in the highest value. 
 
Highest and best use of a specific property is not determined through subjective analysis by the 
appraiser; rather, shaped by the competitive forces in the market where property is located. Therefore, 
the analysis and interpretation of highest and best use is an economic study of market forces focused on 
the subject. The benefit of real estate development produces for a community or amenity contribution 
provided by a planned project (i.e., public space in a park-like area) is not considered in the appraiser’s 
analysis of highest and best use.  Also implied is that the determination of highest and best use results 
from the appraiser’s judgment and analytical skills, i.e., that the use determined from analysis represents 
an interpretation or opinion not a fact to be found.  In appraisal practice, the concept of highest and best 
use represents the premises upon which value is based.  In the context of most probable selling price 
(market value) another appropriate term to reflect highest and best use would be most probable use.  In 
the context of investment value, an alternate term would be most profitable use. 
 
In order for a particular use or a piece of real property to be the highest and best use of that real 
property, several requirements must be met: 
 

1. The use must be legally permissible or reasonably possible. 
2. The use must be physically possible on the site. 
3. The use must be economically and financially feasible under projected market conditions existing. 
4. The use must be the most profitable of the legally permissible, physically possible, and economically 

feasible alternatives. 
 
In estimating its market value, real property is appraised in terms of its highest and best use.  Highest 
and best use analysis is analogous to a feasibility study, in that it is progressive.  Legally permissible or 
physically possible uses are first considered.  After analyzing one, the other is fully considered. 
 
Regarding possible uses, there are five basic categories, which are: 
 

 1. Residential, 
 2. Commercial, 
 3. Industrial, 
 4. Agricultural, and 
 5. Special or public use. 
 
After permissible and possible are concluded, economically feasible uses are next identified; that is, 
those that would pay competitive return on investment in improvements as well as land.  Of these, the 
“maximally productive” or most profitable is highest and best use also referred to as the “ideal” use.1 
 
In estimating highest and best use of property, the site is first analyzed as though vacant, unimproved 
and available for development to its most profitable, likely, legal use.  When improvements are present, 
it is necessary to estimate the highest and best use of the site as improved.  In both cases, the property is 
analyzed from the viewpoint of possible, permissible and feasible uses. 
 

 
1  Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 28 
Hancock, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED) 
 
 

SITE ‘AS IF’ VACANT 
 

Referring to highest and best use ‘as if’ vacant, first test is physical adaptability of land. Potential uses 
include are generally commercial in nature. Agricultural uses are not physically possible due to site size 
in relation to large acreage needs of modern farm operations. The 9,416 SF site appears entirely usable 
and could accommodate most uses, obviously limited by its size. No adverse physical or economic 
conditions were observed. 
 
Second test is legal permissibility of use. Site is located in a town with no zoning ordinances, so this 
does nothing to limit potential uses.  
 
Third test is the financial feasibility, calling for a use generating highest return on and of investment.  
The site is located along Main Street, a lightly traveled street.  Office and retail users would not find the 
site attractive due to the minimal traffic and surrounding residential, commercial/industrial properties. 
Civic users are often not-for-profit entities that operate on limited budgets.  As a result, civic users 
would likely not be willing to pay as much as a commercial or industrial user for a site with the subject 
characteristics. 
 
Based on site size, zoning, economic and physical characteristics, it is my judgment that the highest and 
best use, as if vacant, would be for industrial use within the scope of the present zoning. 
 
 
“AS IMPROVED” 
 

The four tests of highest and best use, (legal permissibility, physical possibility, financial feasibility 
and maximum productivity) can be applied to the property “as improved” to determine the use that 
will maximize the subject property’s value.  The use maximizing the highest value is the highest and 
best use of the property “as improved.”  
 
The four basic courses of action that can be applied to a property are: 
 

• To demolish improvements and redevelop the site for a new use; or 
• To modify improvements (e.g. renovate, modernize, or convert), or 
• To cure items of deferred maintenance and retain the improvements; or 
• To maintain the improvements “as is”  

 
I analyzed the four courses of action for the subject mixed-use building, in keeping with the four 
main tests of highest and best use, with my analysis described in the following paragraphs: 
 
Demolish & Redevelop:  The existing improvements contribute to site value (concluded in large part 
by competing properties), and it would not be financially feasible to demolish them in order to 
redevelop the land for some alternate use.  Therefore, this option is eliminated on grounds of financial 
feasibility.   
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 29 
Hancock, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED) 
 
 

“AS IMPROVED” (CONTINUED) 
 

Modify Improvements:  I was unable to identify modifications or conversions of existing 
improvements that would increase property value by an amount greater than anticipated cost of 
modifications or conversions.  Therefore, the option to modify improvements is eliminated on grounds 
it would not maximize property value. 
 
Cure Deferred Maintenance or Maintain Improvements:  Subject is considered in fair condition, 
with some minor deferred maintenance observed.  The cost to cure this deficiency is not considered 
to increase the value beyond the costs of those improvements. Therefore, the option to cure deferred 
maintenance is ruled out.   
 
The only remaining course of action meeting tests of legal permissibility, physical possibility, 
financial feasibility, and maximum productivity is to continue current use of the subject as a light 
industrial or maintenance building. 
 
 
EXPOSURE TIME 
 

In order to sell property, it must be exposed to the open market.  The following discussion is 
provided to illustrate current market conditions and estimate exposure time needed to market subject. 
 
Exposure time may be defined as estimated length of time a property interest being appraised would 
have been offered on the open market prior to a hypothetical consummation of sale at market value 
on effective date of the appraisal; a retrospective estimate based on analysis of past events assuming 
a competitive, open market. 
 
The concept of reasonable exposure time encompasses not only adequate, sufficient, reasonable 
time, but also adequate, sufficient, reasonable effort and considers type property being appraised, 
supply/ demand conditions, as of effective date of appraisal and analysis of historical sales 
information (sold after exposure and completion of negotiations between buyer/seller).  Therefore, 
reasonable exposure time is a function of price and use, not an isolated estimate of time. Reasonable 
exposure is always presumed to precede effective date of appraisal and differs for various types of 
real estate under various market conditions. Therefore, my estimate of 12-18 months exposure time 
is based on subject’s determined highest and best use in a highly competitive retail market 
evidencing some demand (albeit limited) for the type of space offered, its highly desirable location, 
but also factoring the slowdown in the real estate market over the past couple years caused by 
recessionary conditions. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 30 
Hancock, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED) 
 
 

MARKETING TIME 
 

Marketing time for the purpose of this report, is defined as an estimated amount of time it might 
take to sell a property interest in real estate at estimated market value during the period immediately 
after the effective date of the appraisal.” 
 
As with reasonable exposure time, estimated marketing time is not intended as a prediction of a date 
of sale or a one-line statement.  The concept of marketing time encompasses other market conditions 
that may affect marketing, e.g., identification of typical buyers/sellers for type of real estate 
involved, typical equity investment levels, and/or financing terms. Therefore, reasonable marketing 
time is a function of price, use, and anticipated market conditions such as changes in cost/availability 
of funds, not an isolated estimate of time. Marketing time occurs after effective date of market value 
estimate and considers such brokerage functions as advertising, arranging financing and marketing 
property to specific investors. Estimates of both reasonable exposure and marketing times are not 
predictions, rather only judgments made by an appraiser. 
 
Properties similar to the subject would appeal primarily to owners due to the single tenant design of 
the subject. A market search done as part of this appraisal provided limited data and, as a result, 
accurately estimating exact time needed to market the property was subjective, but area brokers 
reported recent marketing times for most reasonably priced commercial properties in metro as 
ranging from 1-24 months. The real estate market slowed in late 2007 due to recessionary 
conditions, and this slowdown was magnified by the destabilization of the financial markets in 
October 2008. Loans are still available for qualified borrowers, but typically at lower loan-to-value 
ratios, mitigating lender risk. Present rates (as of effective date of this report) range from 4.5% to 6% 
with terms of 3-30 years and amortizations of 15-30 years. Therefore, I concluded if subject were 
listed for sale in the current market at/near appraised value, reasonable marketing time is anticipated 
within 12 months, assuming the offering is placed with a competent broker active in the area and 
experienced with this property type. Real estate brokerage commissions in the area for this property 
type typically are near 4%-7% of gross sale price. Market also reacts more quickly to properties with 
attractive price/ value ratios, tending to neglect those perceived as unrealistically priced. Skill of 
those marketing property can also influence exposure time needed to consummate a sale, as well as 
the overall economic environment in which property exists. Therefore, the abovementioned 
marketing time is considered reasonably well supported, but is not guaranteed. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 31 
Hancock, Iowa 

COST APPROACH 
 
 

The purpose of the Cost Approach is to estimate a Market Value for the subject property based upon the 
cost to construct a new property that enjoys the same utility as the subject property.  This approach is 
based upon the principle of substitution, as it is assumed that a knowledgeable purchaser would not pay 
more for a property than the cost to build a new one.  The improvements are literally constructed “on 
paper” and then any accrued depreciation is subtracted from this value.  This depreciated value estimate 
is then added to the Market Value off the subject site in its highest and best use to arrive at an estimate 
of value for the property as a whole.  More specifically, the steps of the Cost Approach are as follows: 
 

 1. Estimate the value of the site in its highest and best use as if vacant. 
 
 2. Estimate the replacement cost new of all of the improvements. 
 
 3. Estimate accrued depreciation from all sources. 
 
 4. Deduct accrued depreciation from the cost new. 
 
 5. Add the estimated value of the site to arrive at a value for the entire property by the Cost 

Approach. 
 
Due to the older age of the original building, the reliability of this approach is diminished, so it 
was not developed in this report. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 32 
Hancock, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH 
 
 

The Direct Sales Comparison Approach (also known as the Market Data Approach) is the process in 
which a market value estimate is derived by analyzing the market for similar properties and comparing 
these properties to the subject property.  This approach is premised upon the principle of substitution 
which suggests that a prudent person will not pay more to purchase a property than it will cost him or 
her to purchase an equally desirable substitute property.  Another basic premise of the Direct Sales 
Comparison Approach is that the market value of a property is directly related to the prices of 
comparable, competitive properties.1 
 
The comparative analysis performed in this approach focuses on similarities and differences among 
properties and transactions observed in the market which affect value.  These similarities and 
differences then serve as points of comparison between the market data and the subject property.  
Typically, the major points of comparison are: 
 

• Property Rights Conveyed 
• Financing Terms 
• Condition of Sale 
• Time 
• Physical Characteristics 
• Economic Characteristics 

 
A sale of a property that is an exact duplicate of the subject property would be an important and ideal 
indication of value.  In reality, no two properties are exactly alike.  As a result, an adjustment process is 
used when analyzing the major points of comparison. 
 
The known sales with the greatest degree of comparability used in this analysis are adjusted for the 
difference between the comparable and the subject property.  Adjustments are always made FROM the 
comparable TO the subject property.  For example, if the comparable property sold two years ago and 
market analysis suggests that prices have increased 5%, then the sale price of the comparable would be 
increased by 5% to give the indication of value for the subject.  Conversely, if the comparable property 
was in a superior location as compared to the subject and this difference was estimated at 5%, a 
negative adjustment of 5% would be applied to the sale price of the comparable to give the indication of 
value for the subject.  The adjustments for different physical and economic characteristics are handled 
in the same manner.  Adjustments may be by percentages or by dollar amounts or both. 
 
No sales of similar properties were found in Avoca, Walnut, Griswold or Hancock; therefore, I utilized 
sales from Council Bluffs. Following are descriptions of known industrial, commercial or mixed use 
properties which sold in recent years in the Council Bluffs metropolitan area.  After the sales, I have 
shown location maps, adjustment grids, explanation and my final conclusions of the subject property 
market value from this approach.  

 
1  Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 33 
Hancock, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 34 
Hancock, Iowa 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 35 
Hancock, Iowa 

Comparable #3 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4258 

Address 1005 South 17th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1-2 and the west 20' of Lot 3 
including the north 1/2 of the vacated 
adjacent alley, Block 11, Fleming & 
Davis 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 416 SF 

Eave Height 14.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 1998/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 10,880 SF 

Usable Site Size 10,880 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features Fenced, Mezzanine 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date July 17, 2019 

Contract Price $192,500 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$80.21 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$80.21 

Adjusted Price $192,500 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$80.21 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$80.21 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor All Pro Towing, LLC 

Grantee Perfect Diamond Lawns, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-09108 

Source Broker 
 

The property previously sold February 2017, for $160,000. The 2019 sale represents appreciation near 8% per year. 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 36 
Hancock, Iowa 

Comparable #4 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4269 

Address 919 South 15th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 15 and 16, Block 8, Fleming & 
Davis Subdivision and part of the 
vacated alley 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,592 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,592 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 348 SF 

Eave Height 12.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 2006/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF 

Usable Site Size 8,160 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features Fenced, Mezzanine 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date October 05, 2018 

Contract Price $160,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.73 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.73 

Adjusted Price $160,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.73 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.73 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor Fouts Investments, LLC 

Grantee L & T Properties, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-13139 

Source Public Records, Broker 
 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 37 
Hancock, Iowa 

Comparable #5 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4326 

Address 712 South 15th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description South 1/2 of Lost 5 and 6, Block 32, 
Everetts Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,000 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 444 SF 

Eave Height 16.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 2006/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF 

Usable Site Size 8,160 SF 

Zoning I-1 

Features Fenced 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date February 11, 2020 

Contract Price $170,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$85.00 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$85.00 

Adjusted Price $170,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$85.00 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$85.00 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor ZaCar Corp 

Grantee T & G Carper, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2020/01996 

Source Public Records, CoStar 
 

This sale represents appreciation of 1.15% per year from previous sale in 2014. 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 38 
Hancock, Iowa 

Comparable #6 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4328 

Address 1516 Avenue C 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1, 2, and part of Lot 3, Block 3, 
Beers Subdivision 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 316 SF 

Eave Height 12.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 1981/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 14,705 SF 

Usable Site Size 14,705 SF 

Zoning C-2 

Features Fenced 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date January 03, 2019 

Contract Price $210,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$87.50 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$87.50 

Adjusted Price $210,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$87.50 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$87.50 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor Cooks Towing & Repair, Inc 

Grantee DHI, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-00195 

Source Public Records 
 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 39 
Hancock, Iowa 

Comparable #7 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4329 

Address 1324 9th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 6-7, Part of Lot 8, Block 26, 
Riddles Subdivision 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 3,520 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 3,520 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 720 SF 

Eave Height 10.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 1988/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 12,194 SF 

Usable Site Size 12,194 SF 

Zoning I-1 

Features Fenced 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date September 13, 2018 

Contract Price $215,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.08 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.08 

Adjusted Price $215,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.08 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.08 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor L & T Properties, LLC 

Grantee Michael John Kilnoski 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-12027 

Source Public Records 
 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 40 
Hancock, Iowa 

Comparable #8 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4811 

Address 2414 9th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Part of Lots 3-5, Block 1 and part of 
Lot 9, Block 17, Ninth Avenue 
Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 5,400 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 5,400 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 1,196 SF 

Eave Height 12.00' 

Construction Good Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2010/ 

Condition Good 
 

Gross Site Size 13,890 SF 

Usable Site Size 13,890 SF 

Zoning I-1 

Features 
 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date September 23, 2020 

Contract Price $390,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$72.22 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$72.22 

Adjusted Price $390,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$72.22 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$72.22 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor Jo Ter Ran Investments, LLC 

Grantee Ht 9th Ave, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2020-13944 

Source Public Records, Broker 
 

Broker noted there was a lot of interest in the property. Sale represents annual appreciation near 5.90% from its 2011 
sale. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 41 
Hancock, Iowa 

County showed this as a multi-parcel sale so it was not investigated further.  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 42 
Hancock, Iowa 

Sales Map 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 43 
Hancock, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Comparable Sales Grid 
 

 
SUBJECT SALE #1: SALE #2: SALE #3: SALE #4:

PROPERTY 821 So 27th Street 717 Veterans Mem Hy 1005 So 17th Street 919 So 15th Street

217 N. Main Street Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa

Hancock, Iowa ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED

SALE PRICE       N/A $225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

SALE PRICE/SF N/A $72.58 $130.21 $80.21 $61.73

GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA

MARKET ADJUSTMENTS

   PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0%

$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

   FINANCING N/A Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0%

$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

   CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0%

$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

   DATE OF SALE May-22 Nov-21 2% May-21 3% Jul-19 7% Oct-18 11%

(Inspection) $229,500 $463,500 $205,975 $177,600

PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)

   BUILDING SIZE/SF   1,728 3,100 0% 3,456 0% 2,400 0% 2,592 0%

   LOCATION/SITE Hancock Co Bluffs -50% Co Bluffs -50% Co Bluffs -50% Co Bluffs -50%

   QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls S Avg/Cls C -5% Avg/Cls S 0% Avg/Cls S 0% Avg/Cls S 0%

   INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 5% 0% 3% 0% 17% -5% 13% -3%

   AGE/CONDITION 24/Average/Fair 49/Avg 10% 40/AvFr 8% 21/Avg -3% 12/Avg -10%

   SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 5.45:1 3.51:1 2% 42.85:1 -20% 4.5:1 1% 3.14:1 2%

   AMENITIES None None 0% None 0% Fenced -3% Fenced -3%

NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -43% -62% -60% -64%

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $130,815 $176,130 $82,390 $63,936

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $42.20 $50.96 $34.33 $24.67

TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -41% -59% -53% -53%

TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 67% 61% 68% 77%  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 44 
Hancock, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Comparable Sales Grid 
 

SUBJECT SALE #5: SALE #6: SALE #7: SALE 8:

PROPERTY 712 So 15t Street 1516 Avenue C 1324 9th Avenue 2414 9th Avenue

217 N. Main Street Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa

Hancock, Iowa ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED

SALE PRICE       N/A $170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

SALE PRICE/SF N/A $85.00 $87.50 $61.08 $72.22

GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA

MARKET ADJUSTMENTS

   PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0%

$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

   FINANCING N/A Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0%

$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

   CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0%

$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

   DATE OF SALE May-22 Feb-20 6% Jan-19 9% Sep-18 11% Sep-20 5%

(Inspection) $180,200 $228,900 $238,650 $409,500

PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)

   BUILDING SIZE/SF   1,728 2,000 0% 2,400 0% 3,520 0% 5,400 0%

   LOCATION/SITE Hancock Co Bluffs -50% Co Bluffs -50% Co Bluffs -50% Co Bluffs -50%

   QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls S Avg/Cls D 0% Avg/Cls S 0% Avg/Cls C -5% Gd/Cls S 0%

   INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 22% -8% 13% -3% 20% -7% 22% -8%

   AGE/CONDITION 24/Average/Fair 14/Avg -8% 38/Avg 6% 30/Avg 0% 10/Gd -11%

   SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 5.45:1 4.08:1 1% 6.13:1 -1% 3.46:1 2% 2.57:1 3%

   AMENITIES None Fenced -3% Fenced -3% Fenced -3% None 0%

NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -68% -51% -63% -66%

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $57,664 $112,161 $88,301 $139,230

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $28.83 $46.73 $25.09 $25.78

TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -62% -42% -52% -61%

TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 75% 71% 76% 74%  
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 45 
Hancock, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

ADJUSTMENT RATIONALE 
 

The preceding represents the only known sales of industrial properties considered of similar condition, 
design, use, and/or location in Pottawattamie County or competing areas of the metro.  All these 
properties were considered to be similar to the subject, but did require some adjusting to make them 
equal to subject.  Sale prices were reduced to the common denominator of price per square foot of 
GBA, as this is a normal unit of measurement in market buying and selling decisions. 
 
Market Condition Adjustments 
 

Adjustments were not required for property rights conveyed, financing, or condition of sale, as all were 
considered normal for the market.   
 
All the sales were considered for adjustment due to date of sale.  I observed a general increase in 
property values in the metro area over the past few years, typically ranging from 3% to 4% annually 
until late 2007 when recessionary conditions began. The market slowdown was magnified following 
destabilization of the financial markets in October 2008, demonstrated by the lack of known sales 
occurring since that time. The market has been improving since 2010 and therefore, I applied an annual 
appreciation to these sales of 3% after that time.  
 
Physical Condition Adjustments 
 

The sales are typically adjusted for the relative improvement size difference with the subject building, 
due to dissimilar sizes and economies of scale.  Adjustments were not considered necessary as all were 
similar in size to subject.   
 
Adjustments were considered for overall construction quality.  Adjustments were derived from Marshall 
Valuation Service estimated costs to bring properties equal to the subject and from the market reaction 
to these differences. 
 
Adjustments for age of improvements were given as typically buyers are concerned about remaining 
economic life of property.  A rounded 1/2% per year of difference with subject age was derived as an 
appropriate adjustment and applied accordingly.  Additional adjustments for condition were applied 
separately, based on cost estimates to bring properties equal and accounts for the effective age of the 
improvements. 
 
Adjustments for amenities were also considered as properties with additional features, such as fencing 
generally yield higher sale prices. Subject has no amenities, #3 through #7 had fencing, so those sales 
received negative adjustments the remining sales had no amenities so no adjustments were applied to all 
these sales.    
 
Adjustments for location were considered as all of these properties were located in areas with more 
dense development than the subject so large negative adjustments were applied. Based upon paired sale 
analysis between a property in Avoca and several in Council Bluffs, which indicated a 53% difference 
rounded to 50%. 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 46 
Hancock, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

RECONCILIATION 
 

Before adjusting, the sale prices ranged from $61.08/SF in Sale #7 to $130.21/SF in Sale #2.  After the 
aforementioned adjustments were applied, the indicated values ranged from $24.67/SF in Sale #4 to 
$50.96/SF in Sale #2. Net percentage adjustments ranged from -62% to -41% while gross adjustments 
ranged from 61% to 77%.   
 
Generally, sales with the smallest amount of adjustment are the best indicators of value.  All sales 
required very large adjustments, therefore, no single sale was more persuasive than another. The 
majority of the sales 5 out of 8 indicated values from $24.07 to $34.33/SF. Therefore, a value estimate 
for the subject within that range would have the broadest support. Three remaining sales indicated 
higher values from $42.20/SF to $50.96/SF. 
 
The market search revealed no similar properties on the market currently: 
 

Therefore, based on the foregoing data and analysis, I estimated ‘as is’ market value of the subject at 
$35.00/SF, as of the effective date of this report with the total value developed as follows: 
 

 Indicated Value x Gross Bldg Size = Total Rounded to 
 $35.00/SF x 1,728 SF = $60,480    $60,500 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 47 
Hancock, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH 

 
 

From an investor’s perspective, the earning power of a real estate investment is the critical element 
affecting its value.  The fundamental investment premise is the higher the earnings the higher the value.  
Investment in an income-producing property represents the exchange of present dollars for the right to 
receive future dollars.  In the Income Capitalization Approach to value, the appraiser analyzes a 
property’s capacity to generate benefits and converts these benefits into an indication of present value.1 
 
The basic steps involved in this approach are: 
 

1. Estimate potential gross income; 

2. Estimate and deduct a vacancy and collection loss allowance; 

3. Estimate and deduct expenses; 

4. Estimate duration and pattern of income stream; 

5. Select an applicable capitalization method and technique; 

6. Develop the appropriate rate; 

7. Complete the computations necessary to derive an economic value. 
 
The primary reason for making gross income estimates is to identify probable net income benefits that 
may be derived from ownership interest of the income-producing property.  In accepted appraisal 
practice, the usual basis for a gross income projection is economic rent.  Economic (market) rent is 
defined as being the rental income that a property would most probably command in the open market; it 
is indicated by current rents paid and asked for comparable space as of the date of the appraisal. 
 
Income Analysis 
 

Subject property is presently owner occupied therefore, no rental information on the property is known.  
 
Comparable properties found are summarized on the following pages. Operating expenses were 
estimated from actual historic operating statements from expenses for commercial properties I have 
observed in the metro area combined with national investor surveys. 

 
1  The Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 48 
Hancock, Iowa 

Comparable #1 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1012 

Address 1310 South 17th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1-8, Block 21 Fleming & Davis 
 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 2,200 SF 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 2003/ 

Condition Average 

Height 18.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 60,984 SF 

Usable Site Size 60,984 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 14,000 SF 

Lease Date February 28, 2018 

Lease Term February 28, 2018 - January 31, 2023 

Starting Base Rent $5.20/SF 

Rent Description Fixed for lease. 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba MP Nexlevel 

Source Broker 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 49 
Hancock, Iowa 

Comparable #2 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1398 

Address 15 South 20th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Commercial :: Vehicle-Related - 
Service 

Legal Description 
 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 9,120 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 1979/ 

Condition Fair 

Height N/A 
 

Gross Site Size 40,692 SF 

Usable Site Size 40,692 SF 

Zoning C-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 9,120 SF 

Lease Date August 01, 2018 

Lease Term September 01, 2018 - August 31, 
2023 

Starting Base Rent $5.75/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba Jake's Towing and Transport 

Source CoStar 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 50 
Hancock, Iowa 

Comparable #3 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1013 

Address 3319 Nebraska Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description 
 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 41,760 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 1969/ 

Condition Average 

Height 13.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 100,188 SF 

Usable Site Size 100,188 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 7,020 SF 

Lease Date October 11, 2018 

Lease Term October 11, 2018 - October 10, 2021 

Starting Base Rent $4.35/SF 

Rent Description Fixed for term. 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba McDowell Roofing 

Source Broker 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 51 
Hancock, Iowa 

Comparable #4 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1014 

Address 2110 23rd Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 8-12, Block 11, Railroad 
Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 5,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Average Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2003/ 

Condition Average 

Height N/A 
 

Gross Site Size 25,245 SF 

Usable Site Size 25,245 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 2,700 SF 

Lease Date October 19, 2018 

Lease Term November 19, 2018 - 

Starting Base Rent $7.11/SF 

Rent Description 7.78/SF in Year 2 
8.22/SF in Year 3 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Gross 
 

Lessee  
dba Syndicate Diesel 

Source Broker 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

One month of free rent 

 

Garage space with mezzanine office. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 52 
Hancock, Iowa 

Comparable #5 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1242 

Address 1305 Lew Ross Road 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 5 & 6, Block 2, First Foundation 
Sub., Council Bluffs, Pottawattamie 
County, IA 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 17,840 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 6,244 SF 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 1996/ 

Condition Good 

Height 14.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 87,555 SF 

Usable Site Size 87,555 SF 

Zoning 
 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 8,000 SF 

Lease Date April 22, 2019 

Lease Term May 01, 2019 - April 30, 2022 

Starting Base Rent $6.95/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba New Covenant Electronics 

Source CoStar Confirmation 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 53 
Hancock, Iowa 

Comparable #6 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1369 

Address 1220 35th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision 
Phase II 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Good Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2005/ 

Condition Good 

Height 18.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 43,995 SF 

Usable Site Size 43,995 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 3,700 SF 

Lease Date June 30, 2019 

Lease Term August 29, 2019 - 

Starting Base Rent $6.00/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba Safariworks Decor 

Source CoStar 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 54 
Hancock, Iowa 

Comparable #7 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1368 

Address 1220 35th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision 
Phase II 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Good Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2005/ 

Condition Good 

Height 18.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 43,995 SF 

Usable Site Size 43,995 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 7,000 SF 

Lease Date December 01, 2019 

Lease Term December 01, 2019 - 

Starting Base Rent $5.25/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba Caeser's Entertainment 

Source CoStar 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 55 
Hancock, Iowa 

Comparable #8 

 
Photograph from Pottawattamie County Assessor 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1588 

Address 1309 Avenue J 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market 13th & Avenue J 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1-3, Block 8, Potter-Cobbs First 
Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 4,160 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 784 SF 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 1986/ 

Condition Average 

Height 12.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 15,730 SF 

Usable Site Size 15,730 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 4,160 SF 

Lease Date October 31, 2021 

Lease Term November 02, 2021 - 

Starting Base Rent $8.25/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee Brown Heavy Equipment 

Source CoStar; Marketing Brochure 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 

Net expenses were $1.44/SF for taxes and insurance, and tenant to provide maintenance at own expense. 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 56 
Hancock, Iowa 

Comparable Rentals Map 
 

 



County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 57 
Hancock, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

MARKET LEASE RATE ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSION  
 

No comparables of similar properties was found in Hancock. Council Bluffs did have some 
comparables which reported rental rates of $4.35/SF to $10.50/SF, on triple net and gross terms. These 
comparables are considered to be similar to subject but in superior locations and would be fairly 
competitive with it in the current market. As the subject was in fair/average condition; it is my opinion 
the market rent for the subject would be reasonable at $4.00/SF on triple net terms. 
 
Miscellaneous Income: Some properties similar to subject in this area receive additional income from 
garage rentals, vending machines, forfeited deposits, etc. Subject does not appear to have any other 
potential sources of income.  
 
Vacancy and Collection Losses 
 

A vacancy and collection loss must be deducted from potential gross income to arrive at property 
effective gross income (EGI). A current 2022 survey conducted by Costar.com reports average 
vacancy of 48.85% for industrial properties in Council Bluffs but no estimate of vacancy in 
Hancock.  
 
The subject space is a single tenant design, so it would be either 100% occupied or 100% vacant at 
any one time. Based upon the subject properties location in an area with primarily agricultural 
properties nearby, it is my opinion a 10% vacancy rate would be reasonable for the property. 
 
Actual rent, vacancy and EGI were then summarized as follows: 
 

Potential Commercial Rental Income  1,728 SF x $4.00/SF $6,912 
Less:  10% Vacancy and Collection Loss  - $691 
Effective Gross Income       $6,221 
 
Operating Expenses 
 

Operating expenses that are the property owner’s responsibility are deducted from projection of EGI to 
arrive at property’s NOI. Such operating expenses include real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance, 
utilities and property management fees.  To estimate appropriate allowance for operating expenses, I 
considered actual known data from market expenses of other properties observed. No information for 
the subject was provided. Estimates of operating expenses were then summarized as follows: 
 
Real Estate Taxes:  Property taxes for the subject were not posted so my estimate is based upon the 
assessed for the subject ($32,600) and the current tax rate ($31.876110) which equates to $1,039.  These 
appear reasonable based upon the sales comparison approach and other properties observed. So 
stabilized taxes will be estimated at $1,050 annually with the owner paying these during vacant periods 
only. 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 58 
Hancock, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Operating Expenses (Continued) 
  

Insurance:  Property and hazard insurance for commercial buildings have been observed near $0.10/SF 
to $0.85/SF of gross building area for sprinklered buildings, and $0.15/SF to $0.55/SF for non-
sprinklered buildings, and have been rising in recent years.  Actual insurance costs for the subject were 
not disclosed. So, for purposes of this analysis, an estimate of $1.00/SF is considered reasonable 
(including flood coverage) or a total cost of a rounded $1,800 annually.   
 
Management:  Typical third party management fees for properties similar to the subject property range 
4% to 7% of EGI.  The actual management expenses for the subject are unknown.  Management duties 
generally include supervision of property maintenance, bookkeeping, and management overhead.  No 
unusual aspects of the management function are foreseen in conjunction with the subject property, so I 
estimate an expense of 3% of base rent as reasonable for the subject property.   
 
Administrative & Professional Fees: A general administrative expense was considered appropriate to 
reflect typical owner accounting and legal fees. This expense category would include a small amount 
for owner’s office overhead and typically ranges from 0.5% to 1.5% of EGI. The actual expenses are 
unknown as no operating statements were furnished. General administrative expense was estimated at 
0.50% of base rent in this analysis. 
 
Utilities:  As no operating statements were provided my estimate of $1.00/SF is based on observations 
of other commercial properties, with the owner paying during vacant periods only.  
 
Repairs & Maintenance:  This expense category reflects items such as repairs to mechanical systems, 
roof, painting and items of general upkeep such as pest control, cleaning, snow and trash removal.  
Actual costs were not provided; typical repair & maintenance expenses observed for other commercial 
properties have ranged from $0.50/SF to over $3.00/SF, depending in large part on a property’s age and 
building size. As a result, with the building in average condition with minimal deferred maintenance, I 
estimate an expense of $1.00/SF for the subject, rounded to $1,800 annually.   
 
Reserves for Replacement:  Although not typically incurred as an annual cash outlay, a reserve for 
replacement expense is appropriate to reflect future replacement of short-lived items such as carpeting, 
mechanical systems (including water heaters and HVAC units), kitchen appliances, exterior paving, 
roofing, etc. RealtyRates.com investor survey for 1st Q 2022 indicated reserve requirements for 
industrial properties reported as $0.26 to $0.85 with an average of $0.56/SF.  By comparison, the PWC 
Investors Survey reports replacement reserves for national warehouse properties range from $0.05/SF to 
$0.35/SF, averaging $0.14/SF in the 1st Q 2022.  In my opinion, an appropriate replacement reserve for 
the subject property is a rounded $0.20/SF.   
 
Miscellaneous:  A miscellaneous expense is typically included to account for such items as tenant-
related social expenses, holiday decorations, security services, etc.  Therefore, an expense of $100 per 
year was considered appropriate. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 59 
Hancock, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

PROFORMA OPERATING STATEMENT (FEE SIMPLE) 
 
 

 

Rental Income SQ FT Rent/SF Annual Income

Estimated Market Rent 1,728 $4.00 $6,912

Total Potential Gross Income $6,912

Vacancy & Collection Allowance: 10.0% $691

Effective Rental Income $6,221

Other Income $0

Total Effective Gross Income: $6,221

Operating Expenses: Amount

Management Fee 3.0% $187 $19

General & Administrative 0.5% $31 $31

Real Estate Taxes 16.88% $1,050 $105

Insurance 28.94% $1,800 $180

Utilities 0.00% $0 $0

Repairs & Maintenance 28.94% $1,800 $180

Reserves for Replacement 5.56% $346 $346

Miscellaneous 1.61% $100 $100

Total Expenses 15.44% $960

Net Operating Income $5,260  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 60 
Hancock, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE 
 

Several methods of developing a capitalization rate can be used.  The best of which is the Market 
Extraction Method, where the incomes of comparable properties that have recently sold are known.  
Sale transactions used in this report did not reveal cap rates however, other properties observed 
which would be considered competitive with subject indicated cap rates of 7.60% to 9.00%. 
 
A national survey was examined for further support of overall capitalization rate.  The PWC Real 
Estate Investor Survey for the 1st Qtr 2022 reports national capitalization rates for secondary 
industrial properties in a range of 5.25% to 9.00% with average of 7.13%. Capitalization rates in the 
local market area have typically been higher than national rates.  Capitalization rates are typically 
higher for older and smaller properties. 
 
In order to estimate current capitalization rates, a second method is used called the Band of 
Investment, Analysis, which is a yield capitalization procedure used in estimating an overall 
capitalization rate to be applied to the net operating income of a property.  The band of investment 
formula addresses the yield requirements of both the lender’s interest and the investor’s interest 
considering current lending and investment rates. When the components used in the band of 
investment formula are market-derived, the value indication obtained is reflective of market value.  
RealtyRates.Com released their 1st Q 2022 Investor Survey reporting interest rates for industrial 
properties ranging from 2.86% to 7.41%, averaging 4.80%. The average spread from 10-Year 
Treasury notes was 3.24%. Loan-to-value ratios ranged from 50% to 80% (average 70%), average 
amortization period was 25 years with average term of 11.46 years and average debt coverage ratio 
of 1.46. Per PwC Investors Survey for 1st Q 2022, institutional grade discount or yield rates for national 
warehouse properties ranged from 7.00% to 10.00%, averaging 8.50%.   
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 61 
Hancock, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE 
 

Based on the preceding, the following components are then used in the band of investment analysis. 
 

Mortgage Components: 
 

 Loan/Value Ratio:   70% 
 Loan Rate:    5.0% selected 
 Amortization Period:   25 years with balloon payment due at end of 10th Year 
 Mortgage Constant (Rm):   .0709 
  
Equity Components: 
 

 Equity Ratio:    30% 
 Equity yield rate (Ye):   9.5% 
  

 

The calculation of the overall capitalization rate by the band of investment technique is as follows: 
 

Band of Investment Technique 
 

 Loan Ratio x Mortgage Constant = Weighted Average 
 

 .70 x .0709 = 0.049 
 

 Equity Ratio x Equity Yield Rate 
 

 .30 x .095 = (+) 0.0285 
 

Total Weighted Average   0.0775 
 

Indicated Overall Capitalization Rate   7.75% 
 
This mechanical or calculated overall rate typically is below the market extracted rates as lending 
terms are still considered favorable for qualified applicants; so, it was given only secondary rounding 
weight in my overall or “going-in” capitalization rate selection for the subject property.   
 
Therefore, based on subject characteristics with and the current demand for this property type in the 
local market, I selected a rounded 9.00% as the capitalization rate currently appropriate for the 
subject property in this market.  To arrive at a value estimate for the subject property, the estimated 
annual net operating income must be divided by the overall capitalization rate.  Therefore, I estimate 
the market value of the subject property, as of the effective date of this report, as follows. 
 

Fee Simple 

Net Operating Income Capitalization Rate Indicated Value Rounded

$5,260 ÷ 9.00% = $58,449 $60,000  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 62 
Hancock, Iowa 

RECONCILIATION AND FINAL ESTIMATE OF VALUE 

 
 

Reconciliation is the process of coordinating and integrating related factors to form a conclusion 
regarding the appraised property’s Market Value. Each appraisal approach was considered as to 
adequacy, accuracy and overall reliability.  The following estimates were based on subject’s highest and 
best use in this report and primarily on available market data furnished by the property owner and 
others.  
 
Market Value via the Cost Approach  Not Applicable 

Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach   $60,500 

Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple)  $60,000 
 
The Cost Approach typically uses replacement cost method of determining new cost of building 
improvements, typically representing the highest value.  Depreciation is calculated for deferred 
maintenance and normal wear and tear.  The shortcoming of this method normally results from the 
calculations for depreciation, as age and obsolescence are difficult to precisely measure in the market 
place.  The subject building is older, resulting in accrued depreciation which becomes subjective 
reducing the reliability of this approach below acceptable levels.  Therefore, it was not developed in this 
report. 
 
The Direct Sales Comparison Approach compares sales of similar properties.  Adjustments were made 
for variations from the subject property based on available market data.  After adjustments, a reasonable 
range of indicated values was evident and I selected the value from the range most representative of the 
appraised building.  This approach is generally the best method of reflecting market attitudes toward 
property, particularly when owner-occupied buildings are involved and there is an active market with 
numerous sales.  However, this approach is less persuasive when the property is purchased as an 
investment.  As the subject property is a single-tenant building it would likely appeal to an owner but if 
leased it could appeal to an investor therefore most weight was given to this approach in the final value 
estimate for the subject.   
 
The Income Capitalization Approach was considered and could be used in this report.  Since an 
adequate amount of rent, expense and cap rate data was available for the subject property, this approach 
was considered reliable so was given some weight in the final value estimate for the subject also.   
 
Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the 
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is” Market Value of the subject 
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was: 
 

SIXTY THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS 
($60,500) 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 
General Certified Appraiser - IA CG01439 
                                                NE CG920142 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 63 
Hancock, Iowa 

 
 
 
 
 

ADDENDA 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 64 
Hancock, Iowa 

APPRAISER’S QUALIFICATIONS 
 

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 

 
PROFESSIONAL: 
 
MAI Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1991 
SRA Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1977 
General Certified Appraiser, State of Nebraska (CG 920142) 1992 
General Certified Appraiser, State of Iowa (CG 01439) 1992 
Licensed Real Estate Salesman in the State of Nebraska 1972 
Vice President/Appraiser Mitchell & Associates 1990-Present 
Property Underwriter/Assistant Vice President,  
   Occidental Nebraska Federal Savings Bank 1973-90 
 
 
MEMBER: 
 
Appraisal Institute: Former President Nebraska Chapter and currently active in this chapter and 
former Chapter Services Chairman for Region II and have served on the National Chapter Services 
Committee 
Nebraska Real Estate Association 
Omaha Area Board of Realtors Former Executive Committee, Commercial Investment Council 
Tangier Shrine, Scottish Rite and Mercer Lodge 
Past Membership: Society of Real Estate Appraisers, Eastern Nebraska, Chapter #111  
 
EDUCATION: 
 
University of Nebraska Lincoln 
University of Nebraska Omaha 
 
Continuing education through attendance at various appraisal seminars sponsored by the Appraisal 
Institute and other industry organizations; courses listed on a separate page. 
 
EXPERIENCE: 
 
Areas of appraisal experience include multi-family residential; commercial; industrial; vacant land; 
special purpose properties; and single family residential.  Appraisals have been completed for 
mortgage loans, condemnation, litigation, and asset management purposes. 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 65 
Hancock, Iowa 

RECENT APPRAISAL EDUCATION 
D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA 

  

    CLASS 
DATE COURSE SPONSOR HOURS 
2017 Honing In…Updates, Market Perspectives & Prof. Development AI 4 
2016 Local Market Snapshot AI 4 
2016 Understanding the Basics of Excel & Linear Regression AI 4 
2016 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2016 USPAP Update AI 7 
2015 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2014 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2014 The Discounted Cash Flow Model AI 7 
2014 USPAP Update AI 7 
2013 Property Acquisition & Need for Site Assessment Randall School of RE 3 
2013 Environmental Issues in Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
2013  Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2013 Online Supervising Appraisal Trainees AI 4 
2012 USPAP Moore Group 7 
2012 Effective Appraisal Writing AI 7 
2011 Ethical Decision Making in Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
2011 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2011 Commercial Appraisal Engagement & Review AI 7 
2011 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff 3 
2010 USPAP AI 7 
2010 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff 3 
2010 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2010 Appraisal Curriculum Overview AI 15 
2009 Online Business Practices & Ethics AI 4 
2009 Report Writing Workshop The Moore Group 7 
2009 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2008 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2008 USPAP AI 7 
2007 Standard 3 Review Training Session NE Appraiser Bd 4 
2007 Understanding & Testing DCF Valuation Models AI 4 
2007 Analyzing Distressed Real Estate AI 4 
2007 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 6 
2006 Uniform Standards of Professional Practice Moore Group 7 
2006 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
2005 Market Analysis & the Site to do Business AI 7 
2005 Radon & Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
2004 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice AI 7 
2004 Loss Prevention for Real Estate Appraisers AI 4 
2004 Rates and Ratios AI 7 
2003 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
2003 Client Pressure Seminar NE Appraiser Bd. 3 
2003 Appraisal Consulting AI 7 
2002 Mark to Market AI 3 
2002 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8.5 
2001 Appraisers & Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act AI 3 
2001 Regression Analysis in Appraisal Practice AI 7 
2001 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
  CLASS 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 66 
Hancock, Iowa 

DATE COURSE SPONSOR HOURS 
2000 Commercial Appraisal Problem Solving Mid-West Appraisers 7 
2000 Appraisal of Non-Conforming Uses AI 7 

2000 Standards of Professional Practice AI 15 

2000 Ed Tour (Tomorrows Information Today) NE. Appraiser Board 3 
2000 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
1999 Internet Search Strategies AI 7 
1999 Appraisal of Local Retail Properties AI 7 
1999 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
1998 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 6 
1997 Affordable Housing AI 7 
1997 Analyzing Operating Expenses AI 7 
1997 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 6 
1996 Highest & Best Use AI 7 
1996 Standards of Professional Practice AI 26 
1995 Advanced Income Capitalization AI 36 
1995 Emerging Technologies in Appraising AI 5 
1995 Experience Review Training AI 4 
1995 Apartment Update AI 1 
1994 FHA Guidelines AI 7 
1994 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed. 3 
1993 Appraising Apartments AI 7 
1993 Agency Relationships in Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
1993 Mock Trial Seminar AI 7 
1993 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
1993 FIRREA:  Overview & Application AI 7 
1992 ADA Seminar AI 5 
1992 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 5 
1991 Standards of Professional Practice AIREA 7 
1990 Small Residential Form SREA 7 

 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 67 
Hancock, Iowa 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 68 
Hancock, Iowa 

USPAP MINIMUM STANDARDS 
 
 

For the convenience of the reader or any reviewer of this report, we have included a copy of the fourteen 
points of the Minimum Appraisal Standards.  Appraisals must: 
 

1.    Conform to USPAP, except that the Departure Provision, which allows below minimum work, will not 
apply; 

2.    Include a disclosure of any steps taken in order to comply with the Competency Provision of USPAP; 

3.    Be based on the market value or other values as defined in the attached DEFINITIONS; 

4.    [i] Be written and presented in a narrative format; 
[ii] Be sufficiently descriptive to enable the reader to ascertain the market value and the  
 rationale for the estimate; 
[iii] Provide detail and depth reflective of the complexity of the property appraised; 

5.    Analyze and report in reasonable detail any prior sales of the property within the last three years; 

6.    Analyze and report current revenues, expense, and vacancies on income producing properties rather 
than estimated or projected figures not supported by current market conditions; 

7.    Use a reasonable marketing period for the property; 

8.    Analyze current market conditions and trends that will affect the income, absorption, or value of the 
property; 

9.    Report both the “as is” (using appropriate deductions and discounts for holding and marketing costs, 
and entrepreneurial profit) and the stabilized market values for developmental property; report both the 
value-in-use and liquidation value for owner-occupied property; 

10.    Include in the USPAP required certification an additional statement that:  “The appraisal assignment 
was not based on a requested minimum valuation, a specific valuation, or the approval of a “loan”; 

11.    Contain sufficient supporting documentation to allow the reader to ascertain the appraiser’s logic, 
reasoning, judgment, and analysis; 

12.    Include a legal description of the subject property (in addition to the description required by USPAP); 

13.    Identify and value separately any non-real estate items; 

14.    Use and reconcile the income, direct sales, and cost approaches to value, and explain the omission of 
any approach not used; 

If any information necessary to complete the appraisal is unavailable, this fact must be disclosed. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 69 
Hancock, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 70 
Hancock, Iowa 

 



© Copyright 2022, Mitchell & Associates, Inc. 

AN 
APPRAISAL 

 
 
 

OF 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 

15484 STATE ORCHARD ROAD 
COUNCIL BLUFFS, IOWA 

 
 
 

AS OF 
 
 

May 16, 2022 
 
 
 

PREPARED FOR 
 
 

Ms. Kristina Treantos 
Via email 

Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov 
 
 
 

PREPARED BY 
 
 

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 
Certified General Appraiser 

 
 
 

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
14611 West Center Road 
Omaha, Nebraska 68144



 

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
ROBERT F. MITCHELL, SR., 1893-1983 

ROBERT F. MITCHELL, JR., SRPA 1927-2020 

R. GREGG MITCHELL, SRA 

D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA KEVIN P. HERMSEN, MAI 

W. BRUCE WILKIE DAVID C. WELLSANDT, MAI 

BETH ANDERSEN MELISSA L. RUTHERFORD 

RICHARD C. WITTMANN MARK SCHAECHER 

REBECCA BELLOWS ALEX FINKLE 

JAMES ANDERSEN  

 

S:\Reports\2022/00220816\Report.doc 

Real Estate  Appraisers  & Consultants  
 

 
14611 West Center  Road ■ Omaha, Nebraska 68144 ■  PH. 402-330-4500 ■ FAX 402-330-7207 

May 31, 2022 
 

Ms. Kristina Treantos RE: File #00220816 - Appraisal 
Via email Commercial Property 
Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov  15484 State Orchard Rd 
  Council Bluffs, Iowa 
 

Dear Ms. Treantos: 
 

In response to your request and for the purpose of estimating the Market Value of the above referenced 
property for asset management purposes, I have personally visited the property, and then conducted an 
analysis of the matters pertinent to its current market value.  My findings are included in the following 
report of 66 pages, plus the supporting Addenda. 
 

This report is intended to be in conformity with the prevailing Standards and Ethics of the Uniform 
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) of the Appraisal Foundation and the Appraisal 
Institute.  It is independently prepared so is not based on a requested minimum value, specific valuation 
nor the approval of a loan. It is also in conformity with the laws and Minimum Standards of the State of 
Iowa where I am licensed. 
 

Your attention is directed toward the sections titled Limiting Conditions and Assumptions, 
Definitions, and Appraiser’s Certification, which address contingencies of the appraisal. Additional 
contingencies may be interspersed throughout the report where appropriate; therefore, this report 
should be considered in its entirety. Your attention is also directed to the special consideration noted 
on page 11 regarding the COVID-19 outbreak. The effective date for this appraisal is in a time 
where the community is experiencing a serious reaction to the outbreak including many closures or 
cancellations including school districts, state and federal declarations of emergency. Public health 
officials are calling for social distancing and limited exposure to others. There is currently 
insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the general market or to 
specific properties in regards to any effects on value or marketing times. 
 

Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the 
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is” Market Value of the subject 
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was: 
 

TWO HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($200,000) 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 
General Certified Appraiser - IA CG0143 NE CG9201429;                                                    

 
 
  



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 Page 
 

Identification of Property, Summary of Salient Facts and Scope of Work 4 
 
Scope of Work 7 
 

Appraiser’s Certification 9 
 

Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 10 
 

Definitions 13 
 

Valuation and the Appraisal Process 14 
 

DESCRIPTIONS 
 

Market Area Description and Analysis 15 
 

Site Description and Analysis 22 
 

Description and Analysis of Improvements 27 
 

ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS 
 

Highest and Best Use 32 
 

Cost Approach 36 
 

Direct Sales Comparison Approach 37 
 

Income Capitalization Approach 51 
 

Reconciliation and Final Estimate of Value 66 
 
 

ADDENDA 
 

Qualifications of Appraiser 

USPAP Standards 

Flood Plain Map 

Zoning Map and Regulations 

Engagement Letter 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 4 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY 
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS 

 
 

LOCATION: 15484 State Orchard Road, Council Bluffs, Iowa 51503. This is in the 
eastern portion of metropolitan Omaha, Nebraska. 

 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Lengthy, a parcel of land in LEWIS TWP 4-74-43 TRI LT SW 

INTERSECTION GREENVIEW DR & STATE ORCHARD RD NW 
SE N & W OF RD, Council Bluffs, Pottawattamie County, Iowa 

 
OWNER OF RECORD: Pottawattamie County 
 Council Bluffs, Iowa 
 
CLIENT/INTENDED USE: The report was ordered by Ms. Kristina Treantos with Pottawattamie 

County, who advised this appraisal would be used in asset management 
purposes.  There are no other intended uses or users of this report. 

 
APPRAISAL PURPOSE: Purpose of this appraisal is to provide a supported estimate of the ‘as is’ 

fee simple market value of the subject property, as of the date of the site 
visit. 

 
INSPECTION DATE: On May 16, 2022, I personally visited subject in the company of Shawn 

Bluml with Pottawattamie County.  Most photos used in this report 
were taken at the time of this inspection. 

 
EFFECTIVE DATE: This appraisal has an effective date of May 16, 2022, the date of the 

property visit. 
 
SUBJECT DESCRIPTION: The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance 

building. This building contains 3 drive-in bays a small office on the 
mezzanine and a restroom. The building is of wood frame construction 
with metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There are 3 
overhead doors for vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. The building 
has 2,400 square feet and is located upon a corner site with 40,510 SF 
which is totally fenced.  

 
ZONING: Subject is zoned C-2 (Commercial District) under Pottawattamie 

Counties jurisdiction. The Class C-2 District is intended primarily to 
provide for those business and commercial establishments serving the 
general retail shopping needs of those persons living in the 
unincorporated areas of the County. Properties shall be located along 
or have direct access to hard surfaced streets. (see zoning regulations 
in Addenda). 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 5 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY 
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED) 

 
 

FLOOD PLAIN STATUS: Subject does not appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per 
CoreLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0581F, dated April 16, 
2013 (map in report). 

 
TITLE HISTORY: Per county records, subject does not appear to have sold in the past five 

years. 
 
TAX ASSESSMENT: Real estate taxes for Pottawattamie County are combined in one billing 

for all governmental subdivisions. The County Assessor is responsible 
for estimating ‘actual value’ to which tax rates are applied. Subject 
(Parcel 7543 04-401-04) is assessed as follows:  

 

 
 
TAX RATE: The 2020 tax rate was $24.145880 per $1,000 of assessed value, which 

appears normal for commercial properties in this area of Council Bluffs. 
The 2021 tax rate has not been set, as of the effective date of this report. 

 
REAL ESTATE TAXES: Per Pottawattamie County Treasurer’s Office, shows net real estate 

taxes of $0 as it is owned by a government entity. Generally these taxes 
have delinquent dates of September 1, 2020 for the first half and March 
1, 2021 for the second half. Subject is appraised as if all historic tax 
obligations (including additional interest or penalties) are paid current. 

 
PERSONAL PROPERTY: No furniture, fixtures, business or equipment values are included in this 

report. 
 
HIGHEST & BEST USE: As concluded herein, highest and best use of subject is ‘as is’ with a 

maintenance shed. 
 
EXPOSURE TIME: As described herein, exposure time is estimated time a property interest 

being appraised would have been offered on the market prior to a 
hypothetical consummation of sale at market value on effective date of 
appraisal. Based on a retrospective opinion of past events, assuming a 
competitive, open market, I estimated that would have been within 12-
months, reflecting current market conditions. 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 6 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY 
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED) 

 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL Existing improvement is a maintenance shed It is unknown if  
CONDITIONS: hazardous components/materials (urea formaldehyde foam insulation, 

asbestos, etc.) were used in construction/renovation or if the site has 
contaminants. No evidence of underground fuel storage tanks or 
contamination was observed. As a result, environmental conditions are 
presumed non-adverse. However, it may be prudent to obtain a current 
certified survey and environmental assessment of the property. This 
appraisal makes no allowance for environmental remediation or 
abatement requirements. Your attention is directed to Limiting 
Conditions and Assumptions at the conclusion of this report. 

 
 
SUMMARY OF INDICATED VALUES FROM THIS REPORT 
 

Market Value via the Cost Approach  Not Applicable 

Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach   $190,000 

Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple)  $210,000 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 7 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

SCOPE OF WORK 
 
 

Scope of work refers to research and analysis in this assignment and includes the extent to which the 
property is identified, type and extent of data researched, and type and extent of analysis applied. 
 
Extent of Property Identification:  The property was identified by its addresses of 15484 State 
Orchard Road, in Council Bluffs, Iowa.  Per Pottawattamie County records, this address corresponds to 
County Parcel number and legal descriptions summarized in the Salient Facts section of this report. 
 
Type and Extent of Data Researched: I personally visited the property, building measurements were 
taken from county assessors web site and verified on site, which provided the information for the 
property descriptions.  Site size was obtained from the assessor’s website also. Other data was collected 
from County public records, conversations with local property owners and brokers, information 
published in real estate industry publications and Mitchell & Associates appraisal files. I was not 
provided with a current soils testing report or survey; therefore, I did not consider the impact on 
property value of any possible restrictions or soil issues that might be revealed by these reports. The 
COVID-19 virus is having significant impacts to how people live around the world. The impacts are 
fairly recent in the Omaha area, but there have been many closures. Public health officials are calling 
for social distancing and limited exposure to others. 

As we progress through 20221, fewer cases are reported but some cautionary measures are still 
promoted. Such news has increased the level of fear and anxiety among the community. Single-
family sales have been brisk due to the shrinking inventories and rising prices. Commercial 
businesses may experience reduced sales due to recent closing of bars and restaurants except for 
drive-thru service, and avoiding places where 10+ people gather. Other businesses are opting for 
employees to work remotely.  

There is currently insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the 
general market or to specific properties (e.g. places of reported exposures) in regards to any effects 
on value or marketing times. 
 
Type and Extent of Analysis Applied:  A highest and best use analysis of the property was developed 
utilizing inferred or trend methodology, appropriate of the property in light of its site size and building 
size as well as the location in a mature area.  Due to the age of the structure, estimating depreciation 
would be so subjective as to render the cost approach unreliable; therefore, it was omitted from this 
appraisal. I researched and found recent sales of buildings supporting the use of the Direct Sales 
Comparison Approach.  The Income Capitalization Approach was not developed due to a lack of 
market information.   
 
Conclusion:  The conclusions and analyses were reconciled into the final estimate of value.  Based on 
my training, experience (see credentials in the Addenda intended to satisfy the Competency Rule of 
USPAP) and judgment, I concluded that this appraisal in a summary format including the Direct Sales 
Comparison approach is appropriate to support a credible estimate of the Fee Simple value and 
consistent with the Standards of the 2020-2021 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(USPAP). 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 8 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

EXTERIOR PHOTOS 

 

Front (south) 

 

West side & part of front 

 

East side 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 9 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

 

North & east sides 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 10 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

APPRAISER'S CERTIFICATION 
 
 

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief: 
 
The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct. 

The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions and 
limiting conditions and are my personal, impartial, and unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and 
conclusions. 

I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and no 
personal interest with respect to the parties involved. 

I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties involved 
with this assignment. 

My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined 
results. 

My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or 
reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the 
amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent 
event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal. 

I have not performed a previous appraisal of the subject property and have not done an appraisal 
review involving the subject, or an appraisal consulting assignment involving the subject, within the 
past three years. 

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared 
in conformity with the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of 
Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute and the Uniform Standards of Appraisal 
Practice. 

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared 
in conformity with the requirements of the Uniform Standards of Appraisal Practice 

The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review by its 
duly authorized representatives. 

I have made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report.   

No one provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person signing this certification.  
If there are exceptions, the name of each individual providing significant real property appraisal 
assistance is stated in the scope of the report.1 

As of the date of this report, I, D. Rick Whitesides, have completed the requirements of the 
continuing education program of the Appraisal Institute. 
 
APPRAISER: 

 
  
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA - NE CG920142 
 IA CG01439 
 

 
1  Source for Items #1-#9, Standards Rule 2-3, Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practices, 2001 Edition 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 11 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS 
 
 
This appraisal has been based on the following limiting conditions: 
 
For purposes of this appraisal, any marketing program for the sale of the property would assume cash or its 
equivalent. 

No detailed soil studies covering the subject property were available for this appraisal.  It is therefore assumed that 
soil conditions are adequate to support standard construction consistent with highest and best use. 

The date of value to which the conclusions and opinions expressed in this report apply, is set forth in the letter of 
transmittal.  Further, the dollar amount of any value opinion rendered in this report is based upon the purchasing 
power of the American dollar existing on that date. 

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for economic or physical factors which may affect the opinions in this 
report which occur after the date of the letter transmitting the report or which cause unpredictable changes.  Events 
such as (but not limited to) natural disasters, wars and economic calamities are examples of such factors. 

The appraiser reserves the right to make such adjustments to the analysis, opinions and conclusions set forth in this 
report as may be required by consideration of additional data or more reliable data that may become available. 

No opinion as to title is rendered.  Data relating to ownership and legal description was obtained from county 
records and is considered reliable.  Title is assumed to be marketable and free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, 
easements and restrictions except those specifically discussed in the report.  The property is appraised assuming it 
to be under responsible ownership and competent management and available for its highest and best use. 
If no title policy was made available to the appraiser, they assume no responsibility for such items of record not 
disclosed by their customary investigation.   

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for hidden or non-apparent conditions of the property, subsoil, or 
structures that render it more or less valuable.  No responsibility is assumed for arranging for engineering studies 
that may be required to discover them. 

The property is appraised assuming it to be in full compliance with all applicable federal, state and local 
environmental regulations and laws, unless otherwise stated. 

The property is appraised assuming that all applicable zoning and use regulations and restrictions have been 
complied with, unless otherwise stated. 

The property is appraised assuming that all required licenses, certificates of occupancy, consents or other 
legislative or administrative authority from any local, state or national government or private entity or organization 
have been or can be obtained or renewed for any use on which the value estimate contained in this report is based, 
unless otherwise stated. 

No engineering survey has been made by the appraiser.  Except as specifically stated, data relative to size and area 
was taken from sources considered reliable and no encroachment of real property improvements is considered to 
exist. 

No opinion is expressed as to the value of subsurface oil, gas or mineral rights whether the property is subject to 
surface entry for the exploration or removal of such materials except as is expressly stated. 
Maps, plats, and exhibits included in this report are for illustration only as an aid in visualizing matters discussed 
within the report.  They should not be considered as surveys or relied upon for any other purpose, nor should they 
be removed from, reproduced, or used apart from the report. 

No opinion is intended to be expressed for matters, which require legal expertise or specialized investigation, or 
knowledge beyond that customarily employed by real estate appraisers. 

Possession of this report, or copy of it, does not carry with it the right of publication.  It may not be used for any 
purposes by any person other than the party to whom it is addressed without the written consent of the appraiser, 
and in any event only with the proper written qualification and only in its entirety. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 12 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
Testimony or attendance in court or at any other hearing is not required by reason of rendering this appraisal, 
unless such arrangements are made in a reasonable time in advance. 

The appraiser has personally inspected the subject property and find no obvious evidence of structural deficiencies, 
except as stated in this report; however, no responsibility for hidden defects or conformity to specific governmental 
requirements, such as fire, building and safety, earthquake or occupancy codes can be assumed without provision 
of specific professional or government inspections. 

No consideration has been given in this appraisal as to the value of the property located on the premises considered 
by the appraiser to be personal property, nor has he given consideration to the cost of moving or relocating such 
personal property; only the real property has been considered.   

Information obtained for use in this appraisal is believed to be true and correct to the best of my abilities; however, 
no responsibility is assumed for errors or omissions, or for information not disclosed which might otherwise affect 
the valuation estimate. 

Disclosure of the contents of this appraisal report is governed by the Bylaws and Regulations of the Appraisal 
Institute. 

Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report (especially any conclusions as to value, the identity of the 
appraiser or firm with which he is connected, or any reference to the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers 
or to the MAI or SRA designations) shall be disseminated to the public through advertising media, public relations 
media, news media, sales media or any other public means of communication without prior written consent and 
approval of the appraiser. 

Comments concerning the location, market area, trends, construction quality and costs of the property appraised 
herein represent the opinion of the appraiser formed after examination and study of the subject property. 
This appraisal represents the independent opinion of the appraiser free from any commitments and free from any 
present or expected future interest in the property, with the sole compensation for the employment being a fair 
professional fee. 

The Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) became effective January 26, 1992.  I have not made a specific 
compliance survey and analysis of this property to determine whether or not it is in conformity with the various 
detailed requirements of the ADA.  It is possible that a compliance survey of the property, together with a detailed 
analysis of the requirements of the ADA, could reveal that the property is not in compliance with one or more of 
the requirements of the Act.  If so, this fact could have a negative effect upon the value of the property.  Since I 
have no direct evidence relating to this issue, I did not consider possible non-compliance with the requirements of 
ADA in estimating the value of the property. 

Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of hazardous material, which may or may not be present on the 
property, was not observed by the appraiser.  The appraiser has no knowledge of the existence of such materials on 
or in the property.  The appraiser, however, is not qualified to detect such substances.  The presence of substances 
such as asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation or other potentially hazardous materials may affect the value 
of the property.  The value estimate is predicated on the assumption that there is no such material on or in the 
property that would cause a loss of value.  No responsibility is assumed for any such conditions, or for any 
expertise or engineering knowledge required to discover them.  The client is urged to retain an expert in this field, 
if desired. 

If this appraisal report was transmitted as an “electronic record” containing my “electronic signature,” as those 
terms are defined in applicable federal and/or state laws (excluding audio and video recordings), or a facsimile 
transmission of this appraisal report containing a copy or representation of my signature, the appraisal report shall 
be as effective, enforceable and valid as if a paper version of this appraisal report were delivered containing my 
original hand written signature. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 13 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

DEFINITIONS: 
 
 

FEE SIMPLE ESTATE:1 Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate, 
subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers 
of taxation, eminent domain, police power and escheat. 

 
LEASED FEE ESTATE:2 An ownership interest held by a landlord with the right of use and 

occupancy conveyed by lease to others.  The rights of lessor (the 
leased fee owner) and leased fee are specified by contract terms 
contained within the lease. 

 
MARKET VALUE: 2 The most probable price which a property should bring in a 

competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair 
sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably, 
and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus.  Implicit in 
this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date3 
and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions 
whereby: 

 

 (1) Buyer and seller are typically motivated; 
 

 (2) Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what 
they consider their own best interests; 

 

 (3) A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; 
 

 (4) Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of 
financial arrangements comparable thereto; and, 

 

 (5) The price represents the normal consideration for the property 
sold unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions 
granted by anyone associated with the sale. 

 
1  The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 4th Edition, Appraisal Institute, Chicago 
2  Excerpted from Vol. 55 No. 165, Federal Register Section 34.44 Appraisal Standards 
3  See discussion regarding exposure time and marketability within the Highest and Best Use analysis of this report 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 14 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

VALUATION AND THE APPRAISAL PROCESS 
 
 

An appraisal is an estimate, an opinion of value.  Its accuracy depends on the basic competence and 
integrity of the appraiser and on the soundness and skill by which he or she processed the data.  Its 
worth is influenced by the availability of pertinent data.  The professional appraiser seeks current facts 
and seeks to be practical.  Most importantly, the appraiser’s opinion must be without bias.  As with 
other types of “markets,” the real property appraiser does not make the market; rather, he or she 
interprets the market.  
 
Generally, the appraiser uses three approaches to value: 1) Cost Approach; 2) Direct Sales Comparison 
Approach; and, 3) Income Approach.  Each of these approaches is discussed separately below.  They 
are all comparative approaches in that the basic data comes from direct comparisons in the market, 
indirect comparisons in the market, and/or the appraiser’s judgment, which is based on market 
experience. 
 
In the Cost Approach, the cost to reproduce the property at the date of the appraisal, less an appropriate 
allowance for depreciation (physical deterioration, functional obsolescence, and economic 
obsolescence), is made by market comparisons of cost and depreciation.  The Cost Approach tends to 
set the upper limit of value since no property can be worth more than it would cost to build another 
property of equal utility assuming no reasonable delays. In land appraisals this approach is not 
applicable as land cannot be replaced but is considered a non-depreciating asset. 
 
In the Direct Sales Comparison Approach, the subject property is compared to sales of similar 
properties.  The sales are analyzed to determine similarities and differences, which affect value when 
observed in the market.  These similarities and differences then serve as points of comparison between 
the market data and the subject property.  When necessary, adjustments are made to the comparables to 
account for these differences.  The resulting adjusted value per unit is then used to estimate the value via 
this approach. 
 
In the Income Capitalization Approach, the future operation of the property is estimated from past 
historical data relating to the subject and/or from comparable market data.  Gross rental schedules, 
vacancy and collection losses, fixed expenses, operating expenses and reserves are projected and used to 
estimate net income.  This net income is converted to a value estimate using the capitalization process.  
The capitalization rate (comprised of a return on and a return of the investment) is based on 
demonstrated rates found in the market. (In land appraisals, recapture is not a part of the capitalization 
rate as land is considered a non-depreciating asset.) The method and technique of capitalization is 
determined by the nature of the property in the market.  
 
All approaches were considered for this report, however, the availability, adequacy and pertinence of 
data may limit the approaches actually used, as discussed in the Reconciliation of this report. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 15 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS 
 
 

Market areas influence value of specific properties in many ways. These influences are best 
understood considering their social, economic, governmental and environmental characteristics.  It 
has been said that “social, economic, governmental and environmental forces also influence property 
value near the subject property which, in turn, directly affects the value of the subject property 
itself.”1  Therefore, we will examine each characteristic considering the subject’s market area. 
 
Market Area: Subject is in Council Bluffs, the eighth largest city in Iowa, and Pottawattamie County 
seat, on the west edge of Iowa adjacent to the east bank of the Missouri River and part of the greater 
Omaha-Council Bluffs Core Based Statistical Area (CBSA). We performed a demographic study of 
Council Bluffs2 with results incorporated in the findings below. 
 
Social Characteristics 
 

Demographics:  The 2021 population3 within Council Bluffs was 62,056 down 0.09% from 
2010. Households in 2021 were 21,251 up 0.17% from 2010. Median household income within 
the city is $57,263. 
 
Education: The market area is served by the Council Bluffs Public School District. The level of 
education achieved for persons ages 25 or older within the city is shown as follows. 

 
 
Employment:  Employment by industry within the city is shown as follows. 

 
 
 

 
1 Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, 2008 
2 Demographic Profile, STDBonline 
3  www.stdbonline.com  

http://www.stdbonline.com/


 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 16 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Social Characteristics (Continued)  
 

Largest employers in Council Bluffs are: 

 
 
Housing: The market area has roughly 58.4% of occupants owning their home and 34.1% of homes 
being renter occupied and 7.9% being vacant. 
 
Roadway Linkage:  City of Council Bluffs virtually is encircled by interstate highways due to its 
location at the junction of I-80 and I-29.  I-80 runs through the south part of the city and along the 
east edge.  I-29 runs along the city north edge, down the west side until it meets I-80, cuts along the 
path of I-80 and breaks off south again along the city southeast fringe.  With its location near the 
center of the nation, Council Bluffs is a major transportation hub with nearly 100 motor freight 
carriers serving the area.  Major east/west arterials through the city include West Broadway/ 
Kanesville Boulevard (US Hwy 6), a major undivided four-lane artery, Avenue ‘G’, 9th Avenue, 23rd 
Avenue and US Hwy 275. Major north/south arterials include South Expressway (Hwy 192) 16th, 
25th and 35th Streets. 
 
Other Linkages:  Council Bluffs is served by four major railroads and the Council Bluffs airport 
has a 4,100’ concrete runway providing local charter service.  National air service is available at 
nearby Omaha Eppley Airfield, served by numerous major airlines; through these, direct flights are 
available to both coasts and major cities.  The metro area is served by one major and several smaller 
bus lines.  Metro Area Transit operates city buses serving bulk of the metropolitan area.  Two barge 
lines also serve the metro area during river navigation seasons. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 17 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Social Characteristics (Continued)  
 

Recreation:  Area recreational facilities include three public golf courses, 10 public parks, 10 public 
tennis courts, five public swimming pools, one country club and Lake Manawa State Park.  Council 
Bluffs is the site of the National Western Historic Trails Center, a $12.6 million center consisting of 
an orientation center, auditorium, museum, archival center, meeting rooms and gift shop for the 49-
mile web of biking and walking trails across the city that connect to the longer Wabash trail through 
eastern Iowa.  The number of annual visitors is estimated at 350,000 to 500,000.1 
 
Retail Centers:  Council Bluffs has numerous neighborhood and community retail centers and West 
Broadway serves as a major commercial corridor.  The Manawa Power Center is a large retail center 
at the south end of town at the intersection of I-80 and South Expressway and includes several 
anchor and junior anchor stores.  The Metro Crossing Shopping Center is adjacent southeast of the 
Lake Manawa Power Center and covers 81 acres including 14 pad sites with 40 acres for 
anchors/junior anchors.  The Mall of the Bluffs is an older regional center on the east side of town at 
I-29 and Madison Avenue that has experienced high vacancy in recent years.  

 

Gaming Industry:  Legalized riverboat gambling was introduced in Council Bluffs in the 1990s; 
today, there are three casinos in the market area.  Ameristar Casino Hotel is Iowa’s largest riverboat 
with a 38,500 SF casino.  Harrah’s Casino & Hotel advertises over 1,000 slot machines.  Horseshoe 
Casino, on the grounds of the Bluffs Run Dog Track, has a casino over 68,000 SF in size.  Economic 
and social impact of legalized gambling on individual communities has been hotly debated in recent 
years without achieving a clear consensus.  Many effects have been difficult to measure or quantify.  
Nobel Laureate economist Paul Samuelson wrote, “(Gambling) involves simply sterile transfers of 
money or goods between individuals, creating no new money or goods.  Although it creates no 
output, gambling does nevertheless absorb time and resources.  When pursued beyond the limits of 
recreation, where the main purpose after all is to kill time, gambling subtracts from the national 
income.”2 However, we do not have sufficient information to clearly identify the net effect the 
gambling industry is having on the Council Bluffs market. 
 
Commercial Services:  Council Bluffs has six financial institutions, one daily newspaper, 18 local 
radio stations, six television channels received and cable television.  There are 24 motel/hotels with 
over 1,500, including two adjacent to the riverboat casinos.  There are two general hospitals, each 
with its own school of nursing, with a total 539 beds.  These hospitals serve the local community as 
well as much of adjacent southwest Iowa. 
 
Utilities:  MidAmerican Energy and its rural electric cooperative provide electric power to the 
region at rates below the national average.  Black Hills Energy provides natural gas to Council 
Bluffs.  Water and sewer service are supplied by the City of Council Bluffs and its municipal plan.  
Local telephone service is provided by Qwest Communications and Cox Communications. 
 
 
Governmental Characteristics 
 

Administration:  Council Bluffs has a city council form of government and operates fire and police 
protection services.  Public education facilities include 17 elementary, five junior high, and five 
senior high schools, one trade and technical, one junior and one 4-year college, Iowa Western. 
 

 
1  Director of City Parks and Recreation 
2  Paul A. Samuelson, Economics, 10th ed., 1976, p. 425 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 18 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Real Estate Taxes:  Council Bluffs has a mil levy about twice those found in the general metro 
area.  Levies in Council Bluffs are typically over $4.00 per $100 of assessed value; however, some 
properties (primarily single family houses) receive a rollback. 
 
Environmental Characteristics 
 

Topography:  Per US Census Bureau, the city has a total 39.7 square miles along the east bank of 
the Missouri River with much of the city built in the level floodplain.  Steep wooded river bluffs line 
the city east edge where elevations climb from river valley to central plateau plains.  Council Bluffs 
covers a unique topographic region originally composed of prairie and savanna in the Loess Hills 
with extensive wetlands and deciduous forest along the Missouri River.  Excellent vistas can be had 
from Fairmont Park, the Lincoln Monument, Kirn Park and the Lewis and Clark Monument.  The 
main thoroughfare of Broadway was once part of the Lincoln Highway, North Broadway follows the 
path of Indian Creek north up into the Loess Hills.  Lake Manawa was created by a Missouri River 
flood in 1881 and is at the south edge of the city.  Most of the city lies within the 100-year 
designated floodplain, where it is adjacent to the nearby Indian Creek and Missouri River.  
Completion of flood control projects upstream reduced the flood hazard in the area, but did not 
eliminate this hazard. 
 

Environmental Hazard:  The city has experienced significant ground water contamination along 
West Broadway resulting from historic leaks in area underground petroleum storage tanks.  A plume 
of petroleum-related contaminants including Benzene was identified on the surface of ground water, 
extending from the Missouri River to Kanesville Boulevard (depending on river conditions).  The 
Iowa Department of Natural Resources regulates assessment and remediation of this environmental 
hazard and current monitoring and abatement has been underway for several years.  This hazard is 
not expected to have adverse impact on marketing or valuation of the subject property. 
 
 
Summary 
 

Council Bluffs is a separate but vital part of the greater metro area economy.  Although Council 
Bluffs’ average income is lower than the metro area it has offered low unemployment coupled with a 
growing workforce and good transportation linkages. 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 19 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Area Aerial 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 20 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Immediate Market Area Aerial 
 

 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 21 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

MARKET AREA VIEWS 

 

View south along State Orchard 
Road 

 

View north along State Orchard 
Road, subject at left 

 

View west along Greenview 
Road, subject at left 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 22 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

SITE DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS 
 
 

Subject property is located on the southwest corner of State Orchard Road and Greenview Road which 
is in the east portion of Council Bluffs. The property is surrounded mostly by single family properties. 
Following is a summary of subject characteristics: 
 

Size:  Subject parcel has frontage along State Orchard Road of about 523’ and frontage along 
Greenview Road of about 299’ total site area was reported as of 63,162 square feet or 1.45 acres.  These 
dimensions were taken from public records, as no survey was provided.  
 
Topography:  Subject site appears to have fairly level terrain near the grade level of abutting roads. 
This site appears to have adequate surface water drainage.  
 
Soils:  Subject is presumed free of hazardous materials and the load bearing capacities adequate for 
improvements.  Obvious environmental problems were not observed.  See Limiting Conditions as relate 
to effects on value if environmental contamination is found on property. 
 
Utilities:  All public utilities are present at subject property or in abutting streets.   
 
Easements/Encroachments/Restrictions:  No adverse easements or encroachments were noted on the 
plats and none are known. 
 
Flood Plain/Drainage:  Subject does not appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per 
CoreLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0581F, dated April 16, 2013 (map in report). 
 
Zoning:  Subject is zoned C-2 (Commercial District) under Pottawattamie Counties jurisdiction. The 
Class C-2 District is intended primarily to provide for those business and commercial establishments 
serving the general retail shopping needs of those persons living in the unincorporated areas of the 
County. Properties shall be located along or have direct access to hard surfaced streets. (see zoning 
regulations in Addenda). 
 
Visibility:  Subject has frontage along a 2 lane street on its north side and a 2 lane road on its east side. 
Both of these carry modest amounts of traffic. The views to and from the subject are not dramatically 
obscured by abutting properties or terrain. Based on these factors the subject is considered to have 
average visibility characteristics.   
 
Access:  Subject parcel  has a corner location in an area developed with single family houses. Vehicle 
access is available from State Orchard Road which is surfaced with asphalt changing to crushed rock jus 
south of the subject. Abutting the subject on the north is Greenview Road which handles east/west 
bound traffic and it links with Eastern Hills Road which is a collector street handling traffic in a 
north/south direction. Eastern Hills Road connects with Highway 92 about 2 miles to the south. The 
Interstate Highway system is accessible about 2-miles west of the subject off Madison Avenue.  Based 
on this, subject is considered to have average access characteristics.  
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 23 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Subject Parcel Aerial 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 24 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Subject Plat Map 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 25 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Subject  Zoning Map 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 26 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Subject Flood Map 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 27 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS 
 
 

The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance building. This building contains 3 
drive-in bays a small office on the mezzanine and a restroom. The building is of wood frame 
construction with metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There are 3 overhead doors for 
vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. The building has 2,400 square feet and is located upon a corner site 
with 40,510 SF which is totally fenced. Based on my observations and public records the general 
building components and their condition were summarized as follows: 
 
 

STRUCTURAL FEATURES: 
 

Footings & Foundation:  Footings were not observed; foundation appears to be poured concrete.   
 
Superstructure:  Building is of wood frame construction with metal panels on the exterior elevations 
and a pitched roof. 
 
Floors:  Is poured concrete, specific thickness and load-bearing capacity is unknown; mezzanine floor 
is plywood over wood joists.   
 
Roof:  Roof is a pitched design and was covered with metal panels.  It is drained by a gutter and 
downspout system.  
 
Walls:  Exterior walls are metal panels.   
 
Windows & Doors:  Entry into the building is a direct entry through a metal pedestrian door in an 
aluminum frame. There were no windows in the building. There were 3 overhead drive-in doors of 
insulated metal construction, which were about 14’ x 14’ and electrically operated.  
 
 
MECHANICAL FEATURES: 
 

Electrical Systems:  Electric service was 110/220 volt service with a 150 amp main breaker; protected 
by circuit breakers.  
 
Lighting:  The office portion of the building had fluorescent fixtures, the shop area had LED fixtures.  
 
Heating & Air Conditioning:  There was a gas fired space heater with thru-wall air-conditioning for 
the office area.  
 
Fire Protection System:  None observed 
 
Security System:  None observed 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 28 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
 

INTERIOR: 
 

Restrooms:  There was a restroom equipped with a residential stool, plastic mop sink.  No specific 
investigation of whether or not these facilities meet requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act 
was conducted (see disclaimer in Assumptions at the conclusion of this report).   
 
Interior Finish:  The office portion of the building has a plywood floor but no real finish  
 
Site Improvements:  The parking/drive areas are covered with crushed rock, the balance of the site has 
turf grass. This site has a chain link fence surrounding it.  
 
 
CONDITION/DEPRECIATION: 
 

Subject was reported to have been constructed in 1970. Therefore,  it has a chronological age of 52 
years.  The subject was considered in average condition. Therefore, it is estimated to have effective age 
of 30 years.  Per Marshall Valuation, buildings similar to subject would have an economic life of 40 
years.  Based on these factors, subject is estimated to have non-curable depreciation of 50% (20-year 
effective age ÷ 40-year economic life). 
 
Functional Obsolescence:  The subject’s layout and floor plan is typical for this type of structure in this 
area.  
 
External Obsolescence:  No external obsolescence was observed (in market area description), as there 
appears adequate demand for these type properties. 

 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 29 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Building Sketch 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 30 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

INTERIOR PHOTOS 

 

Shop area 

 

Tool room with mezzanine above 

 

Restroom 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 31 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

 

Office on mezzanine 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 32 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE 
 
 

Definition:  The reasonably probable and legal use of vacant land or improved property, which is 
physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and results in the highest value. 
 
Highest and best use of a specific property is not determined through subjective analysis by the 
appraiser; rather, shaped by the competitive forces in the market where property is located. Therefore, 
the analysis and interpretation of highest and best use is an economic study of market forces focused on 
the subject. The benefit of real estate development produces for a community or amenity contribution 
provided by a planned project (i.e., public space in a park-like area) is not considered in the appraiser’s 
analysis of highest and best use.  Also implied is that the determination of highest and best use results 
from the appraiser’s judgment and analytical skills, i.e., that the use determined from analysis represents 
an interpretation or opinion not a fact to be found.  In appraisal practice, the concept of highest and best 
use represents the premises upon which value is based.  In the context of most probable selling price 
(market value) another appropriate term to reflect highest and best use would be most probable use.  In 
the context of investment value, an alternate term would be most profitable use. 
 
In order for a particular use or a piece of real property to be the highest and best use of that real 
property, several requirements must be met: 
 

1. The use must be legally permissible or reasonably possible. 
2. The use must be physically possible on the site. 
3. The use must be economically and financially feasible under projected market conditions existing. 
4. The use must be the most profitable of the legally permissible, physically possible, and economically 

feasible alternatives. 
 
In estimating its market value, real property is appraised in terms of its highest and best use.  Highest 
and best use analysis is analogous to a feasibility study, in that it is progressive.  Legally permissible or 
physically possible uses are first considered.  After analyzing one, the other is fully considered. 
 
Regarding possible uses, there are five basic categories, which are: 
 

 1. Residential, 
 2. Commercial, 
 3. Industrial, 
 4. Agricultural, and 
 5. Special or public use. 
 
After permissible and possible are concluded, economically feasible uses are next identified; that is, 
those that would pay competitive return on investment in improvements as well as land.  Of these, the 
“maximally productive” or most profitable is highest and best use also referred to as the “ideal” use.1 
 
In estimating highest and best use of property, the site is first analyzed as though vacant, unimproved 
and available for development to its most profitable, likely, legal use.  When improvements are present, 
it is necessary to estimate the highest and best use of the site as improved.  In both cases, the property is 
analyzed from the viewpoint of possible, permissible and feasible uses. 
 

 
1  Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 33 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED) 
 
 

SITE ‘AS IF’ VACANT 
 

Referring to highest and best use ‘as if’ vacant, first test is physical adaptability of land. Potential uses 
include are generally commercial in nature. Agricultural uses are not physically possible due to site size 
in relation to large acreage needs of modern farm operations. The 40,510 SF site appears entirely usable 
and could accommodate most uses, obviously limited by its size. No adverse physical or economic 
conditions were observed. 
 
Second test is legal permissibility of use. Site is zoned C-2 (Commercial District).  Legal uses are 
slightly limiting, as the zoning is designed intended to accommodate office, retail and related activities 
uses. (see zoning regulations in Addenda).  
 
Third test is the financial feasibility, calling for a use generating highest return on and of investment.  
The site is located along State Orchard Road, a lightly traveled street and Greenview Road a moderately 
traveled road.  Office and retail users would not find the site attractive due to the minimal traffic and 
surrounding residential properties. Civic users are often not-for-profit entities that operate on limited 
budgets.  As a result, civic users would likely not be willing to pay as much as a commercial or 
industrial user for a site with the subject characteristics. 
 
Based on site size, zoning, economic and physical characteristics, it is my judgment that the highest and 
best use, as if vacant, would be for industrial use within the scope of the present zoning. 
 
 
“AS IMPROVED” 
 

The four tests of highest and best use, (legal permissibility, physical possibility, financial feasibility 
and maximum productivity) can be applied to the property “as improved” to determine the use that 
will maximize the subject property’s value.  The use maximizing the highest value is the highest and 
best use of the property “as improved.”  
 
The four basic courses of action that can be applied to a property are: 
 

• To demolish improvements and redevelop the site for a new use; or 
• To modify improvements (e.g. renovate, modernize, or convert), or 
• To cure items of deferred maintenance and retain the improvements; or 
• To maintain the improvements “as is”  

 
I analyzed the four courses of action for the subject mixed-use building, in keeping with the four 
main tests of highest and best use, with my analysis described in the following paragraphs: 
 
Demolish & Redevelop:  The existing improvements contribute to site value (concluded in large part 
by competing properties), and it would not be financially feasible to demolish them in order to 
redevelop the land for some alternate use.  Therefore, this option is eliminated on grounds of financial 
feasibility.   
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 34 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED) 
 
 

“AS IMPROVED” (CONTINUED) 
 

Modify Improvements:  I was unable to identify modifications or conversions of existing 
improvements that would increase property value by an amount greater than anticipated cost of 
modifications or conversions.  Therefore, the option to modify improvements is eliminated on grounds 
it would not maximize property value. 
 
Cure Deferred Maintenance or Maintain Improvements:  Subject is considered in average 
condition, with some minor deferred maintenance observed.  The cost to cure this deficiency is not 
considered to increase the value beyond the costs of those improvements. Therefore, the option to 
cure deferred maintenance is ruled out.   
 
The only remaining course of action meeting tests of legal permissibility, physical possibility, 
financial feasibility, and maximum productivity is to continue current use of the subject as a 
maintenance building. 
 
 
EXPOSURE TIME 
 

In order to sell property, it must be exposed to the open market.  The following discussion is 
provided to illustrate current market conditions and estimate exposure time needed to market subject. 
 
Exposure time may be defined as estimated length of time a property interest being appraised would 
have been offered on the open market prior to a hypothetical consummation of sale at market value 
on effective date of the appraisal; a retrospective estimate based on analysis of past events assuming 
a competitive, open market. 
 
The concept of reasonable exposure time encompasses not only adequate, sufficient, reasonable 
time, but also adequate, sufficient, reasonable effort and considers type property being appraised, 
supply/ demand conditions, as of effective date of appraisal and analysis of historical sales 
information (sold after exposure and completion of negotiations between buyer/seller).  Therefore, 
reasonable exposure time is a function of price and use, not an isolated estimate of time. Reasonable 
exposure is always presumed to precede effective date of appraisal and differs for various types of 
real estate under various market conditions. Therefore, my estimate of 12-18 months exposure time 
is based on subject’s determined highest and best use in a highly competitive retail market 
evidencing some demand (albeit limited) for the type of space offered, its highly desirable location, 
but also factoring the slowdown in the real estate market over the past couple years caused by 
recessionary conditions. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 35 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED) 
 
 

MARKETING TIME 
 

Marketing time for the purpose of this report, is defined as an estimated amount of time it might 
take to sell a property interest in real estate at estimated market value during the period immediately 
after the effective date of the appraisal.” 
 
As with reasonable exposure time, estimated marketing time is not intended as a prediction of a date 
of sale or a one-line statement.  The concept of marketing time encompasses other market conditions 
that may affect marketing, e.g., identification of typical buyers/sellers for type of real estate 
involved, typical equity investment levels, and/or financing terms. Therefore, reasonable marketing 
time is a function of price, use, and anticipated market conditions such as changes in cost/availability 
of funds, not an isolated estimate of time. Marketing time occurs after effective date of market value 
estimate and considers such brokerage functions as advertising, arranging financing and marketing 
property to specific investors. Estimates of both reasonable exposure and marketing times are not 
predictions, rather only judgments made by an appraiser. 
 
Properties similar to the subject would appeal primarily to owners due to the single tenant design of 
the subject. A market search done as part of this appraisal provided limited data and, as a result, 
accurately estimating exact time needed to market the property was subjective, but area brokers 
reported recent marketing times for most reasonably priced commercial properties in metro as 
ranging from 1-24 months. The real estate market slowed in late 2007 due to recessionary 
conditions, and this slowdown was magnified by the destabilization of the financial markets in 
October 2008. Loans are still available for qualified borrowers, but typically at lower loan-to-value 
ratios, mitigating lender risk. Present rates (as of effective date of this report) range from 4.5% to 6% 
with terms of 3-30 years and amortizations of 15-30 years. Therefore, I concluded if subject were 
listed for sale in the current market at/near appraised value, reasonable marketing time is anticipated 
within 12 months, assuming the offering is placed with a competent broker active in the area and 
experienced with this property type. Real estate brokerage commissions in the area for this property 
type typically are near 4%-7% of gross sale price. Market also reacts more quickly to properties with 
attractive price/ value ratios, tending to neglect those perceived as unrealistically priced. Skill of 
those marketing property can also influence exposure time needed to consummate a sale, as well as 
the overall economic environment in which property exists. Therefore, the abovementioned 
marketing time is considered reasonably well supported, but is not guaranteed. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 36 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

COST APPROACH 
 
 

The purpose of the Cost Approach is to estimate a Market Value for the subject property based upon the 
cost to construct a new property that enjoys the same utility as the subject property.  This approach is 
based upon the principle of substitution, as it is assumed that a knowledgeable purchaser would not pay 
more for a property than the cost to build a new one.  The improvements are literally constructed “on 
paper” and then any accrued depreciation is subtracted from this value.  This depreciated value estimate 
is then added to the Market Value off the subject site in its highest and best use to arrive at an estimate 
of value for the property as a whole.  More specifically, the steps of the Cost Approach are as follows: 
 

 1. Estimate the value of the site in its highest and best use as if vacant. 
 
 2. Estimate the replacement cost new of all of the improvements. 
 
 3. Estimate accrued depreciation from all sources. 
 
 4. Deduct accrued depreciation from the cost new. 
 
 5. Add the estimated value of the site to arrive at a value for the entire property by the Cost 

Approach. 
 
Due to the older age of the original building, the reliability of this approach is diminished, so it 
was not developed in this report. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 37 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH 
 
 

The Direct Sales Comparison Approach (also known as the Market Data Approach) is the process in 
which a market value estimate is derived by analyzing the market for similar properties and comparing 
these properties to the subject property.  This approach is premised upon the principle of substitution 
which suggests that a prudent person will not pay more to purchase a property than it will cost him or 
her to purchase an equally desirable substitute property.  Another basic premise of the Direct Sales 
Comparison Approach is that the market value of a property is directly related to the prices of 
comparable, competitive properties.1 
 
The comparative analysis performed in this approach focuses on similarities and differences among 
properties and transactions observed in the market which affect value.  These similarities and 
differences then serve as points of comparison between the market data and the subject property.  
Typically, the major points of comparison are: 
 

• Property Rights Conveyed 
• Financing Terms 
• Condition of Sale 
• Time 
• Physical Characteristics 
• Economic Characteristics 

 
A sale of a property that is an exact duplicate of the subject property would be an important and ideal 
indication of value.  In reality, no two properties are exactly alike.  As a result, an adjustment process is 
used when analyzing the major points of comparison. 
 
The known sales with the greatest degree of comparability used in this analysis are adjusted for the 
difference between the comparable and the subject property.  Adjustments are always made FROM the 
comparable TO the subject property.  For example, if the comparable property sold two years ago and 
market analysis suggests that prices have increased 5%, then the sale price of the comparable would be 
increased by 5% to give the indication of value for the subject.  Conversely, if the comparable property 
was in a superior location as compared to the subject and this difference was estimated at 5%, a 
negative adjustment of 5% would be applied to the sale price of the comparable to give the indication of 
value for the subject.  The adjustments for different physical and economic characteristics are handled 
in the same manner.  Adjustments may be by percentages or by dollar amounts or both. 
 
Following are descriptions of known commercial or mixed use properties which sold in recent years in 
the Council Bluffs/Omaha metropolitan area.  After the sales, I have shown location maps, adjustment 
grids, explanation and my final conclusions of the subject property market value from this approach.  

 
1  Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 38 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 39 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 40 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Comparable #3 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4258 

Address 1005 South 17th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1-2 and the west 20' of Lot 3 
including the north 1/2 of the vacated 
adjacent alley, Block 11, Fleming & 
Davis 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 416 SF 

Eave Height 14.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 1998/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 10,880 SF 

Usable Site Size 10,880 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features Fenced, Mezzanine 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date July 17, 2019 

Contract Price $192,500 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$80.21 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$80.21 

Adjusted Price $192,500 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$80.21 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$80.21 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor All Pro Towing, LLC 

Grantee Perfect Diamond Lawns, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-09108 

Source Broker 
 

The property previously sold February 2017, for $160,000. The 2019 sale represents appreciation near 8% per year. 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 41 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Comparable #4 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4269 

Address 919 South 15th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 15 and 16, Block 8, Fleming & 
Davis Subdivision and part of the 
vacated alley 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,592 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,592 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 348 SF 

Eave Height 12.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 2006/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF 

Usable Site Size 8,160 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features Fenced, Mezzanine 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date October 05, 2018 

Contract Price $160,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.73 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.73 

Adjusted Price $160,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.73 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.73 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor Fouts Investments, LLC 

Grantee L & T Properties, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-13139 

Source Public Records, Broker 
 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 42 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Comparable #5 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4326 

Address 712 South 15th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description South 1/2 of Lost 5 and 6, Block 32, 
Everetts Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,000 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 444 SF 

Eave Height 16.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 2006/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF 

Usable Site Size 8,160 SF 

Zoning I-1 

Features Fenced 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date February 11, 2020 

Contract Price $170,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$85.00 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$85.00 

Adjusted Price $170,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$85.00 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$85.00 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor ZaCar Corp 

Grantee T & G Carper, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2020/01996 

Source Public Records, CoStar 
 

This sale represents appreciation of 1.15% per year from previous sale in 2014. 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 43 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Comparable #6 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4328 

Address 1516 Avenue C 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1, 2, and part of Lot 3, Block 3, 
Beers Subdivision 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 316 SF 

Eave Height 12.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 1981/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 14,705 SF 

Usable Site Size 14,705 SF 

Zoning C-2 

Features Fenced 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date January 03, 2019 

Contract Price $210,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$87.50 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$87.50 

Adjusted Price $210,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$87.50 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$87.50 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor Cooks Towing & Repair, Inc 

Grantee DHI, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-00195 

Source Public Records 
 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 44 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Comparable #7 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4329 

Address 1324 9th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 6-7, Part of Lot 8, Block 26, 
Riddles Subdivision 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 3,520 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 3,520 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 720 SF 

Eave Height 10.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 1988/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 12,194 SF 

Usable Site Size 12,194 SF 

Zoning I-1 

Features Fenced 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date September 13, 2018 

Contract Price $215,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.08 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.08 

Adjusted Price $215,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.08 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.08 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor L & T Properties, LLC 

Grantee Michael John Kilnoski 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-12027 

Source Public Records 
 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 45 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Comparable #8 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4811 

Address 2414 9th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Part of Lots 3-5, Block 1 and part of 
Lot 9, Block 17, Ninth Avenue 
Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 5,400 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 5,400 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 1,196 SF 

Eave Height 12.00' 

Construction Good Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2010/ 

Condition Good 
 

Gross Site Size 13,890 SF 

Usable Site Size 13,890 SF 

Zoning I-1 

Features 
 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date September 23, 2020 

Contract Price $390,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$72.22 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$72.22 

Adjusted Price $390,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$72.22 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$72.22 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor Jo Ter Ran Investments, LLC 

Grantee Ht 9th Ave, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2020-13944 

Source Public Records, Broker 
 

Broker noted there was a lot of interest in the property. Sale represents annual appreciation near 5.90% from its 2011 
sale. 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 46 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Sales Map 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 47 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Comparable Sales Grid 
 

SUBJECT SALE #1: SALE #2: SALE #3: SALE #4:

PROPERTY 821 So 27th Street 717 Veterans Mem Hy 1005 So 17th Street 919 So 15th Street

15484 State Orchard Rd Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa

Council Bluffs, Iowa ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED

SALE PRICE       N/A $225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

SALE PRICE/SF N/A $72.58 $130.21 $80.21 $61.73

GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA

MARKET ADJUSTMENTS

   PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0%

$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

   FINANCING N/A Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0%

$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

   CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0%

$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

   DATE OF SALE May-22 Nov-21 2% May-21 3% Jul-19 7% Oct-18 11%

(Inspection) $229,500 $463,500 $205,975 $177,600

PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)

   BUILDING SIZE/SF   2,400 3,100 0% 3,456 0% 2,400 0% 2,592 0%

   LOCATION/SITE Co Bluffs Co Bluffs -5% Co Bluffs -5% Co Bluffs -5% Co Bluffs -5%

   QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls D Avg/Cls C -5% Avg/Cls S 0% Avg/Cls S 0% Avg/Cls S 0%

   INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 5% 0% 3% 0% 17% -5% 13% -3%

   AGE/CONDITION 52/Average 49/Avg -1% 40/AvFr -5% 21/Avg -15% 12/Avg -20%

   SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 16.88:/1 3.51:1 6% 42.85:1 -13% 4.5:1 6% 3.14:1 6%

   AMENITIES Fenced None 5% None 5% Fenced 0% Fenced 0%

NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS 0% -18% -19% -22%

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $229,500 $380,070 $166,840 $138,528

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $74.03 $109.97 $69.52 $53.44

TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS 2% -15% -12% -11%

TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 18% 18% 32% 39%  
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 48 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Comparable Sales Grid 
 

 
SUBJECT SALE #5: SALE #6: SALE #7: SALE 8:

PROPERTY 712 So 15t Street 1516 Avenue C 1324 9th Avenue 2414 9th Avenue

15484 State Orchard Rd Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa

Council Bluffs, Iowa ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED

SALE PRICE       N/A $170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

SALE PRICE/SF N/A $85.00 $87.50 $61.08 $72.22

GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA

MARKET ADJUSTMENTS

   PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0%

$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

   FINANCING N/A Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0%

$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

   CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0%

$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

   DATE OF SALE May-22 Feb-20 6% Jan-19 9% Sep-18 11% Sep-20 5%

(Inspection) $180,200 $228,900 $238,650 $409,500

PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)

   BUILDING SIZE/SF   2,400 2,000 0% 2,400 0% 3,520 0% 5,400 0%

   LOCATION/SITE Co Bluffs Co Bluffs -5% Co Bluffs -5% Co Bluffs -5% Co Bluffs -5%

   QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls D Avg/Cls D 0% Avg/Cls S 0% Avg/Cls C -5% Gd/Cls S 0%

   INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 22% -8% 13% -3% 20% -7% 22% -8%

   AGE/CONDITION 52/Average 14/Avg -19% 38/Avg -7% 30/Avg -11% 10/Gd -25%

   SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 16.88:/1 4.08:1 6% 6.13:1 5% 3.46:1 6% 2.57:1 6%

   AMENITIES Fenced Fenced 0% Fenced 0% Fenced 0% None 5%

NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -26% -10% -22% -27%

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $133,348 $206,010 $186,147 $298,935

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $66.67 $85.84 $52.88 $55.36

TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -20% -1% -11% -22%

TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 38% 24% 39% 48%  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 49 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

ADJUSTMENT RATIONALE 
 

The preceding represents the only known sales of industrial properties considered of similar condition, 
design, use, and/or location in Council Bluffs or competing areas of the metro.  All these properties 
were considered to be similar to the subject, but did require some adjusting to make them equal to 
subject.  Sale prices were reduced to the common denominator of price per square foot of GBA, as this 
is a normal unit of measurement in market buying and selling decisions. 
 
Market Condition Adjustments 
 

Adjustments were not required for property rights conveyed, financing, or condition of sale, as all were 
considered normal for the market.   
 
All the sales were considered for adjustment due to date of sale.  I observed a general increase in 
property values in the metro area over the past few years, typically ranging from 3% to 4% annually 
until late 2007 when recessionary conditions began. The market slowdown was magnified following 
destabilization of the financial markets in October 2008, demonstrated by the lack of known sales 
occurring since that time. The market has been improving since 2010 and therefore, I applied an annual 
appreciation to these sales of 3% after that time.  
 
Physical Condition Adjustments 
 

The sales are typically adjusted for the relative improvement size difference with the subject building, 
due to dissimilar sizes and economies of scale.  Adjustments were not considered necessary as all were 
similar in size to subject.   
 
Adjustments were considered for overall construction quality.  Adjustments were derived from Marshall 
Valuation Service estimated costs to bring properties equal to the subject and from the market reaction 
to these differences. 
 
Adjustments for age of improvements were given as typically buyers are concerned about remaining 
economic life of property.  A rounded 1/2% per year of difference with subject age was derived as an 
appropriate adjustment and applied accordingly.  Additional adjustments for condition were applied 
separately, based on cost estimates to bring properties equal and accounts for the effective age of the 
improvements. 
 
Adjustments for amenities were also considered as properties with additional features, such as fencing 
generally yield higher sale prices. Subject has a fenced outdoor storage area as did sales #3 through #7, 
so those were not adjusted, remining sales had no amenities so positive adjustments were applied.    
 
Adjustments for location were considered as all of these properties were located in areas with slightly 
more desirability than the subject so small negative adjustments were applied.  
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 50 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

RECONCILIATION 
 

Before adjusting, the sale prices ranged from $61.08/SF in Sale #7 to $130.21/SF in Sale #2.  After the 
aforementioned adjustments were applied, the indicated values ranged from $52.88/SF in Sale #7 to 
$109.97/SF in Sale #2. Net percentage adjustments ranged from -22% to +2% while gross adjustments 
ranged from 18% to 48%.   
 
Generally, sales with the smallest amount of adjustment are the best indicators of value.  Sales #1 and 
#2 required the least adjusting, indicating values of $74.03 & $109.97/SF. Sale #1 is supported by 2 
other sales indicating values of $69.52/SF and $66.67/SF, while sale #2 is not supported. Remaining 
sales indicated values of $52.88/SF to $85.84/SF; majority of the sales 7 out of 8 indicated values from 
$52.88 to $85.84/SF. Therefore, a value estimate for the subject within that range would have the 
broadest support.  
 
The market search revealed no similar properties on the market currently: 
 

Therefore, based on the foregoing data and analysis, I estimated ‘as is’ market value of the subject at 
$80.00/SF, as of the effective date of this report with the total value developed as follows: 
 

 Indicated Value x Gross Bldg Size = Total Rounded to 
 $80.00/SF x 2,400 SF = $192,000    $190,000 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 51 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH 

 
 

From an investor’s perspective, the earning power of a real estate investment is the critical element 
affecting its value.  The fundamental investment premise is the higher the earnings the higher the value.  
Investment in an income-producing property represents the exchange of present dollars for the right to 
receive future dollars.  In the Income Capitalization Approach to value, the appraiser analyzes a 
property’s capacity to generate benefits and converts these benefits into an indication of present value.1 
 
The basic steps involved in this approach are: 
 

1. Estimate potential gross income; 

2. Estimate and deduct a vacancy and collection loss allowance; 

3. Estimate and deduct expenses; 

4. Estimate duration and pattern of income stream; 

5. Select an applicable capitalization method and technique; 

6. Develop the appropriate rate; 

7. Complete the computations necessary to derive an economic value. 
 
The primary reason for making gross income estimates is to identify probable net income benefits that 
may be derived from ownership interest of the income-producing property.  In accepted appraisal 
practice, the usual basis for a gross income projection is economic rent.  Economic (market) rent is 
defined as being the rental income that a property would most probably command in the open market; it 
is indicated by current rents paid and asked for comparable space as of the date of the appraisal. 
 
Income Analysis 
 

Subject property is presently owner occupied therefore, no rental information on the property is known.  
 
Comparable properties found are summarized on the following pages. Operating expenses were 
estimated from actual historic operating statements from expenses for commercial properties I have 
observed in the metro area combined with national investor surveys. 

 
1  The Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 52 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Comparable #1 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1012 

Address 1310 South 17th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1-8, Block 21 Fleming & Davis 
 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 2,200 SF 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 2003/ 

Condition Average 

Height 18.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 60,984 SF 

Usable Site Size 60,984 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 14,000 SF 

Lease Date February 28, 2018 

Lease Term February 28, 2018 - January 31, 2023 

Starting Base Rent $5.20/SF 

Rent Description Fixed for lease. 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba MP Nexlevel 

Source Broker 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 53 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Comparable #2 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1398 

Address 15 South 20th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Commercial :: Vehicle-Related - 
Service 

Legal Description 
 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 9,120 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 1979/ 

Condition Fair 

Height N/A 
 

Gross Site Size 40,692 SF 

Usable Site Size 40,692 SF 

Zoning C-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 9,120 SF 

Lease Date August 01, 2018 

Lease Term September 01, 2018 - August 31, 
2023 

Starting Base Rent $5.75/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba Jake's Towing and Transport 

Source CoStar 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 54 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Comparable #3 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1013 

Address 3319 Nebraska Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description 
 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 41,760 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 1969/ 

Condition Average 

Height 13.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 100,188 SF 

Usable Site Size 100,188 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 7,020 SF 

Lease Date October 11, 2018 

Lease Term October 11, 2018 - October 10, 2021 

Starting Base Rent $4.35/SF 

Rent Description Fixed for term. 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba McDowell Roofing 

Source Broker 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 55 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Comparable #4 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1014 

Address 2110 23rd Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 8-12, Block 11, Railroad 
Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 5,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Average Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2003/ 

Condition Average 

Height N/A 
 

Gross Site Size 25,245 SF 

Usable Site Size 25,245 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 2,700 SF 

Lease Date October 19, 2018 

Lease Term November 19, 2018 - 

Starting Base Rent $7.11/SF 

Rent Description 7.78/SF in Year 2 
8.22/SF in Year 3 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Gross 
 

Lessee  
dba Syndicate Diesel 

Source Broker 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

One month of free rent 

 

Garage space with mezzanine office. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 56 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Comparable #5 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1242 

Address 1305 Lew Ross Road 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 5 & 6, Block 2, First Foundation 
Sub., Council Bluffs, Pottawattamie 
County, IA 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 17,840 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 6,244 SF 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 1996/ 

Condition Good 

Height 14.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 87,555 SF 

Usable Site Size 87,555 SF 

Zoning 
 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 8,000 SF 

Lease Date April 22, 2019 

Lease Term May 01, 2019 - April 30, 2022 

Starting Base Rent $6.95/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba New Covenant Electronics 

Source CoStar Confirmation 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 57 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Comparable #6 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1369 

Address 1220 35th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision 
Phase II 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Good Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2005/ 

Condition Good 

Height 18.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 43,995 SF 

Usable Site Size 43,995 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 3,700 SF 

Lease Date June 30, 2019 

Lease Term August 29, 2019 - 

Starting Base Rent $6.00/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba Safariworks Decor 

Source CoStar 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 58 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Comparable #7 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1368 

Address 1220 35th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision 
Phase II 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Good Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2005/ 

Condition Good 

Height 18.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 43,995 SF 

Usable Site Size 43,995 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 7,000 SF 

Lease Date December 01, 2019 

Lease Term December 01, 2019 - 

Starting Base Rent $5.25/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba Caeser's Entertainment 

Source CoStar 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 59 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Comparable #8 

 
Photograph from Pottawattamie County Assessor 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1588 

Address 1309 Avenue J 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market 13th & Avenue J 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1-3, Block 8, Potter-Cobbs First 
Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 4,160 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 784 SF 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 1986/ 

Condition Average 

Height 12.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 15,730 SF 

Usable Site Size 15,730 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 4,160 SF 

Lease Date October 31, 2021 

Lease Term November 02, 2021 - 

Starting Base Rent $8.25/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee Brown Heavy Equipment 

Source CoStar; Marketing Brochure 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 

Net expenses were $1.44/SF for taxes and insurance, and tenant to provide maintenance at own expense. 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 60 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Comparable Rentals Map 
 
 



INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

MARKET LEASE RATE ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSION  
 

Comparables found reported rental rates of $4.35/SF to $10.50/SF, on triple net and gross terms. These 
comparables are considered to be similar to subject and would be competitive with it in the current 
market. As the subject was in average condition and it has fenced outdoor storage; it is my opinion the 
market rent for the subject would be reasonable at $9.00/SF on triple net terms. 
 
Miscellaneous Income: Some properties similar to subject in this area receive additional income from 
garage rentals, vending machines, forfeited deposits, etc. Subject does not appear to have any other 
potential sources of income.  
 
Vacancy and Collection Losses 
 

A vacancy and collection loss must be deducted from potential gross income to arrive at property 
effective gross income (EGI). A current 2022 survey conducted by Costar.com reports average 
vacancy of 48.85% for industrial properties in Council Bluffs.  
 
The subject space is a single tenant design, so it would be either 100% occupied or 100% vacant at 
any one time. Based upon the subject properties location in an area with primarily residential 
properties nearby, it is my opinion a 10% vacancy rate would be reasonable for the property. 
 
Actual rent, vacancy and EGI were then summarized as follows: 
 

Potential Commercial Rental Income  2,400 SF x $9.00/SF $21,600 
Less:  10% Vacancy and Collection Loss  - $2,160 
Effective Gross Income       $19,440 
 
Operating Expenses 
 

Operating expenses that are the property owner’s responsibility are deducted from projection of EGI to 
arrive at property’s NOI. Such operating expenses include real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance, 
utilities and property management fees.  To estimate appropriate allowance for operating expenses, I 
considered actual known data from market expenses of other properties observed. No information for 
the subject was provided. Estimates of operating expenses were then summarized as follows: 
 
Real Estate Taxes:  Property taxes for the subject were not posted so my estimate is based upon the 
assessed for the subject ($267,300) and the current tax rate ($24.145880) which equates to $6,454.  
These appear reasonable based upon the sales comparison approach and other properties observed. So 
stabilized taxes will be estimated at $6,500 annually with the owner paying these during vacant periods 
only. 
 



 

 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Operating Expenses (Continued) 
  

Insurance:  Property and hazard insurance for commercial buildings have been observed near $0.10/SF 
to $0.85/SF of gross building area for sprinklered buildings, and $0.15/SF to $0.55/SF for non-
sprinklered buildings, and have been rising in recent years.  Actual insurance costs for the subject were 
not disclosed. So, for purposes of this analysis, an estimate of $0.40/SF is considered reasonable or a 
total cost of a rounded $960 annually.   
 
Management:  Typical third party management fees for properties similar to the subject property range 
4% to 7% of EGI.  The actual management expenses for the subject are unknown.  Management duties 
generally include supervision of property maintenance, bookkeeping, and management overhead.  No 
unusual aspects of the management function are foreseen in conjunction with the subject property, so I 
estimate an expense of 3% of base rent as reasonable for the subject property.   
 
Administrative & Professional Fees: A general administrative expense was considered appropriate to 
reflect typical owner accounting and legal fees. This expense category would include a small amount 
for owner’s office overhead and typically ranges from 0.5% to 1.5% of EGI. The actual expenses are 
unknown as no operating statements were furnished. General administrative expense was estimated at 
0.50% of base rent in this analysis. 
 
Utilities:  As no operating statements were provided my estimate of $1.00/SF is based on observations 
of other commercial properties, with the owner paying during vacant periods only.  
 
Repairs & Maintenance:  This expense category reflects items such as repairs to mechanical systems, 
roof, painting and items of general upkeep such as pest control, cleaning, snow and trash removal.  
Actual costs were not provided; typical repair & maintenance expenses observed for other commercial 
properties have ranged from $0.50/SF to over $3.00/SF, depending in large part on a property’s age and 
building size. As a result, with the building in average condition with minimal deferred maintenance, I 
estimate an expense of $1.00/SF for the subject, rounded to $2,400 annually.   
 
Reserves for Replacement:  Although not typically incurred as an annual cash outlay, a reserve for 
replacement expense is appropriate to reflect future replacement of short-lived items such as carpeting, 
mechanical systems (including water heaters and HVAC units), kitchen appliances, exterior paving, 
roofing, etc. RealtyRates.com investor survey for 1st Q 2022 indicated reserve requirements for 
industrial properties reported as $0.26 to $0.85 with an average of $0.56/SF.  By comparison, the PWC 
Investors Survey reports replacement reserves for national warehouse properties range from $0.05/SF to 
$0.35/SF, averaging $0.14/SF in the 1st Q 2022.  In my opinion, an appropriate replacement reserve for 
the subject property is a rounded $0.20/SF.   
 
Miscellaneous:  A miscellaneous expense is typically included to account for such items as tenant-
related social expenses, holiday decorations, security services, etc.  Therefore, an expense of $100 per 
year was considered appropriate. 



 

 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

PROFORMA OPERATING STATEMENT (FEE SIMPLE) 
 
 

 

PROFORMA OPERATING STATEMENT

Rental Income SQ FT Rent/SF Annual Income

Estimated Market Rent 2,400 $9.00 $21,600

Total Potential Gross Income $21,600

Vacancy & Collection Allowance: 10.0% $2,160

Effective Rental Income $19,440

Other Income $0

Total Effective Gross Income: $19,440

Operating Expenses: Amount

Management Fee 3.0% $583 $58

General & Administrative 0.5% $97 $97

Real Estate Taxes 33.44% $6,500 $650

Insurance 4.94% $960 $96

Utilities 0.00% $0 $0

Repairs & Maintenance 12.35% $2,400 $240

Reserves for Replacement 2.47% $480 $480

Miscellaneous 0.51% $100 $100

Total Expenses 8.86% $1,722

Net Operating Income $17,718  



 

 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE 
 

Several methods of developing a capitalization rate can be used.  The best of which is the Market 
Extraction Method, where the incomes of comparable properties that have recently sold are known.  
Sale transactions used in this report did not reveal cap rates however, other properties observed 
which would be considered competitive with subject indicated cap rates of 7.60% to 9.00%. 
 
A national survey was examined for further support of overall capitalization rate.  The PWC Real 
Estate Investor Survey for the 1st Qtr 2022 reports national capitalization rates for secondary 
industrial properties in a range of 5.25% to 9.00% with average of 7.13%. Capitalization rates in the 
local market area have typically been higher than national rates.  Capitalization rates are typically 
higher for older and smaller properties. 
 
In order to estimate current capitalization rates, a second method is used called the Band of 
Investment, Analysis, which is a yield capitalization procedure used in estimating an overall 
capitalization rate to be applied to the net operating income of a property.  The band of investment 
formula addresses the yield requirements of both the lender’s interest and the investor’s interest 
considering current lending and investment rates. When the components used in the band of 
investment formula are market-derived, the value indication obtained is reflective of market value.  
RealtyRates.Com released their 1st Q 2022 Investor Survey reporting interest rates for industrial 
properties ranging from 2.86% to 7.41%, averaging 4.80%. The average spread from 10-Year 
Treasury notes was 3.24%. Loan-to-value ratios ranged from 50% to 80% (average 70%), average 
amortization period was 25 years with average term of 11.46 years and average debt coverage ratio 
of 1.46. Per PwC Investors Survey for 1st Q 2022, institutional grade discount or yield rates for national 
warehouse properties ranged from 7.00% to 10.00%, averaging 8.50%.   
 



 

 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE 
 

Based on the preceding, the following components are then used in the band of investment analysis. 
 

Mortgage Components: 
 

 Loan/Value Ratio:   70% 
 Loan Rate:    5.0% selected 
 Amortization Period:   25 years with balloon payment due at end of 10th Year 
 Mortgage Constant (Rm):   .0709 
  
Equity Components: 
 

 Equity Ratio:    30% 
 Equity yield rate (Ye):   9.5% 
  

 

The calculation of the overall capitalization rate by the band of investment technique is as follows: 
 

Band of Investment Technique 
 

 Loan Ratio x Mortgage Constant = Weighted Average 
 

 .70 x .0709 = 0.049 
 

 Equity Ratio x Equity Yield Rate 
 

 .30 x .095 = (+) 0.0285 
 

Total Weighted Average   0.0775 
 

Indicated Overall Capitalization Rate   7.75% 
 
This mechanical or calculated overall rate typically is below the market extracted rates as lending 
terms are still considered favorable for qualified applicants; so, it was given only secondary rounding 
weight in my overall or “going-in” capitalization rate selection for the subject property.   
 
Therefore, based on subject characteristics with and the current demand for this property type in the 
local market, I selected a rounded 8.50% as the capitalization rate currently appropriate for the 
subject property in this market.  To arrive at a value estimate for the subject property, the estimated 
annual net operating income must be divided by the overall capitalization rate.  Therefore, I estimate 
the market value of the subject property, as of the effective date of this report, as follows. 
 

Fee Simple 

Net Operating Income Capitalization Rate Indicated Value Rounded

$17,718 ÷ 8.50% = $208,453 $210,000  



 

 

RECONCILIATION AND FINAL ESTIMATE OF VALUE 

 
 

Reconciliation is the process of coordinating and integrating related factors to form a conclusion 
regarding the appraised property’s Market Value. Each appraisal approach was considered as to 
adequacy, accuracy and overall reliability.  The following estimates were based on subject’s highest and 
best use in this report and primarily on available market data furnished by the property owner and 
others.  
 
Market Value via the Cost Approach  Not Applicable 

Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach   $190,000 

Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple)  $210,000 
 
The Cost Approach typically uses replacement cost method of determining new cost of building 
improvements, typically representing the highest value.  Depreciation is calculated for deferred 
maintenance and normal wear and tear.  The shortcoming of this method normally results from the 
calculations for depreciation, as age and obsolescence are difficult to precisely measure in the market 
place.  The subject building is older, resulting in accrued depreciation which becomes subjective 
reducing the reliability of this approach below acceptable levels.  Therefore, it was not developed in this 
report. 
 
The Direct Sales Comparison Approach compares sales of similar properties.  Adjustments were made 
for variations from the subject property based on available market data.  After adjustments, a reasonable 
range of indicated values was evident and I selected the value from the range most representative of the 
appraised building.  This approach is generally the best method of reflecting market attitudes toward 
property, particularly when owner-occupied buildings are involved and there is an active market with 
numerous sales.  However, this approach is less persuasive when the property is purchased as an 
investment.  As the subject property is a single-tenant building it would likely appeal to an owner but if 
leased it could appeal to an investor therefore equal weight was given in the final value estimate for the 
subject.   
 
The Income Capitalization Approach was considered and could be used in this report.  Since an 
adequate amount of rent, expense and cap rate data was available for the subject property, this approach 
was considered reliable so was given significant weight in the final value estimate for the subject also.   
 
Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the 
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is” Market Value of the subject 
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was: 
 

TWO HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($200,000) 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 
General Certified Appraiser - IA CG01439 
                                                NE CG920142 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

ADDENDA 



 

 

APPRAISER’S QUALIFICATIONS 
 

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 

 
PROFESSIONAL: 
 
MAI Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1991 
SRA Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1977 
General Certified Appraiser, State of Nebraska (CG 920142) 1992 
General Certified Appraiser, State of Iowa (CG 01439) 1992 
Licensed Real Estate Salesman in the State of Nebraska 1972 
Vice President/Appraiser Mitchell & Associates 1990-Present 
Property Underwriter/Assistant Vice President,  
   Occidental Nebraska Federal Savings Bank 1973-90 
 
 
MEMBER: 
 
Appraisal Institute: Former President Nebraska Chapter and currently active in this chapter and 
former Chapter Services Chairman for Region II and have served on the National Chapter Services 
Committee 
Nebraska Real Estate Association 
Omaha Area Board of Realtors Former Executive Committee, Commercial Investment Council 
Tangier Shrine, Scottish Rite and Mercer Lodge 
Past Membership: Society of Real Estate Appraisers, Eastern Nebraska, Chapter #111  
 
EDUCATION: 
 
University of Nebraska Lincoln 
University of Nebraska Omaha 
 
Continuing education through attendance at various appraisal seminars sponsored by the Appraisal 
Institute and other industry organizations; courses listed on a separate page. 
 
EXPERIENCE: 
 
Areas of appraisal experience include multi-family residential; commercial; industrial; vacant land; 
special purpose properties; and single family residential.  Appraisals have been completed for 
mortgage loans, condemnation, litigation, and asset management purposes. 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 69 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

RECENT APPRAISAL EDUCATION 
D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA 

  

    CLASS 
DATE COURSE SPONSOR HOURS 
2017 Honing In…Updates, Market Perspectives & Prof. Development AI 4 
2016 Local Market Snapshot AI 4 
2016 Understanding the Basics of Excel & Linear Regression AI 4 
2016 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2016 USPAP Update AI 7 
2015 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2014 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2014 The Discounted Cash Flow Model AI 7 
2014 USPAP Update AI 7 
2013 Property Acquisition & Need for Site Assessment Randall School of RE 3 
2013 Environmental Issues in Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
2013  Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2013 Online Supervising Appraisal Trainees AI 4 
2012 USPAP Moore Group 7 
2012 Effective Appraisal Writing AI 7 
2011 Ethical Decision Making in Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
2011 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2011 Commercial Appraisal Engagement & Review AI 7 
2011 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff 3 
2010 USPAP AI 7 
2010 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff 3 
2010 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2010 Appraisal Curriculum Overview AI 15 
2009 Online Business Practices & Ethics AI 4 
2009 Report Writing Workshop The Moore Group 7 
2009 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2008 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2008 USPAP AI 7 
2007 Standard 3 Review Training Session NE Appraiser Bd 4 
2007 Understanding & Testing DCF Valuation Models AI 4 
2007 Analyzing Distressed Real Estate AI 4 
2007 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 6 
2006 Uniform Standards of Professional Practice Moore Group 7 
2006 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
2005 Market Analysis & the Site to do Business AI 7 
2005 Radon & Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
2004 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice AI 7 
2004 Loss Prevention for Real Estate Appraisers AI 4 
2004 Rates and Ratios AI 7 
2003 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
2003 Client Pressure Seminar NE Appraiser Bd. 3 
2003 Appraisal Consulting AI 7 
2002 Mark to Market AI 3 
2002 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8.5 
2001 Appraisers & Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act AI 3 
2001 Regression Analysis in Appraisal Practice AI 7 
2001 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
  CLASS 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 70 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

DATE COURSE SPONSOR HOURS 
2000 Commercial Appraisal Problem Solving Mid-West Appraisers 7 
2000 Appraisal of Non-Conforming Uses AI 7 

2000 Standards of Professional Practice AI 15 

2000 Ed Tour (Tomorrows Information Today) NE. Appraiser Board 3 
2000 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
1999 Internet Search Strategies AI 7 
1999 Appraisal of Local Retail Properties AI 7 
1999 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
1998 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 6 
1997 Affordable Housing AI 7 
1997 Analyzing Operating Expenses AI 7 
1997 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 6 
1996 Highest & Best Use AI 7 
1996 Standards of Professional Practice AI 26 
1995 Advanced Income Capitalization AI 36 
1995 Emerging Technologies in Appraising AI 5 
1995 Experience Review Training AI 4 
1995 Apartment Update AI 1 
1994 FHA Guidelines AI 7 
1994 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed. 3 
1993 Appraising Apartments AI 7 
1993 Agency Relationships in Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
1993 Mock Trial Seminar AI 7 
1993 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
1993 FIRREA:  Overview & Application AI 7 
1992 ADA Seminar AI 5 
1992 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 5 
1991 Standards of Professional Practice AIREA 7 
1990 Small Residential Form SREA 7 

 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 71 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 72 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

USPAP MINIMUM STANDARDS 
 
 

For the convenience of the reader or any reviewer of this report, we have included a copy of the fourteen 
points of the Minimum Appraisal Standards.  Appraisals must: 
 

1.    Conform to USPAP, except that the Departure Provision, which allows below minimum work, will not 
apply; 

2.    Include a disclosure of any steps taken in order to comply with the Competency Provision of USPAP; 

3.    Be based on the market value or other values as defined in the attached DEFINITIONS; 

4.    [i] Be written and presented in a narrative format; 
[ii] Be sufficiently descriptive to enable the reader to ascertain the market value and the  
 rationale for the estimate; 
[iii] Provide detail and depth reflective of the complexity of the property appraised; 

5.    Analyze and report in reasonable detail any prior sales of the property within the last three years; 

6.    Analyze and report current revenues, expense, and vacancies on income producing properties rather 
than estimated or projected figures not supported by current market conditions; 

7.    Use a reasonable marketing period for the property; 

8.    Analyze current market conditions and trends that will affect the income, absorption, or value of the 
property; 

9.    Report both the “as is” (using appropriate deductions and discounts for holding and marketing costs, 
and entrepreneurial profit) and the stabilized market values for developmental property; report both the 
value-in-use and liquidation value for owner-occupied property; 

10.    Include in the USPAP required certification an additional statement that:  “The appraisal assignment 
was not based on a requested minimum valuation, a specific valuation, or the approval of a “loan”; 

11.    Contain sufficient supporting documentation to allow the reader to ascertain the appraiser’s logic, 
reasoning, judgment, and analysis; 

12.    Include a legal description of the subject property (in addition to the description required by USPAP); 

13.    Identify and value separately any non-real estate items; 

14.    Use and reconcile the income, direct sales, and cost approaches to value, and explain the omission of 
any approach not used; 

If any information necessary to complete the appraisal is unavailable, this fact must be disclosed. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 73 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 74 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 75 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 76 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 77 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 78 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 79 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 80 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 81 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 82 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

 



© Copyright 2022, Mitchell & Associates, Inc. 

AN 
APPRAISAL 

 
 
 

OF 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 

705 OAK STREET 
WALNUT, IOWA 

 
 
 

AS OF 
 
 

May 16, 2022 
 
 
 

PREPARED FOR 
 
 

Ms. Kristina Treantos 
Via email 

Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov 
 
 
 

PREPARED BY 
 
 

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 
Certified General Appraiser 

 
 
 

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
14611 West Center Road 
Omaha, Nebraska 68144



 

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
ROBERT F. MITCHELL, SR., 1893-1983 

ROBERT F. MITCHELL, JR., SRPA 1927-2020 

R. GREGG MITCHELL, SRA 

D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA KEVIN P. HERMSEN, MAI 

W. BRUCE WILKIE DAVID C. WELLSANDT, MAI 

BETH ANDERSEN MELISSA L. RUTHERFORD 

RICHARD C. WITTMANN MARK SCHAECHER 

REBECCA BELLOWS ALEX FINKLE 

JAMES ANDERSEN  

 

S:\Reports\2022/00220818\Report.doc 

Real Estate  Appraisers  & Consultants 
 

 
14611 West Center  Road ■ Omaha, Nebraska 68144 ■  PH. 402-330-4500 ■ FAX 402-330-7207 

June 6, 2022 
 

Ms. Kristina Treantos RE: File #00220818 - Appraisal 
Via email Commercial Property 
Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov  705 Oak St. 
  Walnut, Iowa 
 

Dear Ms. Treantos: 
 

In response to your request and for the purpose of estimating the Market Value of the above referenced 
property for asset management purposes, I have personally visited the property, and then conducted an 
analysis of the matters pertinent to its current market value.  My findings are included in the following 
report of 66 pages, plus the supporting Addenda. 
 

This report is intended to be in conformity with the prevailing Standards and Ethics of the Uniform 
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) of the Appraisal Foundation and the Appraisal 
Institute.  It is independently prepared so is not based on a requested minimum value, specific valuation 
nor the approval of a loan. It is also in conformity with the laws and Minimum Standards of the State of 
Iowa where I am licensed. 
 

Your attention is directed toward the sections titled Limiting Conditions and Assumptions, 
Definitions, and Appraiser’s Certification, which address contingencies of the appraisal. Additional 
contingencies may be interspersed throughout the report where appropriate; therefore, this report 
should be considered in its entirety. Your attention is also directed to the special consideration noted 
on page 11 regarding the COVID-19 outbreak. The effective date for this appraisal is in a time 
where the community is experiencing a serious reaction to the outbreak including many closures or 
cancellations including school districts, state and federal declarations of emergency. Public health 
officials are calling for social distancing and limited exposure to others. There is currently 
insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the general market or to 
specific properties in regards to any effects on value or marketing times. 
 

Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the 
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is” Market Value of the subject 
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was: 
 

ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($100,000) 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 
General Certified Appraiser - IA CG0143 NE CG9201429;                                                    

 
  



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 Page 
 

Identification of Property, Summary of Salient Facts and Scope of Work 4 
 
Scope of Work 7 
 

Appraiser’s Certification 10 
 

Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 11 
 

Definitions 13 
 

Valuation and the Appraisal Process 14 
 

DESCRIPTIONS 
 

Market Area Description and Analysis 15 
 

Site Description and Analysis 20 
 

Description and Analysis of Improvements 24 
 

ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS 
 

Highest and Best Use 29 
 

Cost Approach 33 
 

Direct Sales Comparison Approach 34 
 

Income Capitalization Approach 49 
 

Reconciliation and Final Estimate of Value 66 
 
 

ADDENDA 
 

Qualifications of Appraiser 

USPAP Standards 

Flood Plain Map 

Zoning Regulations 

Engagement Letter 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 4 
Walnut, Iowa 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY 
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS 

 
 

LOCATION: 705 Oak Street, Walnut, Iowa 51577. This is between North and 
Pleasant Streets, in Walnut Iowa, which is in the eastern portion of 
Pottawattamie County, Iowa. 

 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Briefly described as the east 382 feet of the west 407 feet in the south ½ 

of the south ½ in the northwest, northeast southwest in 9-77-38, Walnut 
Town in Pottawattamie County, Iowa 

 
OWNER OF RECORD: Pottawattamie County 
 Council Bluffs, Iowa 
 
CLIENT/INTENDED USE: The report was ordered by Ms. Kristina Treantos with Pottawattamie 

County, who advised this appraisal would be used in asset management 
purposes.  There are no other intended uses or users of this report. 

 
APPRAISAL PURPOSE: Purpose of this appraisal is to provide a supported estimate of the ‘as is’ 

fee simple market value of the subject property, as of the date of the site 
visit. 

 
INSPECTION DATE: On May 16, 2022, I personally visited subject in the company of Shawn 

Bluml with Pottawattamie County.  Most photos used in this report 
were taken at the time of this inspection. 

 
EFFECTIVE DATE: This appraisal has an effective date of May 16, 2022, the date of the 

property visit. 
 
SUBJECT DESCRIPTION: The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance 

building. This building contains 2 drive-in bays an open office and a 
restroom it was built in 1990. The building is of pre-engineered steel 
construction with metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There 
are 2 overhead doors for vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. The 
building has 1,680 square feet and is located upon an interior site with 
63,162 SF.  

 
ZONING: The city zoning map shows the subject to be in a residential district.  
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 5 
Walnut, Iowa 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY 
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED) 

 
 

FLOOD PLAIN STATUS: Subject does not appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per 
CoreLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0375F, dated April 16, 
2013 (map in report). 

 
TITLE HISTORY: Per county records, subject does not appear to have sold in the past five 

years. 
 
TAX ASSESSMENT: Real estate taxes for Pottawattamie County are combined in one billing 

for all governmental subdivisions. The County Assessor is responsible 
for estimating ‘actual value’ to which tax rates are applied. Subject 
(Parcel #77380932605) is assessed as follows:  

  
 
TAX RATE: The 2020 tax rate was $36.280540 per $1,000 of assessed value, which 

appears normal for commercial properties in this area. The 2021 tax rate 
has not been set, as of the effective date of this report. 

 
REAL ESTATE TAXES: Per Pottawattamie County Treasurer’s Office, shows net real estate 

taxes of $0 as it is owned by a government entity. Generally these taxes 
have delinquent dates of September 1, 2020 for the first half and March 
1, 2021 for the second half. Subject is appraised as if all historic tax 
obligations (including additional interest or penalties) are paid current. 

 
PERSONAL PROPERTY: No furniture, fixtures, business or equipment values are included in this 

report. 
 
HIGHEST & BEST USE: As concluded herein, highest and best use of subject is ‘as is’ with a 

maintenance shed. 
 
EXPOSURE TIME: As described herein, exposure time is estimated time a property interest 

being appraised would have been offered on the market prior to a 
hypothetical consummation of sale at market value on effective date of 
appraisal. Based on a retrospective opinion of past events, assuming a 
competitive, open market, I estimated that would have been within 12-
months, reflecting current market conditions. 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 6 
Walnut, Iowa 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY 
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED) 

 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL Existing improvement is a maintenance shed It is unknown if  
CONDITIONS: hazardous components/materials (urea formaldehyde foam insulation, 

asbestos, etc.) were used in construction/renovation or if the site has 
contaminants. No evidence of underground fuel storage tanks or 
contamination was observed. As a result, environmental conditions are 
presumed non-adverse. However, it may be prudent to obtain a current 
certified survey and environmental assessment of the property. This 
appraisal makes no allowance for environmental remediation or 
abatement requirements. Your attention is directed to Limiting 
Conditions and Assumptions at the conclusion of this report. 

 
 
SUMMARY OF INDICATED VALUES FROM THIS REPORT 
 

Market Value via the Cost Approach  Not Applicable 

Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach   $100,000 

Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple)  $100,000 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 7 
Walnut, Iowa 

SCOPE OF WORK 
 
 

Scope of work refers to research and analysis in this assignment and includes the extent to which the 
property is identified, type and extent of data researched, and type and extent of analysis applied. 
 
Extent of Property Identification:  The property was identified by its addresses of 705 Oak Street, 
Walnut, Iowa.  Per Pottawattamie County records, this address corresponds to County Parcel number 
and legal descriptions summarized in the Salient Facts section of this report. 
 
Type and Extent of Data Researched: I personally visited the property, building measurements were 
taken from county assessors web site and verified on site, which provided the information for the 
property descriptions.  Site size was obtained from the assessor’s website also. Other data was collected 
from County public records, conversations with local property owners and brokers, information 
published in real estate industry publications and Mitchell & Associates appraisal files. I was not 
provided with a current soils testing report or survey; therefore, I did not consider the impact on 
property value of any possible restrictions or soil issues that might be revealed by these reports. The 
COVID-19 virus is having significant impacts to how people live around the world. The impacts are 
fairly recent in the area, but there have been many closures. Public health officials are calling for 
social distancing and limited exposure to others. 

As we progress through 2022, fewer cases are reported but some cautionary measures are still 
promoted. Such news has increased the level of fear and anxiety among the community. Single-
family sales have been brisk due to the shrinking inventories and rising prices. Commercial 
businesses may experience reduced sales due to recent closing of bars and restaurants except for 
drive-thru service, and avoiding places where 10+ people gather. Other businesses are opting for 
employees to work remotely.  

There is currently insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the 
general market or to specific properties (e.g. places of reported exposures) in regards to any effects 
on value or marketing times. 
 
Type and Extent of Analysis Applied:  A highest and best use analysis of the property was developed 
utilizing inferred or trend methodology, appropriate of the property in light of its site size and building 
size as well as the location in a mature area.  Due to the age of the structure, estimating depreciation 
would be so subjective as to render the cost approach unreliable; therefore, it was omitted from this 
appraisal. I researched and found recent sales of buildings supporting the use of the Direct Sales 
Comparison Approach.  The Income Capitalization Approach was not developed due to a lack of 
market information.   
 
Conclusion:  The conclusions and analyses were reconciled into the final estimate of value.  Based on 
my training, experience (see credentials in the Addenda intended to satisfy the Competency Rule of 
USPAP) and judgment, I concluded that this appraisal in a summary format including the Direct Sales 
Comparison and income approach is appropriate to support a credible estimate of the Fee Simple value 
and consistent with the Standards of the 2020-2021 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal 
Practice (USPAP). 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 8 
Walnut, Iowa 

EXTERIOR PHOTOS 

 

South & west sides 

 

West side 

 

North side 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 9 
Walnut, Iowa 

 

East side 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 10 
Walnut, Iowa 

APPRAISER'S CERTIFICATION 
 
 

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief: 
 
The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct. 

The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions and 
limiting conditions and are my personal, impartial, and unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and 
conclusions. 

I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and no 
personal interest with respect to the parties involved. 

I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties involved 
with this assignment. 

My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined 
results. 

My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or 
reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the 
amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent 
event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal. 

I have not performed a previous appraisal of the subject property and have not done an appraisal 
review involving the subject, or an appraisal consulting assignment involving the subject, within the 
past three years. 

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared 
in conformity with the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of 
Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute and the Uniform Standards of Appraisal 
Practice. 

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared 
in conformity with the requirements of the Uniform Standards of Appraisal Practice 

The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review by its 
duly authorized representatives. 

I have made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report.   

No one provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person signing this certification.  
If there are exceptions, the name of each individual providing significant real property appraisal 
assistance is stated in the scope of the report.1 

As of the date of this report, I, D. Rick Whitesides, have completed the requirements of the 
continuing education program of the Appraisal Institute. 
 
APPRAISER: 

 
  
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA - NE CG920142 
 IA CG01439 
 

 
1  Source for Items #1-#9, Standards Rule 2-3, Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practices, 2001 Edition 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 11 
Walnut, Iowa 

ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS 
 
 
This appraisal has been based on the following limiting conditions: 
 
For purposes of this appraisal, any marketing program for the sale of the property would assume cash or its 
equivalent. 

No detailed soil studies covering the subject property were available for this appraisal.  It is therefore assumed that 
soil conditions are adequate to support standard construction consistent with highest and best use. 

The date of value to which the conclusions and opinions expressed in this report apply, is set forth in the letter of 
transmittal.  Further, the dollar amount of any value opinion rendered in this report is based upon the purchasing 
power of the American dollar existing on that date. 

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for economic or physical factors which may affect the opinions in this 
report which occur after the date of the letter transmitting the report or which cause unpredictable changes.  Events 
such as (but not limited to) natural disasters, wars and economic calamities are examples of such factors. 

The appraiser reserves the right to make such adjustments to the analysis, opinions and conclusions set forth in this 
report as may be required by consideration of additional data or more reliable data that may become available. 

No opinion as to title is rendered.  Data relating to ownership and legal description was obtained from county 
records and is considered reliable.  Title is assumed to be marketable and free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, 
easements and restrictions except those specifically discussed in the report.  The property is appraised assuming it 
to be under responsible ownership and competent management and available for its highest and best use. 
If no title policy was made available to the appraiser, they assume no responsibility for such items of record not 
disclosed by their customary investigation.   

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for hidden or non-apparent conditions of the property, subsoil, or 
structures that render it more or less valuable.  No responsibility is assumed for arranging for engineering studies 
that may be required to discover them. 

The property is appraised assuming it to be in full compliance with all applicable federal, state and local 
environmental regulations and laws, unless otherwise stated. 

The property is appraised assuming that all applicable zoning and use regulations and restrictions have been 
complied with, unless otherwise stated. 

The property is appraised assuming that all required licenses, certificates of occupancy, consents or other 
legislative or administrative authority from any local, state or national government or private entity or organization 
have been or can be obtained or renewed for any use on which the value estimate contained in this report is based, 
unless otherwise stated. 

No engineering survey has been made by the appraiser.  Except as specifically stated, data relative to size and area 
was taken from sources considered reliable and no encroachment of real property improvements is considered to 
exist. 

No opinion is expressed as to the value of subsurface oil, gas or mineral rights whether the property is subject to 
surface entry for the exploration or removal of such materials except as is expressly stated. 
Maps, plats, and exhibits included in this report are for illustration only as an aid in visualizing matters discussed 
within the report.  They should not be considered as surveys or relied upon for any other purpose, nor should they 
be removed from, reproduced, or used apart from the report. 

No opinion is intended to be expressed for matters, which require legal expertise or specialized investigation, or 
knowledge beyond that customarily employed by real estate appraisers. 

Possession of this report, or copy of it, does not carry with it the right of publication.  It may not be used for any 
purposes by any person other than the party to whom it is addressed without the written consent of the appraiser, 
and in any event only with the proper written qualification and only in its entirety. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 12 
Walnut, Iowa 

ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
Testimony or attendance in court or at any other hearing is not required by reason of rendering this appraisal, 
unless such arrangements are made in a reasonable time in advance. 

The appraiser has personally inspected the subject property and find no obvious evidence of structural deficiencies, 
except as stated in this report; however, no responsibility for hidden defects or conformity to specific governmental 
requirements, such as fire, building and safety, earthquake or occupancy codes can be assumed without provision 
of specific professional or government inspections. 

No consideration has been given in this appraisal as to the value of the property located on the premises considered 
by the appraiser to be personal property, nor has he given consideration to the cost of moving or relocating such 
personal property; only the real property has been considered.   

Information obtained for use in this appraisal is believed to be true and correct to the best of my abilities; however, 
no responsibility is assumed for errors or omissions, or for information not disclosed which might otherwise affect 
the valuation estimate. 

Disclosure of the contents of this appraisal report is governed by the Bylaws and Regulations of the Appraisal 
Institute. 

Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report (especially any conclusions as to value, the identity of the 
appraiser or firm with which he is connected, or any reference to the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers 
or to the MAI or SRA designations) shall be disseminated to the public through advertising media, public relations 
media, news media, sales media or any other public means of communication without prior written consent and 
approval of the appraiser. 

Comments concerning the location, market area, trends, construction quality and costs of the property appraised 
herein represent the opinion of the appraiser formed after examination and study of the subject property. 
This appraisal represents the independent opinion of the appraiser free from any commitments and free from any 
present or expected future interest in the property, with the sole compensation for the employment being a fair 
professional fee. 

The Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) became effective January 26, 1992.  I have not made a specific 
compliance survey and analysis of this property to determine whether or not it is in conformity with the various 
detailed requirements of the ADA.  It is possible that a compliance survey of the property, together with a detailed 
analysis of the requirements of the ADA, could reveal that the property is not in compliance with one or more of 
the requirements of the Act.  If so, this fact could have a negative effect upon the value of the property.  Since I 
have no direct evidence relating to this issue, I did not consider possible non-compliance with the requirements of 
ADA in estimating the value of the property. 

Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of hazardous material, which may or may not be present on the 
property, was not observed by the appraiser.  The appraiser has no knowledge of the existence of such materials on 
or in the property.  The appraiser, however, is not qualified to detect such substances.  The presence of substances 
such as asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation or other potentially hazardous materials may affect the value 
of the property.  The value estimate is predicated on the assumption that there is no such material on or in the 
property that would cause a loss of value.  No responsibility is assumed for any such conditions, or for any 
expertise or engineering knowledge required to discover them.  The client is urged to retain an expert in this field, 
if desired. 

If this appraisal report was transmitted as an “electronic record” containing my “electronic signature,” as those 
terms are defined in applicable federal and/or state laws (excluding audio and video recordings), or a facsimile 
transmission of this appraisal report containing a copy or representation of my signature, the appraisal report shall 
be as effective, enforceable and valid as if a paper version of this appraisal report were delivered containing my 
original hand written signature. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 13 
Walnut, Iowa 

DEFINITIONS: 
 
 

FEE SIMPLE ESTATE:1 Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate, 
subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers 
of taxation, eminent domain, police power and escheat. 

 
LEASED FEE ESTATE:2 An ownership interest held by a landlord with the right of use and 

occupancy conveyed by lease to others.  The rights of lessor (the 
leased fee owner) and leased fee are specified by contract terms 
contained within the lease. 

 
MARKET VALUE: 2 The most probable price which a property should bring in a 

competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair 
sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably, 
and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus.  Implicit in 
this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date3 
and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions 
whereby: 

 

 (1) Buyer and seller are typically motivated; 
 

 (2) Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what 
they consider their own best interests; 

 

 (3) A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; 
 

 (4) Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of 
financial arrangements comparable thereto; and, 

 

 (5) The price represents the normal consideration for the property 
sold unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions 
granted by anyone associated with the sale. 

 
1  The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 4th Edition, Appraisal Institute, Chicago 
2  Excerpted from Vol. 55 No. 165, Federal Register Section 34.44 Appraisal Standards 
3  See discussion regarding exposure time and marketability within the Highest and Best Use analysis of this report 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 14 
Walnut, Iowa 

VALUATION AND THE APPRAISAL PROCESS 
 
 

An appraisal is an estimate, an opinion of value.  Its accuracy depends on the basic competence and 
integrity of the appraiser and on the soundness and skill by which he or she processed the data.  Its 
worth is influenced by the availability of pertinent data.  The professional appraiser seeks current facts 
and seeks to be practical.  Most importantly, the appraiser’s opinion must be without bias.  As with 
other types of “markets,” the real property appraiser does not make the market; rather, he or she 
interprets the market.  
 
Generally, the appraiser uses three approaches to value: 1) Cost Approach; 2) Direct Sales Comparison 
Approach; and, 3) Income Approach.  Each of these approaches is discussed separately below.  They 
are all comparative approaches in that the basic data comes from direct comparisons in the market, 
indirect comparisons in the market, and/or the appraiser’s judgment, which is based on market 
experience. 
 
In the Cost Approach, the cost to reproduce the property at the date of the appraisal, less an appropriate 
allowance for depreciation (physical deterioration, functional obsolescence, and economic 
obsolescence), is made by market comparisons of cost and depreciation.  The Cost Approach tends to 
set the upper limit of value since no property can be worth more than it would cost to build another 
property of equal utility assuming no reasonable delays. In land appraisals this approach is not 
applicable as land cannot be replaced but is considered a non-depreciating asset. 
 
In the Direct Sales Comparison Approach, the subject property is compared to sales of similar 
properties.  The sales are analyzed to determine similarities and differences, which affect value when 
observed in the market.  These similarities and differences then serve as points of comparison between 
the market data and the subject property.  When necessary, adjustments are made to the comparables to 
account for these differences.  The resulting adjusted value per unit is then used to estimate the value via 
this approach. 
 
In the Income Capitalization Approach, the future operation of the property is estimated from past 
historical data relating to the subject and/or from comparable market data.  Gross rental schedules, 
vacancy and collection losses, fixed expenses, operating expenses and reserves are projected and used to 
estimate net income.  This net income is converted to a value estimate using the capitalization process.  
The capitalization rate (comprised of a return on and a return of the investment) is based on 
demonstrated rates found in the market. (In land appraisals, recapture is not a part of the capitalization 
rate as land is considered a non-depreciating asset.) The method and technique of capitalization is 
determined by the nature of the property in the market.  
 
All approaches were considered for this report, however, the availability, adequacy and pertinence of 
data may limit the approaches actually used, as discussed in the Reconciliation of this report. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 15 
Walnut, Iowa 

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS 
 
 

Market areas influence value of specific properties in many ways. These influences are best 
understood considering their social, economic, governmental and environmental characteristics.  It 
has been said that “social, economic, governmental and environmental forces also influence property 
value near the subject property which, in turn, directly affects the value of the subject property 
itself.”1  Therefore, we will examine each characteristic considering the subject’s market area. 
 
Market Area: Subject is in Walnut Iowa which was incorporated in 1877, it is about 43 miles east of 
the Council Bluffs/Omaha metropolitan area (CBSA). This area is described as follows: 
 
Social Characteristics 
 

Demographics:  The 2021 population2 within one, 3 and 5 miles of Walnut was reported as 873 
1,052 and 1,262 respectively; which is an annual rate of increase of 0.85%. Households in 2021 
have increased 0.93% from 2010. Average family size was 2.20 persons. 
 
Education: The market area is served by the AHST Public School District (Avoca, Hancock 
Shelby Tennant and Walnut communities). The level of education achieved for persons ages 25 
or older within the area is shown as follows. 

 
 
Employment:  Employment by industry within the city is shown as follows. 

 
 
 

 
1 Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, 2008 
2  www.stdbonline.com  

http://www.stdbonline.com/


 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 16 
Walnut, Iowa 

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Social Characteristics (Continued)  
 

It was shown that 441 persons are in the workforces in Walnut. Unemployment rate was 3.3%: 
 
Housing: The market area 296 housing units within one mile and has roughly 60% of occupants 
owning their home and 27.7% of homes being renter occupied. 
 
Roadway Linkage:  City of Walnut is located just south of I-80 about 43 miles east of Council 
Bluffs/Omaha metro.   
 
Recreation: 
 
Walnut is known as Iowa’s “antique city” with many specialty shops. The town has several parks a 
splash park and baseball fields.  
 
Retail Centers:  Shopping is adequate in town and expanded in nearby communities.  

 

Utilities:  Water and sewer are provided by City of Walnut, MidAmerican Energy provides gas and 
electricity to the community.  
 
 
Governmental Characteristics 
 

Administration:  Walnut has a mayor and city council form of government. 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 17 
Walnut, Iowa 

Market Area Aerial 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 18 
Walnut, Iowa 

Immediate Market Area Aerial 
 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 19 
Walnut, Iowa 

MARKET AREA VIEWS 
 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 20 
Walnut, Iowa 

SITE DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS 
 
 

Subject property is located on the east side of Oak Street which is between North and Pleasant Streets in 
the west portion of Walnut; this is in the east portion of Pottawattamie County. The property is 
surrounded by residential or agricultural properties. Following is a summary of subject characteristics: 
 

Size:  Subject parcel has frontage along Oak Street with site area listed as 63,162 square feet or 1.45 
acres. These dimensions were taken from public records, as no survey was provided.  
 
Topography:  Subject site appears to have sloping to level terrain generally falling from the east to the 
west and is near the grade level of abutting road. This site appears to have adequate surface water 
drainage.  
 
Soils:  Subject is presumed free of hazardous materials and the load bearing capacities adequate for 
improvements.  Obvious environmental problems were not observed.  See Limiting Conditions as relate 
to effects on value if environmental contamination is found on property. 
 
Utilities:  Subject has electricity, natural gas, water and sewer.   
 
Easements/Encroachments/Restrictions:  No adverse easements or encroachments were noted on the 
plats and none are known. 
 
Flood Plain/Drainage:  Subject does not appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per 
CoreLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0375F, dated April 16, 2013 (map in report). 
 
Zoning:  City website showed this property to be zoned residential. City ordinance stated that the 
County zoning code would apply. The Class R-3 District is intended to provide for residential 
development. This district is also intended to facilitate the orderly expansion of incorporated 
communities by limiting the density of development pending the planned extension of public or 
common water and sewer services. (Ordinance #2007-01/03-09-07) 
 
Visibility:  Subject has frontage along Oak Street which is a 2-lane street handling north/south bound 
traffic and carries very light traffic. The views to and from the subject are not dramatically obscured by 
abutting properties or terrain. Based on these factors the subject is considered to have fair visibility 
characteristics.   
 
Access:  Subject parcel has an interior location in an area of mostly residential and agricultural land 
uses.. Based on this, subject is considered to have fair access characteristics.  
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 21 
Walnut, Iowa 

Subject Parcel Aerial 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 22 
Walnut, Iowa 

Subject Plat Map 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 23 
Walnut, Iowa 

Subject Flood Map 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 24 
Walnut, Iowa 

DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS 
 
 

The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance building. This building contains 2 
drive-in bays an open office and a restroom it was built in 1990. The building is of pre-engineered steel 
construction with metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There are 2 overhead doors for 
vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. The building has 1,680 square feet and is located upon an interior 
site with 63,162 SF. Based on my observations and public records the general building components and 
their condition were summarized as follows: 
 
 

STRUCTURAL FEATURES: 
 

Footings & Foundation:  Footings were not observed; foundation appears to be poured concrete.   
 
Superstructure:  Building is of pre-engineered steel construction with metal panels on the exterior 
elevations and a pitched roof. 
 
Floors:  Are poured concrete, specific thickness and load-bearing capacity is unknown.   
 
Roof:  Roof is a pitched design and was covered with metal panels.  It is drained by a gutter and 
downspout system.  
 
Walls:  Exterior walls are metal panels.   
 
Windows & Doors:  Entry into the building is a direct entry through a metal pedestrian door in an 
aluminum frame. There are no windows in the building. There were 2 overhead drive-in doors of 
insulated metal construction, which were about 12’ x 15’ and electrically operated.  
 
 
MECHANICAL FEATURES: 
 

Electrical Systems:  Electric service was 110/220 volt service; protected by circuit breakers.  
 
Lighting:  The building had fluorescent fixtures.  
 
Heating & Air Conditioning:  There was a gas fired tube heater  
 
Fire Protection System:  None observed 
 
Security System:  None observed 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 25 
Walnut, Iowa 

DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
 

INTERIOR: 
 

Restrooms:  There was a restroom equipped with a residential stool, sink.  No specific investigation of 
whether or not these facilities meet requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act was conducted 
(see disclaimer in Assumptions at the conclusion of this report).   
 
Interior Finish:  The open office portion of the building has no real finish  
 
Site Improvements:  There was concrete drive in front of the building then that changes to crushed 
rock, the balance of the site has turf grass.  
 
 
CONDITION/DEPRECIATION: 
 

Subject was reported to have been constructed in 1990. Therefore, it has a chronological age of 32 
years.  The subject was considered in average/fair condition. Therefore, it is estimated to have effective 
age of 25 years.  Per Marshall Valuation, buildings similar to subject would have an economic life of 40 
years.  Based on these factors, subject is estimated to have non-curable depreciation of 63% (25-year 
effective age ÷ 40-year economic life). 
 
Functional Obsolescence:  The subject’s layout and floor plan is typical for this type of structure in this 
area.  
 
External Obsolescence:  No external obsolescence was observed (in market area description), as there 
appears adequate demand for these type properties. 

 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 26 
Walnut, Iowa 

Building Sketch 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 27 
Walnut, Iowa 

INTERIOR PHOTOS 

 

Looking toward rear 

 

Looking toward front 

 

Restroom 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 28 
Walnut, Iowa 

 

Open office 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 29 
Walnut, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE 
 
 

Definition:  The reasonably probable and legal use of vacant land or improved property, which is 
physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and results in the highest value. 
 
Highest and best use of a specific property is not determined through subjective analysis by the 
appraiser; rather, shaped by the competitive forces in the market where property is located. Therefore, 
the analysis and interpretation of highest and best use is an economic study of market forces focused on 
the subject. The benefit of real estate development produces for a community or amenity contribution 
provided by a planned project (i.e., public space in a park-like area) is not considered in the appraiser’s 
analysis of highest and best use.  Also implied is that the determination of highest and best use results 
from the appraiser’s judgment and analytical skills, i.e., that the use determined from analysis represents 
an interpretation or opinion not a fact to be found.  In appraisal practice, the concept of highest and best 
use represents the premises upon which value is based.  In the context of most probable selling price 
(market value) another appropriate term to reflect highest and best use would be most probable use.  In 
the context of investment value, an alternate term would be most profitable use. 
 
In order for a particular use or a piece of real property to be the highest and best use of that real 
property, several requirements must be met: 
 

1. The use must be legally permissible or reasonably possible. 
2. The use must be physically possible on the site. 
3. The use must be economically and financially feasible under projected market conditions existing. 
4. The use must be the most profitable of the legally permissible, physically possible, and economically 

feasible alternatives. 
 
In estimating its market value, real property is appraised in terms of its highest and best use.  Highest 
and best use analysis is analogous to a feasibility study, in that it is progressive.  Legally permissible or 
physically possible uses are first considered.  After analyzing one, the other is fully considered. 
 
Regarding possible uses, there are five basic categories, which are: 
 

 1. Residential, 
 2. Commercial, 
 3. Industrial, 
 4. Agricultural, and 
 5. Special or public use. 
 
After permissible and possible are concluded, economically feasible uses are next identified; that is, 
those that would pay competitive return on investment in improvements as well as land.  Of these, the 
“maximally productive” or most profitable is highest and best use also referred to as the “ideal” use.1 
 
In estimating highest and best use of property, the site is first analyzed as though vacant, unimproved 
and available for development to its most profitable, likely, legal use.  When improvements are present, 
it is necessary to estimate the highest and best use of the site as improved.  In both cases, the property is 
analyzed from the viewpoint of possible, permissible and feasible uses. 
 

 
1  Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 30 
Walnut, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED) 
 
 

SITE ‘AS IF’ VACANT 
 

Referring to highest and best use ‘as if’ vacant, first test is physical adaptability of land. Potential uses 
include are generally commercial in nature. Agricultural uses are not physically possible due to site size 
in relation to large acreage needs of modern farm operations. The 63,162 SF site appears entirely usable 
and could accommodate most uses, obviously limited by its size. No adverse physical or economic 
conditions were observed. 
 
Second test is legal permissibility of use. Site is located in a residential zone which allows a variety of 
other uses, so residential uses are permitted as well as county buildings, so agricultural and commercial 
uses are omitted.  
 
Third test is the financial feasibility, calling for a use generating highest return on and of investment.  
The site is located along Oak Street, a lightly traveled street.  Office and retail users would not find the 
site attractive due to the minimal traffic and surrounding residential, properties. Civic users are often 
not-for-profit entities that operate on limited budgets.  As a result, civic users would likely not be 
willing to pay as much as a residential or industrial user for a site with the subject characteristics. 
 
Based on site size, zoning, economic and physical characteristics, it is my judgment that the highest and 
best use, as if vacant, would be for residential use within the scope of the present zoning. 
 
 
“AS IMPROVED” 
 

The four tests of highest and best use, (legal permissibility, physical possibility, financial feasibility 
and maximum productivity) can be applied to the property “as improved” to determine the use that 
will maximize the subject property’s value.  The use maximizing the highest value is the highest and 
best use of the property “as improved.”  
 
The four basic courses of action that can be applied to a property are: 
 

• To demolish improvements and redevelop the site for a new use; or 
• To modify improvements (e.g. renovate, modernize, or convert), or 
• To cure items of deferred maintenance and retain the improvements; or 
• To maintain the improvements “as is”  

 
I analyzed the four courses of action for the subject mixed-use building, in keeping with the four 
main tests of highest and best use, with my analysis described in the following paragraphs: 
 
Demolish & Redevelop:  The existing improvements contribute to site value (concluded in large part 
by competing properties), and it would not be financially feasible to demolish them in order to 
redevelop the land for some alternate use.  Therefore, this option is eliminated on grounds of financial 
feasibility.   
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 31 
Walnut, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED) 
 
 

“AS IMPROVED” (CONTINUED) 
 

Modify Improvements:  I was unable to identify modifications or conversions of existing 
improvements that would increase property value by an amount greater than anticipated cost of 
modifications or conversions.  Therefore, the option to modify improvements is eliminated on grounds 
it would not maximize property value. 
 
Cure Deferred Maintenance or Maintain Improvements:  Subject is considered in average/fair 
condition, with some minor deferred maintenance observed.  The cost to cure this deficiency is not 
considered to increase the value beyond the costs of those improvements. Therefore, the option to 
cure deferred maintenance is ruled out.   
 
The only remaining course of action meeting tests of legal permissibility, physical possibility, 
financial feasibility, and maximum productivity is to continue current use of the subject as a light 
industrial or maintenance building. 
 
 
EXPOSURE TIME 
 

In order to sell property, it must be exposed to the open market.  The following discussion is 
provided to illustrate current market conditions and estimate exposure time needed to market subject. 
 
Exposure time may be defined as estimated length of time a property interest being appraised would 
have been offered on the open market prior to a hypothetical consummation of sale at market value 
on effective date of the appraisal; a retrospective estimate based on analysis of past events assuming 
a competitive, open market. 
 
The concept of reasonable exposure time encompasses not only adequate, sufficient, reasonable 
time, but also adequate, sufficient, reasonable effort and considers type property being appraised, 
supply/ demand conditions, as of effective date of appraisal and analysis of historical sales 
information (sold after exposure and completion of negotiations between buyer/seller).  Therefore, 
reasonable exposure time is a function of price and use, not an isolated estimate of time. Reasonable 
exposure is always presumed to precede effective date of appraisal and differs for various types of 
real estate under various market conditions. Therefore, my estimate of 12-18 months exposure time 
is based on subject’s determined highest and best use in a highly competitive retail market 
evidencing some demand (albeit limited) for the type of space offered, its highly desirable location, 
but also factoring the slowdown in the real estate market over the past couple years caused by 
recessionary conditions. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 32 
Walnut, Iowa 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED) 
 
 

MARKETING TIME 
 

Marketing time for the purpose of this report, is defined as an estimated amount of time it might 
take to sell a property interest in real estate at estimated market value during the period immediately 
after the effective date of the appraisal.” 
 
As with reasonable exposure time, estimated marketing time is not intended as a prediction of a date 
of sale or a one-line statement.  The concept of marketing time encompasses other market conditions 
that may affect marketing, e.g., identification of typical buyers/sellers for type of real estate 
involved, typical equity investment levels, and/or financing terms. Therefore, reasonable marketing 
time is a function of price, use, and anticipated market conditions such as changes in cost/availability 
of funds, not an isolated estimate of time. Marketing time occurs after effective date of market value 
estimate and considers such brokerage functions as advertising, arranging financing and marketing 
property to specific investors. Estimates of both reasonable exposure and marketing times are not 
predictions, rather only judgments made by an appraiser. 
 
Properties similar to the subject would appeal primarily to owners due to the single tenant design of 
the subject. A market search done as part of this appraisal provided limited data and, as a result, 
accurately estimating exact time needed to market the property was subjective, but area brokers 
reported recent marketing times for most reasonably priced commercial properties in metro as 
ranging from 1-24 months. The real estate market slowed in late 2007 due to recessionary 
conditions, and this slowdown was magnified by the destabilization of the financial markets in 
October 2008. Loans are still available for qualified borrowers, but typically at lower loan-to-value 
ratios, mitigating lender risk. Present rates (as of effective date of this report) range from 4.5% to 6% 
with terms of 3-30 years and amortizations of 15-30 years. Therefore, I concluded if subject were 
listed for sale in the current market at/near appraised value, reasonable marketing time is anticipated 
within 12 months, assuming the offering is placed with a competent broker active in the area and 
experienced with this property type. Real estate brokerage commissions in the area for this property 
type typically are near 4%-7% of gross sale price. Market also reacts more quickly to properties with 
attractive price/ value ratios, tending to neglect those perceived as unrealistically priced. Skill of 
those marketing property can also influence exposure time needed to consummate a sale, as well as 
the overall economic environment in which property exists. Therefore, the abovementioned 
marketing time is considered reasonably well supported, but is not guaranteed. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 33 
Walnut, Iowa 

COST APPROACH 
 
 

The purpose of the Cost Approach is to estimate a Market Value for the subject property based upon the 
cost to construct a new property that enjoys the same utility as the subject property.  This approach is 
based upon the principle of substitution, as it is assumed that a knowledgeable purchaser would not pay 
more for a property than the cost to build a new one.  The improvements are literally constructed “on 
paper” and then any accrued depreciation is subtracted from this value.  This depreciated value estimate 
is then added to the Market Value off the subject site in its highest and best use to arrive at an estimate 
of value for the property as a whole.  More specifically, the steps of the Cost Approach are as follows: 
 

 1. Estimate the value of the site in its highest and best use as if vacant. 
 
 2. Estimate the replacement cost new of all of the improvements. 
 
 3. Estimate accrued depreciation from all sources. 
 
 4. Deduct accrued depreciation from the cost new. 
 
 5. Add the estimated value of the site to arrive at a value for the entire property by the Cost 

Approach. 
 
Due to the older age of the original building, the reliability of this approach is diminished, so it 
was not developed in this report. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 34 
Walnut, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH 
 
 

The Direct Sales Comparison Approach (also known as the Market Data Approach) is the process in 
which a market value estimate is derived by analyzing the market for similar properties and comparing 
these properties to the subject property.  This approach is premised upon the principle of substitution 
which suggests that a prudent person will not pay more to purchase a property than it will cost him or 
her to purchase an equally desirable substitute property.  Another basic premise of the Direct Sales 
Comparison Approach is that the market value of a property is directly related to the prices of 
comparable, competitive properties.1 
 
The comparative analysis performed in this approach focuses on similarities and differences among 
properties and transactions observed in the market which affect value.  These similarities and 
differences then serve as points of comparison between the market data and the subject property.  
Typically, the major points of comparison are: 
 

• Property Rights Conveyed 
• Financing Terms 
• Condition of Sale 
• Time 
• Physical Characteristics 
• Economic Characteristics 

 
A sale of a property that is an exact duplicate of the subject property would be an important and ideal 
indication of value.  In reality, no two properties are exactly alike.  As a result, an adjustment process is 
used when analyzing the major points of comparison. 
 
The known sales with the greatest degree of comparability used in this analysis are adjusted for the 
difference between the comparable and the subject property.  Adjustments are always made FROM the 
comparable TO the subject property.  For example, if the comparable property sold two years ago and 
market analysis suggests that prices have increased 5%, then the sale price of the comparable would be 
increased by 5% to give the indication of value for the subject.  Conversely, if the comparable property 
was in a superior location as compared to the subject and this difference was estimated at 5%, a 
negative adjustment of 5% would be applied to the sale price of the comparable to give the indication of 
value for the subject.  The adjustments for different physical and economic characteristics are handled 
in the same manner.  Adjustments may be by percentages or by dollar amounts or both. 
 
No sales of similar properties were found in Avoca, Walnut, Griswold or Hancock; therefore, I utilized 
sales from Council Bluffs. Following are descriptions of known industrial, commercial or mixed use 
properties which sold in recent years in the Council Bluffs metropolitan area.  After the sales, I have 
shown location maps, adjustment grids, explanation and my final conclusions of the subject property 
market value from this approach.  

 
1  Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 35 
Walnut, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 36 
Walnut, Iowa 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 37 
Walnut, Iowa 

Comparable #3 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4258 

Address 1005 South 17th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1-2 and the west 20' of Lot 3 
including the north 1/2 of the vacated 
adjacent alley, Block 11, Fleming & 
Davis 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 416 SF 

Eave Height 14.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 1998/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 10,880 SF 

Usable Site Size 10,880 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features Fenced, Mezzanine 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date July 17, 2019 

Contract Price $192,500 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$80.21 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$80.21 

Adjusted Price $192,500 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$80.21 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$80.21 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor All Pro Towing, LLC 

Grantee Perfect Diamond Lawns, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-09108 

Source Broker 
 

The property previously sold February 2017, for $160,000. The 2019 sale represents appreciation near 8% per year. 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 38 
Walnut, Iowa 

Comparable #4 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4269 

Address 919 South 15th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 15 and 16, Block 8, Fleming & 
Davis Subdivision and part of the 
vacated alley 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,592 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,592 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 348 SF 

Eave Height 12.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 2006/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF 

Usable Site Size 8,160 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features Fenced, Mezzanine 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date October 05, 2018 

Contract Price $160,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.73 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.73 

Adjusted Price $160,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.73 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.73 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor Fouts Investments, LLC 

Grantee L & T Properties, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-13139 

Source Public Records, Broker 
 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 39 
Walnut, Iowa 

Comparable #5 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4326 

Address 712 South 15th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description South 1/2 of Lost 5 and 6, Block 32, 
Everetts Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,000 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 444 SF 

Eave Height 16.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 2006/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF 

Usable Site Size 8,160 SF 

Zoning I-1 

Features Fenced 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date February 11, 2020 

Contract Price $170,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$85.00 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$85.00 

Adjusted Price $170,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$85.00 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$85.00 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor ZaCar Corp 

Grantee T & G Carper, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2020/01996 

Source Public Records, CoStar 
 

This sale represents appreciation of 1.15% per year from previous sale in 2014. 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 40 
Walnut, Iowa 

Comparable #6 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4328 

Address 1516 Avenue C 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1, 2, and part of Lot 3, Block 3, 
Beers Subdivision 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 316 SF 

Eave Height 12.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 1981/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 14,705 SF 

Usable Site Size 14,705 SF 

Zoning C-2 

Features Fenced 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date January 03, 2019 

Contract Price $210,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$87.50 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$87.50 

Adjusted Price $210,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$87.50 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$87.50 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor Cooks Towing & Repair, Inc 

Grantee DHI, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-00195 

Source Public Records 
 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 41 
Walnut, Iowa 

Comparable #7 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4329 

Address 1324 9th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 6-7, Part of Lot 8, Block 26, 
Riddles Subdivision 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 3,520 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 3,520 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 720 SF 

Eave Height 10.00' 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 1988/ 

Condition Average 
 

Gross Site Size 12,194 SF 

Usable Site Size 12,194 SF 

Zoning I-1 

Features Fenced 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date September 13, 2018 

Contract Price $215,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.08 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.08 

Adjusted Price $215,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$61.08 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$61.08 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor L & T Properties, LLC 

Grantee Michael John Kilnoski 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-12027 

Source Public Records 
 

  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 42 
Walnut, Iowa 

Comparable #8 

 

Property Identification 

Sale ID 4811 

Address 2414 9th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Part of Lots 3-5, Block 1 and part of 
Lot 9, Block 17, Ninth Avenue 
Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 5,400 SF 

Gross Leasable Area 5,400 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 1,196 SF 

Eave Height 12.00' 

Construction Good Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2010/ 

Condition Good 
 

Gross Site Size 13,890 SF 

Usable Site Size 13,890 SF 

Zoning I-1 

Features 
 

Fire Sprinkler 
 

 

Transaction 

Sale Date September 23, 2020 

Contract Price $390,000 

Contract 
Price/SF GBA 

$72.22 

Contract 
Price/SF GLA 

$72.22 

Adjusted Price $390,000 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GBA 

$72.22 

Adjusted 
Price/SF GLA 

$72.22 

 

Conditions of Sale Normal 

Property Rights Fee Simple 

Grantor Jo Ter Ran Investments, LLC 

Grantee Ht 9th Ave, LLC 

Recorded Warranty Deed 2020-13944 

Source Public Records, Broker 
 

Broker noted there was a lot of interest in the property. Sale represents annual appreciation near 5.90% from its 2011 
sale. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 43 
Walnut, Iowa 

County showed this as a multi-parcel sale so it was not investigated further.  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 44 
Walnut, Iowa 

Sales Map 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 45 
Walnut, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Comparable Sales Grid 
 

 
SUBJECT SALE #1: SALE #2: SALE #3: SALE #4:

PROPERTY 821 So 27th Street 717 Veterans Mem Hy 1005 So 17th Street 919 So 15th Street

705 Oak Street Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa

Walnut, Iowa ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED

SALE PRICE       N/A $225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

SALE PRICE/SF N/A $72.58 $130.21 $80.21 $61.73

GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA

MARKET ADJUSTMENTS

   PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0%

$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

   FINANCING N/A Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0%

$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

   CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0%

$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000

   DATE OF SALE May-22 Nov-21 2% May-21 3% Jul-19 7% Oct-18 11%

(Inspection) $229,500 $463,500 $205,975 $177,600

PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)

   BUILDING SIZE/SF   1,680 3,100 0% 3,456 0% 2,400 0% 2,592 0%

   LOCATION/SITE Walnut Co Bluffs -25% Co Bluffs -25% Co Bluffs -25% Co Bluffs -25%

   QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls S Avg/Cls C -5% Avg/Cls S 0% Avg/Cls S 0% Avg/Cls S 0%

   INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 5% 0% 3% 0% 17% -5% 13% -3%

   AGE/CONDITION 32/Average/Fair 49/Avg 7% 40/AvFr 4% 21/Avg -9% 12/Avg -14%

   SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 37.60:1 3.51:1 8% 42.85:1 -2% 4.5:1 8% 3.14:1 9%

   AMENITIES None None 0% None 0% Fenced -3% Fenced -3%

NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -15% -23% -34% -36%

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $195,075 $356,895 $135,944 $113,664

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $62.93 $103.27 $56.64 $43.85

TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -13% -20% -27% -25%

TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 39% 32% 49% 56%  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 46 
Walnut, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Comparable Sales Grid 
 

SUBJECT SALE #5: SALE #6: SALE #7: SALE 8:

PROPERTY 712 So 15t Street 1516 Avenue C 1324 9th Avenue 2414 9th Avenue

705 Oak Street Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa

Walnut, Iowa ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED ADJUSTED

SALE PRICE       N/A $170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

SALE PRICE/SF N/A $85.00 $87.50 $61.08 $72.22

GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA

MARKET ADJUSTMENTS

   PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0% Similar 0%

$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

   FINANCING N/A Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0% Cash 0%

$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

   CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0% Normal 0%

$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000

   DATE OF SALE May-22 Feb-20 6% Jan-19 9% Sep-18 11% Sep-20 5%

(Inspection) $180,200 $228,900 $238,650 $409,500

PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)

   BUILDING SIZE/SF   1,680 2,000 0% 2,400 0% 3,520 0% 5,400 0%

   LOCATION/SITE Walnut Co Bluffs -25% Co Bluffs -25% Co Bluffs -25% Co Bluffs -25%

   QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls S Avg/Cls D 0% Avg/Cls S 0% Avg/Cls C -5% Gd/Cls S 0%

   INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 22% -8% 13% -3% 20% -7% 22% -8%

   AGE/CONDITION 32/Average/Fair 14/Avg -13% 38/Avg 2% 30/Avg -1% 10/Gd -16%

   SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 37.60:1 4.08:1 8% 6.13:1 8% 3.46:1 9% 2.57:1 9%

   AMENITIES None Fenced -3% Fenced -3% Fenced -3% None 0%

NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -41% -21% -32% -40%

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $106,318 $180,831 $162,282 $245,700

FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $53.16 $75.35 $46.10 $45.50

TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -35% -12% -21% -35%

TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 55% 42% 52% 54%  
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 47 
Walnut, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

ADJUSTMENT RATIONALE 
 

The preceding represents the only known sales of industrial properties considered of similar condition, 
design, use, and/or location in Pottawattamie County or competing areas of the metro.  All these 
properties were considered to be similar to the subject, but did require some adjusting to make them 
equal to subject.  Sale prices were reduced to the common denominator of price per square foot of 
GBA, as this is a normal unit of measurement in market buying and selling decisions. 
 
Market Condition Adjustments 
 

Adjustments were not required for property rights conveyed, financing, or condition of sale, as all were 
considered normal for the market.   
 
All the sales were considered for adjustment due to date of sale.  I observed a general increase in 
property values in the metro area over the past few years, typically ranging from 3% to 4% annually 
until late 2007 when recessionary conditions began. The market slowdown was magnified following 
destabilization of the financial markets in October 2008, demonstrated by the lack of known sales 
occurring since that time. The market has been improving since 2010 and therefore, I applied an annual 
appreciation to these sales of 3% after that time.  
 
Physical Condition Adjustments 
 

The sales are typically adjusted for the relative improvement size difference with the subject building, 
due to dissimilar sizes and economies of scale.  Adjustments were not considered necessary as all were 
similar in size to subject.   
 
Adjustments were considered for overall construction quality.  Adjustments were derived from Marshall 
Valuation Service estimated costs to bring properties equal to the subject and from the market reaction 
to these differences. 
 
Adjustments for age of improvements were given as typically buyers are concerned about remaining 
economic life of property.  A rounded 1/2% per year of difference with subject age was derived as an 
appropriate adjustment and applied accordingly.  Additional adjustments for condition were applied 
separately, based on cost estimates to bring properties equal and accounts for the effective age of the 
improvements. 
 
Adjustments for amenities were also considered as properties with additional features, such as fencing 
generally yield higher sale prices. Subject has no amenities, #3 through #7 had fencing, so those sales 
received negative adjustments the remining sales had no amenities so no adjustments were applied to all 
these sales.    
 
Adjustments for location were considered as all of these properties were located in areas with more 
dense development than the subject so large negative adjustments were applied. Based upon paired sale 
analysis between a property in Avoca and several in Council Bluffs, which indicated a 53% difference 
rounded to 25% due to this properties good location in town. 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 48 
Walnut, Iowa 

DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

RECONCILIATION 
 

Before adjusting, the sale prices ranged from $61.08/SF in Sale #7 to $130.21/SF in Sale #2.  After the 
aforementioned adjustments were applied, the indicated values ranged from $43.85/SF in Sale #4 to 
$103.27/SF in Sale #2. Net percentage adjustments ranged from -35% to -12% while gross adjustments 
ranged from 32% to 56%.   
 
Generally, sales with the smallest amount of adjustment are the best indicators of value.  All sales 
required very large adjustments, therefore, no single sale was more persuasive than another. The 
majority of the sales 5 out of 8 indicated values from $43.85 to $56.64/SF. Therefore, a value estimate 
for the subject within that range would have the broadest support. Three remaining sales indicated 
higher values from $62.93/SF to $103.27/SF. 
 
The market search revealed no similar properties on the market currently: 
 

Therefore, based on the foregoing data and analysis, I estimated ‘as is’ market value of the subject at 
$60.00/SF, as of the effective date of this report with the total value developed as follows: 
 

 Indicated Value x Gross Bldg Size = Total Rounded to 
 $60.00/SF x 1,680 SF = $100,800    $100,000 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 49 
Walnut, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH 

 
 

From an investor’s perspective, the earning power of a real estate investment is the critical element 
affecting its value.  The fundamental investment premise is the higher the earnings the higher the value.  
Investment in an income-producing property represents the exchange of present dollars for the right to 
receive future dollars.  In the Income Capitalization Approach to value, the appraiser analyzes a 
property’s capacity to generate benefits and converts these benefits into an indication of present value.1 
 
The basic steps involved in this approach are: 
 

1. Estimate potential gross income; 

2. Estimate and deduct a vacancy and collection loss allowance; 

3. Estimate and deduct expenses; 

4. Estimate duration and pattern of income stream; 

5. Select an applicable capitalization method and technique; 

6. Develop the appropriate rate; 

7. Complete the computations necessary to derive an economic value. 
 
The primary reason for making gross income estimates is to identify probable net income benefits that 
may be derived from ownership interest of the income-producing property.  In accepted appraisal 
practice, the usual basis for a gross income projection is economic rent.  Economic (market) rent is 
defined as being the rental income that a property would most probably command in the open market; it 
is indicated by current rents paid and asked for comparable space as of the date of the appraisal. 
 
Income Analysis 
 

Subject property is presently owner occupied therefore, no rental information on the property is known.  
 
Comparable properties found are summarized on the following pages. Operating expenses were 
estimated from actual historic operating statements from expenses for commercial properties I have 
observed in the metro area combined with national investor surveys. 

 
1  The Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 50 
Walnut, Iowa 

Comparable #1 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1012 

Address 1310 South 17th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1-8, Block 21 Fleming & Davis 
 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 2,200 SF 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 2003/ 

Condition Average 

Height 18.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 60,984 SF 

Usable Site Size 60,984 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 14,000 SF 

Lease Date February 28, 2018 

Lease Term February 28, 2018 - January 31, 2023 

Starting Base Rent $5.20/SF 

Rent Description Fixed for lease. 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba MP Nexlevel 

Source Broker 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 51 
Walnut, Iowa 

Comparable #2 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1398 

Address 15 South 20th Street 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Commercial :: Vehicle-Related - 
Service 

Legal Description 
 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 9,120 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 1979/ 

Condition Fair 

Height N/A 
 

Gross Site Size 40,692 SF 

Usable Site Size 40,692 SF 

Zoning C-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 9,120 SF 

Lease Date August 01, 2018 

Lease Term September 01, 2018 - August 31, 
2023 

Starting Base Rent $5.75/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba Jake's Towing and Transport 

Source CoStar 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 52 
Walnut, Iowa 

Comparable #3 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1013 

Address 3319 Nebraska Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description 
 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 41,760 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Average Quality, Class C 

Built/Remodeled 1969/ 

Condition Average 

Height 13.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 100,188 SF 

Usable Site Size 100,188 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 7,020 SF 

Lease Date October 11, 2018 

Lease Term October 11, 2018 - October 10, 2021 

Starting Base Rent $4.35/SF 

Rent Description Fixed for term. 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba McDowell Roofing 

Source Broker 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 53 
Walnut, Iowa 

Comparable #4 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1014 

Address 2110 23rd Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 8-12, Block 11, Railroad 
Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 5,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Average Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2003/ 

Condition Average 

Height N/A 
 

Gross Site Size 25,245 SF 

Usable Site Size 25,245 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 2,700 SF 

Lease Date October 19, 2018 

Lease Term November 19, 2018 - 

Starting Base Rent $7.11/SF 

Rent Description 7.78/SF in Year 2 
8.22/SF in Year 3 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Gross 
 

Lessee  
dba Syndicate Diesel 

Source Broker 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

One month of free rent 

 

Garage space with mezzanine office. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 54 
Walnut, Iowa 

Comparable #5 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1242 

Address 1305 Lew Ross Road 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 5 & 6, Block 2, First Foundation 
Sub., Council Bluffs, Pottawattamie 
County, IA 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 17,840 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 6,244 SF 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 1996/ 

Condition Good 

Height 14.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 87,555 SF 

Usable Site Size 87,555 SF 

Zoning 
 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 8,000 SF 

Lease Date April 22, 2019 

Lease Term May 01, 2019 - April 30, 2022 

Starting Base Rent $6.95/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba New Covenant Electronics 

Source CoStar Confirmation 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 55 
Walnut, Iowa 

Comparable #6 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1369 

Address 1220 35th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision 
Phase II 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Good Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2005/ 

Condition Good 

Height 18.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 43,995 SF 

Usable Site Size 43,995 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 3,700 SF 

Lease Date June 30, 2019 

Lease Term August 29, 2019 - 

Starting Base Rent $6.00/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba Safariworks Decor 

Source CoStar 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 56 
Walnut, Iowa 

Comparable #7 

 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1368 

Address 1220 35th Avenue 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market Council Bluffs 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision 
Phase II 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF 

Finish - Above Grade N/A 

Construction Good Quality, Class S 

Built/Remodeled 2005/ 

Condition Good 

Height 18.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 43,995 SF 

Usable Site Size 43,995 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 7,000 SF 

Lease Date December 01, 2019 

Lease Term December 01, 2019 - 

Starting Base Rent $5.25/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee  
dba Caeser's Entertainment 

Source CoStar 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 57 
Walnut, Iowa 

Comparable #8 

 
Photograph from Pottawattamie County Assessor 

Property Identification 

Lease ID 1588 

Address 1309 Avenue J 
Council Bluffs, Iowa 

Market 13th & Avenue J 
 

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial 

Legal Description Lots 1-3, Block 8, Potter-Cobbs First 
Addition 

 

Property Characteristics 

Gross Building Area 4,160 SF 

Finish - Above Grade 784 SF 

Construction Average Quality, Class D 

Built/Remodeled 1986/ 

Condition Average 

Height 12.00' 
 

Gross Site Size 15,730 SF 

Usable Site Size 15,730 SF 

Zoning I-2 

Features 
 

 

Transaction 

Leased Area 4,160 SF 

Lease Date October 31, 2021 

Lease Term November 02, 2021 - 

Starting Base Rent $8.25/SF 

Rent Description 
 

Starting Additional 
Rent 

 

Expense Terms Triple Net 
 

Lessee Brown Heavy Equipment 

Source CoStar; Marketing Brochure 

Concession Amount N/A 

Concessions 
Description 

 

 

Net expenses were $1.44/SF for taxes and insurance, and tenant to provide maintenance at own expense. 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 58 
Walnut, Iowa 

Comparable Rentals Map 
 

 



County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 59 
Walnut, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

MARKET LEASE RATE ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSION  
 

No comparables of similar properties was found in Walnut. Council Bluffs did have some comparables 
which reported rental rates of $4.35/SF to $10.50/SF, on triple net and gross terms. These comparables 
are considered to be similar to subject but in superior locations and would be fairly competitive with it 
in the current market. As the subject was in fair/average condition; it is my opinion the market rent for 
the subject would be reasonable at $6.00/SF on triple net terms. 
 
Miscellaneous Income: Some properties similar to subject in this area receive additional income from 
garage rentals, vending machines, forfeited deposits, etc. Subject does not appear to have any other 
potential sources of income.  
 
Vacancy and Collection Losses 
 

A vacancy and collection loss must be deducted from potential gross income to arrive at property 
effective gross income (EGI). A current 2022 survey conducted by Costar.com reports average 
vacancy of 48.85% for industrial properties in Council Bluffs but no estimate of vacancy in Walnut.  
 
The subject space is a single tenant design, so it would be either 100% occupied or 100% vacant at 
any one time. Based upon the subject properties location in an area with primarily agricultural 
properties nearby, it is my opinion a 10% vacancy rate would be reasonable for the property. 
 
Actual rent, vacancy and EGI were then summarized as follows: 
 

Potential Commercial Rental Income  1,680 SF x $6.00/SF $10,080 
Less:  10% Vacancy and Collection Loss  - $1,008 
Effective Gross Income       $9,072 
 
Operating Expenses 
 

Operating expenses that are the property owner’s responsibility are deducted from projection of EGI to 
arrive at property’s NOI. Such operating expenses include real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance, 
utilities and property management fees.  To estimate appropriate allowance for operating expenses, I 
considered actual known data from market expenses of other properties observed. No information for 
the subject was provided. Estimates of operating expenses were then summarized as follows: 
 
Real Estate Taxes:  Property taxes for the subject were not posted so my estimate is based upon the 
assessed for the subject ($32,600) and the current tax rate ($31.876110) which equates to $1,039.  These 
appear reasonable based upon the sales comparison approach and other properties observed. So 
stabilized taxes will be estimated at $1,050 annually with the owner paying these during vacant periods 
only. 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 60 
Walnut, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Operating Expenses (Continued) 
  

Insurance:  Property and hazard insurance for commercial buildings have been observed near $0.10/SF 
to $0.85/SF of gross building area for sprinklered buildings, and $0.15/SF to $0.55/SF for non-
sprinklered buildings, and have been rising in recent years.  Actual insurance costs for the subject were 
not disclosed. So, for purposes of this analysis, an estimate of $1.00/SF is considered reasonable 
(including flood coverage) or a total cost of a rounded $1,800 annually.   
 
Management:  Typical third party management fees for properties similar to the subject property range 
4% to 7% of EGI.  The actual management expenses for the subject are unknown.  Management duties 
generally include supervision of property maintenance, bookkeeping, and management overhead.  No 
unusual aspects of the management function are foreseen in conjunction with the subject property, so I 
estimate an expense of 3% of base rent as reasonable for the subject property.   
 
Administrative & Professional Fees: A general administrative expense was considered appropriate to 
reflect typical owner accounting and legal fees. This expense category would include a small amount 
for owner’s office overhead and typically ranges from 0.5% to 1.5% of EGI. The actual expenses are 
unknown as no operating statements were furnished. General administrative expense was estimated at 
0.50% of base rent in this analysis. 
 
Utilities:  As no operating statements were provided my estimate of $1.00/SF is based on observations 
of other commercial properties, with the owner paying during vacant periods only.  
 
Repairs & Maintenance:  This expense category reflects items such as repairs to mechanical systems, 
roof, painting and items of general upkeep such as pest control, cleaning, snow and trash removal.  
Actual costs were not provided; typical repair & maintenance expenses observed for other commercial 
properties have ranged from $0.50/SF to over $3.00/SF, depending in large part on a property’s age and 
building size. As a result, with the building in average condition with minimal deferred maintenance, I 
estimate an expense of $1.00/SF for the subject, rounded to $1,800 annually.   
 
Reserves for Replacement:  Although not typically incurred as an annual cash outlay, a reserve for 
replacement expense is appropriate to reflect future replacement of short-lived items such as carpeting, 
mechanical systems (including water heaters and HVAC units), kitchen appliances, exterior paving, 
roofing, etc. RealtyRates.com investor survey for 1st Q 2022 indicated reserve requirements for 
industrial properties reported as $0.26 to $0.85 with an average of $0.56/SF.  By comparison, the PWC 
Investors Survey reports replacement reserves for national warehouse properties range from $0.05/SF to 
$0.35/SF, averaging $0.14/SF in the 1st Q 2022.  In my opinion, an appropriate replacement reserve for 
the subject property is a rounded $0.20/SF.   
 
Miscellaneous:  A miscellaneous expense is typically included to account for such items as tenant-
related social expenses, holiday decorations, security services, etc.  Therefore, an expense of $100 per 
year was considered appropriate. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 61 
Walnut, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

PROFORMA OPERATING STATEMENT (FEE SIMPLE) 
 
 

 

Rental Income SQ FT Rent/SF Annual Income

Estimated Market Rent 1,680 $6.00 $10,080

Total Potential Gross Income $10,080

Vacancy & Collection Allowance: 10.0% $1,008

Effective Rental Income $9,072

Other Income $0

Total Effective Gross Income: $9,072

Operating Expenses: Amount

Management Fee 3.0% $272 $27

General & Administrative 0.5% $45 $45

Real Estate Taxes 11.57% $1,050 $105

Insurance 19.84% $1,800 $180

Utilities 0.00% $0 $0

Repairs & Maintenance 19.84% $1,800 $180

Reserves for Replacement 3.70% $336 $336

Miscellaneous 1.10% $100 $100

Total Expenses 10.73% $974

Net Operating Income $8,098  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 62 
Walnut, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE 
 

Several methods of developing a capitalization rate can be used.  The best of which is the Market 
Extraction Method, where the incomes of comparable properties that have recently sold are known.  
Sale transactions used in this report did not reveal cap rates however, other properties observed 
which would be considered competitive with subject indicated cap rates of 7.60% to 9.00%. 
 
A national survey was examined for further support of overall capitalization rate.  The PWC Real 
Estate Investor Survey for the 1st Qtr 2022 reports national capitalization rates for secondary 
industrial properties in a range of 5.25% to 9.00% with average of 7.13%. Capitalization rates in the 
local market area have typically been higher than national rates.  Capitalization rates are typically 
higher for older and smaller properties. 
 
In order to estimate current capitalization rates, a second method is used called the Band of 
Investment, Analysis, which is a yield capitalization procedure used in estimating an overall 
capitalization rate to be applied to the net operating income of a property.  The band of investment 
formula addresses the yield requirements of both the lender’s interest and the investor’s interest 
considering current lending and investment rates. When the components used in the band of 
investment formula are market-derived, the value indication obtained is reflective of market value.  
RealtyRates.Com released their 1st Q 2022 Investor Survey reporting interest rates for industrial 
properties ranging from 2.86% to 7.41%, averaging 4.80%. The average spread from 10-Year 
Treasury notes was 3.24%. Loan-to-value ratios ranged from 50% to 80% (average 70%), average 
amortization period was 25 years with average term of 11.46 years and average debt coverage ratio 
of 1.46. Per PwC Investors Survey for 1st Q 2022, institutional grade discount or yield rates for national 
warehouse properties ranged from 7.00% to 10.00%, averaging 8.50%.   
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 63 
Walnut, Iowa 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED) 
 
 

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE 
 

Based on the preceding, the following components are then used in the band of investment analysis. 
 

Mortgage Components: 
 

 Loan/Value Ratio:   70% 
 Loan Rate:    5.0% selected 
 Amortization Period:   25 years with balloon payment due at end of 10th Year 
 Mortgage Constant (Rm):   .0709 
  
Equity Components: 
 

 Equity Ratio:    30% 
 Equity yield rate (Ye):   9.5% 
  

 

The calculation of the overall capitalization rate by the band of investment technique is as follows: 
 

Band of Investment Technique 
 

 Loan Ratio x Mortgage Constant = Weighted Average 
 

 .70 x .0709 = 0.049 
 

 Equity Ratio x Equity Yield Rate 
 

 .30 x .095 = (+) 0.0285 
 

Total Weighted Average   0.0775 
 

Indicated Overall Capitalization Rate   7.75% 
 
This mechanical or calculated overall rate typically is below the market extracted rates as lending 
terms are still considered favorable for qualified applicants; so, it was given only secondary rounding 
weight in my overall or “going-in” capitalization rate selection for the subject property.   
 
Therefore, based on subject characteristics with and the current demand for this property type in the 
local market, I selected a rounded 8.50% as the capitalization rate currently appropriate for the 
subject property in this market.  To arrive at a value estimate for the subject property, the estimated 
annual net operating income must be divided by the overall capitalization rate.  Therefore, I estimate 
the market value of the subject property, as of the effective date of this report, as follows. 
 

Fee Simple 

Net Operating Income Capitalization Rate Indicated Value Rounded

$8,098 ÷ 8.50% = $95,276 $100,000  



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 64 
Walnut, Iowa 

RECONCILIATION AND FINAL ESTIMATE OF VALUE 

 
 

Reconciliation is the process of coordinating and integrating related factors to form a conclusion 
regarding the appraised property’s Market Value. Each appraisal approach was considered as to 
adequacy, accuracy and overall reliability.  The following estimates were based on subject’s highest and 
best use in this report and primarily on available market data furnished by the property owner and 
others.  
 
Market Value via the Cost Approach  Not Applicable 

Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach   $100,000 

Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple)  $100,000 
 
The Cost Approach typically uses replacement cost method of determining new cost of building 
improvements, typically representing the highest value.  Depreciation is calculated for deferred 
maintenance and normal wear and tear.  The shortcoming of this method normally results from the 
calculations for depreciation, as age and obsolescence are difficult to precisely measure in the market 
place.  The subject building is older, resulting in accrued depreciation which becomes subjective 
reducing the reliability of this approach below acceptable levels.  Therefore, it was not developed in this 
report. 
 
The Direct Sales Comparison Approach compares sales of similar properties.  Adjustments were made 
for variations from the subject property based on available market data.  After adjustments, a reasonable 
range of indicated values was evident and I selected the value from the range most representative of the 
appraised building.  This approach is generally the best method of reflecting market attitudes toward 
property, particularly when owner-occupied buildings are involved and there is an active market with 
numerous sales.  However, this approach is less persuasive when the property is purchased as an 
investment.  As the subject property is a single-tenant building it would likely appeal to an owner but if 
leased it could appeal to an investor therefore most weight was given to this approach in the final value 
estimate for the subject.   
 
The Income Capitalization Approach was considered and could be used in this report.  Since an 
adequate amount of rent, expense and cap rate data was available for the subject property, this approach 
was considered reliable so was given some weight in the final value estimate for the subject also.   
 
Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the 
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is” Market Value of the subject 
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was: 
 

ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($100,000) 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 
General Certified Appraiser - IA CG01439 
                                                NE CG920142 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 65 
Walnut, Iowa 

 
 
 
 
 

ADDENDA 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 66 
Walnut, Iowa 

APPRAISER’S QUALIFICATIONS 
 

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA 

 
PROFESSIONAL: 
 
MAI Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1991 
SRA Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1977 
General Certified Appraiser, State of Nebraska (CG 920142) 1992 
General Certified Appraiser, State of Iowa (CG 01439) 1992 
Licensed Real Estate Salesman in the State of Nebraska 1972 
Vice President/Appraiser Mitchell & Associates 1990-Present 
Property Underwriter/Assistant Vice President,  
   Occidental Nebraska Federal Savings Bank 1973-90 
 
 
MEMBER: 
 
Appraisal Institute: Former President Nebraska Chapter and currently active in this chapter and 
former Chapter Services Chairman for Region II and have served on the National Chapter Services 
Committee 
Nebraska Real Estate Association 
Omaha Area Board of Realtors Former Executive Committee, Commercial Investment Council 
Tangier Shrine, Scottish Rite and Mercer Lodge 
Past Membership: Society of Real Estate Appraisers, Eastern Nebraska, Chapter #111  
 
EDUCATION: 
 
University of Nebraska Lincoln 
University of Nebraska Omaha 
 
Continuing education through attendance at various appraisal seminars sponsored by the Appraisal 
Institute and other industry organizations; courses listed on a separate page. 
 
EXPERIENCE: 
 
Areas of appraisal experience include multi-family residential; commercial; industrial; vacant land; 
special purpose properties; and single family residential.  Appraisals have been completed for 
mortgage loans, condemnation, litigation, and asset management purposes. 
 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 67 
Walnut, Iowa 

RECENT APPRAISAL EDUCATION 
D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA 

  

    CLASS 
DATE COURSE SPONSOR HOURS 
2017 Honing In…Updates, Market Perspectives & Prof. Development AI 4 
2016 Local Market Snapshot AI 4 
2016 Understanding the Basics of Excel & Linear Regression AI 4 
2016 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2016 USPAP Update AI 7 
2015 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2014 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2014 The Discounted Cash Flow Model AI 7 
2014 USPAP Update AI 7 
2013 Property Acquisition & Need for Site Assessment Randall School of RE 3 
2013 Environmental Issues in Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
2013  Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2013 Online Supervising Appraisal Trainees AI 4 
2012 USPAP Moore Group 7 
2012 Effective Appraisal Writing AI 7 
2011 Ethical Decision Making in Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
2011 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2011 Commercial Appraisal Engagement & Review AI 7 
2011 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff 3 
2010 USPAP AI 7 
2010 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff 3 
2010 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2010 Appraisal Curriculum Overview AI 15 
2009 Online Business Practices & Ethics AI 4 
2009 Report Writing Workshop The Moore Group 7 
2009 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2008 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
2008 USPAP AI 7 
2007 Standard 3 Review Training Session NE Appraiser Bd 4 
2007 Understanding & Testing DCF Valuation Models AI 4 
2007 Analyzing Distressed Real Estate AI 4 
2007 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 6 
2006 Uniform Standards of Professional Practice Moore Group 7 
2006 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
2005 Market Analysis & the Site to do Business AI 7 
2005 Radon & Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
2004 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice AI 7 
2004 Loss Prevention for Real Estate Appraisers AI 4 
2004 Rates and Ratios AI 7 
2003 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
2003 Client Pressure Seminar NE Appraiser Bd. 3 
2003 Appraisal Consulting AI 7 
2002 Mark to Market AI 3 
2002 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8.5 
2001 Appraisers & Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act AI 3 
2001 Regression Analysis in Appraisal Practice AI 7 
2001 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
  CLASS 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 68 
Walnut, Iowa 

DATE COURSE SPONSOR HOURS 
2000 Commercial Appraisal Problem Solving Mid-West Appraisers 7 
2000 Appraisal of Non-Conforming Uses AI 7 

2000 Standards of Professional Practice AI 15 

2000 Ed Tour (Tomorrows Information Today) NE. Appraiser Board 3 
2000 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
1999 Internet Search Strategies AI 7 
1999 Appraisal of Local Retail Properties AI 7 
1999 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 8 
1998 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 6 
1997 Affordable Housing AI 7 
1997 Analyzing Operating Expenses AI 7 
1997 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 6 
1996 Highest & Best Use AI 7 
1996 Standards of Professional Practice AI 26 
1995 Advanced Income Capitalization AI 36 
1995 Emerging Technologies in Appraising AI 5 
1995 Experience Review Training AI 4 
1995 Apartment Update AI 1 
1994 FHA Guidelines AI 7 
1994 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed. 3 
1993 Appraising Apartments AI 7 
1993 Agency Relationships in Real Estate Randall School of RE 3 
1993 Mock Trial Seminar AI 7 
1993 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 7 
1993 FIRREA:  Overview & Application AI 7 
1992 ADA Seminar AI 5 
1992 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed 5 
1991 Standards of Professional Practice AIREA 7 
1990 Small Residential Form SREA 7 

 
 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 69 
Walnut, Iowa 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 70 
Walnut, Iowa 

USPAP MINIMUM STANDARDS 
 
 

For the convenience of the reader or any reviewer of this report, we have included a copy of the fourteen 
points of the Minimum Appraisal Standards.  Appraisals must: 
 

1.    Conform to USPAP, except that the Departure Provision, which allows below minimum work, will not 
apply; 

2.    Include a disclosure of any steps taken in order to comply with the Competency Provision of USPAP; 

3.    Be based on the market value or other values as defined in the attached DEFINITIONS; 

4.    [i] Be written and presented in a narrative format; 
[ii] Be sufficiently descriptive to enable the reader to ascertain the market value and the  
 rationale for the estimate; 
[iii] Provide detail and depth reflective of the complexity of the property appraised; 

5.    Analyze and report in reasonable detail any prior sales of the property within the last three years; 

6.    Analyze and report current revenues, expense, and vacancies on income producing properties rather 
than estimated or projected figures not supported by current market conditions; 

7.    Use a reasonable marketing period for the property; 

8.    Analyze current market conditions and trends that will affect the income, absorption, or value of the 
property; 

9.    Report both the “as is” (using appropriate deductions and discounts for holding and marketing costs, 
and entrepreneurial profit) and the stabilized market values for developmental property; report both the 
value-in-use and liquidation value for owner-occupied property; 

10.    Include in the USPAP required certification an additional statement that:  “The appraisal assignment 
was not based on a requested minimum valuation, a specific valuation, or the approval of a “loan”; 

11.    Contain sufficient supporting documentation to allow the reader to ascertain the appraiser’s logic, 
reasoning, judgment, and analysis; 

12.    Include a legal description of the subject property (in addition to the description required by USPAP); 

13.    Identify and value separately any non-real estate items; 

14.    Use and reconcile the income, direct sales, and cost approaches to value, and explain the omission of 
any approach not used; 

If any information necessary to complete the appraisal is unavailable, this fact must be disclosed. 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 71 
Walnut, Iowa 



 

County Maintenance Shed  Mitchell & Associates, Inc.  
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 72 
Walnut, Iowa 

 



 

 

 

Public Comments 
 
 

            

 

 

 



 

 

 

Closed Session 


	46-2022
	CO-003_for Owner-sig_220617
	CO-003_for Owner sig_220617
	COR-13 Approved
	COR-14 Approved
	COR-15_New Drinking Fountain
	COR-16 - Revise Shades at Training
	CR-007_1 - Added Dump Fees
	Pott CO CR-014 - L-1 Power

	Consent Agenda Cover Page
	Cover - Becky Lenihan - Resolutions
	Cover -David Bayer 2
	Cover -Jana
	Cover -Jeff Sheriff
	Employment agreement Don Uhlig FY 22-23
	Mechanical Operations and Maintenance Technician 6.15.22
	Other Business Cover Page
	Pottawattamie County - End User Security Policy
	Purpose
	Scope
	Definitions
	End User
	Information Asset
	Information Security Team
	Information System
	Information Asset Owner
	Malware

	Policy
	Expectation of Privacy
	Physical Security Considerations
	Credential Management
	Minimum Security Requirements
	Malware Protection
	Operating System and Application Patches

	Communications Methods
	Electronic Messaging
	Secure Communications

	File Sharing
	Remote Access Solutions
	Removable Media Encryption
	System Procurement Process
	Information Destruction
	Auditing and Compliance
	Non-Compliance


	Public Comments
	Received Cover Page
	Scheduled Sessions Cover Page
	Sheriff Report May 2022
	SWI Juvenile Pay Increase FY 22-23
	TOTAL REPORT.pdf
	APPRAISLA
	Sheet1

	AVOCA
	CALADONIA
	HANCOCK
	LEWIS
	WALNUT

	ADPC45B.tmp
	Uniforms
	Longevity
	Working Out of Classification
	Perfect Attendance Leave
	Shift Differential
	Hours of Work




